# PERIPHERAL MARKERS OF IMMUNE RESPONSE IN MAJOR PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS: WHERE ARE WE NOW AND WHERE DO WE WANT TO BE?

EDITED BY: Błażej Misiak, Dorota Frydecka, Bartłomiej Stańczykiewicz and Jerzy Samochowiec PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







#### **Frontiers Copyright Statement**

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-797-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-797-7

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# PERIPHERAL MARKERS OF IMMUNE RESPONSE IN MAJOR PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS: WHERE ARE WE NOW AND WHERE DO WE WANT TO BE?

Topic Editor:

Błażej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Dorota Frydecka, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Bartłomiej Stańczykiewicz, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Jerzy Samochowiec, Pomeranian Medical University, Poland



Image: Kubko/Shutterstock.com

Major psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depression represent complex phenotypes with imprecise diagnostic boundaries. It has been found that these disorders can be characterized by a number of peripheral immune-inflammatory alterations, including, i.e. elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, increased levels of specific and non-specific antibodies or abnormal counts of lymphocyte subpopulations.

Although it has been found that major psychiatric disorders share similar dysregulations of immune-inflammatory response, recent studies have also clearly demonstrated that some differences can be indicated. Interestingly, certain immune-inflammatory

disturbances appear to be state markers, since they occur in acute relapse and normalize following pharmacological treatment, while the rest represents trait markers that remain stable regardless of treatment. It is also important to note that peripheral immune-inflammatory markers have been associated with psychopathological manifestation of major psychiatric disorders, response to treatment and long-term outcomes. However, it remains unclear what is the origin of peripheral inflammation in psychiatric disorders. To date, several mechanisms have been proposed, including the gut-brain axis dysregulation, infections in the neurodevelopmental period or immunogenetic factors.

This eBook summarizes current evidence from studies investigating peripheral inflammation in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major depression and post-traumatic stress disorder as well as it provides future directions for the field.

**Citation:** Misiak, B., Frydecka, D., Stańczykiewicz, B., Samochowiec, J., eds. (2019). Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where are We Now and Where Do We Want to Be? Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-797-7

# Table of Contents

- 65 Editorial: Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where are we now and Where do we Want to be?
   Błazej Misiak, Dorota Frydecka, Bartłomiej Stanczykiewicz and Jerzy Samochowiec
- 08 *"Immune Gate" of Psychopathology—The Role of Gut Derived Immune* Activation in Major Psychiatric Disorders Leszek Rudzki and Agata Szulc
- Sterile Inflammation of Brain, due to Activation of Innate Immunity, as a Culprit in Psychiatric Disorders
   Mariusz Z. Ratajczak, Daniel Pedziwiatr, Monika Cymer, Magda Kucia, Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur and Jerzy Samochowiec
- 37 Revisiting the Role of Eotaxin-1/CCL11 in Psychiatric Disorders Antonio L. Teixeira, Clarissa S. Gama, Natalia P. Rocha and Mauro M. Teixeira
- 43 Carbonyl Stress and Microinflammation-Related Molecules as Potential Biomarkers in Schizophrenia
   Tohru Ohnuma, Shohei Nishimon, Mayu Takeda, Takahiro Sannohe, Narimasa Katsuta and Heii Arai
- 51 C-Reactive Protein as a Peripheral Biomarker in Schizophrenia. An Updated Systematic Review

Guillaume Fond, Christophe Lançon, Pascal Auquier and Laurent Boyer

- 63 Interleukin-6 in Schizophrenia—Is There a Therapeutic Relevance? Milica Milovan Borovcanin, Ivan Jovanovic, Gordana Radosavljevic, Jelena Pantic, Slavica Minic Janicijevic, Nebojsa Arsenijevic and Miodrag L. Lukic
- 73 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: An Immunological Disorder? Zhewu Wang, Blaine Caughron and M. Rita I. Young
- 80 Assessment of Complement Cascade Components in Patients With Bipolar Disorder

Artur Reginia, Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur, Marcin Jabłoński, Marta Budkowska, Barbara Dołęgowska, Leszek Sagan, Błazej Misiak, Mariusz Z. Ratajczak, Janusz K. Rybakowski and Jerzy Samochowiec

88 Markers of Inflammation and Monoamine Metabolism Indicate Accelerated Aging in Bipolar Disorder

Seline van den Ameele, Dietmar Fuchs, Violette Coppens, Peter de Boer, Maarten Timmers, Bernard Sabbe and Manuel Morrens

- 97 IL-33/ST2 Pathway and Galectin-3 as a New Analytes in Pathogenesis and Cardiometabolic Risk Evaluation in Psychosis
   Milica M. Borovcanin, Slavica M. Janicijevic, Ivan P. Jovanovic, Nevena Gajovic, Nebojsa N. Arsenijevic and Miodrag L. Lukic
   106 The Impact of Aging Psychotic Symptoms Medication and Brain-Derived
- 106 The Impact of Aging, Psychotic Symptoms, Medication, and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor on Cognitive Impairment in Japanese Chronic Schizophrenia Patients

Kiyokazu Atake, Tomoyuki Nakamura, Nobuhisa Ueda, Hikaru Hori, Asuka Katsuki and Reiji Yoshimura





## Editorial: Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where Are We Now and Where Do We Want to Be?

Błazej Misiak 1\*, Dorota Frydecka<sup>2</sup>, Bartłomiej Stanczykiewicz<sup>3</sup> and Jerzy Samochowiec<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Genetics, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Nervous System Diseases, Wroclaw Medical University, Wrocław, Poland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

Keywords: immunity, schizophrenia, depression, bipolar disoder, inflammation

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

## Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where Are We Now and Where Do We Want to Be?

Psychiatric disorders represent complex phenotypes with imprecise diagnostic boundaries. Shifting the paradigm of understanding this complexity from clinical assessment to biological operationalization is a far goal of studies investigating the pathophysiology of mental disorders. Immune-inflammatory alterations observed in mental disorders hold a great promise for better understanding disease etiopathology, development of novel treatment strategies, and improvement of clinical outcomes. Indeed, psychiatric disorders, especially schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depression, are characterized by several immune-inflammatory alterations outside the brain, including elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, specific and non-specific autoantibodies and acute phase proteins, as well as abnormal counts of lymphocyte subpopulations. Some immune-inflammatory alterations represent state markers that occur in illness exacerbation and normalize with pharmacological treatment, whereas other disturbances serve as trait markers that are present regardless of illness' stage (1). Although overlapping dysregulations of immune-inflammatory response can be observed in major psychiatric disorders, certain differences can be also found and might improve diagnostic management strategies (2). In this research topic we provide a forum of new perspectives, emerging concepts, and novel immune-inflammatory disturbances in psychiatric disorders.

Causal mechanisms of immune-inflammatory alterations remain unknown. In their review article, Rudzki and Szulc raise a timely question whether immune-inflammatory alterations in mental disorders appear due to changes in the gut microbiota or the "leaky gut" phenomenon. The authors review various mechanisms underlying aberrant performance of the gut-brain axis in major psychiatric disorders, with special emphasis on schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depression. They conclude that this field of studies should open the new era of clinical trials investigating the efficacy of interventions that aim to restore the gut microbial homeostasis in mental disorders.

Another concept of causality was presented by Ratajczak et al. Indeed, the authors postulate that the sterile inflammation of the brain may trigger the onset of psychiatric disorders. According to the authors, sterile inflammation is initiated by the mannan-binding lectin pathway of the complement cascade activation. Interestingly, another study by Reginia et al. published in frame of our research topic, for the first time investigated complement cascade components in patients with bipolar

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited and reviewed by: Roberto Ciccocioppo, University of Camerino, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Błazej Misiak mblazej@interia.eu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 04 November 2018 Accepted: 04 January 2019 Published: 22 January 2019

#### Citation:

Misiak B, Frydecka D, Stanczykiewicz B and Samochowiec J (2019) Editorial: Peripheral Markers of Immune Response in Major Psychiatric Disorders: Where Are We Now and Where Do We Want to Be? Front. Psychiatry 10:5. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00005

5

disorder. This study revealed elevated levels of C3a and C5a components in patients with bipolar disorder compared to healthy controls. In turn, the levels of C5b-9 were significantly higher in patients with bipolar II disorder compared to those with bipolar I disorder.

Novel markers of immune activation in psychiatric disorders were also investigated by Borovcanin et al. The authors determined serum levels of innate immunity mediators interleukin(IL)-33 and its receptor (ST2) together with galectin-3 in patients with schizophrenia. The levels of IL-33 and ST2 were significantly higher in patients with psychotic exacerbation compared to those in remission and healthy controls. Moreover, there were significant positive correlations between the levels of IL-33 and a number of positive and general psychopathology symptoms. Activation of innate immunity is increasingly being recognized as one of crucial aspects of aberrant immune response in schizophrenia (3–5).

In four review articles, the role of known markers of immune activation in psychiatric disorders was reviewed. Teixeira et al. focused on the role of eotaxin-1 (CCL11) in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depression. Eotaxin-1 is a chemokine involved in selective recruitment of eosinophils to the sites of inflammation. It also plays an important role in aging, neurogenesis, and neurodegeneration. A recent meta-analysis of chemokine alterations in patients with schizophrenia revealed elevated levels of eotaxin-1 in multipleepisode schizophrenia patients but not in first-episode psychosis patients (6). These findings suggest that elevated eotaxin-1 level might be the marker of schizophrenia progression or might reflect medication effects. In turn, Borovcanin et al. reviewed the relevance of IL-6 to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. The authors highlighted the role of this cytokine in illness progression, cognitive impairment and metabolic dysregulation. Fond et al. provided an updated systematic review of studies investigating the levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) in patients with schizophrenia. The authors concluded that elevated CRP levels in patients with schizophrenia might be related to cognitive impairment, hypovitaminosis D, microbiota alterations, nicotine dependence, and comorbid metabolic syndrome. Finally, Ohnuma et al. summarized results of their studies, regarding carbonyl stress and microinflammation in patients with schizophrenia, highlighting their potential relevance as markers of clinical outcomes.

This research topic provides novel insights from original studies, investigating known markers of inflammation in psychiatric disorders. van den Ameele et al. studied the levels of CRP, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) together with the levels of monoamine metabolism markers (neopterin, tryptophan, kynurenine, phenylalanine, and

tryptophan) in patients with bipolar disorder and healthy controls. In the group of patients, but not in controls, older age was associated with increases in the levels of IL-6, CRP, neopterin, and the kynurenine/tryptophan ratio. These results point to the concept of accelerated aging in patients with bipolar disorder (7). In turn, Atake et al. investigated serum levels of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) with respect to cognitive performance in chronic schizophrenia patients. Importantly, BDNF not only plays a role in neurogenesis, but also modulates immune-inflammatory responses (8). The authors found that aging, higher dosage of antipsychotics and anticholinergics as well as lower levels of BDNF are related to worse cognitive performance in patients with chronic schizophrenia.

Subclinical inflammation is traditionally perceived as the phenomenon, appearing in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depression. Wang et al. in their review article, indicate that Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is also associated with aberrant immune-inflammatory responses. The authors suggest that immune-inflammatory alterations in PTSD might have important clinical implications. They provide evidence that subclinical inflammation following traumatic events might predict the development of PTSD. Moreover, higher levels of proinflammatory markers might be associated with the development of comorbid physical health impairments in patients with PTSD.

Translation of findings from studies, investigating immuneinflammatory responses in psychiatric disorders, into clinical practice is a far goal of research activity in this field. Firstly, we still do not know whether subclinical inflammation is causally related to the development of mental disorders or simply represents a downstream effector. Investigating alterations of gut microbiota and compromised intestinal permeability is one of perspectives toward disentangling this conundrum. Longitudinal studies of subclinical inflammation in patients at early stages of illness with respect to clinical outcomes might also improve our knowledge regarding causality. Dissecting differences in immune-inflammatory alterations across various psychiatric disorders via implementation of high-throughput technologies, instead of studying single markers, should also be highlighted as one of most important future directions. These approaches are needed before final conclusions regarding relevance of immune-inflammatory alterations as diagnostic tools and potential treatment targets will be established.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

BM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. DF, BS, and JS provided critical revision of the manuscript and important intellectual contributions. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

### REFERENCES

- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70:663–71. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011. 04.013
- Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. in *Mol Psychiatry* 21:1696–709. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Hess JL, Tylee DS, Barve R, de Jong S, Ophoff RA, Kumarasinghe N, et al. Transcriptome-wide mega-analyses reveal joint dysregulation of immunologic

genes and transcription regulators in brain and blood in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:114–24. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.07.006

- de Baumont A, Maschietto M, Lima L, Carraro DM, Olivieri EH, Fiorini A, et al. Innate immune response is differentially dysregulated between bipolar disease and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 161:215–21. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.055
- Karpinski P, Samochowiec J, Frydecka D, Sasiadek MM, Misiak B. Further evidence for depletion of peripheral blood natural killer cells in patients with schizophrenia: a computational deconvolution study. Schizophr Res. (2018) 201:243–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018. 04.026
- Frydecka D, Krzystek-Korpacka M, Lubeiro A, Stramecki F, Stanczykiewicz B, Aleksander Beszłej J, et al. Profiling inflammatory signatures of schizophrenia: a cross-sectional and meta-analysis study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2018) 71:28–36. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.05.002
- 7. Rizzo LB, Costa LG, Mansur RB, Swardfager W, Belangero SI, Grassi-Oliveira R, et al. The theory of bipolar disorder as an illness of accelerated aging:

implications for clinical care and research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. (2014) 42:157–69. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.02.004

 Calabrese F, Rossetti AC, Racagni G, Gass P, Riva MA, Molteni R. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor: a bridge between inflammation and neuroplasticity. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:430. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00430

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Misiak, Frydecka, Stanczykiewicz and Samochowiec. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## "Immune Gate" of Psychopathology—The Role of Gut Derived Immune Activation in Major Psychiatric Disorders

Leszek Rudzki<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Agata Szulc<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland, <sup>2</sup> Three Towns Resource Centre, Saltcoats, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Interaction between the gastrointestinal tract (GI) and brain functions has recently become a topic of growing interest in psychiatric research. These multidirectional interactions take place in the so-called gut-brain axis or more precisely, the microbiota-gut-brain axis. The GI tract is the largest immune organ in the human body and is also the largest surface of contact with the external environment. Its functions and permeability are highly influenced by psychological stress, which are often a precipitating factor in the first episode, reoccurrence and/or deterioration of symptoms of psychiatric disorders. In recent literature there is growing evidence that increased intestinal permeability with subsequent immune activation has a major role in the pathophysiology of various psychiatric disorders. Numerous parameters measured in this context seem to be aftermaths of those mechanisms, yet at the same time they may be contributing factors for immune mediated psychopathology. For example, immune activation related to gut-derived bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS) or various food antigens and exorphins were reported in major depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, alcoholism and autism. In this review the authors will summarize the evidence and roles of such parameters and their assessment in major psychiatric disorders.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by:

Błazej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Chuanjun Zhuo, Tianjin Medical University General Hospital, China Cheolmin Shin, Korea University College of Medicine, South Korea

> \*Correspondence: Leszek Rudzki rudzki.l@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 February 2018 Accepted: 03 May 2018 Published: 29 May 2018

#### Citation:

Rudzki L and Szulc A (2018) "Immune Gate" of Psychopathology – The Role of Gut Derived Immune Activation in Major Psychiatric Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 9:205. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00205 Keywords: microbiota-gut-brain axis, intestinal permeability, autoimmunity, psychiatric disorders, food antigens, gluten, exorphins, immunoglobulins

In the last two decades, significant progress has been made in our understanding of the role of the immune system and inflammatory processes in the pathogenesis of psychiatric disorders. A recent discovery, published in NATURE (1), that the central nervous system (CNS) has its own lymphatic system is a spectacular yet thought-provoking realization; that in the vast oceans of exponentially growing amounts of scientific data, there are still major "unknowns," which could redefine "the bigger picture." Thanks to the synthesis of philosophy that "you cannot see the forest while looking at the leaf" along with recent fascinating discoveries of microbiotic and psychoneuroimmune complexities of the microbiota-gut-brain axis, we are now able to take a few steps back to have another, broader look at the role of the GI tract in various inflammatory, autoimmune and numerous psychiatric disorders.

8

The role of the GI tract in the pathogenesis of psychiatric disorders came into the scientific debate at the beginning of twentieth century (2). Buscaino reported various inflammatory changes in the GI tract in the post mortem examination of 82 patients suffering from schizophrenia. Fifty percent of those patients had manifestations of gastritis, 88% enteritis and 92% colitis (2, 3). Asperger also noted connections between celiac disease and psychotic disorders in his work (4). Baruk in his extensive work on schizophrenia pointed out the significant role of the GI tract, intestinal toxins and infection in the context of schizophrenia and catatonia (5-8). In 1979 Dohan suggested a fascinating hypothesis that "Basic biological defect in schizophrenia is genetic impairment (e.g., via defective enzymes or, receptors) of the gut and other barrier systems which eases the passage of food-derived neuroactive polypeptides from gut lumen to brain cells" (9). In this hypothesis he suggested that impairment of both intestinal and blood-brain-barrier (BBB) could contribute to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia.

Nowadays extensive data has revealed the indisputable role of immunity and inflammation in psychiatric disorders (10–22). The GI tract with its gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is the largest immune organ of the human organism and it produces 70–80% of immune cells. Consequently, its role in psychopathology is no longer controversial and it is drawing a lot of attention in neuroscience.

## STRESS—THE KEY TO THE "IMMUNE GATE" OF PSYCHOPATHOLOGY

Connotation of the word Stress usually relates to its psychological perspective. It is mostly perceived as the feeling of fear, threat, anger, frustration, hatred, insecurity, abandonment, and unpredictability. Stress reaction may also take the form of the fight-flight-freeze response. However, stress is non-specific and for the human organism it has a much broader meaning. Inflammation, viral, bacterial or parasitic infections, injury, exposure to various toxins, radiation, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and excessive physical training are also recognized as stress by the human organism. The body's reaction to various stressors is relatively uniform, whether it is facing psychological or physical stressors. On one hand, stress may activate the immune system and inflammatory response, e.g., via an elevated level of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and the trafficking of immune cells between blood and tissues. This activation is preparing the organism to "face and fight" potential threats. On the other hand, stress response leads to the activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) and to the increased secretion of anti-inflammatory adrenal hormone, cortisol. This "safety switch" is supposed to prevent an excessive activation of potentially destructive inflammatory response (23-25). Interestingly, all of the stressors mentioned above can directly or indirectly lead to increased intestinal permeability and its various immune and psychopathological consequences. The GI tract forms the largest surface, about 300 m<sup>2</sup>, of interaction between the internal and external environment of the human body (26). The intestinal barrier constitutes of one layer epithelium composed of enterocytes interconnected by protein junctional complexes-tight junctions (zonulae occludentes). Permeation of molecules from the intestinal lumen is both transcellular and paracellular, and the opening of tight junctions regulate the latter (27). Moreover, the mucosal layer and intestinal microbiota are also crucial elements of this barrier and they are determining its permeability (28, 29). Psychological stress mediated by corticoliberin (CRH) (26, 30-33), proinflammatory cytokines e.g., IL-1 $\beta$  (34), TNF- $\alpha$  (35, 36), INF- $\gamma$  (37), dysbiosis (38, 39), small intestine bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) (40), bacterial, parasitic or fungal infections (41, 42), oxidative and nitrosative stress (32, 43), the nuclear factor NF-KB (44), prolonged strenuous exercise (45, 46), heat stress (47), alcohol (38, 48-50), food additives (51), certain drugs e.g., non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (52, 53) or antibiotics (54-57) can cause the loss of intestinal barrier integrity leading to its excessive permeability (Figure 1). This may lead to subsequent immune activation with further consequences in the CNS (39). It is worth mentioning that the structure and mechanics of the BBB are in many ways similar to the GI barrier (58), and BBB permeability may also be compromised by analogous factors to those compromising the GI barrier e.g., psychological stress (59), pro-inflammatory cytokines (60-66), oxidative and nitrosative stress (63, 67, 68) (Figure 1).

There are various mechanisms for how increased intestinal permeability and gut-derived antigens can have immune-mediated consequences for the brain and behavior. Measurements of these mechanisms could serve as potential biomarkers for the involvement of the gut-brain axis in the psychopathology of patients and could also have significant value in broader therapeutic approach.

## **BACTERIAL TRANSLOCATION**

Bacterial lipopolysaccharides-LPS (a glycolipid complexes found in the outer membrane of Gram negative bacteria) have a profound influence on immunity and brain function, and upstream activation of Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) by LPS has a crucial role in these interactions (69, 70). Therefore, LPS challenge represents a laboratory model of inducing transient, low-grade inflammation with subsequent behavioral changes in animals and sickness behaviors in human subjects (71). Usually this challenge is performed through intravenous or intramuscular injection of LPS. However, some of the major consequences of the various stressors discussed above, including psychological stress, are dysfunction of the gut barrier, increased permeability, translocation of enteric bacteria from the intestinal lumen, and subsequent activation of the inflammatory response by LPS (29) (Figure 1). It was demonstrated that chronic psychological stress increased intestinal permeability of E. coli via follicle associated epithelium, by more than 30-fold and permeability to the antigenic protein horseradish peroxide (HRP), almost 4-fold. Moreover, serum corticosterone was significantly increased after 10 days of chronic stress and this was accompanied by a 3-fold increase in the number of mucosal



mast cells. In this study acute stress also increased permeability to HRP (72). Bacterial LPS are able to induce enzymes of the kynurenic pathway, e.g., indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO), the first step enzyme converting tryptophan toward the kynurenine pathway. It was demonstrated in animal studies that peripheral LPS challenge resulted in increased expression of brain proinflammatory cytokines and neuroinflammatory glial cellular markers. This was also accompanied with increased activity of brain kynurenic pathway enzymes with subsequent activation of neurotoxic branch of this pathway toward synthesis of detrimental kynurenines (73). In healthy humans administration of LPS resulted in increased body temperature, malaise, increased levels of cortisol and pro-inflammatory cytokines e.g., TNF-a, soluble TNF receptors, IL-6, IL-1, and IL-1 receptor antagonist. Furthermore, this low-grade immune response was accompanied by increased anxiety, depressed mood and a decrease in verbal and non-verbal memory functions (74, 75). Also, administering bacterial LPS had a dose dependent negative impact on cognitive functions (76). Moreover, bacterial translocation and LPS are known to induce monocyte activation and their trafficking into the CNS. This is considered to be a crucial mechanism of action in the pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)associated dementia (77).

Measurements of antibodies against LPS of Gram negative enterobacteria can be used as surrogate marker for the assessment of intestinal permeability. Due to increased intestinal permeability we can expect increased bacterial translocation and increased blood concertation of immunoglobulins against various enterobacteria. This approach was initially used by Maes et al. in assessing patients with chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) (78) (Table 1). Patients suffering from this disorder had increased prevalence and median values of serum IgA against LPS of enterobacteria compared to those of healthy controls and patients with partial CFS. Additionally, IgA levels were significantly correlated to the severity of CFS, such as irritable bowel, muscular tension, fatigue, the inability to concentrate and failing memory. These results suggest that increased intestinal permeability to enterobacteria are involved in the etiology of CFS. In another study patients with CFS had increased levels of LPS, along with elevated levels of surrogate markers of bacterial translocation namely, soluble CD14 (sCD14) and lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP) (79). In the same study, profiling of gut microbial diversity by sequencing 16s ribosomal ribonucleic acid (rRNA) genes from stool, revealed reduction in diversity and abundance of bacteria belonging to Firmicutes phylum, and reduction of anti-inflammatory with the concurrent increase of pro-inflammatory bacterial species in CFS patients. Results of this study indicate that besides increased intestinal microbial translocation, dysbiosis of gut microflora may also play a role in inflammatory symptoms of CFS.

Furthermore, the role of increased intestinal permeability to enteric bacteria, also known as "leaky gut," was demonstrated in two consecutive studies and it was suggested to be a potential pathophysiological mechanism of major depression (80, 81). In these studies (**Table 1**) serum concentrations of IgM and IgA were measured against LPS of six different enterobacteria: *Hafnia alvei, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Morganella morganii,*  *Pseudomonas putida, Citrobacter koseri,* and *Klebsiella pneumonia.* Levels of immunoglobulins were significantly higher in depressed patients compared to the control group. Interestingly there were also significantly higher IgM responses in patients suffering from chronic depression (duration > 2 years) when compared to patients with non-chronic depression and controls. This suggests that patients with chronic depression may also have increased intestinal permeability to a larger extent than non-chronic patients. This conclusion seems to be particularly valuable in further understanding of the mechanisms of treatment-resistant and chronic depression.

Excess alcohol consumption is a known factor for compromising the gut barrier, leading to increased intestinal permeability to macromolecules and bacterial endotoxins (38, 48-50). Furthermore, translocation of gut-derived bacterial toxins and related inflammatory response are believed to play a significant role in the development of progressive alcoholic liver injury (104-106). In alcohol-dependent patients, a 3 week alcohol detoxification programme resulted in significant improvement in intestinal barrier function, assessed using urine <sup>51</sup>Cr-EDTA and plasma LPS levels (50). Additionally, parameters of systemic inflammations (TNF-a, IL-6, IL-10, hsCRP) partially decreased during withdrawal and inflammatory parameters correlated with depressive symptoms and alcohol-craving (Table 1). These results suggest that the gut-brain axis could also have significance in the pathogenesis of alcohol dependence and in affective symptomatology observed in this disorder.

## FOOD DERIVED ANTIGENS IN PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

Another group of parameters believed to be contributing factors in psychopathology are related to food derived antigens and exorphins (Figure 1). The current literature covering this topic is mostly focused on the involvement of glutens, caseins, and exorphins in disorders such as psychoses, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and autistic spectrum disorders (ASD) (Table 1). Glutens are storage proteins of various grass-related grains. They consist of numerous protein components and can be divided into two main fractions: the soluble in aqueous alcohols gliadins, and insoluble glutenins (107). Bovine milk is another source of food derived antigens and it consists of two major group of proteins: caseins and whey proteins. Caseins account for 80% of bovine milk proteins and they are divided into a further four major groups:  $\alpha_{s1}$ ,  $\alpha_{s2}$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\kappa$  caseins (108). Some milk and gluten proteins can be a source of exorphins, which are peptides with morphine-like activity due to their ability to bind to opioid  $\mu$ -receptors e.g., in the CNS or gastrointestinal tract (109). Moreover, exorphins can stimulate T-cells and induce peptidespecific T cell responses that may result in further activation of inflammation, including elevated concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines and autoimmunity (103). Furthermore, in animal study, consumption of  $\beta$ -casein derived peptides,  $\beta$ casomorphins, resulted with inflammatory immune response in gut (110). Thus, food-derived compounds may influence

Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
Surrogate marker of intestinal permeability: serum concentrations of IgA and IgM against LPS of Gram (-) enterobacteria: <i>Hathia alvei,</i> <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa,</i> <i>Morganella morganii, Proteus</i> <i>mirabilis, Pseudomonas putida,</i> <i>critrabilis, Pseudomonas putida,</i> <i>critrabilis, Pseudomonas putida,</i>	(2)	OFS $n = 29$ Controls $n = 11$	S	Prevalence and median values for serum IgA against     the LPS of enterobacteria in CFS compared to controls     and patients with partial CFS.     Serum IgA levels correlated to the severity of CFS such     as irritable bowel, muscular tension, fatigue,     concentration difficulties, failing memory.	Enterobacteria are involved in the aetiology of CFS and increased gut permeability caused an immune response to the LPS.
Procession of the control of the con	(62)	CFS $n = 48$ Controls $n = 39$	SEO	↑ LPS, LBP, sCD14 in CFS patients. LBP levels correlated with LPS and sCD14 LPS correlated with sCD14 Bacterial diversity was reduced in CFS patients, in particular, reduction in diversity and abundance of bacteria belonging to Firmicutes phylum In CFS reduced anti-inflammatory and increased pro-inflammatory bacterial species.	↑ intestinal microbial translocation and dysbiosis of gut microflora in may play a role in inflammatory symptoms of CFS.
ment coordination of IgM and IgA against LPS of enterobacteria: H. alvei, P. aeruginosa, M. morganii, P. putida, C. koseri, K. pneumoniae.	(80)	$MDD \ n = 28$ Controls $n = 23$	QQM	<ul> <li>↑ IgM levels against LPS of <i>P. aeruginosa and P. putida</i> in MDD.</li> <li>↑ The peak IgM, IgA and the total sum of all six IgM and IgA values in MDD.</li> <li>The symptom profiles of ↑ IgM and IgA were: fatigue, autonomic and gastro-intestinal symptoms, and subjective feating of infection.</li> </ul>	↑ translocation of Gram (-) bacteria ("leaky gut") may play a role in inflammatory pathophysiology of MDD.
Serum concentration of IgM and IgA against the LPS of enterobacteria: <i>H. alvei, P.</i> <i>aeruginosa, M. morganii, P.</i> <i>putida, C. koseri, K.</i> <i>pneumoniae.</i>	(81)	MDD n = 112 Controls $n = 28$	QQM	<ul> <li>↑ Igh against H. alvei, P. aeruginosa, M. morganii and P. putida in MDD.</li> <li>↑ IgA against H. alvei, P. aeruginosa, M. morganii, K. pneumonia in MDD.</li> <li>↑ Peak IgM and IgA responses in MDD.</li> <li>↑ Peak IgM responses in chronic MDD versus non-chronic MDD.</li> <li>↑ Peak IgM responses in chronic MDD versus non-chronic MDD.</li> <li>↑ Peak IgM responses in chronic MDD versus non-chronic MDD.</li> </ul>	Increased translocation of Gram (-) bacteria may play a role in inflammatory pathophysiology of (chronic) MDD.
scD14 LBP	(82)	SZ $n = 141$ ; BD $n = 75$ ; Controls $n = 78$ ; Antipsychotic naive 1st episode of SZ $n = 78$ ; Medicated 1st episode of SZ n = 38	SZ, BD	scD14.35. scD14.45. association with schizophrenia. LBP correlated with BMI in schizophrenia. In bipolar disorder scD14 levels correlated with anti-transglutaminase IgG.	↑ intestinal permeability to Gram (-) bacteria could contribute to the results. Non-LPS related monocyte activation, autoimmunity, and metabolic profiles could also contribute to the results.

(Continued)

TABLE 1   Continued					
Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
Measurement of intestinal permeability <sup>51</sup> Cr-EDTA (urine) Plasma LPS concentration Plasma TNFu, IL-6, IL-10, hsCPP (measurements performed at the beginning T1 of the 3 week detoxification programme and after the treatment – T2)	(2.0)	Patients $n = 26$ Controls $n = 16$	Alcohol dependence	<sup>↑</sup> <sup>51</sup> Cr-EDTA in patients versus controls at T1 and no difference at T2. ↓Intestinal permeability in patients during the treatment. ↓Intestinal permeability in patients during at T1, significantly ↓ during withdrawal and no difference from controls at T2. A low-grade inflammation observed at T1 and partially ↓ during withdrawal. At T1 pro-inflammatory cytokines significantly correlated with craving. At T2 anti-inflammatory IL-10 negatively correlated with depression, anxiety and craving.	"Leaky gut" and the gut-brain axis may play a role in the pathogenesis of alcohol-dependence.
lgA and IgG to gluten, gliadin, casein, α-lactalburnin, β-lactoglobulin, ovalburnin	(83)	SZ n = 48 (medicated) Historical control group SZ n = 13 (drug free) Controls $n = 13$	SZ	↑ in SZ of IgA to gliadin, β-lactoglobulin, casein compared to controls. No significant difference for the IgG data.	More patients with schizophrenia than controls showed IgA antibody levels above the upper normal limit to gliadin, beta-lactoglobulin, and casein.
lgA and IgG to gliadin IgA to transglutaminase (tTG) IgA to EMA	(84)	SZ n = 1,401 Controls $n = 900$	SZ	23.1% of patients had moderate to high levels IgA to gliadin compared with 3.1% in control group. 5.4% of patients had moderate to high levels of IgA to tTG compared to 0.80% in control group. Only 0.35% ( $n = 5$ ) patients were positive for IgA to EMA.	Patients with SZ have ↑ levels of antibodies related to CD and gluten sensitivity. There is a specific immune response to gluten in SZ.
CSF levels of opioid receptor-active, endorphin fraction (Fraction I) CSF levels of monoamine metabolites	(85)	SZ $n = 45$ Controls $n = 18$	SZ	↑levels of Fraction I in SZ compared to controls ↑levels of Fraction I in SZ were associated with low levels of the dopamine metabolite homovanilic acid in drug-free SZ patients	There is $\uparrow$ opioid activity and concomitant dysfunction of brain endorphin and dopamine activity in SZ patients.
CSF levels of opioid receptor-active components (fraction II activity)	(86)	PP $n = 11$ Lactating controls n = 11 Non lactating controls $n = 16$	Postpartum psychosis	Very high levels of fraction II activity (bovine beta-casomorphin) were observed in four PP patients	Certain cases of PP are associated with the occurrence in plasma and CSF of unique opicid peptides related to bovine beta-casomorphin.
IgG and IgA to gliadin and tTG IgG to delaminated gliadin HLA DQ2 and HLA DQ8 alleles assessment	(87)	Recent onset psychosis $n = 129$ Multi episode SZ n = 191 Controls $n = 151$	Recent onset psychosis, SZ	↑ IgG and IgA to gliadin in recent-onset psychosis. ↑ IgG and IgA to gliadin in patients with multi-episode schizophrenia but lower than in recent onset. IgG to deamidated gliadin and IgA to tissue to tTG not elevated in either group. Fewer than 1% individuals in each of the groups had levels of these antibodies predictive to cellac disease No differences in the distribution of the HLA DQ2 and HLADQ8 among groups.	There might be a common immunologic feature similar to celiac diseases in patients with schizophrenia which have increased antibodies levels to gliadin.
					(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

13

Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
lgG to whole casein and to the αs, β, κ casein subunits	(88)	Recent onset psychosis $n = 95$ Long-term SZ n = 103 Controls $n = 65$	Recent onset psychosis, SZ	↑ IgG to whole casein proteins, α <sub>s</sub> , β and κ subunits in recent onset of psychosis. In this group odds ratio particularly significant for psychotic disorders with depressive symptoms. ↑ IgG to whole casein and α <sub>s</sub> subunit in long-term schizophrenia. PANNS scores for negative symptoms significantly correlated with casein antibody levels for the α <sub>s</sub> and κ subunits.	Current results provide a rationale for performing clinical trials of dietary interventions in psychiatric patients.
IgG to Saccharomyces cerevisiae (ASCA – marker of intestinal inflammation) IgG to bovine milk casein, wheat-derived gluten IgG to <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> , EBV, Influenza A, Influenza B, Measles, Rubella	(83)	Non-recent onset n = 193 Recent onset n = 67 1st episode n = 103 (including 40 antipsychotic- naive) Controls $n = 207$	SZ	<ul> <li>↑ASCA lgG and correlated with food antigen antibodies in recent onset and non-recent onset schizophrenia compared to controls.</li> <li>↑ASCA lgG in unmediated patients with first episode of schizophrenia compared to patients receiving antipsychotic treatment.</li> <li>In the recent onset group significant correlation of lgG to casein with lgG to <i>T. gondii</i> and significant correlation of lgG to gluten with lgG to <i>T. gondii</i>.</li> </ul>	Inflammation and changes in Gl permeability may contribute to etiopathogenesis and/or symptomatology of schizophrenia. Gl inflammation may occur in the absence of antipsychotics and may be modified by them.
ASCA IgG to casein and gluten IgG to <i>T. gondii</i> scD14 <b>Mouse model:</b> IgG to casein and gluten IgG to <i>T. gondii</i> Complement system Anti-NMDA receptor antibodies	(42)	SZ $n = 263$ Controls $n = 207$	SS	$\uparrow$ ASCA IgG and correlated with - IgG to casein and gluten in SZ. $\uparrow$ CD14 in SZ. IgG to <i>T.gondii</i> correlated with IgG to casein and gluten in SZ. <b>Mouse model:</b> <i>T.gondii</i> infection may result with $\uparrow$ of IgG to casein and gluten, $\uparrow$ of complement factors and $\uparrow$ of autoantibodies to the brain NMDA receptors.	Intestinal inflammation and ↑ intestinal permeability are relevant in pathology of schizophrenia. Infection with <i>T. gondii</i> may play a role in pathology of schizophrenia and autoimmunity against NMDA receptors.
lgG to human complement factor C1q	(06)	Non-recent onset of SZ $n = 61$ Recent onset of SZ $n = 38$ Controls $n = 63$	ZS	C1q IgG levels were highest in recent-onset SZ and moderately elevated in non-recent onset of SZ. ↑ Casein and/or gluten-IgG binding to C1q in the non-recent onset. Significant associations of immune complex seropositivity with the non-recent onset group. C1q IgG antlbody levels associated with casein IgG, gliadin IgG and ASCA IgG.	Complement activation may be a useful marker in schitzophrenia during early stages of the disease.
lgG to gluten and casein in serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)	(91)	1st episode SZ n = 105 including n = 75 antipsychotic- naïve Controls $n = 61$	ZS	Striking correlations of IgG response to dietary proteins between serum and CSF in patients but not in controls. ↑ parameters of the blood-CSF permeability, the CSF-to serum albumin ratio in SZ. Lack of evidence for the intrathecal production of the food-related IgG within the CNS CSF IgG index and specific Antibody Index) in SZ.	Patients with SZ may have dysfunction/increased permeability of blood-brain-barrier or/and blood-CSF barrier. Those could be the ways of entering casein and gluten IgG to CNS with subsequent role in brain pathology.

TABLE 1 | Continued

TABLE 1   Continued					
Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
IgG and IgA to gliadin IgG and IgA to tTG IgG to deamidated gliadin	(92)	BD $n = 102$ Controls $n = 173$	ß	↑ IgG to gliadin and to deamidated gliadin in BD. IgA antigliadin antibodies and antibodies to tTG did not differ between groups.	Patients with BD have ↑ levels of antibodies to gliadin. There is no elevation of other antibodies typical for CD. Possible another pattern of antibodv resonce to of litera in BD
Longitudinal assessment with follow-up 6 months later of: Serum IgG and IgA to gliadin IgG and IgA to tTG IgG to deamidated gliadin	(63)	Mania $n = 60$ Controls $n = 143$	Mania in course of BD I, II, schizoaffective disorder.	<ul> <li>IgG to gliadin but not other markers of celiac disease in mania at baseline.</li> <li>At the 6 months follow up no difference of above parameters from controls.</li> <li>IgG to gliadin at follow-up significantly associated with re-hosarialization in the 6 months follow-up period.</li> </ul>	The monitoring and assessment of glute monitoring and assessment of gluten sensitivity may have be significant in the management of patients with acute mania.
IgG to ASCA IgG to bovine milk casein IgG to wheat glutten EBV IgG, Influenza A IgG, Influenza B IgG, Measles IgG, <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> IgG	(94)	BD without a recent onset of psychosis $n = 226$ BD with recent onset of psychosis $n = 38$ Controls $n = 207$	B	<ul> <li>ASCA lgG in both groups of BD.</li> <li>1gG to case in and groups of BD.</li> <li>1gG to case in and grups of BD.</li> <li>ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case in and gluten in both BD groups.</li> <li>ASCA lgG correlated with measles and <i>T.gonii</i> in BD with recent onset of psychosis and <i>T.gonii</i> in BD with recent onset of psychosis ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case ubgroups.</li> <li>In BD with recent onset of psychosis ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case ubgroups.</li> <li>In BD with recent onset of psychosis ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case ubgroups.</li> <li>In BD with recent onset of psychosis ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case ubgroups.</li> <li>In BD with recent onset of psychosis ASCA lgG correlated with lgG to case und gluten in manic, ubgroup.</li> </ul>	Results are strong preliminary evidence for a role of GI tract in the inflammatory pathology of BD. Treatment strategies involving diet modifications, anti-inflammatory agents and microbiota modulations should be further investigated.
lgG to 44 different food products Cortisol, IL-1b. IL-6, TNFα	(95)	Patients $n = 34$ Controls $n = 29$	QQW	Significant positive correlations of got to 11.36% food products and length of depressive episode (months). No significant differences in mean IgG concentrations against 44 food antigens between patients and controls. ↓ IgG concentration to dairy in depressed patients compared to controls in subgroups with high exposure (consumption) of diary.	No differences in mean IgG to food antigens, however positive correlations between the length of depressive episode with IgG concentrations to food antigens suggest that further research in recurrent, chronic depression would be valuable.
IgA to ASCA IgG to gliadin IgA to LPS CRP	(96)	Patients $n = 210$ Controls $n = 72$	SZ, BD, MDD. 10% patients "s" attempt in last month. 45% patients "s" attempt in their lifetime.	IgA to ASCA, IgG to gliadin and IgA to LPS in recent suicide attempters (last month) compared to controls. Those markers were no elevated in patients with past, but not recent, suicidal history.	Gl inflammation may be associated with recent suicidal attempt and should be further explored as a predictive marker of such attempts.
					(Continued)

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

15

Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
Intestinal permeability measurement (lactulose/mannitol ratio – LA/MA) IgA to tTG, EMA Total mucosal IgA Total mucosal IgA HLA-DΩ2/-DΩ8 haplotypes Total IgA, IgG, IgE IgA and IgG to α=gliadin IgA and IgG to deamidated gliadin IgG to β-lactoglobulin, α-lactalbumin, casein, gluten, lactoclobulin, α-lactalbumin	(26)	Patients $n = 162$ Controls $n = 44$	ASD	↑ intestinal permeability (LA/MA) 25.6% of ASD patients compared to 2.3% of controls ↑ IgG to AGA and deamidated gliadin in ASD. ↑ IgG to casein in ASD.	Immune system is triggered by gluten and casein in ASD patients and impaired intestinal barrier could contribute to that.
IgG, IgA, IgM to casein, lactalburnin, β-lactoglobulin, ovalburnin Assesment of behavioral symptoms after 8 weeks of elimination diet	80	Patients $n = 36$ Controls $n = 20$	ASD	<ul> <li>Improvement of behavioral symptoms of patients after 8 weeks of elimination diet.</li> <li>↑ IgA to casein, lactalbumin, β-lactoglobulin in ASD.</li> <li>↑ IgG and IgM to casein in ASD.</li> <li>↑ IgE levels and skin test in ASD.</li> <li>↑ IgE levels and skin tests and specific IgE more frequent for casein, lactalbumin, β-lactoglobulin, egg white, rice, and soy.</li> </ul>	Results suggest relationship between food allergy and infantile ASD.
Zonulin	(66)	Patients $n = 32$ Controls $n = 33$	ASD	↑ serum zonulin in patients compared to controls Positive correlation between zonulin levels and Childhood Autism Rating Scale.	Zonulin, regulator of gut permeability, plays a role in development of ASD.
<i>Post-mortem</i> measurement of gene and protein expression of brain (cortex, cerebellum) proteins and key molecules associated with BBB and tight junctions, neurovascular unit integrity and neuroinflammation. Gene and protein expression of ritestinal tight junctions in duodenal biopsies.	(100)	Brain <i>post</i> <i>-mortem</i> samples: ASD $n = 8$ SZ $n = 10$ Controls $n = 15$ Duodenal biopsies: ASD $n = 12$ Controls $n = 9$	ASD, SZ	<ul> <li>↑Claudin –5 and –12 in ASD cortex and cerebellum.</li> <li>↑Claudin –5, tricellulin, MMP-9 in ASD cortex.</li> <li>↓La, tPA, IBA-1 in SZ cortex.</li> <li>↓L-1b in SZ cerebellum.</li> <li>↓Claudin –12 in ASD and SZ cortexes.</li> <li>↓ expression of components of intestinal tight junctions (claudin-1, occludin and tricellulin) in 75% of ASD patients</li> <li>↑ intestinal pore-forming claudins (claudin-2, -10, -15) in 66% of ASD patients compared to controls.</li> </ul>	In brain of patients with ASD there is an altered expression of genes related to blood-brain-barrier integrity coupled with elevated neuroinflammation and possibly impaired gut barrier integrity.
Simultaneous presence of IgG, IgM, IgA antibodies to gliadin Examining cross-reaction between dietary proteins and cerebellar antigens	(101)	Patients $n = 50$ Controls $n = 50$	ASD	Concomitant ↑ IgG, IgM, IgA to gliadin and cerebellum in more than 80% of patients. Demonstrated cross-reactivity between gliadin and cerebellar peptides.	Subgroup of patients with ASD produce antibodies against cerebellar Purkinje cells and gliadin peptides which may be responsible for some of the neurological symptoms in ASD.

Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1   Continued					
Measured parameter	References	Number of participants	Psychiatric diagnosis	Major findings	Major conclusions
IgG, IgM, IgA antibodies to neurologic antigens: myelin basic protein (MBP), myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG), ganglioside (GM1), sufatide (SULP), chondroitin sulfate (CONSO4), myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG), a, β-crystallin (a, β-CPYS), neurofilament proteins (NAFP), tubulin Cross reactive peptides: <i>Chlamydia pneumoniae</i> (CPP), streptococcal M protein (STM6P), milk butyrophilin (BTN).	(102)	Patients $n = 40$ Controls $n = 40$	ASD	ASD patients showed the highest levels of IgG, IgM, IgA against all neurologic antigens as well as the three cross-reactive peptides.	Neurologic antibodies may have been synthesized due to alterations in BBB. These results suggest mechanisms by which bacterial infections and milk antigens modulate autoimmune response in ASD.
IgG, IgM, IgA antibodies to CD26 (DPP IV), CD69, streptokinase (SK), gliadin, casein, ethyl mercury. Assessment of binding of SK, gliadin, casein and ethyl mercury with CD26 and CD69.	(103)	Patients $n = 50$ Controls $n = 50$	ASD	Significant percentage of ASD children developed anti-SK, anti-gliadin and casein, anti-ethyl mercury antibodies concomitantly with anti-CD26, anti CD-69 autoantibodies. Adding SK, gliadin, casein, ethyl mercury to CD26 or CD69 resulted in 28–86% inhibition of CD26 or CD69 binding to anti-CD26 and anti CD-69 antibodies.	First demonstration that dietary peptides, bacterial toxins and xenobiotics bind to lymphocyte receptors and/or tissue enzymes, resulting in autoimmune reaction in ASD.
ASCA, IgG to Saccharomyces cerevisiae N, dipeptidyl peptidase IV (synonym of C lipopolysaccharide binding protein; LPS, psychosis; T, gondlii, Toxoplasma gondlii,	;; ASD, autism spect :D26); EBV, Epstein bacterial lipopolysac	rum disorder; BP, bipolar d Barr Virus; EMA, endomysi ccharide; MDD, major depre	sorder; CD, celiac disease; <sup>5</sup> um; HLA DQ2, DQ8, human . ssion; PANNS, The positive a	<sup>1</sup> Cr-EDTA, chromium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; CRP, C reactiv eukocyte antigens DQ2, DQ8, IgA, IgG, IgG, IgM, immunoglobulin A, nd negative syndrome scale, "s" attempt, suicidal attempt; sCD14, soi nd negative syndrome scale, "s" attempt, suicidal attempt;	r protein; CFS, chronic fatigue syndrome; DPP E, G, M; LAVMA, lactulose/mannitol ratio; LBP, uble CD14; SZ, schizophrenia; PP, postpartum

immunity and brain function due to their antigenic, proinflammatory qualities and/or their abilities to behave as ligands of various opioid receptors. Previously high levels of  $\beta$ -casomorphin-like opioid peptides were observed in CSF and serum of patients with postpartum psychosis (86). Also, patients with schizophrenia had increased opioid activity in CSF (85) and exorphins were found in the urine of untreated patients with schizoaffective disorder (111).

Numerous studies report that patients experiencing psychiatric and neurologic symptoms have abnormal reactions to food-derived antigens. For instance, celiac disease (CD)-an autoimmune disorder and widely recognized manifestation of gluten sensitivity, has various psychiatric, and neurologic manifestations and is considered to be a gut-brain axis "flagship" condition (112, 113). Various epidemiological studies have shown substantial association of schizophrenia with CD (114-116). However, there are also various examples of abnormal responses to food antigens which go beyond the presence of antibodies to deamidated epitopes of gliadin and tissue transglutaminase (tTG) which are characteristic immune responses observed in CD (117). It was previously demonstrated that patients with schizophrenia had increased IgA to gliadin, β-lactoglobulin and casein (83). A large study of 1401 schizophrenia patients from the CATIE study (clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness), and 900 controls, revealed that 23.1% of patients had moderate-to-high levels of IgA to gliadin (IgA-AGA) compared with 3.1% in the control group (84). Moderate-tohigh levels of antibodies to tTG were also observed in 5.4% of patients with schizophrenia compared with the 0.80% in the control group. Only 0.35% (n = 5) patients were positive for IgA to endomysium (EMA). Results of this study revealed that patients with schizophrenia have higher levels of antibodies related to CD and gluten sensitivity and that there is also a specific immune response to gluten in this population. In another study, patients with the recent-onset of psychosis and patients with multi-episode schizophrenia had increased levels of IgG and IgA antibodies to gliadin compared with controls (87). However, these patients did not have increased IgG to deamidated gliadin or IgA antibodies to tTG, and <1% of patients had levels of antibodies symptomatic for CD. These results point to the existence of different immune mechanisms in schizophrenia compared to those observed in CD. Moreover, increased IgA antibody levels to gliadin, β-lactoglobulin, and casein were observed in schizophrenia (83). Elevated IgG to whole casein and  $\alpha_s$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\kappa$  casein subunits was demonstrated in patients with recent-onset of psychosis. In contrast, in the group suffering from long-term schizophrenia there was an increase in IgG to whole casein and  $\alpha_s$  subunit (88). Interestingly, in this study Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANNS) scores for negative symptoms significantly correlated with casein antibody concentration to subunits  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . In recent years, a novel syndrome of gluten intolerance, known as non-celiac gluten sensitivity (NCGS) or gluten sensitivity (GS), has gained recognition (118). Patients with NCGS do not develop typical antibodies of CD, however they experience various physical and behavioral symptoms after gluten consumption. The most common symptoms are IBS-like symptoms, chronic fatigue, headache, bone and joint pain, numbness of hand and feet, erythema, muscle contractions, and depression. Patients may also experience hyperactivity, disturbed attention and it is likely that NCGS may contribute to symptoms of other psychiatric disorders (119).

Anti-Saccharomyces cervisiae IgG antibodies (ASCA), typically increased in Crohn's disease or ulcerative colitis, is a marker of GI inflammation (94). It was demonstrated that levels of ASCA IgG were significantly elevated in patients with schizophrenia compared to the control group, and ASCA significantly correlated with antibody levels to gluten and casein in the same patients. Interestingly, in this study authors revealed significant correlations between IgG to Toxoplasma gondii and IgG to food antigens in recent-onset schizophrenia. They suggested that infection with this parasite could result in increased permeability of the intestinal barrier with subsequent increased absorption of food antigens (89). Infection with T. gondii is also a known risk factor for the development of schizophrenia. Severance et al. demonstrated a fascinating association between T. gondii infection with gut-derived inflammation, increased intestinal permeability, allergy to food antigens and development of anti-NMDA receptor autoantibodies (42). In this study, patients with schizophrenia had increased levels of ASCA, which correlated with antibody levels to gluten and casein. Moreover, these patients had increased levels of soluble CD14-a marker of intestinal microbial translocation previously mentioned above. Infection with T. gondii also correlated with antibodies to food antigens. In further investigation of these clinical observations, using a mouse model, the same authors demonstrated that T. gondii infection may result in the elevation of IgG to casein and gluten, activation of complement system and increased levels of autoantibodies to the brain NMDA receptors.

Another group of molecules receiving a lot of attention in psychiatry research and neuroscience recently is the complement system of the immune system. The complement system is a protein complex involved in the recognition, opsonisation and lysis of various antigens. These proteins are also involved in synapse development, neuronal pruning and neurodegeneration, and are present in the human CNS, where they are mostly produced by activated microglia (120-122). Involvement of the complement system was demonstrated in various neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease (123, 124), Huntington's disease (125), Parkinson's disease (126), Pick's disease (127) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (128). Moreover, activation of the complement system has been demonstrated in schizophrenia (129-133) and autism (134-136), and it is believed that the complement system could contribute to symptomatology of those disorders. For instance, association of C1qB gene polymorphism with schizophrenia was demonstrated in an Armenian population and it was suggested that the "C1qB gene may be considered as a relevant candidate for susceptibility to schizophrenia." Interestingly, Severance et al. suggested the hypothesis that food antigens could be the source of activation of the complement system, and that these antigens could bind and activate the C1q, the first component in classical activation of the complement system. These authors demonstrated increased binding of casein and/or gluten IgG to C1q in patients with non-recent onset schizophrenia compared to controls and that levels of C1q-casein/gluten-related immune complexes and C1q correlated with ASCA. The authors of this study suggested "complement activation may be a useful biomarker to diagnose schizophrenia early during the course of the disease" (90). Furthermore, an upregulation of cerebral C1q was demonstrated in response to latent *T. gondii* infection and it was hypothesized that "complement activity may aid in the clearance of this parasite from the CNS and in so doing, have consequences for the connectivity of neighboring cells and synapses" (137).

As suggested by Dohan in 1979, besides increased permeability of intestinal barrier, dysfunction of barrier systems within the CNS could be another contributing factor for heightened transit of food-derived antigens and neuroactive polypeptides from the intestinal lumen to the CNS (9, 138). In line with this hypothesis, striking correlations between serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) IgG to wheat gluten and bovine milk casein were demonstrated in antipsychotic-naïve schizophrenia patients compared to healthy controls (91). In the same study, there was a lack of intrathecal, local CNS production of IgG to food antigens, which supported the hypothesis that these antigens were derived from the periphery and were required to cross to the CNS via defective BBB (91). Previously the dysfunction of BBB was also reported in psychotic and affective disorders, and autism (100, 139–141).

Bipolar affective disorder is another severe psychiatric disorder in which compromised gut barrier has been demonstrated (Table 1) (92-94, 96). Patients with this disorder had elevated serum concentrations of IgG to gliadin and deamidated gliadin in comparison to controls. There was no difference in IgA to gliadin and to tTG between patients and control group (92). In a follow-up study, patients with manic symptoms had increased baseline IgG to gliadin, which normalized after 6 months of treatment (93). In the same study, re-hospitalized patients during a 6-month follow-up period were more likely to have increased IgG to gliadin at the follow-up. Analogically to schizophrenia there is also evidence for increased GI inflammatory parameters in patients with bipolar disorder. Patients with this disorder were demonstrated to have increased levels of ASCA along with IgG to casein and gluten, and ASCA correlated with IgG to these food antigens compared to controls (94). ASCA were also correlated with IgG to T. gondii and measles in patients who experienced recent-onset of psychosis in the course of bipolar disorder.

In a study performed by our group, we measured IgG against 44 different food products in patients with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD). We found significant positive correlations of IgG to 11.36% of food products with the length of depressive episode (months). We did not observe significant differences in mean IgG concentrations against 44 food antigens between patients and the control group, however most of our patients experienced the first episode of MDD, which could have significantly influenced our results. The conclusion of the study was that "it could be valuable to further explore a potential role for increased intestinal permeability to food antigens with subsequent IgG responses in patients with chronic, recurrent depression, and in patients with gastrointestinal, and extraintestinal autoimmune diseases with co-morbid depression" (118).

GI inflammation and increased intestinal permeability may play also a significant role in suicidal symptomatology. In a recent pilot study it was demonstrated that recent suicidal attempters (within the last month) in the course of major depression, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia had increased IgA to ASCA, IgG to gliadin and increased IgA to LPS compared to a healthy control group (96). Moreover, association between the number of suicide attempts and the levels of IgM antibodies to *T. gondii* and cytomegalovirus (CMV) was demonstrated in individuals with serious mental illness previously (142).

Increased levels of antibodies against food antigens has also been demonstrated in ASD (Table 1). In general, this disorder is characterized by high comorbidity of various gastrointestinal abnormalities e.g., constipation, diarrhea, reflux, esophagitis, gastritis, duodenitis, enterocolitis, lymphoid nodular hyperplasia, increased intestinal permeability, impaired detoxification (for example, defective sulfation of phenolic amines), SIBO, dysbiosis with bacterial overgrowth and yeast overgrowth (143-145). For instance, patients with ASD had increased parameters of intestinal permeability measured with lactulose/mannitol ratio (LA/MA) and they had elevated levels IgG to AGA, deamidated gliadin and IgG to casein (97). Moreover, increased concentrations of IgA antibodies to casein, lactalbumin and βlactoglobulin, and IgG and IgM to casein were demonstrated in infantile autism and 8 weeks of an elimination diet identified by a positive skin test, resulted in marked improvement in behavioral symptoms (98). Furthermore, ASD patients had increased concentrations of zonulin, a physiological regulator of gut epithelium permeability via modulation of tight junctions opening between enterocytes (99). Also, Fiorentino et al. demonstrated in a post mortem study that 75% of ASD patients had reduced expression of components of intestinal tight junctions (claudin-1, occluding, and tricellulin), and 66% of patients had elevated expression of pore-forming claudins (claudin-2,-10,-15) compared to the control group (100). Moreover, in the same study, brain samples from patients with ASD revealed alterations in genes expression related to BBB stability, coupled with elevated neuroinflammation. However, patients with ASD may exhibit additional dysfunction of GI tract, which adds to the complexity of gut-brain-axis involvement in this disorder. For instance, decreased activity of carbohydrate digestive enzymes (disaccharidases or glucoamylase) was found in 58.3% of children with ASD (146) and multiple studies demonstrated association between disaccharidases deficiencies and intestinal inflammatory changes (147). The most frequent finding was a low lactase level. This enzyme has a role in the hydrolysis of lactose to glucose and galactose, and the latter is essential for the synthesis of brain galactolipids. Consequently, malabsorption of disaccharides is believed to play a role in the behavioral problems observed in non-verbal ASD patients. Also, decreased activity of GI enzymes e.g., dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPPIV) has been suggested to be the cause of inadequate digestion of caseins including casomorphins and glutens including gliadomorphins in ASD (103, 148, 149) and those exorphins were demonstrated to exhibit pro-inflammatory properties (103, 150). "Leakiness" of both the intestinal and blood-brain barriers, observed in autistic patients, could result in easier access of neuroactive peptides and food derived antigens to the CNS which could have pro-inflammatory and neurobehavioral consequences. Also, decreased activity of DPP IV was demonstrated in depressed patients and DPP IV activity correlated with immune-inflammatory markers such as, number of CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup>/CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell ratio (151, 152). Interestingly, therapeutic effects of an enzyme-based therapy for autism have also been reported and are believed to be due to the improvement of digestion of caseins, glutens and exorphins (153, 154).

## MOLECULAR MIMICRY AND ANTIGENIC COVALENT BINDING—A "TROJAN HORSE" OF PSYCHIATRIC AUTOIMMUNITY?

A role of increased gut barrier permeability in the pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders has previously been described by Fasano et al. (155-157). Consequently, increased intestinal permeability was demonstrated in various autoimmune disorders e.g., celiac diseases, type 1 diabetes, asthma, multiple sclerosis, inflammatory bowel diseases, ankyloses spondylitis, and it is believed that gut-derived molecular mimicry could be a pathogenic factor of autoimmunity observed in those conditions (Figure 1). Various autoimmune disorders are known risk factors of major depression, schizophrenia, and psychotic disorders (158, 159) and comorbidity of autoimmune diseases is associated with a 45% increased risk of schizophrenia (160). Moreover, it is believed that autoantibodies could play a significant role in the pathogenesis of depression and that autoimmune and depressive disorders may share common pathogenic factors (161-166). Interestingly, intracerebroventricular injection of human antiribosomal P antibodies induced depressive behavior in mice (167). Also, in major depression and schizophrenia, increased concentrations of various autoantibodies to cellular proteins e.g., α7 nicotinic and dopamine receptors, cardiolipin, parietal cells (PCA), smooth muscle actin, antinuclear (ANA) and anti-thyroid gland (TGA) was demonstrated (168-170). Presence of serotonin autoantibodies was also revealed in patients with schizoaffective psychoses, chronic alcoholism and rheumatoid arthritis (171). In both schizophrenia and mood disorders, increased levels of autoantibodies to hypothalamus, hippocampus and cerebellum, and anti-nuclear antibodies was demonstrated (172). Also the presence of various other autoantibodies in schizophrenia has been previously reviewed (173). Recently, there has been a lot of scientific attention focused on neurologic and psychiatric manifestations related to various cell surface autoantibodies such as antibodies to N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor (NMDAR), α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAR), voltage-gated potassium channel (VGKC), y-aminobutyric acid-B receptor (GABA<sub>B</sub>R), the glycine receptor (GlyR) and metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) (174). These antibodies could be associated with cancer, however more commonly they are non-paraneoplastic with the source of autoimmunity remaining unknown (175, 176). Co-occurrence of these autoantibodies was shown to be associated with various psychiatric symptoms e.g., psychosis, mania, agitation, emotional lability, anxiety, aggression, compulsive behavior, personality change, confusion, memory impairment, and amnesia (174). Antibodies to the NMDA receptor and to the VGKC were described in patients with schizophrenia (177-179). Respectively, Lennox et al. suggested that a sub-group of patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia may actually suffer from undiagnosed NMDAR encephalitis (180). Interestingly, it was demonstrated that GI inflammation and increased intestinal permeability caused by T. gondii infection, a known risk factor of schizophrenia, resulted in the development of anti-NMDA receptor antibodies in laboratory animals. This infection also resulted in increased levels of anti-gluten and anti-casein IgG antibodies along with increased concentrations of complement factors which play a crucial role in neurodevelopment and neuronal pruning (42). In a recent breakthrough research, which clearly links gutderived antigens with neuronal autoimmunity, Lambert and Vojdani demonstrated that patients with antibody reactivity to specific food proteins had higher co-occurrence of various tissue antibodies compared to controls without such food reactivities (181). More precisely, 35% of the control group (negative for IgG against glutens) and 64% of patients (positive for IgG against gluten) were reactive against tissues. Thirty percent of the control group (negative for dairy proteins antibodies) and 73% of patients (positive for dairy antibodies) were reactive against tissues. Twenty two percent of the control group (negative for IgG against wheat germ agglutinin-WGA) and 76% of patients (positive for IgG against WGA) were reactive against tissues. Furthermore, authors demonstrated that of all three groups of food antigens assessed (gluten, dairy, and lectin/agglutinin family proteins), autoimmune reactivity to neurological tissues was the highest in the patient group. It should be noted that this study did not provide specific information on patients' inclusion criteria and their diagnoses, therefore similar research in psychiatric patients is required.

Analogous immune mechanisms were also described in ASD where concomitant increase of IgG, IgM, IgA to gliadin, and cerebellum was demonstrated in more than 80% of autistic patients (101) (**Table 1**). Furthermore, the same study revealed a cross-reactivity between gliadin and cerebellar peptides. Moreover, it was suggested that autoimmunity due to bacterial infections and exposure to milk antigens may be a pathogenic factor in autism.

Voidani et al. also demonstrated that in individuals with predisposing HLA molecules, infectious agents including superantigens [for e.g., bacterial streptokinase (SK)], heat shock protein (HSP-60), dietary proteins (for e.g., gliadin and casein), and xenobiotics [for e.g., ethyl mercury (thimerosal derivate)] bind to different enzymes or cell surface receptors e.g., CD26 (DPP-IV) and CD69, and induce autoantibodies against HLA peptides (103, 148) (**Table 1**). In this study a significant percentage of ASD children developed anti-SK, anti-gliadin and casein, anti-ethyl mercury antibodies concomitantly with anti-CD26, anti-CD69 autoantibodies. Furthermore, adding SK, gliadin, casein, ethyl mercury to CD26 or CD69 resulted in 28–86% inhibition of CD26 or CD69 binding to anti-CD26 and anti-CD69 antibodies.

So far, two main mechanisms have been identified for food protein-induced autoimmunity in various tissues; firstly molecular mimicry, also known as cross-reactivity and secondly, covalent binding of food derived lectins and agglutinins to human tissues (181) (Figure 1). In molecular mimicry, there is case of "mistaken identity" between specific food antigens and human tissue due to high molecular homology e.g., amino acid homology of gliadin or dairy proteins with human tissue. In some scenarios (e.g., increased intestinal permeability) (Figure 1), antibodies against these food antigens are produced and the immune system can "mistake" these mimicking antigens for host tissue and react against it. For example, such reactions between gliadin and milk proteins with cerebellar tissue, and myelin have been reported previously (101, 182-184). In case of the second mechanism mentioned above, numerous plant lectins and agglutinins can covalently bind to various tissues and in response, the immune system may react against the new structure, as well as the surrounding tissue (181).

## INTESTINAL MICROBIOTA – NEW INSTRUMENT IN PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENT AND DIAGNOSIS

Another component of the microbiota-gut brain axis with a crucial role determining intestinal permeability and immunity of both the GI tract and the CNS is intestinal microbiota. In the last few years, there has been significant progress in our understanding of the role of bacteria in brain function and behavior and these mechanisms have been reviewed extensively elsewhere (185-189). Microbiota play a significant role in maintaining the psycho-neuro-immunological balance by various mode-of-actions, such as the modulation of the immune and neuroendocrine systems, e.g., hypothalamicpituitary adrenal axis (HPA), changes of the tryptophan (TRP) metabolism in the serotonin and kynurenic axes, production and metabolism of multiple neuroactive compounds e.g., shortchain fatty acids (SCFAs) and neurotransmitters. Beneficial bacteria also influence neurogenesis and the expression of neurotransmitters' receptors in the CNS (186, 187). Microbiota are also believed to be key regulators of neuroinflammation and to modulate mucosal innate and adaptive immune responses during infection, inflammation and autoimmunity (188). For instance, it was demonstrated that gastrointestinal microbiota have a significant function in the maturation and immune function of microglia (190). These bacteria also influence blood-brain barrier permeability (191). Furthermore, as natural guardians of the gut epithelium, intestinal microbiota, have a crucial role in the maintenance and modulation of gut epithelium barrier and in the regulation of various gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) functions (29, 192). Key downstream effects of these beneficial microbes include their ability to decrease concentration of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the nuclear factor, NF- $\kappa$ B, increase concentrations of anti-inflammatory cytokines, and changes in tryptophan, and kynurenines levels (192–196). Since pro-inflammatory cytokines, NF- $\kappa$ B, and zonulin have a crucial role in increase of intestinal permeability, various microbiota, due to ability to modulate those parameters, have a protective effects on intestinal barrier (192–194, 197). Those bacteria have a beneficial influence on the composition of intestinal tight junctions proteins, inhibit adherence of pathogens to intestinal barrier, increase mucin production by epithelial goblet cells, increase secretory IgA (sIgA) and antimicrobial  $\beta$ -defensin secretion into the luminal mucous, what enhances intestinal barrier (198).

There is growing evidence to support the therapeutic effects of microbiota and probiotics on the symptoms of anxiety, low mood and depression, CFS, and cognitive functions (186, 199–215) and beneficial bacteria have recently earned a general name of psychobiotics (216).

Altered composition of gut microbes was demonstrated in various psychiatric disorders including CFS (79), MDD (217-220), ASD (221-225), schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (226), and alcoholism (38). In MDD altered proportions of Prevotella and Klebsiella bacterial genus were consistent with the Hamilton depression rating scale (220). Additionally, fecal microbiota transplant from patients with major depression to germ free (GF) mice resulted in depression-like behavior in recipient mice (227). Small intestine bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) is another abnormality of intestinal flora observed in ASD and alcoholism (145, 228). It was hypothesized that these alterations could play a significant role in psychopathology and assessment of flora composition could become a clinical marker in psychiatry. Interestingly, psychiatric pharmacotherapy was shown to influence composition of intestinal microbiota. For example, antipsychotic medication such as olanzapine and risperidone have been shown to modify gut flora and it was further demonstrated that weight gain, often observed in patients during such treatment, was secondary to altered of gut microbiota by the antipsychotics (229-231). Moreover, olanzapine-induced metabolic dysfunction in rats was attenuated by antibiotic administration (232). Consequently, probiotics administration could provide a novel therapeutic strategy for the prevention or reversal of weight gain following antipsychotic treatment.

# FUTURE PERSPECTIVES—THE PARADIGM SHIFT IN PSYCHIATRY EMERGING

We are witnessing a truly interesting time for psychiatry and neuroscience. The last two decades of research in the field of psycho-neuro-immunology have provided us with an increased understanding of the role of immunity in psychiatric disorders. Now, with the involvement of the microbiota-gutbrain axis, the second stage of this inevitable paradigm shift in psychiatry has begun. In the old paradigm, psychiatry was "starting" when "all" physical abnormalities (besides clearly organic disorders) were excluded. Currently, the split between purely psychological vs. medical background of psychiatric

disorders is dissolving in response to improved understanding of psycho-neuro-immune interactions between psyche and soma. Having recognized that vast amounts of psychiatric symptomatology may have an immune, autoimmune and/or gutderived background, one wonders when we face the separate nosological entities and when we face various manifestations of underlying immune processes. Professor Ronald S. Smith, the precursor of the inflammatory hypothesis of depression, stated the following in his sadly unfinished book, "Cytokines & Depression. How your immune system causes depression." While describing immune pathogenesis of depression, he referred to the First Edition of Encyclopaedia Britannica and challenged the current approach to major depression diagnosis. In this edition, published in 1771, 37 different subtypes of "fever disease" were described as separate disorders. Smith wrote, "Eventually it was understood that fever in not one disease nor 37 kinds of fever diseases, but rather it is a trustworthy universal sign of acute immune system activation. Fever is a sign of acute immune system activation, regardless of any other signs, symptoms or diseases that it may be associated with. After this realization, fever was no longer a bewildering and complex disease, but instead, a simple, direct and easily understood signal of acute immune activation" (233). On the other hand, Susannah Cahalan in her New York Times Bestselling autobiography, "Brain on Fire: My Month of Madness," describes her own horrifying experience of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Initially, due to various psychotic symptoms, a diagnosis of bipolar affective disorder, schizophrenia, or schizoaffective disorder was suggested, however after further investigation, she was diagnosed with aforementioned encephalitis. After all, Cahalan was diagnosed with and treated for a neurologic, autoimmune disorder, and a psychiatric diagnosis was rejected. However, this still provokes the question; how many psychiatric patients suffer from similar autoimmune conditions with lesser manifestations of neurologic symptoms? When are we dealing with a psychiatric manifestation of "organic" disorder and when is it a "purely" psychiatric one? Maybe, as Smith suggested, we are more commonly witnessing psychiatric manifestations of immune system activation. The GI tract is the largest immune organ in the human body and also the biggest surface area of interaction between the internal and external environment. Taking this into consideration and in light of the discussion included in this review; the GI tract will undoubtedly have a major impact on psychiatric symptoms and treatment.

Since changes in exposure to food antigens have been shown to modulate immune response, further research using elimination diets in a subgroup of patients expressing increased levels of food-specific antibodies would be of value. The benefits of dietary interventions in psychiatric patients have

### REFERENCES

 Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523:337–41. doi: 10.1038/nature 14432

been described previously (234). Moreover, the therapeutic effects of elimination diet were described in neurologic and GI disorders such as irritable bowel syndrome, Crohn's disease and migraine, and improvement in symptoms was believed to be related to decreased levels to food-specific IgG as a result of decreased exposure to food antigens (235-240). Also, augmenting psychiatric pharmacotherapy with digestive enzymes and interventions known to positively influence the gut barrier may have a positive effect on the microbiotagut-brain axis and psychiatric symptomatology. For instance, supplementation of curcumin and zinc, which are both excellent "tightners" of gut barrier, along with pre and probiotics might improve symptoms of psychiatric and comorbid inflammatory and autoimmune disorders (241, 242). Both turmeric and zinc exhibit anti-inflammatory effects and their anti-depressant effects were previously demonstrated (243, 244). Curcumin has a positive effect on gut barrier due to its ability to decrease levels of TNFa, a pro-inflammatory cytokine which negatively influences tight junctions and increases intestinal and BBB permeability (35, 36, 60, 64-66, 245). This cytokine is involved also in activation of kynurenic enzyme indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase (IDO) which diverts tryptophan from serotonin pathway toward detrimental kynurenines. Consequently, curcumin decreases IDO activity (246). Moreover this herb is a well-known inhibitor of NF-κβ signaling involved in inflammatory response and increased permeability of both intestinal and blood-brain barriers (247).

To conclude, the assessment of intestinal permeability, gut derived immunity, immunoglobulins against various food, microbial, viral and parasitic antigens, and assessment of intestinal flora composition may be valuable in psychiatric diagnosis and therapy. Also, modification of intestinal flora may prevent metabolic side effects related with antipsychotic treatment. Finally, supplementation of probiotics or other interventions to positively influence the intestinal barrier could be used as a preventive measure of exposure to stress and its detrimental consequences.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LR and AS designed and wrote the first version of manuscript and performed literature search. LR wrote the final version of manuscript, prepared figures and tables.

## FUNDING

Publication of this manuscript was funded by Medical University of Warsaw.

- 2. Hemmings G, Hemmings WA. *The Biological Basis of Schizophrenia*. Netherlands: Springer (2012).
- Buscaino V. Patologia extraneurale della schizophrenia. Fegato, tubo digerente, sistema reticolo-endoteliale. Acta Neurol. (1953) 8:1–60.
- Asperger H. Die Psychopathologie des coeliakakranken kindes. Ann Paediatr (1961) 197:146–151.

- Baruk H. Digestive and hepatointestinal etiology of the various mental diseases. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. (1953) 83 (Suppl. 38):1517–8.
- Baruk H. Biliary & hepatic poisons in pathogenesis of schizophrenia; experimental study. *Confin Neurol.* (1958) 18:254–63.
- Baruk H. Study of blood ammonia in periodic psychosis and in epileptic state. Psychotoxic valve of certain digestive disorders therapeutic trials. *Ann Med Psychol.* (1962) 120:721–6.
- Baruk H. Psychoses from digestive origins. In: Hemmings G and Hemmings, W. A, editors. *The Biological Basis of Schizophrenia*. Dordrecht: Springer (1978). p. 37–44.
- 9. Dohan FC. Schizophrenia and neuroactive peptides from food. *Lancet* (1979) 1:1031. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(79)92780-6
- Maes M. A review on the acute phase response in major depression. *Rev Neurosci.* (1993) 4:407–16. doi: 10.1515/REVNEURO.1993. 4.4.407
- Maes M. Evidence for an immune response in major depression: a review and hypothesis. *Prog Neuro-psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (1995) 19:11–38. doi: 10.1016/0278-5846(94)00101-M
- Schiepers OJ, Wichers MC, Maes M. Cytokines and major depression. *Prog Neuro-psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 29:201–17. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.11.003
- Sluzewska A, Rybakowski J, Bosmans E, Sobieska M, Berghmans R, Maes M, et al. Indicators of immune activation in major depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (1996) 64:161–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(96)02783-7
- Strous RD, Shoenfeld Y. Schizophrenia, autoimmunity and immune system dysregulation: a comprehensive model updated and revisited. *J Autoimmun.* (2006) 27:71–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2006.07.006
- Maes M, Galecki P, Chang YS, Berk M. A review on the oxidative and nitrosative stress (O&NS) pathways in major depression and their possible contribution to the (neuro)degenerative processes in that illness. *Prog Neuro-psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:676–92. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.05.004
- Maes M. Depression is an inflammatory disease, but cell-mediated immune activation is the key component of depression. *Prog Neuro-psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:664–75. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.06.014
- Myint AM, Kim YK. Cytokine-serotonin interaction through IDO: a neurodegeneration hypothesis of depression. *Med Hypotheses* (2003) 61:519– 25. doi: 10.1016/S0306-9877(03)00207-X
- Schwarcz R, Bruno JP, Muchowski PJ, Wu HQ. Kynurenines in the mammalian brain: when physiology meets pathology. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:465–77. doi: 10.1038/nrn3257
- Smith RS. The macrophage theory of depression. *Med Hypotheses* (1991) 35:298–306. doi: 10.1016/0306-9877(91)90272-Z
- Stone TW, Darlington LG. The kynurenine pathway as a therapeutic target in cognitive and neurodegenerative disorders. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2013) 169:1211–27. doi: 10.1111/bph.12230
- Wichers MC and Maes M. The role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) in the pathophysiology of interferon-α-induced depression. J Psychiatry Neurosci. (2004) 29:11–17.
- Wonodi I, Schwarcz R. Cortical kynurenine pathway metabolism: a novel target for cognitive enhancement in Schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2010) 36:211–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq002
- Brattsand R, Linden M. Cytokine modulation by glucocorticoids: mechanisms and actions in cellular studies. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. (1996) 10 (Suppl. 2):81–90: discussion 91–82.
- Joyce DA, Steer JH, Abraham LJ. Glucocorticoid modulation of human monocyte/macrophage function: control of TNF-α secretion. *Inflamm Res.* (1997) 46:447–51. doi: 10.1007/s000110050222
- Besedovsky HO, del Rey A. Regulating inflammation by glucocorticoids. Nat Immunol. (2006) 7:537. doi: 10.1038/ni0606-537
- Soderholm JD, Perdue MH. Stress and gastrointestinal tract. IStress I, and intestinal barrier function. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2001) 280:G7–13. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.2001.280.1.G7
- Groschwitz KR, Hogan SP. Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2009) 124:3–20; quiz: 21–2. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.05.038

- Farhadi A, Banan A, Fields J, Keshavarzian A. Intestinal barrier: an interface between health and disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2003) 18:479–97. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1746.2003.03032.x
- Zareie M, Johnson-Henry K, Jury J, Yang PC, Ngan BY, McKay DM, et al. Probiotics prevent bacterial translocation and improve intestinal barrier function in rats following chronic psychological stress. *Gut* (2006) 55:1553– 60. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.080739
- Yang PC, Jury J, Söderholm JD, Sherman PM, McKay DM, Perdue MH. Chronic psychological stress in rats induces intestinal sensitization to luminal antigens. *Am J Pathol.* (2006) 168:104–14. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.050575
- Ferrier L. Significance of increased human colonic permeability in response to corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH). *Gut* (2008) 57:7–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.129841
- Lambert GP. Stress-induced gastrointestinal barrier dysfunction and its inflammatory effects. J Anim Sci. (2009) 87:E101–8. doi: 10.2527/jas.2008-1339
- Keita AV, Soderholm JD. The intestinal barrier and its regulation by neuroimmune factors. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2010) 22:718–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2010.01498.x
- Al-Sadi RM, Ma TY. IL-1beta causes an increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability. J Immunol. (2007) 178:4641–49. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4641
- Schmitz H, Fromm M, Bentzel CJ, Scholz P, Detjen K, Mankertz J, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFalpha) regulates the epithelial barrier in the human intestinal cell line HT-29/B6. *J Cell Sci.* (1999) 112(Pt 1):137–46.
- 36. Ye D, Ma I, Ma TY. Molecular mechanism of tumor necrosis factoralpha modulation of intestinal epithelial tight junction barrier. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2006) **290**:G496–504. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00318.2005
- Beaurepaire C, Smyth D, McKay DM. Interferon-gamma regulation of intestinal epithelial permeability. *J Interferon Cytokine Res.* (2009) 29:133–44. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0057
- Leclercq S, Matamoros S, Cani PD, Neyrinck AM, Jamar F, Starkel P, et al. Intestinal permeability, gut-bacterial dysbiosis, and behavioral markers of alcohol-dependence severity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:E4485–93. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415174111
- Fukui H. Increased intestinal permeability and decreased barrier function: does it really influence the risk of inflammation? *Inflamm Intest Dis.* (2016) 1:135–45. doi: 10.1159/000447252
- 40. Wigg AJ, Roberts-Thomson IC, Dymock RB, McCarthy PJ, Grose RH, Cummins AG. The role of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, intestinal permeability, endotoxaemia, and tumour necrosis factor alpha in the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Gut* (2001) 48:206–11. doi: 10.1136/gut.48.2.206
- Yamaguchi N, Sugita R, Miki A, Takemura N, Kawabata J, Watanabe J, et al. Gastrointestinal Candida colonisation promotes sensitisation against food antigens by affecting the mucosal barrier in mice. *Gut* (2006) 55:954–60. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.084954
- Severance EG, Kannan G, Gressitt KL, Dickerson FB, Pletnikov MV, Yolken RH. Antibodies to food antigens: translational research in psychiatric disorders. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res.* (2012) 18:87–8. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2012.02.040
- Chavez AM, Menconi MJ, Hodin RA, Fink MP. Cytokine-induced intestinal epithelial hyperpermeability: role of nitric oxide. *Crit Care Med.* (1999) 27:2246–51. doi: 10.1097/00003246-199910000-00030
- 44. Ma TY, Iwamoto GK, Hoa NT, Akotia V, Pedram A, Boivin MA, et al. TNFalpha-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability requires NF-kappa B activation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2004) 286:G367–76. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00173.2003
- Lambert GP. Intestinal barrier dysfunction, endotoxemia, and gastrointestinal symptoms: the 'canary in the coal mine' during exercise-heat stress? *Med Sport Sci.* (2008) 53:61–73. doi: 10.1159/000151550
- Pals KL, Chang RT, Ryan AJ, Gisolfi CV. Effect of running intensity on intestinal permeability. J Appl Physiol. (1997) 82:571–6.
- 47. Lambert GP, Gisolfi CV, Berg DJ, Moseley PL, Oberley LW, Kregel KC. Selected contribution: Hyperthermia-induced intestinal permeability and

the role of oxidative and nitrosative stress. *J Appl Physiol*. (2002) **92**:1750–61; discussion: 1749. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00787.2001

- Bjarnason I, Peters TJ, Wise RJ. The leaky gut of alcoholism: possible route of entry for toxic compounds. *Lancet* (1984) 1:179–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(84)92109-3
- Bode C, Bode JC. Effect of alcohol consumption on the gut. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. (2003) 17:575–92. doi: 10.1016/S1521-6918(03) 00034-9
- Leclercq S, Cani PD, Neyrinck AM, Starkel P, Jamar F, Mikolajczak M, et al. Role of intestinal permeability and inflammation in the biological and behavioral control of alcohol-dependent subjects. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2012) 26:911–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.04.001
- 51. Choi HJ, Kim J, Park SH, Do KH, Yang H, Moon Y. Pro-inflammatory NF-kappaB and early growth response gene 1 regulate epithelial barrier disruption by food additive carrageenan in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Toxicol Lett.* (2012) 211:289–95. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2012.04.012
- Bjarnason I, Williams P, Smethurst P, Peters TJ, Levi AJ. Effect of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and prostaglandins on the permeability of the human small intestine. *Gut* (1986) 27:1292–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.27.11.1292
- Smetanka RD, Lambert GP, Murray R, Eddy D, Horn M, Gisolfi CV. Intestinal permeability in runners in the 1996 Chicago marathon. Int J Sport Nutr. (1999) 9:426–33. doi: 10.1123/ijsn.9.4.426
- 54. van Ampting MT, Schonewille AJ, Vink C, Brummer RJ, van der Meer R, Bovee-Oudenhoven IM. Damage to the intestinal epithelial barrier by antibiotic pretreatment of salmonella-infected rats is lessened by dietary calcium or tannic acid. J Nutr. (2010) 140:2167–72. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.124453
- Ng KM, Ferreyra JA, Higginbottom SK, Lynch JB, Kashyap PC, Gopinath S, et al. Microbiota-liberated host sugars facilitate post-antibiotic expansion of enteric pathogens. *Nature* (2013) 502:96–9. doi: 10.1038/nature12503
- Tulstrup MVL, Christensen EG, Carvalho V, Linninge C, Ahrné S, Højberg O, et al. Antibiotic treatment affects intestinal permeability and gut microbial composition in wistar rats dependent on antibiotic class. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0144854. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144854
- Becattini S, Taur Y, Pamer EG. Antibiotic-induced changes in the intestinal microbiota and disease. *Trends Mol Med.* (2016) 22:458–78. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2016.04.003
- Daneman R, Rescigno M. The gut immune barrier and the bloodbrain barrier: are they so different? *Immunity* (2009) 31:722–35. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.012
- Esposito P, Chandler N, Kandere K, Basu S, Jacobson S, Connolly R, et al. Corticotropin-releasing hormone and brain mast cells regulate blood-brainbarrier permeability induced by acute stress. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* (2002) 303:1061–6. doi: 10.1124/jpet.102.038497
- Yang GY, Gong C, Qin Z, Liu XH, Lorris Betz A. Tumor necrosis factor alpha expression produces increased blood-brain barrier permeability following temporary focal cerebral ischemia in mice. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* (1999) 69:135–43. doi: 10.1016/S0169-328X(99)00007-8
- Pan W, Kastin AJ. Tumor necrosis factor and stroke: role of the blood-brain barrier. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2007) 83:363–74. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.07.008
- Blamire AM, Anthony DC, Rajagopalan B, Sibson NR, Perry VH, Styles P. Interleukin-1beta -induced changes in blood-brain barrier permeability, apparent diffusion coefficient, and cerebral blood volume in the rat brain: a magnetic resonance study. J Neurosci. (2000) 20:8153–9. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-21-08153.2000
- Wong D, Dorovini-Zis K, Vincent SR. Cytokines, nitric oxide, and cGMP modulate the permeability of an *in vitro* model of the human blood-brain barrier. *Exp Neurol.* (2004) 190:446–55. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.08.008
- Tsao N, Hsu HP, Wu CM, Liu CC, Lei HY. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha causes an increase in blood-brain barrier permeability during sepsis. J Med Microbiol. (2001) 50:812–21. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-50-9-812
- Lv S, Song HL, Zhou Y, Li LX, Cui W, Wang W, Liu P. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha affects blood-brain barrier permeability and tight junctionassociated occludin in acute liver failure. *Liver Int.* (2010) 30:1198–210. doi: 10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02211.x

- 66. Wang W, Lv S, Zhou Y, Fu J, Li C, Liu P. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha affects blood-brain barrier permeability in acetaminophen-induced acute liver failure. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2011) 23:552–8. doi: 10.1097/MEG.0b013e3283470212
- Chaitanya GV, Cromer WE, Wells SR, Jennings MH, Couraud PO, Romero IA, et al. Gliovascular and cytokine interactions modulate brain endothelial barrier *in vitro*. J Neuroinflammation (2011) 8:162. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-162
- Enciu AM, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu BO. Triggers and effectors of oxidative stress at blood-brain barrier level: relevance for brain ageing and neurodegeneration. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2013) 2013:297512. doi: 10.1155/2013/297512
- Garcia Bueno B, Caso JR, Madrigal JL, Leza JC. Innate immune receptor Tolllike receptor 4 signalling in neuropsychiatric diseases. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 64:134–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.02.013
- Pålsson-McDermott, EM, O'Neill LA. Signal transduction by the lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor-4. *Immunology* (2004) 113:153–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01976.x
- Grigoleit J-S, Engler H, Schedlowski M. Experimental human endotoxemia, sickness behavior, and neuropsychiatric diseases. In: Müller N, Myint AM, Schwarz, MJ, editors. *Immunology and Psychiatry: From Basic Research to Therapeutic Interventions*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2015). p. 63–82.
- Velin AK, Ericson AC, Braaf Y, Wallon C, Soderholm JD. Increased antigen and bacterial uptake in follicle associated epithelium induced by chronic psychological stress in rats. *Gut* (2004) 53:494–500. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.028506
- Parrott JM, Redus L, O'Connor JC. Kynurenine metabolic balance is disrupted in the hippocampus following peripheral lipopolysaccharide challenge. J Neuroinflammation (2016) 13:124. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0590-y
- Reichenberg A, Yirmiya R, Schuld A, Kraus T, Haack M, Morag A, Pollmacher T. Cytokine-associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2001) 58:445–52. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.5.445
- Wright CE, Strike PC, Brydon L, Steptoe A. Acute inflammation and negative mood: mediation by cytokine activation. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2005) 19:345– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2004.10.003
- Grigoleit JS, Kullmann JS, Wolf OT, Hammes F, Wegner A, Jablonowski S, et al. Dose-dependent effects of endotoxin on neurobehavioral functions in humans. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e28330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028330
- Ancuta P, Kamat A, Kunstman KJ, Kim EY, Autissier P, Wurcel A, et al. Microbial translocation is associated with increased monocyte activation and dementia in AIDS patients. *PLoS ONE* (2008) 3:e2516. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002516
- Maes M, Mihaylova I, Leunis JC. Increased serum IgA and IgM against LPS of enterobacteria in chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS): indication for the involvement of gram-negative enterobacteria in the etiology of CFS and for the presence of an increased gut-intestinal permeability. *J Affect Disord.* (2007) 99:237–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.08.021
- Giloteaux L, Goodrich JK, Walters WA, Levine SM, Ley RE, Hanson MR. Reduced diversity and altered composition of the gut microbiome in individuals with myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome. *Microbiome* (2016) 4:30. doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0171-4
- Maes M, Kubera M, Leunis JC. The gut-brain barrier in major depression: intestinal mucosal dysfunction with an increased translocation of LPS from gram negative enterobacteria (leaky gut) plays a role in the inflammatory pathophysiology of depression. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett.* (2008) 29:117–24.
- Maes M, Kubera M, Leunis JC, Berk M. Increased IgA and IgM responses against gut commensals in chronic depression: further evidence for increased bacterial translocation or leaky gut. J Affect Disord. (2012) 141:55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.02.023
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Khushalani S, Leweke FM, et al. Discordant patterns of bacterial translocation markers and implications for innate immune imbalances in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 148:130–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.018
- Reichelt KL, Landmark J. Specific IgA antibody increases in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry (1995) 37:410–3. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(94)00176-4

- Cascella NG, Kryszak D, Bhatti B, Gregory P, Kelly DL, McEvoy JP, et al. Prevalence of celiac disease and gluten sensitivity in the United States clinical antipsychotic trials of intervention effectiveness study population. *Schizophr Bull.* (2011) 37:94–100. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp055
- Lindstrom LH, Besev G, Gunne LM, Terenius L. CSF levels of receptor-active endorphins in schizophrenic patients: correlations with symptomatology and monoamine metabolites. *Psychiatry Res.* (1986) 19:93– 100. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(86)90001-6
- Lindström LH, Nyberg F, Terenius L, Bauer K, Besev G, Gunne LM, et al. CSF and plasma beta-casomorphin-like opioid peptides in postpartum psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* (1984) 141:1059–66. doi: 10.1176/ajp.141.9.1059
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Leister F, et al. Markers of gluten sensitivity and celiac disease in recent-onset psychosis and multi-episode schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68:100–4. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.03.021
- Severance EG, Dickerson FB, Halling M, Krivogorsky B, Haile L, Yang S, et al. Subunit and whole molecule specificity of the anti-bovine casein immune response in recent onset psychosis and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 118:240–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.030
- Severance EG, Alaedini A, Yang S, Halling M, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, et al. Gastrointestinal inflammation and associated immune activation in schizophrenia, *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 138:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.025
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Halling M, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Vaughan C, et al. Complement C1q formation of immune complexes with milk caseins and wheat glutens in schizophrenia. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2012) 48:447–53. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.07.005
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Alaedini A, Rohleder C, Enning F, Bumb JM, et al. IgG dynamics of dietary antigens point to cerebrospinal fluid barrier or flow dysfunction in first-episode schizophrenia. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 44:148–58. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.09.009
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Alaedini A, et al. Markers of gluten sensitivity and celiac disease in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2011) 13:52–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5618.2011.00894.x
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Yolken R. Markers of gluten sensitivity in acute mania: a longitudinal study, *Psychiatry Res.* (2012) 196:68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.11.007
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Yang S, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Vaughan C, et al. Seroreactive marker for inflammatory bowel disease and associations with antibodies to dietary proteins in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord*. (2014) 16:230–40. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12159
- Rudzki L, Pawlak D, Pawlak K, Waszkiewicz N, Malus A, Konarzewska B, et al. Immune suppression of IgG response against dairy proteins in major depression. *BMC Psychiatry* (2017) 17:268. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1431-y
- Dickerson F, Adamos M, Katsafanas E, Khushalani S, Origoni A, Savage C, et al. The association between immune markers and recent suicide attempts in patients with serious mental illness: a pilot study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 255:8–12. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.05.005
- de Magistris L, Picardi A, Siniscalco D, Riccio MP, Sapone A, Cariello R, et al. Antibodies against food antigens in patients with autistic spectrum disorders. *Biomed Res Int.* (2013) 2013:729349. doi: 10.1155/2013/729349
- Lucarelli S, Frediani T, Zingoni AM, Ferruzzi F, Giardini O, Quintieri F, et al. Food allergy and infantile autism. *Panminerva Med.* (1995) 37:137–41.
- 99. Esnafoglu E, Cirrik S, Ayyildiz SN, Erdil A, Erturk EY, Dagli A, et al. Increased serum zonulin levels as an intestinal permeability marker in autistic subjects. *J Pediatr.* (2017) 188:240–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.04.004
- 100. Fiorentino M, Sapone A, Senger S, Camhi SS, Kadzielski SM, Buie TM, et al. Blood-brain barrier and intestinal epithelial barrier alterations in autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Autism* (2016) 7:49. doi: 10.1186/s13229-016-0110-z
- 101. Vojdani A, O'Bryan T, Green JA, McCandless J, Woeller KN, Vojdani E, et al. Immune response to dietary proteins, gliadin and cerebellar peptides in children with autism. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2004) 7:151–61. doi: 10.1080/10284150400004155
- 102. Vojdani A, Campbell AW, Anyanwu E, Kashanian A, Bock K, Vojdani E. Antibodies to neuron-specific antigens in children with autism: possible cross-reaction with encephalitogenic proteins from milk, Chlamydia

pneumoniae and Streptococcus group A. J Neuroimmunol. (2002) **129**:168-77. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00180-7

- 103. Vojdani A, Pangborn JB, Vojdani E, Cooper EL. Infections, toxic chemicals and dietary peptides binding to lymphocyte receptors and tissue enzymes are major instigators of autoimmunity in autism. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol.* (2003) 16:189–99. doi: 10.1177/039463200301600302
- 104. Thurman RG, Bradford BU, Iimuro Y, Knecht KT, Arteel GE, Yin M, et al. The role of gut-derived bacterial toxins and free radicals in alcoholinduced liver injury. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (1998) 13(Suppl.):S39–50. doi: 10.1111/jgh.1998.13.s1.39
- Adachi Y, Moore LE, Bradford BU, Gao W, Thurman RG. Antibiotics prevent liver injury in rats following long-term exposure to ethanol. *Gastroenterology* (1995) 108:218–24. doi: 10.1016/0016-5085(95)90027-6
- 106. Mathurin P, Deng QG, Keshavarzian A, Choudhary S, Holmes EW, Tsukamoto H. Exacerbation of alcoholic liver injury by enteral endotoxin in rats. *Hepatology* (2000) **32:**1008–17. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2000.19621
- Wieser H. Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food Microbiol. (2007) 24:115–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2006.07.004
- Kaminski S, Cieslinska A, Kostyra E. Polymorphism of bovine beta-casein and its potential effect on human health. J Appl Genet. (2007) 48:189–98. doi: 10.1007/BF03195213
- Teschemacher H. Opioid receptor ligands derived from food proteins. Curr Pharm Design (2003) 9:1331–44. doi: 10.2174/1381612033454856
- 110. Haq MRU, Kapila R, Saliganti V. Consumption of β-casomorphins-7/5 induce inflammatory immune response in mice gut through Th2 pathway. *J Funct Foods* (2014) 8:150–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.03.018
- Tveiten D, Reichelt KL. Exorphins in urine from schizoaffective psychotics. Open J Psychiatry. (2012) 2:220–7. doi: 10.4236/ojpsych.2012.23029
- Bushara KO. Neurologic presentation of celiac disease. Gastroenterology (2005) 128:S92–7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.02.018
- Jackson JR, Eaton WW, Cascella NG, Fasano A, Kelly DL. Neurologic and psychiatric manifestations of celiac disease and gluten sensitivity. *Psychiatr Q*. (2012) 83:91–102. doi: 10.1007/s11126-011-9186-y
- 114. Baldwin JA. Schizophrenia and physical disease: a preliminary analysis of the data from the Oxford Record Linkage Study. In: Hemmings G, Editor. *Biochemistry of Schizophrenia and Addiction: In Search of a Common Factor.* Dordrecht: Springer (1980). p. 297–318.
- 115. Makikyro T, Karvonen JT, Hakko H, Nieminen P, Joukamaa M, Isohanni M, et al. Comorbidity of hospital-treated psychiatric and physical disorders with special reference to schizophrenia: a 28 year follow-up of the 1966 northern Finland general population birth cohort. *Public Health* (1998) 112:221–8.
- 116. Eaton W, Mortensen PB, Agerbo E, Byrne M, Mors O, Ewald H. Coeliac disease and schizophrenia: population based case control study with linkage of Danish national registers. *BMJ* (2004) **328**:438–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7437.438
- 117. Briani C, Samaroo D, Alaedini A. Celiac disease: from gluten to autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. (2008) 7:644–50. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2008.05.006
- 118. Czaja-Bulsa G. Non coeliac gluten sensitivity A new disease with gluten intolerance. *Clin Nutr.* (2015) **34**:189–94. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2014.08.012
- 119. Sapone A, Bai JC, Ciacci C, Dolinsek J, Green PH, Hadjivassiliou M, et al. Spectrum of gluten-related disorders: consensus on new nomenclature and classification, *BMC Med.* (2012) **10**:13. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-13
- Fourgeaud L, Boulanger LM, Synapse remodeling, compliments of the complement system. Cell (2007) 131:1034–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.031
- 121. Stevens B, Allen NJ, Vazquez LE, Howell GR, Christopherson KS, Nouri N, et al. The classical complement cascade mediates CNS synapse elimination. *Cell* (2007) 131:1164–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.036
- 122. Benoit ME, Tenner AJ. Complement protein C1q-mediated neuroprotection is correlated with regulation of neuronal gene and microRNA expression. J. Neurosci. (2011) 31:3459–69. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3932-10.2011
- 123. Shen Y, Meri S. Yin and Yang: complement activation and regulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2003) **70**:463–72. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2003.08.001
- Thambisetty M, Simmons A, Hye A, Campbell J, Westman E, Zhang Y, et al. Plasma biomarkers of brain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e28527. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028527

- 125. Singhrao SK, Neal JW, Morgan BP, Gasque P. Increased complement biosynthesis by microglia and complement activation on neurons in Huntington's disease. *Exp Neurol.* (1999) 159:362–76. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1999.7170
- Yamada T, McGeer PL, McGeer EG. Lewy bodies in Parkinson's disease are recognized by antibodies to complement proteins. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1992) 84:100–4. doi: 10.1007/BF00427222
- 127. Singhrao SK, Neal JW, Gasque P, Morgan BP, Newman GR. Role of complement in the aetiology of Pick's disease? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (1996) 55:578–93. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199605000-00010
- Lee JD, Kamaruzaman NA, Fung JN, Taylor SM, Turner BJ, Atkin JD, et al. Dysregulation of the complement cascade in the hSOD1G93Atransgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2013) 10:119. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-119
- Hakobyan S, Boyajyan A, Sim RB. Classical pathway complement activity in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Lett.* (2005) 374:35–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2004.10.024
- 130. Mayilyan KR, Arnold JN, Presanis JS, Soghoyan AF, Sim RB. Increased complement classical and mannan-binding lectin pathway activities in schizophrenia. *Neurosci Lett.* (2006) **404**:336–41. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.06.051
- 131. Zakharyan R, Khoyetsyan A, Arakelyan A, Boyajyan A, Gevorgyan A, Stahelova A, et al. Association of C1QB gene polymorphism with schizophrenia in Armenian population. *BMC Med Genet.* (2011) 12:126. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-12-126
- 132. Sória SLd, Gubert MCd, Ceresér KM, Gama CS, Kapczinski F. Increased serum levels of C3 and C4 in patients with schizophrenia compared to eutymic patients with bipolar disorder and healthy. *Rev Bras Psiquiat.* (2012) 34:119–20. doi: 10.1590/S1516-44462012000100022
- 133. Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature* (2016) 530:177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Ashwood P, Wills S, Van de Water J. The immune response in autism: a new frontier for autism research. J Leukocyte Biol. (2006) 80:1–15. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1205707
- Fang C, Garbuzova-Davis S, Tan J, Obregon D. C1q as a regulator of brain development: implications for autism spectrum disorders. *Brain Disord Ther*. (2015) 4:152. doi: 10.4172/2168-975X.1000152
- 136. Torrente F, Ashwood P, Day R, Machado N, Furlano RI, Anthony A, et al. Small intestinal enteropathy with epithelial IgG and complement deposition in children with regressive autism. *Mol Psychiatry* (2002) 7:375–82, 334. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001077
- 137. Xiao J, Li Y, Gressitt KL, He H, Kannan G, Schultz TL, et al. Cerebral complement C1q activation in chronic Toxoplasma infection. *Brain Behav. Immun.* (2016) 58:52–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.04.009
- Reichelt KL, Seim AR, Reichelt WH. Could schizophrenia be reasonably explained by Dohan's hypothesis on genetic interaction with a dietary peptide overload? *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (1996) 20:1083–114. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5846(96)00099-1
- Bauer K, Kornhuber J. Blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier in schizophrenic patients. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Neurol Sci.* (1987) 236:257–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00380949
- 140. Bechter K, Reiber H, Herzog S, Fuchs D, Tumani H, Maxeiner HG. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis in affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders: identification of subgroups with immune responses and blood-CSF barrier dysfunction. J Psychiatr Res. (2010) 44:321–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2009.08.008
- 141. Tarlungeanu DC, Deliu E, Dotter CP, Kara M, Janiesch PC, Scalise M, et al. Impaired amino acid transport at the blood brain barrier is a cause of autism spectrum disorder. *Cell* (2016) 167:1481–94.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.013
- 142. Dickerson F, Wilcox HC, Adamos M, Katsafanas E, Khushalani S, Origoni A, et al. Suicide attempts and markers of immune response in individuals with serious mental illness. J Psychiatr Res. (2017) 87:37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.11.011
- 143. Santhanam B, Barry Kendler F. Nutritional factors in autism: an overview of nutritional factors in the etiology and management of autism. *Integr Med.*

(2012) 11:46. Availabe Online at: http://www.imjournal.com/openaccess/ autism.pdf

- 144. Campbell-McBride N. Gut and Psychology Syndrome: Natural Treatment for Autism, Dyspraxia, A.D.D., Dyslexia, A.D.H.D., Depression, Schizophrenia. Cambridge, UK: Medinform (2010).
- 145. Wang L, Yu YM, Zhang YQ, Zhang J, Lu N, Liu N. Hydrogen breath test to detect small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: a prevalence casecontrol study in autism. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2017) 27:233–40. doi: 10.1007/s00787-017-1039-2.
- 146. Horvath K, Papadimitriou JC, Rabsztyn A, Drachenberg C, Tildon JT. Gastrointestinal abnormalities in children with autistic disorder. J Pediatr. (1999) 135:559–63. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(99)70052-1
- 147. Daileda T, Baek P, Sutter ME, Thakkar K. Disaccharidase activity in children undergoing esophagogastroduodenoscopy: a systematic review. World J Gastrointes Pharmacol Ther. (2016) 7:283–93. doi: 10.4292/wjgpt.v7.i2.283
- 148. Vojdani A, Bazargan M, Vojdani E, Samadi J, Nourian AA, Eghbalieh N, et al. Heat shock protein and gliadin peptide promote development of peptidase antibodies in children with autism and patients with autoimmune disease. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (2004) 11:515–24. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.11.3.515-524.2004
- 149. Bashir S, Al-Ayadhi L. Alterations in plasma dipeptidyl peptidase IV in autism: a pilot study. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res.* (2014) 20:41–44. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2014.03.001
- Kostyra E, Sienkiewicz-Szłapka E, Jarmołowska B, Krawczuk S, Kostyra H. Opioid peptides derived from milk proteins. *Polish J Food Nutr Sci.* (2004) 13:25–35. Available Online at: http://journal.pan.olsztyn.pl//pdfy/2004/1s/ rozdzial2.pdf
- 151. Maes M, De M, Scharpé S, Desnyder R, Ranjan R, Meltzer HY. Alterations in plasma dipeptidyl peptidase IV enzyme activity in depression and schizophrenia: effects of antidepressants and antipsychotic drugs. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1996) **93**:1–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1996.tb10612.x
- 152. Maes M, De Meester I, Verkerk R, De Medts P, Wauters A, Vanhoof G, et al. Lower serum dipeptidyl peptidase IV activity in treatment resistant major depression: relationships with immuneinflammatory markers. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (1997) 22:65–78. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4530(96)00040-6
- 153. Brudnak MA, Rimland B, Kerry RE, Dailey M, Taylor R, Stayton B, et al. Enzyme-based therapy for autism spectrum disorders – is it worth another look? *Med Hypotheses* (2002) 58:422–8. doi: 10.1054/mehy.2001.1513
- 154. Saad K, Eltayeb AA, Mohamad IL, Al-Atram AA, Elserogy Y, Bjorklund G, et al. A Randomized, placebo-controlled trial of digestive enzymes in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci.* (2015) 13:188–93. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2015.13.2.188
- 155. Fasano A, Shea-Donohue T. Mechanisms of disease: the role of intestinal barrier function in the pathogenesis of gastrointestinal autoimmune diseases. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2005) 2:416–22. doi: 10.1038/ncpgasthep0259
- 156. Visser J, Rozing J, Sapone A, Lammers K, Fasano A. Tight junctions, intestinal permeability, and autoimmunity: celiac disease and type 1 diabetes paradigms. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2009) 1165:195–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04037.x
- Fasano A. Leaky gut and autoimmune diseases. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. (2012) 42:71–8. doi: 10.1007/s12016-011-8291-x
- 158. Nielsen PR, Benros ME, Dalsgaard S. Associations between autoimmune diseases and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a nationwide study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2017) 56:234–40.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.12.010
- Benros ME, Eaton WW, Mortensen PB. The epidemiologic evidence linking autoimmune diseases and psychosis. *Biol psychiatry* (2014) 75:300–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.023
- 160. Eaton WW, Byrne M, Ewald H, Mors O, Chen CY, Agerbo E, Mortensen PB. Association of schizophrenia and autoimmune diseases: linkage of Danish national registers. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163:521–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.3.521
- 161. Chen P, Jiang T, Ouyang J, Chen Y. Depression, another autoimmune disease from the view of autoantibodies. *Med Hypotheses* (2009) 73:508–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2009.06.018

- Gleicher N. Postpartum depression, an autoimmune disease? Autoimmun Rev. (2007) 6:572–76. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2007.04.002
- Strous RD, Shoenfeld Y. Behavioral changes in systemic lupus erythematosus are of an autoimmune nature. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol.* (2007) 3:592–3. doi: 10.1038/ncprheum0622
- 164. Chen Y, Jiang T, Chen P, Ouyang J, Xu G, Zeng Z, Sun Y. Emerging tendency towards autoimmune process in major depressive patients: a novel insight from Th17 cells. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 188:224–30. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.10.029
- 165. Benros ME, Waltoft BL, Nordentoft M, Krogh J, Mortensen PB. Autoimmunity and infections as risk factors for depression and other severe mental illnesses. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res.* (2012) 18:40–1. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2012.02.005
- Iseme RA, McEvoy M, Kelly B, Agnew L, Attia J, Walker FR. Autoantibodies and depression: evidence for a causal link? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 40:62–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.008
- 167. Katzav A, Solodeev I, Brodsky O, Chapman J, Pick CG, Blank M, et al. Induction of autoimmune depression in mice by anti-ribosomal P antibodies via the limbic system. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 56:938–48. doi: 10.1002/art.22419
- Chandley MJ, Miller MN, Kwasigroch CN, Wilson TD, Miller BE. Increased antibodies for the alpha7 subunit of the nicotinic receptor in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2009) **109**:98–101. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009. 01.023
- 169. Chang SH, Chiang SY, Chiu CC, Tsai CC, Tsai HH, Huang CY, et al. Expression of anti-cardiolipin antibodies and inflammatory associated factors in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 187:341–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.04.049
- 170. Laske C, Zank M, Klein R, Stransky E, Batra A, Buchkremer G, et al. Autoantibody reactivity in serum of patients with major depression, schizophrenia and healthy controls. *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) **158**:83–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006.04.023
- 171. Schott K, J.-Schaefer E, Richartz E, Batra A, Eusterschulte B, Klein R, et al. Autoantibodies to serotonin in serum of patients with psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2003) **121**:51–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(03)00137-9
- Margari F, Petruzzelli MG, Mianulli R, Campa MG, Pastore A, Tampoia M. Circulating anti-brain autoantibodies in schizophrenia and mood disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 230:704–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.10.029
- Ezeoke A, Mellor A, Buckley P, Miller B. A systematic, quantitative review of blood autoantibodies in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:245–51. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.029
- 174. Pathmanandavel K, Starling J, Dale RC, Brilot F. Autoantibodies and the immune hypothesis in psychotic brain diseases: challenges and perspectives. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2013) 2013:257184. doi: 10.1155/2013/ 257184
- Vincent A, Bien CG, Irani SR, Waters P. Autoantibodies associated with diseases of the CNS: new developments and future challenges. *Lancet Neurol.* (2011) 10:759–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70096-5
- 176. Zuliani L, Graus F, Giometto B, Bien C, Vincent A. Central nervous system neuronal surface antibody associated syndromes: review and guidelines for recognition. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2012) 83:638–45. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-301237
- Zandi MS, Irani SR, Lang B, Waters P, Jones PB, McKenna P, et al. Diseaserelevant autoantibodies in first episode schizophrenia. J Neurol. (2011) 258:686–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-010-5788-9
- 178. Tsutsui K, Kanbayashi T, Tanaka K, Boku S, Ito W, Tokunaga J, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor antibody detected in encephalitis, schizophrenia, and narcolepsy with psychotic features. *BMC Psychiatry* (2012) 12:37. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-37
- 179. Steiner J, Walter M, Glanz W, Sarnyai Z, Bernstein HG, Vielhaber S, et al. Increased prevalence of diverse N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor antibodies in patients with an initial diagnosis of schizophrenia: specific relevance of IgG NR1a antibodies for distinction from N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) **70**:271–8. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.86
- Lennox BR, Coles AJ, Vincent A. Antibody-mediated encephalitis: a treatable cause of schizophrenia. *Brit J Psychiatry* (2012) 200:92–4. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.095042

- Lambert J, Vojdani A. Correlation of tissue antibodies and food immune reactivity in randomly selected patient specimens. J Clin Cell Immunol. (2017) 8b. doi: 10.4172/2155-9899.1000521
- 182. Stefferl A, Schubart A, Storch M, Amini A, Mather I, Lassmann H, Linington C. Butyrophilin, a milk protein, modulates the encephalitogenic T cell response to myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol. (2000) 165:2859–65. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.5.2859
- Guggenmos J, Schubart AS, Ogg S, Andersson M, Olsson T, Mather IH, et al. Antibody cross-reactivity between myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein and the milk protein butyrophilin in multiple sclerosis. *J Immunol.* (2003) 172:661–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.661
- Vojdani A, Tarash I. Cross-reaction between gliadin and different food and tissue antigens. *Food Nutr Sci.* (2013) 4:20–32. doi: 10.4236/fns.2013.41005
- Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2012) 10:735–42. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2876
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:701–12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346
- 187. Gareau MG. Microbiota-gut-brain axis and cognitive function. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2014) 817:357–71. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4\_16
- Rea K, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The microbiome: a key regulator of stress and neuroinflammation. *Neurobiol Stress* (2016) 4:23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.03.001
- 189. Kelly JR, Kennedy PJ, Cryan JF, Dinan TG, Clarke G, Hyland NP. Breaking down the barriers: the gut microbiome, intestinal permeability and stress-related psychiatric disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) **9**:392. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00392
- 190. Erny D, Hrabe de Angelis AL, Jaitin D, Wieghofer P, Staszewski O, David E, et al. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. *Nat Neurosci.* (2015) 18:965–77. doi: 10.1038/nn.4030
- 191. Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Toth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. *Sci Trans Med.* (2014) 6:263ra158. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3009759
- 192. Donato KA, Gareau MG, Wang YJ, Sherman PM. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG attenuates interferon-{gamma} and tumour necrosis factor-alphainduced barrier dysfunction and pro-inflammatory signalling. *Microbiology* (2010) 156:3288–97. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.040139-0
- 193. Yan F, Polk DB. Disruption of NF-kappaB signalling by ancient microbial molecules: novel therapies of the future? *Gut* (2010) 59:421–6. doi: 10.1136/gut.2009.179614
- 194. Hegazy SK, El-Bedewy MM. Effect of probiotics on pro-inflammatory cytokines and NF-kappaB activation in ulcerative colitis. World J Gastroenterol. (2010) 16:4145–51. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i33.4145
- 195. Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Bienenstock J, Dinan TG. The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J Psychiatr Res. (2008) 43:164–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.03.009
- 196. Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Kiely B, Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Effects of the probiotic Bifidobacterium infantis in the maternal separation model of depression. *Neuroscience* (2010) **170**:1179–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.08.005
- 197. Lamprecht M, Bogner S, Schippinger G, Steinbauer K, Fankhauser F, Hallstroem S, et al. Probiotic supplementation affects markers of intestinal barrier, oxidation, and inflammation in trained men; a randomized, doubleblinded, placebo-controlled trial. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr.* (2012) **9**:45. doi: 10.1186/1550-2783-9-45
- Ohland CL, MacNaughton WK. Probiotic bacteria and intestinal epithelial barrier function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. (2010) 298:G807– 19. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00243.2009
- 199. Rao AV, Bested AC, Beaulne TM, Katzman MA, Iorio C, Berardi JM, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of a probiotic in emotional symptoms of chronic fatigue syndrome. *Gut Pathog.* (2009) 1:6. doi: 10.1186/1757-4749-1-6
- 200. Messaoudi M, Lalonde R, Violle N, Javelot H, Desor D, Nejdi A, et al. Assessment of psychotropic-like properties of a probiotic formulation (*Lactobacillus helveticus* R0052 and *Bifidobacterium longum*

R0175) in rats and human subjects. Brit J Nutr. (2011) 105:755-64. doi: 10.1017/S0007114510004319

- 201. Steenbergen L, Sellaro R, van Hemert S, Bosch JA, Colzato LS. A randomized controlled trial to test the effect of multispecies probiotics on cognitive reactivity to sad mood. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 48:258–64. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.04.003
- 202. Akkasheh G, Kashani-Poor Z, Tajabadi-Ebrahimi M, Jafari P, Akbari H, Taghizadeh M, et al. Clinical and metabolic response to probiotic administration in patients with major depressive disorder: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Nutrition* (2016) **32**:315–20. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.09.003
- 203. Mohammadi AA, Jazayeri S, Khosravi-Darani K, Solati Z, Mohammadpour N, Asemi Z, et al. The effects of probiotics on mental health and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial in petrochemical workers. *Nutr Neurosc.* (2016) 19:387–95. doi: 10.1179/1476830515Y.000000023
- 204. McKean J, Naug H, Nikbakht E, Amiet B, Colson N. Probiotics and subclinical psychological symptoms in healthy participants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Altern Complement. Med. (2016) 23:249–58. doi: 10.1089/acm.2016.0023
- Benton D, Williams C, Brown A. Impact of consuming a milk drink containing a probiotic on mood and cognition. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 61:355–361. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602546
- 206. Akbari E, Asemi Z, Daneshvar Kakhaki R, Bahmani F, Kouchaki E, Tamtaji OR, et al. Effect of probiotic supplementation on cognitive function and metabolic status in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, double-blind and controlled trial. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016) 8:256. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00256
- Huang R, Wang K, Hu J. Effect of probiotics on depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients* (2016) 8:E483. doi: 10.3390/nu8080483
- 208. Kim YK, Shin C. The microbiota-gut-brain axis in neuropsychiatric disorders: pathophysiological mechanisms and novel treatments. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2017) 16:559–73. doi: 10.2174/1570159X15666170915141036
- Lawrence K, Hyde J. Microbiome restoration diet improves digestion, cognition and physical and emotional wellbeing. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0179017. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179017
- Misra S, Mohanty D. Psychobiotics: a new approach for treating mental illness? *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2017). doi: 10.1080/10408398.2017.1399860. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ng QX, Peters C, Ho CYX, Lim DY, Yeo WS. A meta-analysis of the use of probiotics to alleviate depressive symptoms. J Affect Disord. (2017) 228:13–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.063
- 212. Rios AC, Maurya PK, Pedrini M, Zeni-Graiff M, Asevedo E, Mansur RB, et al. Microbiota abnormalities and the therapeutic potential of probiotics in the treatment of mood disorders. *Rev Neurosci.* (2017) 28:739–49. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2017-0001
- 213. Romijn AR, Rucklidge JJ, Kuijer RG, Frampton C. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of *Lactobacillus helveticus* and *Bifidobacterium longum* for the symptoms of depression. *Austral NZ J Psychiatry* (2017) 51:810–21. doi: 10.1177/0004867416686694
- 214. Slykerman RF, Hood F, Wickens K, Thompson J, Barthow C, Murphy R, et al. Probiotic in pregnancy study, effect of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HN001 in pregnancy on postpartum symptoms of depression and anxiety: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Ebiomedicine* (2017) 24:159–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.09.013
- 215. Wallace CJK, Milev R. The effects of probiotics on depressive symptoms in humans: a systematic review. *Ann Gen Psychiatry* (2017) **16**:14. doi: 10.1186/s12991-017-0138-2
- Dinan TG, Stanton C, Cryan JF. Psychobiotics: a novel class of psychotropic. Biol Psychiatry (2013) 74:720–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.05.001
- 217. Naseribafrouei A, Hestad K, Avershina E, Sekelja M, Linlokken A, Wilson R, Rudi K. Correlation between the human fecal microbiota and depression. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2014) 26:1155–62. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12378
- Jiang H, Ling Z, Zhang Y, Mao H, Ma Z, Yin Y, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 48:186–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.016

- Aizawa E, Tsuji H, Asahara T, Takahashi T, Teraishi T, Yoshida S, et al. Possible association of Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus in the gut microbiota of patients with major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord*. (2016) 202:254–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.038
- 220. Lin P, Ding B, Feng C, Yin S, Zhang T, Qi X, et al. Prevotella and Klebsiella proportions in fecal microbial communities are potential characteristic parameters for patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2017) 207:300–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.051
- 221. Adams JB, Johansen LJ, Powell LD, Quig D, Rubin RA. Gastrointestinal flora and gastrointestinal status in children with autism–comparisons to typical children and correlation with autism severity. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2011) 11:22. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-22
- 222. De Angelis M, Francavilla R, Piccolo M, De Giacomo A, Gobbetti M. Autism spectrum disorders and intestinal microbiota. *Gut Microbes* (2015) **6**:207–13. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2015.1035855
- 223. Tomova A, Husarova V, Lakatosova S, Bakos J, Vlkova B, Babinska K, et al. Gastrointestinal microbiota in children with autism in Slovakia. *Physiol Behav.* (2015) 138:179–87. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.10.033
- 224. Strati F, Cavalieri D, Albanese D, De Felice C, Donati C, Hayek J, et al. New evidences on the altered gut microbiota in autism spectrum disorders. *Microbiome* (2017) 5:24. doi: 10.1186/s40168-017-0242-1
- 225. Williams BL, Hornig M, Buie T, Bauman ML, Cho Paik M, Wick I, et al. Impaired carbohydrate digestion and transport and mucosal dysbiosis in the intestines of children with autism and gastrointestinal disturbances. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e24585. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024585
- 226. Nguyen TT, Kosciolek T, Eyler LT, Knight R, Jeste DV. Overview and systematic review of studies of microbiome in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 99:50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.01.013
- 227. Zheng P, Zeng B, Zhou C, Liu M, Fang Z, Xu X, et al. Gut microbiome remodeling induces depressive-like behaviors through a pathway mediated by the host's metabolism. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:786– 96. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.44
- Gabbard SL, Lacy BE, Levine GM, Crowell MD. The impact of alcohol consumption and cholecystectomy on small intestinal bacterial overgrowth. *Digest Dis Sci.* (2014) 59:638–44. doi: 10.1007/s10620-013-2960-y
- 229. Bahr SM, Weidemann BJ, Castro AN, Walsh JW, deLeon O, Burnett CML, et al. Risperidone-induced weight gain is mediated through shifts in the gut microbiome and suppression of energy expenditure. *EBioMedicine* (2015) 2:1725–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.10.018
- 230. Morgan AP, Crowley JJ, Nonneman RJ, Quackenbush CR, Miller CN, Ryan AK, et al. The antipsychotic olanzapine interacts with the gut microbiome to cause weight gain in mouse. *PLoS ONE* (2014) **9**:e115225. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115225
- 231. Bahr SM, Tyler BC, Wooldridge N, Butcher BD, Burns TL, Teesch LM, et al. Use of the second-generation antipsychotic, risperidone, and secondary weight gain are associated with an altered gut microbiota in children. *Trans Psychiatry* (2015) 5:e652. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.135
- 232. Davey KJ, Cotter PD, O'Sullivan O, Crispie F, Dinan TG, Cryan JF, et al. Antipsychotics and the gut microbiome: olanzapine-induced metabolic dysfunction is attenuated by antibiotic administration in the rat. *Trans Psychiatry* (2013) 3:e309. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.83
- Smithh RS. Cytokines & Depression. How Your Immune System Causes Depression (1997). Available online at: http://www.cytokines-anddepression.com/.
- 234. Severance EG, Yolken RH, Eaton WW. Autoimmune diseases, gastrointestinal disorders and the microbiome in schizophrenia: more than a gut feeling. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:23–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.06.027
- 235. Alpay K, Ertas M, Orhan EK, Ustay DK, Lieners C, Baykan B. Diet restriction in migraine, based on IgG against foods: a clinical double-blind, randomised, cross-over trial. *Cephalalgia* (2010) **30**:829–37. doi: 10.1177/0333102410361404
- 236. Drisko J, Bischoff B, Hall M, McCallum R. Treating irritable bowel syndrome with a food elimination diet followed by food challenge and probiotics. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2006) 25:514–22. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2006.10719567
- 237. Mitchell N, Hewitt CE, Jayakody S, Islam M, Adamson J, Watt I, Torgerson DJ. Randomised controlled trial of food elimination diet based on IgG

antibodies for the prevention of migraine like headaches. *Nutr J.* (2011) **10**:85. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-10-85

- Aydinlar EI, Dikmen PY, Tiftikci A, Saruc M, Aksu M, Gunsoy HG, et al. IgGbased elimination diet in migraine plus irritable bowel syndrome. *Headache* (2013) 53:514–25. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.2012.02296.x
- Atkinson W, Sheldon TA, Shaath N, Whorwell PJ. Food elimination based on IgG antibodies in irritable bowel syndrome: a randomised controlled trial. *Gut* (2004) 53:1459–64. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.037697
- 240. Bentz S, Hausmann M, Piberger H, Kellermeier S, Paul S, Held L, et al. Clinical relevance of IgG antibodies against food antigens in Crohn's disease: a double-blind cross-over diet intervention study. *Digestion* (2010) 81:252– 64. doi: 10.1159/000264649
- 241. Sturniolo GC, Di Leo V, Ferronato A, D'Odorico A, D'Inca R. Zinc supplementation tightens "leaky gut" in Crohn's disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Dis.* (2001) 7:94–8. doi: 10.1097/00054725-200105000-00003
- 242. Zhang B, Guo Y. Supplemental zinc reduced intestinal permeability by enhancing occludin and zonula occludens protein-1 (ZO-1) expression in weaning piglets. *Brit J Nutr.* (2009) **102**:687–93. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509289033
- 243. Lopresti AL, Maes M, Maker GL, Hood SD, Drummond PD. Curcumin for the treatment of major depression: a randomised, doubleblind, placebo controlled study. J Affect Disord. (2014) 167:368–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.06.001
- 244. Ranjbar E, Kasaei MS, Mohammad-Shirazi M, Nasrollahzadeh J, Rashidkhani B, Shams J, et al. Effects of zinc supplementation in patients with major depression: a randomized clinical trial. *Iran J Psychiatry* (2013) **8**:73–9.

- 245. Aggarwal BB, Gupta SC, Sung B. Curcumin: an orally bioavailable blocker of TNF and other pro-inflammatory biomarkers. *Brit J Pharmacol.* (2013) **169**:1672–92. doi: 10.1111/bph. 12131
- 246. Jeong YI, Kim SW, Jung ID, Lee JS, Chang JH, Lee CM, et al. Curcumin suppresses the induction of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase by blocking the Janus-activated kinase-protein kinase Cdelta-STAT1 signaling pathway in interferon-gamma-stimulated murine dendritic cells. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:3700–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807 328200
- 247. Buhrmann C, Mobasheri A, Busch F, Aldinger C, Stahlmann R, Montaseri A, et al. Curcumin modulates nuclear factor kappaB (NFkappaB)-mediated inflammation in human tenocytes *in vitro*: role of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:28556– 66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.256180

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Rudzki and Szulc. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Sterile Inflammation of Brain, due to Activation of Innate Immunity, as a Culprit in Psychiatric Disorders

Mariusz Z. Ratajczak<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Daniel Pedziwiatr<sup>2</sup>, Monika Cymer<sup>2</sup>, Magda Kucia<sup>1,2</sup>, Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur<sup>3</sup> and Jerzy Samochowiec<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Stem Cell Institute at James Graham Brown Cancer Center, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Regenerative Medicine, Warsaw Medical University, Warsaw, Poland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

Evidence has accumulated that the occurrence of psychiatric disorders is related to chronic inflammation. In support of this linkage, changes in the levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the peripheral blood (PB) of psychiatric patients as well as correlations between chronic inflammatory processes and psychiatric disorders have been described. Furthermore, an inflammatory process known as "sterile inflammation" when initiated directly in brain tissue may trigger the onset of psychoses. In this review, we will present the hypothesis that prolonged or chronic activation of the complement cascade (ComC) directly triggers inflammation in the brain and affects the proper function of this organ. Based on the current literature and our own work on mechanisms activating the ComC we hypothesize that inflammation in the brain is initiated by the mannan-binding lectin pathway of ComC activation. This activation is triggered by an increase in brain tissue of danger-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) mediators, including extracellular ATP and high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein, which are recognized by circulating pattern-recognition receptors, including mannan-binding lectin (MBL), that activate the ComC. On the other hand, this process is controlled by the anti-inflammatory action of heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1). In this review, we will try to connect changes in the release of DAMPs in the brain with inflammatory processes triggered by the innate immunity involving activation of the ComC as well as the inflammation-limiting effects of the anti-inflammatory HO-1 pathway. We will also discuss parallel observations that during ComC activation subsets of stem cells are mobilized into PB from bone marrow that are potentially involved in repair mechanisms.

Keywords: sterile inflammation, complement cascade, stem cell mobilization, mannan-binding lectin, heme oxygenase 1

## INTRODUCTION

In this review, we will discuss the emerging picture of the interplay between the stressor inflammation-mediated activation of innate immunity, inflammation, and changes in the levels of inflammation markers and stem cells circulating in peripheral blood (PB), providing a mechanistic basis for the occurrence of psychiatric disorders.

It is well known that patients suffering from psychotic disorders often exhibit inflammationrelated abnormalities in PB, including (i) elevated levels of circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, (ii) increased numbers of circulating monocytes and neutrophils, as well as (iii) enhanced reactivity of microglia, astrocytes, and endothelial cells to various pro-inflammatory

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Fernando Rodriguez de Fonseca, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Joanna Hauser, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland Florence P. Varodayan, The Scripps Research Institute, United States Henning Ulrich, University of São Paulo, Brazil

#### \*Correspondence:

Mariusz Z. Ratajczak mzrata01@louisville.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 December 2017 Accepted: 12 February 2018 Published: 28 February 2018

#### Citation:

Ratajczak MZ, Pedziwiatr D, Cymer M, Kucia M, Kucharska-Mazur J and Samochowiec J (2018) Sterile Inflammation of Brain, due to Activation of Innate Immunity, as a Culprit in Psychiatric Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 9:60. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00060

30

signals (1–4). Furthermore, severe depression is often comorbid with chronic inflammatory conditions, and patients with preexisting inflammatory diseases are more susceptible to developing mood disorders than healthy individuals (5, 6). These findings support the existence of crosstalk between the central nervous system (CNS) and innate and adaptive immunity, which can be explained, at least partially, by the co-evolution of both systems.

The main role of innate immunity, which arose during evolution ~600 million years ago, is to detect specific molecular patterns present in invading microorganisms or in the host organism's own damaged tissues but not in healthy tissues (1-4). Therefore, the innate immune system mediates inflammation as a physiological response to (i) insult, (ii) infection, and (iii) biological stress. By contrast, adaptive immunity appeared later, ~500 million years ago, and unlike innate immunity depends on adaptive responses against antigens that have been recognized and subsequently presented to adaptive immunity cells by the innate immunity (1, 4). The CNS arose ~550 million years ago, and thus both nervous and innate and adaptive immune systems have co-evolved during evolution and are in constant crosstalk and communication (1, 3, 4). Therefore, one can envision that understanding and controlling these mutual interactions between the immune and nervous systems could be a fundamental step in preventing some CNS diseases, including cerebral neuropathies (bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, major depressive disorder, autism, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinsonism, epilepsy, and migraine). This possibility will be discussed in this review in the context of innate immunity-mediated inflammatory processes and the anti-inflammatory negative-feedback loops maintained by heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1). This enzyme is activated in response to inflammation to inhibit the pro-inflammatory action of the complement cascade (ComC) (7, 8).

We will explore connections between changes in the release of danger-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) with aberrant ATP-mediated purinergic signaling occurring in the brain, sterile inflammation triggered by the innate immunity involving activation of the ComC and coagulation cascade (CoaC), and the inflammation-limiting effects exerted by HO-1. In parallel, we will discuss results indicating that stem cells are mobilized from bone marrow (BM) into PB as a result of ComC activation (9–12), which might be potentially involved in certain repair mechanisms in the CNS.

## ACTIVATION OF INNATE IMMUNITY IN RESPONSE TO STRESS AND INFLAMMATION

Innate immunity, which is also sometimes called non-specific or in-born immunity, developed early in evolution and plays an important role as a mechanism to regulate (i) the response to invading pathogens, (ii) tissue and organ injury, (iii) the response to biological stress, and (iv) tissue and organ development and regeneration (12). Nevertheless, the innate system does not provide long-lasting immunity to the host. Rather, this role is assigned to the adaptive immune system (1, 2). However, the most important role of innate immunity is still as a pivotal subsystem of the overall immune response.

Innate immunity consists of (i) the ComC proteins present in biological fluids usually in inactive form to become activated in a cascade type of amplifying reactions triggered by classical-, alternative- or mannan-binding lectin pathway and (ii) several types of cells, such as phagocytic cells (macrophages and neutrophils), mast cells, eosinophils, basophils, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, and  $\gamma/\delta$  T cells. These latter cells exhibit several characteristics that place them on the border between innate and adaptive immunity (13). All these cell types function within the immune system to identify and eliminate invading pathogens. An important component of innate immunity are also naturally occurring antibodies (NAbs), which are produced without any previous foreign antigen exposure, infection, vaccination, or passive immunization (1, 14). These antibodies are not primarily restricted to protecting the host from invading pathogens, and their physiological role is restricted to being key regulators in recognizing neo-epitopes exposed on the surface of damaged cells. In particular, NAbs are involved in eliminating damaged cells from the tissues (14). Such a situation occurs, for example, in sterile inflammation when reactive oxygen species (ROS) are released from neutrophils or macrophages to expose neo-epitopes on the surface of target cells, and these sites are recognized and bound by NAbs from the IgM class (15).

The innate immune system maintains homeostasis in an adult organism by activating the ComC to (i) promote clearance of antibody complexes or dead cells, (ii) identify and remove pathogens and foreign substances present in tissues and biological fluids, (iii) recruit immune cells to sites of infection and tissue damage through the production of specialized mediators, such as chemokines, cytokines, and bioactive lipids, and the release of extracellular nucleotides, and (iv) activate the adaptive immune system through a process known as antigen presentation to B and T lymphocytes to elicit long-lasting memory against antigens (1). Innate immunity overlaps also with coagulation and the fibrinolytic system, as several products originating during coagulation and fibrinolysis activate the ComC (1, 16). As an example, thrombin generated from prothrombin has C5 convertase activity and cleaves C5 into the potent anaphylatoxins C5a and desArgC5a (16).

Also important for the main topic of this review is the response of the innate immunity network to "sterile inflammation," which occurs, for example, during prolonged biological stress even without exposure to foreign antigens. Evidence has accumulated that this process may be initiated by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) and can also be activated by non-microbial signals such as DAMPs, including ATP (1–4, 17). This type of response is modulated by neural circuits that control production of immune mediators. The potential involvement of sterile inflammation in psychiatric disorders will be discussed below in more detail.

## MECHANISMS OF STERILE ACTIVATION OF INNATE IMMUNITY

As mentioned above, more light has been shed on the nature of the host innate immune response to invading microorganisms that involves PRRs. It has been understood that the same PRRs that recognize foreign antigens can also recognize non-microbial DAMP signals, such as those secreted by cells, including extracellular ATP and high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein (2, 18–20). If occurring in the CNS, this mechanism may trigger sterile inflammation, which may potentially lead to psychiatric disorders (1–4). The leading role in this mechanism is played by the secretion of DAMPs from activated microglia and astrocytes in brain tissue or from circulating innate immune cells (e.g., granulocytes and monocytes). In fact, it has been reported that the number of granulocytes and monocytes circulating in PB increases in patients suffering from psychotic disorders (2–4), and, in parallel, microscopic analysis has revealed the presence of activated microglia and astrocytes in the brains of psychotic patients (3).

A potential mechanism leading to an increase in DAMP secretion, which initiates sterile brain inflammation by activating the ComC in a mannan-binding lectin (MBL)-dependent manner, involves the aberrant function of pannexins (21). These proteins are distant homologs of connexins; while unable to form gap junctions they form transmembrane channels on the cell surface, releasing molecules such as ATP from activated cells (20). ATP is well known as a ubiquitous intracellular molecular energy source but may also be secreted through pannexin channels into the intercellular space, where it acts as an important signaling molecule (2, 20, 21). In addition, ATP can be also secreted into intracellular space by extracellular microvesicles (17).

In physiological situations, ATP is involved in evoking purinergic signaling in neural tissue by interacting with the G protein-coupled P2Y and the ligand-gated ion channel P2X purinergic receptors. As part of purinergic signaling in the CNS, ATP released from the synaptic terminals via pannexin channels binds to members of both the P2X and P2Y receptor families (22). This interaction plays an important role in activating neurons and at the same time is involved in neuronal-glial communication, as microglia highly express both types of receptors. It is also well known that both ATP and its degradation product adenosine induce microglia and astrocyte proliferation and activation (3). Therefore, the pannexin channels, in particular pannexin-1, is an integral component of the P2X/P2Y purinergic signaling pathway, which, along with released ATP and ectonucleotidases that mediate the processing of ATP to ADP, AMP, and adenosine in the extracellular space, may contribute to several feedback loops during the inflammatory response in the CNS (22).

What is relevant for this review, pannexin 1 is highly expressed in brain tissue and releases ATP, an important DAMP molecule recognized by circulating MBL, into the extracellular space and thus is able to activate the mannan-binding lectin pathway of ComC activation (**Figure 1**). Another important DAMP molecule is the HMGB1 protein, which is also recognized by MBL and may trigger activation of the ComC as well (17, 20). In fact, in patients suffering from psychiatric disorders, an increase in the release of both ATP and HMGB1 into the extracellular space of brain tissue has been reported (3, 21). This increase in the DAMP level in brain may be primarily a result of sterile brain inflammation or a secondary effect due to certain systemic inflammation disorders (e.g., lupus erythromatosus and arthritis) (4).



FIGURE 1 | Proposed by us MBL-induced three-step model for triggering sterile inflammation in the brain tissue. All three phases of the complement cascade (ComC) activation process (initiation-, amplification-, and execution phase) are depicted here. In Step I (initiation phase), activation of microglia, astrocytes, and monocytes induces the release of danger-associated molecular pattern molecules (DAMPs) (ATP and high-mobility group box 1), and the secretion of ROS by these cells exposes neo-epitopes. Both DAMPs and neo-epitope–IgM complexes are recognized by mannose-binding lectin (MBL), which activates the ComC and CoaC in a MASP-1 and -2 dependent manner in Step II (amplification phase). In Step III (execution phase), the C5 cleavage fragments anaphylatoxins C5a and desArgC5a promote sterile inflammation in the brain, and this process is negatively regulated by heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1).

As mentioned, both ATP and HMGB1 molecules are recognized by a major PRR of the innate immune system, MBL (**Figure 1**). Once bound to these ligands, MBL recruits MBLassociated serine proteases (MASP-1 and -2) and mainly MASP-1 initiates activation of the ComC by involving the mannan-binding lectin pathway (19, 20). As mentioned above, activated microglia cells may also release ROS that, by oxidation of cell membranes, exposes neo-epitopes recognized by naturally occurring antibodies (Nabs) of the IgM class (14, 15, 20), and such neoepitope– Nabs complexes trigger activation of the ComC *via* MBL–MASP interactions (**Figure 1**). Beside a major role of ATP and HMGB1 in initiating sterile inflammation, there are also involved other DAMPs, such as DNA, RNA, hyaluronan fragments, uric acid, heparin sulfate and S100 proteins (2).

MBL-recruited MASPs cleave C3 and C3 cleavage products and initiate the emergence of classical C5 convertase, which subsequently cleaves C5 into the anaphylatoxins C5a and iC5b (1, 18). In parallel, MASP-1 also activates prothrombin, giving rise to thrombin (16), which has, as mentioned above, C5 convertase-like activity (Figure 1). Activation of ComC during sterile inflammation may be also additionally augmented by action of alternative pathway of ComC activation (1, 2). Overall, ComC can be activated during sterile inflammation in acute as well chronic way. The level and duration of activation may affect intensity of observed symptoms. The end products of ComC activation, the anaphylatoxins C5a and desArgC5a as well as C5b9 [also known as the membrane attack complex (MAC)] perpetuate inflammation in the surrounding tissues by activating cells through interaction with specific surface receptors present e.g., on microglia cells and astrocytes (C5a, desArgC5a) or even damage cells in the brain (MAC). This process occurring in brain as part of prolonged sterile inflammation may lead to psychotic disorders. In support of this notion, we have already reported that the ComC becomes activated in patients suffering from psychotic disorders (9-12). Furthermore, in cases in which the brain is exposed to activated ComC mediators circulating in blood due to a systemic disorder, these mediators may penetrate the blood-brain barrier, particularly when it is damaged and permeabilized, and thereby affect neural tissue (2-5).

Overall, in this proposed scenario, ComC cleavage fragments, such as the C5a and <sub>desArg</sub>C5a anaphylatoxins, activate microglia, astrocytes, and endothelial cells in brain tissue. The most important targets are microglia cells, also known as resident brain macrophages, which account for up to 15% of all cells found within the brain and as widely accepted act as the first and main form of active immune defense in the CNS (23). They may be responsible for the release of DAMPs as well as several pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and bioactive lipids. In parallel, systemic activation of the ComC may also lead to release of all these factors from neutrophils and macrophages residing in BM, spleen, and other organs. However, this process needs to be controlled, and there are several limiting mechanisms that rein in an activated inflammatory reaction. This issue will be addressed below with respect to the potential modulation by HO-1 activity (7, 19, 24).

# MECHANISMS THAT LIMIT STERILE INFLAMMATION IN BRAIN TISSUE

Given the possible role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of psychotic disorders, clinical trials have been initiated to inhibit inflammation in psychotic patients, and an example of such a treatment is the application of omega fatty acids and the cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib in schizophrenia patients (25). The potential armamentarium of anti-inflammatory drugs that could be used for treatment is the subject of a recent comprehensive review (3).

However, given the leading role of ComC activation in the CNS during sterile inflammation, one might also consider more ComC-directed treatment strategies. One of the most important enzymes that counteracts ComC-mediated inflammation is, as mentioned above, HO-1 (7, 19, 24). To support this, we have demonstrated that upregulation of HO-1 activity by small molecular activators inhibits activation of ComC in BM (19). In fact, it has been reported that low levels of activity of HO-1 is associated with depressive symptoms and may contribute to depressive and

hypertensive comorbidity (24). Similarly, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) may be in certain conditions another ComClimiting system, and its enhanced activity has been shown to exert antidepressant effects in a murine model of depression (26). Based on this finding, one can ask whether strategies for upregulating HO-1 and perhaps also iNOS could lead to beneficial effects in the treatment of psychotic patients. Similarly, there is the question of whether ComC inhibitors might find applications in cases of severe psychotic syndromes as well (1). Taking into consideration the role of defective purinergic signaling in the brain and the release of excessive ATP *via* pannexin channels, one might also consider the application of probenecid, a pannexin-1 channel blocker (27).

Further studies are also needed to determine whether defects in complement activation affect the epidemiology of psychotic disorders. Since, as proposed, the MBL ComC-activation pathway may play an important role in sterile inflammation in the brain, one can ask whether MBL deficiency has a protective effect. Interestingly, human MBL protein (MBL2) deficiency, is the most common form of ComC deficiency seen in 5-10% of the population. As reported, structural mutations in exon 1 of the human *MBL2* gene at codon 52 (Arg  $\rightarrow$  Cys, allele D), codon 54 (Gly  $\rightarrow$  Asp, allele B), and codon 57 (Gly  $\rightarrow$  Glu, allele C) independently by disrupting protein structure reduce the overall level of functional MBL in serum (28, 29). Furthermore, MBL2 serum levels ia affected by several nucleotide substitutions in the promoter region of the human MBL2 gene at positions -221 (X/Y polymorphism); -550 (H/L polymorphism); -427, -349, -336, del (-324 to -329), -70, and +4 (P/Q polymorphisms) (28, 29). Based on this, it remains to be determined in the future whether MBL2 would be a good biomarker to predict resistance to sterile inflammation of brain tissue. This of course requires further study.

## CIRCULATING STEM CELLS AS A RESPONSE TO ComC ACTIVATION

An interesting recent observation is the changes in the numbers of cells circulating in PB in psychotic patients. Besides reports on an increase in the numbers of circulating leukocytes and monocytes during exacerbation of psychotic symptoms (2-4), evidence has accumulated that there are also changes in the number of circulating stem cells (9-12). There are several types of stem cells, such as hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), multipotent stromal cells (MSCs), endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), and some rare very small embryonic-like stem cells (VSELs), that circulate in PB (9-12). The most numerous are HSCs. Moreover, the number of HSCs and other stem cells circulating in PB increases during inflammation, tissue and organ damage, strenuous exercise, and biological stress (30-33). The studies of changes in the numbers of circulating stem cells have already had an impact on several areas of clinical medicine, including neurology and cardiology. Based on these findings, our team became interested in the profile of circulating stem cells in patients with psychotic disorders (9-12).

We found changes in both the number of stem cells circulating in PB as well as in important factors that direct their trafficking, including ComC cleavage fragments and bioactive



phospo-sphingolipids, which may be employed as diagnostic tools in psychiatry (9–12). As depicted in **Figure 2**, under steadystate conditions, there are always some stem cells detectable at very low levels circulating in PB, including mainly HSCs but also MSCs, EPCs, and very rare VSELs (30–33). The numbers of these stem cells increases in circulation during stress and pathological situations that are related to inflammation and tissue damage. Our team also reported that the blood plasma level of stem cell chemoattractants responsible for their egress from BM into PB (e.g., S1P and SDF-1) and ComC cleavage fragments that modulate their trafficking (e.g., C3a and C5a) increase in psychotic disorders, leading to release of these cells into the circulation (**Figure 2**). Interestingly, the egress of stem cells from BM into PB in most of the situations related to sterile inflammation is initiated by the MBL pathway of ComC activation (20).

We found that the pattern of cells released into the circulation as well as the profile of chemoattractants detected in PB differs between various disorders and may be potentially helpful as a diagnostic or a prognostic tool (9-12). However, we are aware that further studies are needed to understand the implications of the release of these cells from BM. There are some indications that certain processes occur during psychotic disorders that are related to brain tissue remodeling as seen for example in depression, and stem cells could play a role here (34). Circulating stem cells may also be a source of paracrine soluble factors (cytokines, growth factors, chemokines, and bioactive lipids) as well as extracellular microvesicles that may deliver their content (mRNA, miRNA, proteins, mitochondria) to the brain cells (35). There is also another question: How tight is the blood-brain barrier to circulating stem cells during sterile inflammation in the brain? On the other hand, it is known that it is possible for more differentiated cells, such as monocytes or T lymphocytes, to cross the blood-brain barrier during inflammatory processes in the CNS (4).

In future studies, it would also be interesting to see how pharmacological as well as other types of treatment in psychotic patients, such as electro- or insulin-shock therapies, affect the egress of these cells from BM into PB and potentially enforce their trafficking between BM and brain tissue. It will be also important to study in depth effect of gut microbiota on brain inflammation (36). Furthermore, it is important to mention that ATP released in the brain as DAMP and its metabolite adenosine may also directly activate P2 and P1 purinergic receptors, respectively, that if aberrantly expressed or stimulated may impact several psychiatric conditions, including major depressive disorders, schizophrenia, bipolar disorders, autism, anxiety disorders, and attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorders. This purinergic receptor mediated effects activated by released in brain ATP and its metabolites become recently a topic of an excellent review (37).

## CONCLUSION

We propose that sterile inflammation in the brain leading to psychotic disorders may be initiated by the MBL–MASP pathway of ComC activation. This activation may be triggered by an increase in DAMP mediators, including extracellular ATP and HMGB1, which are recognized by MBL and activate the ComC (4, 20). This process is also tightly controlled by the anti-inflammatory action of HO-1 (7, 20, 38). In parallel, during ComC activation subsets of stem cells from BM are mobilized into PB that may be involved in certain brain-remodeling processes (9–12). Therefore, these observations suggest that modulating innate immune responses related to sterile inflammation will enable the development of innovative approaches to the treatment of psychiatric disorders.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

This manuscript was written by MR in consultation with the rest of the authors. All authors approved manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Hajishengallis G, Reis ES, Mastellos DC, Ricklin D, Lambris JD. Novel mechanisms and functions of complement. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:1288–98. doi:10.1038/ni.3858
- Chen GY, Nuñez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:826–37. doi:10.1038/nri2873
- Pfau ML, Ménard C, Russo SJ. Inflammatory mediators in mood disorders: therapeutic opportunities. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* (2018) 58:411–28. doi:10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010617-052823
- Sankowski R, Mader S, Valdés-Ferrer SI. Systemic inflammation and the brain: novel roles of genetic, molecular, and environmental cues as drivers of neurodegeneration. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2015) 9:28. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00028
- SayuriYamagata A, Brietzke E, Rosenblat JD, Kakar R, McIntyre RS. Medical comorbidity in bipolar disorder: the link with metabolic-inflammatory systems. J Affect Disord (2017) 211:99–106. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2016.12.059
- Rosenblat JD, Brietzke E, Mansur RB, Maruschak NA, Lee Y, McIntyre RS. Inflammation as a neurobiological substrate of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: evidence, pathophysiology and treatment implications. J Affect Disord (2015) 188:149–59. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2015.08.058
- Freitas A, Alves-Filho JC, Secco DD, Neto AF, Ferreira SH, Barja-Fidalgo C, et al. Heme oxygenase/carbon monoxide-biliverdin pathway down regulates neutrophil rolling, adhesion and migration in acute inflammation. *Br J Pharmacol* (2006) 149:345–54. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706882
- Adamiak M, Abdelbaset-Ismail A, Moore JB IV, Zhao J, Abdel-Latif A, Wysoczynski M, et al. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is a novel negative regulator of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell trafficking. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13:92–103. doi:10.1007/s12015-016-9693-1
- Kucharska-Mazur J, Tarnowski M, Dołęgowska B, Budkowska M, Pędziwiatr D, Jabłoński M, et al. Novel evidence for enhanced stem cell trafficking in antipsychotic-naïve subjects during their first psychotic episode. *J Psychiatr Res* (2014) 49:18–24. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.10.016
- Ferensztajn-Rochowiak E, Kucharska-Mazur J, Samochowiec J, Ratajczak MZ, Michalak M, Rybakowski JK. The effect of long-term lithium treatment of bipolar disorder on stem cells circulating in peripheral blood. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 18:54–62. doi:10.3109/15622975.2016.1174301
- Jabłoński M, Mazur JK, Tarnowski M, Dołęgowska B, Pędziwiatr D, Kubiś E, et al. Mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells and changes in the concentration of plasma factors influencing their movement in patients with panic disorder. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13:217–25. doi:10.1007/s12015-016-9700-6
- Kucharska-Mazur J, Jabłoński M, Misiak B, Frydecka D, Rybakowski J, Ratajczak MZ, et al. Adult stem cells in psychiatric disorders – new discoveries in peripheral blood. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 80(Pt A):23–7. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.04.005
- Payne KK. Lymphocyte-mediated immune regulation in health and disease: the Treg and γδ T cell co-conspiracy. *Immunol Invest* (2016) 45:767–75. doi:10.1080/08820139.2016.1213278
- Al-Shobaili HA, Al Robaee AA, Alzolibani A, Khan MI, Rasheed Z. Hydroxyl radical modification of immunoglobulin g generated cross-reactive antibodies: its potential role in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Med Insights Arthritis Musculoskelet Disord* (2011) 4:11–9. doi:10.4137/CMAMD.S6793
- Joseph K, Kulik L, Coughlin B, Kunchithapautham K, Bandyopadhyay M, Thiel S, et al. Oxidative stress sensitizes retinal pigmented epithelial (RPE) cells to complement-mediated injury in a natural antibody-, lectin pathway-, and phospholipid epitope-dependent manner. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:12753–65. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.421891
- Huber-Lang M, Sarma JV, Zetoune FS, Rittirsch D, Neff TA, McGuire SR, et al. Generation of C5a in the absence of C3: a new complement activation pathway. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:682–7. doi:10.1038/nm1419

## FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH grants R01 DK074720 and R01HL112788, the Stella and Henry Endowment, and the OPUS grant DEC-2016/23/B/NZ3/03157 to MR.

- Fleshner M, Crane CR. Exosomes, DAMPs and miRNA: features of stress physiology and immune homeostasis. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38:768–76. doi:10.1016/j.it.2017.08.002
- Bujko K, Rzeszotek S, Hoehlig K, Yan J, Vater A, Ratajczak MZ. Signaling of the complement cleavage product anaphylatoxin C5a through C5aR (CD88) contributes to pharmacological hematopoietic stem cell mobilization. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13(6):793–800. doi:10.1007/s12015-017-9769-6
- Adamiak M, Ratajczak MZ. Innate immunity and mobilization of hematopoietic stem cells. *Curr Stem Cell Rep* (2017) 3:172–80. doi:10.1007/ s40778-017-0087-3
- Adamiak M, Abdelbaset-Ismail A, Suszynska M, Abdel-Latif A, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ. Novel evidence that the mannan-binding lectin pathway of complement activation plays a pivotal role in triggering mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells by activation of both the complement and coagulation cascades. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:262–5. doi:10.1038/leu.2016.278
- Sarrouilhe D, Dejean C, Mesnil M. Connexin43- and pannexin-based channels in neuroinflammation and cerebral neuropathies. *Front Mol Neurosci* (2017) 10:320. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2017.00320
- Burnstock G. An introduction to the roles of purinergic signalling in neurodegeneration, neuroprotection and neuroregeneration. *Neuropharmacology* (2016) 104:4–17. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.05.031
- Ginhoux F, Prinz M. Origin of microglia: current concepts and past controversies. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2015) 7(8):a020537. doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a020537
- Robaczewska J, Kędziora-Kornatowska K, Kucharski R, Nowak M, Muszalik M, Kornatowski M, et al. Decreased expression of heme oxygenase is associated with depressive symptoms and may contribute to depressive and hypertensive comorbidity. *Redox Rep* (2016) 21:209–18. doi:10.1080/13510002.2015.1101 889
- El-Sayed El-Sisi A, Sokkar SS, El-Sayed El-Sayad M, Sayed Ramadan E, Osman EY. Celecoxib and omega-3 fatty acids alone and in combination with risperidone affect the behavior and brain biochemistry in amphetamineinduced model of schizophrenia. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2016) 82:425–31. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2016.05.024
- Kordjazy N, Haj-Mirzaian A, Amiri S, Ostadhadi S, Kordjazy M, Sharifzadeh M, et al. Elevated level of nitric oxide mediates the antidepressant effect of rubidium chloride in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2015) 762:411–8. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.06.030
- Jian Z, Ding S, Deng H, Wang J, Yi W, Wang L, et al. Probenecid protects against oxygen-glucose deprivation injury in primary astrocytes by regulating inflammasome activity. *Brain Res* (2016) 1643:123–9. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2016.05.002
- Holdaway J, Deacock S, Williams P, Karim Y. Mannose-binding lectin deficiency and predisposition to recurrent infection in adults. *J Clin Pathol* (2016) 69:731–6. doi:10.1136/jclinpath-2015-203065
- Keizer MP, Wouters D, Schlapbach LJ, Kuijpers TW. Restoration of MBLdeficiency: redefining the safety, efficacy and viability of MBL-substitution therapy. *Mol Immunol* (2014) 61:174–84. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2014.06.005
- Sielatycka K, Poniewierska-Baran A, Nurek K, Torbé A, Ratajczak MZ. Novel view on umbilical cord blood and maternal peripheral blood-an evidence for an increase in the number of circulating stem cells on both sides of the fetal-maternal circulation barrier. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13(6):774–80. doi:10.1007/s12015-017-9763-z
- Shaikh A, Anand S, Kapoor S, Ganguly R, Bhartiya D. Mouse bone marrow VSELs exhibit differentiation into three embryonic germ lineages and germ & hematopoietic cells in culture. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13:202–16. doi:10.1007/ s12015-016-9714-0
- Bhartiya D. Pluripotent stem cells in adult tissues: struggling to be acknowledged over two decades. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13(6):713–24. doi:10.1007/ s12015-017-9756-y
- Guerin CL, Rossi E, Saubamea B, Cras A, Mignon V, Silvestre JS, et al. Human very small embryonic-like cells support vascular maturation and therapeutic revascularization induced by endothelial progenitor cells. *Stem Cell Rev* (2017) 13:552–60. doi:10.1007/s12015-017-9731-7
- Wager-Smith K, Markou A. Depression: a repair response to stress-induced neuronal microdamage that can grade into a chronic neuroinflammatory condition? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35:742–64. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.09.010
- 35. Ratajczak MZ, Kucia M, Jadczyk T, Greco NJ, Wojakowski W, Tendera M, et al. Pivotal role of paracrine effects in stem cell therapies in regenerative medicine: can we translate stem cell-secreted paracrine factors and microvesicles into better therapeutic strategies? *Leukemia* (2012) 26:1166–73. doi:10.1038/leu.2011.389
- Kamada N, Seo SU, Chen GY, Núñez G. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13:321–35. doi:10.1038/nri3430
- Cheffer A, Castillo ARG, Corrêa-Velloso J, Gonçalves MCB, Naaldijk Y, Nascimento IC, et al. Purinergic system in psychiatric diseases. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23:94–106. doi:10.1038/mp.2017.188

 Abdelbaset-Ismail A, Borkowska-Rzeszotek S, Kubis E, Bujko K, Brzeźniakiewicz-Janus K, Bolkun L, et al. Activation of the complement cascade enhances motility of leukemic cells by downregulating expression of HO-1. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:446–58. doi:10.1038/leu.2016.198

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ratajczak, Pedziwiatr, Cymer, Kucia, Kucharska-Mazur and Samochowiec. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Revisiting the Role of Eotaxin-1/CCL11 in Psychiatric Disorders

#### Antonio L. Teixeira<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Clarissa S. Gama<sup>3</sup>, Natalia P. Rocha<sup>1,2</sup> and Mauro M. Teixeira<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Neuropsychiatry Program & Immuno-Psychiatry Lab, Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, McGovern Medical School, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States, <sup>2</sup> Laboratório Interdisciplinar de Investigação Médica, Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, <sup>3</sup> Molecular Psychiatry Laboratory, Hospital de Clínicas de Porto Alegre, Programa de Pós-Graduação em Psiquiatria e Ciências do Comportamento, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, Brazil

Eotaxin-1/CCL11 is a chemokine originally implicated in the selective recruitment of eosinophils into inflammatory sites during allergic reactions, being thoroughly investigated in asthma, allergic rhinitis, and other eosinophil-related conditions. Eotaxin-1/CCL11 is also involved with a skewed immune response toward a type-2 (Th2) profile. In addition to its role in immune response, recent studies have shown that eotaxin-1/CCL11 is associated with aging, neurogenesis and neurodegeneration, being able to influence neural progenitor cells, and microglia. Increased circulating levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 have been described in major psychiatric disorders (schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major depression), sometimes correlating with the severity of psychopathological and cognitive parameters. As similar findings have been reported in neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's disease, it has been hypothesized that mechanisms involving eotaxin-1/CCL11 signaling may underlie the "accelerated aging" profile commonly linked to psychiatric disorders. Future studies must determine whether eotaxin-1/CCL11 can be regarded as a prognostic biomarker and/or as therapeutic target for resistant/progressive cases.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Bartłomiej Stańczykiewicz, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Marta Torrens, Parc de Salut Mar, Spain Marvin Rafael Diaz, Binghamton University, United States

## \*Correspondence:

Antonio L. Teixeira altexr@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

**Received:** 02 March 2018 **Accepted:** 17 May 2018 **Published:** 14 June 2018

#### Citation:

Teixeira AL, Gama CS, Rocha NP and Teixeira MM (2018) Revisiting the Role of Eotaxin-1/CCL11 in Psychiatric Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 9:241. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00241 Keywords: Eotaxin-1, CCL11, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, depression, aging, Alzheimer's disease

## INTRODUCTION

There is a robust body of evidence showing altered circulating levels of immune cells and molecules in patients with psychiatric disorders, usually indicating a low-grade systemic inflammation (1, 2). Immune markers have been regarded as potential biomarkers in Psychiatry due to the role played by the immune system in the physiopathology of major psychiatric disorders and the relatively easy access to them (3).

Chemokines—the contraction of "chemotactic" and "cytokine"—constitute a large family of low molecular-weight cytokines whose main action is the recruitment of leukocytes into inflammatory sites (4, 5). Leukocyte recruitment is a highly regulated process, and chemokines are implicated in integrin-mediated adhesion of rolling leukocytes on endothelial cells among other effects. Chemokines are divided into four families based on the relative position of their cysteine residues and their function, being the CCL and CXCL the two largest families. They act by binding to seven-transmembrane G protein-coupled receptors, hence, activating signaling cascades that lead to shape rearrangement and cell movement (4, 5).

37

Due to the interest in investigating immune biomarkers and their role in the physiopathology of psychiatric disorders, chemokines have been explored in different conditions, including major depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia (6, 7). Our group was one of the very first to systematically evaluate the potential of chemokines as biomarkers of psychiatric disorders. In 2008, we reported increased serum levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11, but not other chemokines, in patients with chronic schizophrenia compared to age and gender-matched controls (8). Subsequent studies extended this finding to propose a role for eotaxin-1/CCL11 as an aging-related biomarker in psychiatry.

In this non-systematic mini-review we revisit the actions originally and currently ascribed to eotaxin-1/CCL11, highlighting the emerging role of eotaxin-1/CCL11 in psychiatric disorders, mainly schizophrenia and mood disorders.

## EOTAXIN-1/CCL11: FROM EOSINOPHIL RECRUITMENT TO A BROADER PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE

In 1994, studying a model of allergic inflammation, the group of Prof. Timothy Williams at the National Heart and Lung Institute, London, described a new protein capable of selectively recruiting eosinophils, but not neutrophils, into inflammatory sites. The protein named "eotaxin" was a potent stimulator of both rodent and human eosinophils *in vitro* (9, 10). Subsequent studies confirmed the role of "eotaxin" as a potent eosinophil chemoattractant cytokine, also describing its main receptor, the CC chemokine receptor 3 (CCR3) (11–13). "Eotaxin" was renamed eotaxin-1 after eotaxin-2 and eotaxin-3 were identified, and later CCL11 (14). Eotaxin-1/CCL11 can also bind to the CCR2 and CCR4 receptors, but its selectivity to CCR3 is much higher than to the other receptors (15).

Eosinophils have been implicated in a broad range of conditions, notably allergic (asthma, rhinitis, and atopic dermatitis) and inflammatory diseases characterized by eosinophil accumulation in tissues (eosinophilic esophagitis, gastroenteritis, and pneumonia), and helminthic diseases (for example, schistosomiasis). Due to the pathological role of eosinophils in asthma and atopic dermatitis, the first studies evaluated the cellular sources of eotaxin-1/CCL11 in the lung and the skin, reporting that epithelial cells, fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells can produce it. Subsequently, other sources of eotaxin-1/CCL11 were reported, including astrocytes, chondrocytes, and tissue resident macrophages. In the central nervous system (CNS), choroid plexus epithelial cells, pericytes, astrocytes, and microglia seem to produce eotaxin-1/CCL11 under inflammatory stimuli (16) (Figure 1).

Once binding to CCR3 receptors expressed on the cell surface of eosinophils, eotaxin-1/CCL11 activates a series of intracellular signaling cascades, leading to eosinophil recruitment to inflammatory sites. Eosinophils are source of cytotoxic granular proteins and growth factors responsible, respectively, for tissue damaging and remodeling implicated in the physiopathology of several diseases such as asthma. Therefore, the selective blockade of the CCR3-eotaxin-1/CCL11 axis could impair eosinophil recruitment, representing an attractive target for the treatment of asthma, allergic rhinitis, and other eosinophil-related conditions (17). Indeed, there have been early phase clinical trials with CCR3 antagonists for asthma and, more recently, a therapeutic antibody against eotaxin-1/CCL11 (Bertilimumab) for allergic rhinitis (10, 18). From a clinical perspective, eotaxin-1/CCL11 has also been evaluated as a biomarker of human diseases (19). A systematic review of the literature involving 30 studies showed that blood and sputum eotaxin-1/CCL11 concentrations were consistently elevated in patients with asthma, being negatively correlated with lung function, indicating the potential use of eotaxin-1/CCL11 as a biomarker for the diagnosis and assessment of asthma severity and control (20).

Besides eosinophils, the chemokine receptor CCR3 is expressed on basophils, mast cells and Th2 lymphocytes, the latter involved with the production of the so-called Th2 cytokines (interleukins, IL; IL-4, IL-5, IL-13) (**Figure 1**). Accordingly, eotaxin-1/CCL11 has been implicated in skewing the immune response toward a type-2 (Th2) response (21).

In addition to immunomodulation, other effects of eotaxin-1/CCL11 have been described. For the current discussion, it is worth emphasizing its effects on the CNS, and mentioning that eotaxin-1/CCL11 can cross the unaltered blood-brain barrier (22). Krathwohl and Kaiser (23) showed that eotaxin-1/CCL11 reversibly inhibits neural progenitor cell proliferation in vitro in isolated cells, neurospheres, and in hippocampal slice cultures without affecting their ability to form both neurons and astrocytes (23). In an elegant study using parabiosis, (24) showed that plasma of aging mice or eotaxin-1/CCL11 administration to young mice decreased adult neurogenesis and impaired memory and learning, proposing a major role for this chemokine in the age-related decline of hippocampal function (24). Later, it was demonstrated that while there was no direct effect of eotaxin-1/CCL11 on neurons, this chemokine was able to promote microglia migration and activation with subsequent production of reactive oxygen species, potentiating glutamate-induced neuronal death (25). In this same direction, our group described elevated levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 in the hippocampus along with impaired neurogenesis and cognitive/memory impairment in a mouse model of cerebral malaria (26). Altogether, these findings suggest a link between eotaxin-1/CCL11 and aging, neurogenesis impairment and neurodegeneration.

## STUDYING EOTAXIN-1/CCL11 IN PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

To the best of our knowledge, the first studies assessing eotaxin-1/CCL11 in psychiatric disorders were published in 2008 (8, 27) (**Table 1**).

Simon et al. (27) simultaneously assessed the serum levels of 22 cytokines/chemokines, including eotaxin-1/CCL11, in 49 patients with major depression and 49 matched controls, reporting increased levels of the molecule in a context of "generalized chronic inflammatory state" (27). Later we found similar results in an independent cohort of patients with major



system; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

depression, indicating that increased serum levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 were particularly associated with suicidal ideation (28). Nevertheless, a recent systematic-review and meta-analysis of studies evaluating eotaxin-1/CCL11 in depression (not necessarily major depression) including 454 participants (230 cases vs. 224 controls) failed to identify significant difference

between CCL11 measurements in depressed and control subjects (29). The fact that this meta-analysis also included studies with subjects presenting with medical comorbidities (including inflammatory-related conditions) and possibly milder forms of depression may explain the discordance with the first reports.

 TABLE 1 | Main findings regarding eotaxin-1/CCL11 levels in major psychiatric disorders.

Psychiatric disorder	Findings
Schizophrenia	Increased blood levels; Negative correlation with telomere length and gray matter volume; Negative correlation with cognitive measures; Positive correlation with negative symptoms.
Bipolar disorder	Increased blood levels; Association with illness stage.
Major depression	Increased blood levels; Association with suicidal ideation.
Dysthymia	Increased blood levels.
Obsessive-compulsive disorder	Blood levels similar to controls.
Autism spectrum disorder	Increased blood levels.
Substance abuse disorder	In heroin dependent subjects, increased blood levels and association with age. In alcohol dependent subjects, decreased blood levels, especially in women and with comorbid psychiatric disorders.

Teixeira et al. (8) evaluated the serum levels of six chemokines (CCL2, CCL3, CCL11, CXCL8, CXCL9, CXCL10) in 40 patients with chronic schizophrenia and 20 controls. Only the levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 were increased in the patients compared to controls, but no association was found between chemokine levels and clinical parameters such as severity of positive and negative symptoms, and involuntary movements (8). Soon after, we evaluated the serum levels of a set of chemokines (CCL2, CCL3, CCL11, CCL24, CXCL8, CXCL9, CXCL10) in 30 euthymic patients with bipolar disorder and 30 matched controls (30). Patients with bipolar disorder showed increased levels of IP-10/CXCL10, lower levels of eotaxin-2/CCL24 and similar levels of the other chemokines compared to controls. Taking into account that IP-10/CXCL10 is associated with a Th1 response, and eotaxin-2/CCL24 (as eotaxin-1/CCL11) is related to a Th2 response, this result suggested an imbalance of Th1/Th2 cytokines toward a Th1 profile in bipolar disorder (30). Based on the chemokine studies, at this point we were very excited with the hypothesis that schizophrenia would be associated with a preferential activation of Th2 lymphocytes as previously proposed by Muller et al. (31), while bipolar disorder with the activation of Th1 lymphocytes.

Nevertheless, subsequent studies failed to confirm immune response polarization in schizophrenia or bipolar disorder (1). Studying the plasma levels of six chemokines (CCL2, CCL3, CCL11, CCL24, CXCL8, and CXCL10) in an independent sample composed of 70 bipolar disorder type I patients (35 in euthymia and 35 in mania) and 50 matched controls, we found increased levels of IP-10/CXCL10 and eotaxin-1/CCL11 in patients regardless of the mood phase (32). Magalhaes et al. (33) also reported increased levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 in patients with bipolar disorder recruited from the community (33). Actually, there are similarities in the pattern of cytokine changes in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder during acute and chronic phases of the respective illness, possibly indicating shared pathophysiological pathways leading to immune dysfunction (34). Different results were obtained when evaluating patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder.

More recently, we showed that late-stage patients with bipolar disorder, defined by a clinical staging model taking into consideration the number of previous mood episodes, comorbidities, and cognitive and social functioning, tended to express higher serum levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 than early-stage patients and controls (35). This study supported the findings of altered levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 in bipolar disorder, and indicated an increase in the circulating levels of this chemokine with progressive clinical deterioration observed in this condition. Moreover, taking into account the evidence implicating eotaxin-1/CCL11 in the age-related decline of hippocampal function, including memory and learning impairment (24, 25), it corroborates the hypothesis of "accelerated aging" in bipolar disorder (36). We observed similar findings in schizophrenia (37) as patients with chronic illness (>20 years of diagnosis) had higher circulating levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 than age-matched controls, while patients with early illness (<5 years of diagnosis) did not differ from their age-matched controls.

In a recent study comprising 48 patients with schizophrenia and 64 controls, we had the chance to reiterate the hypothesis of "accelerated aging" in this major psychiatric condition (38). In comparison with controls, patients had decreased telomere length (a biological marker of aging) and gray matter volume (a neuroimaging marker of aging/degeneration), increased eotaxin-1/CCL11 levels, and worse memory performance as assessed by the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test. More importantly, shorter telomere length was related to increased levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11, and both biomarkers were related to reduced gray matter volume, all of which were related to worse memory functioning. Further supporting a role for eotaxin-1/CCL11 in human cognition, (39) reported increased levels of this chemokine in patients with schizophrenia compared to controls, and a negative correlation with working memory (Visual Working Memory Test) and a positive correlation with cognitive flexibility (Plus-Minus Task) (39). Noto et al. (40) also reported a positive correlation between the severity of negative symptoms (i.e., apathy, blunted affect, poverty of speech, social withdrawal) and eotaxin-1/CCL11 levels (40). An independent group corroborated these results, reporting positive correlation between eotaxin-1/CCL11 levels with age, duration of schizophrenia, and severity of negative symptoms (41). Although correlational, these findings suggest that eotaxin-1/CCL11 may influence the function of different neural circuits, including dorsolateral, and ventromedial fronto-striatal circuits.

In line with the indirect findings implicating eotaxin-1/CCL11 in "accelerated aging" in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia, elevated plasma levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 have been observed in neurodegenerative diseases, mainly Alzheimer's disease (42, 43). It remains to be established whether these levels correlate with the rate of disease/neurodegeneration progression.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that altered levels of eotaxin-1/CCL11 has been associated with children and adolescent psychopathology, including autism spectrum disorder (44, 45), and other psychiatric conditions, including dysthymia (46), obsessive-compulsive disorder (47), and substance use disorders (48, 49).

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Eotaxin-1/CCL11 has been associated with major psychiatric disorders. This finding undermines its role as a diagnostic marker, but suggests that this chemokine may be involved in shared pathophysiological mechanisms among them, especially those implicated in "accelerated aging." In this regard, eotaxin-1/CCL11 seems very promising as it has been associated with markers of aging and degeneration; also correlating with cognitive measures. There are several opportunities here such as: (i) longitudinal studies with careful psychopathological and cognitive phenotyping aiming to determine its prognostic value; (ii) neuroimaging studies to evaluate its association with neurodegenerative changes (e.g. PET analysis of beta-amyloid and tau burden). For example, eotaxin-1/CCL11 has been used as a biomarker in clinical trials in asthma (50, 51).

In sum, although preliminary, there is evidence supporting that eotaxin-1/CCL11 may exert physiological and pathological

## REFERENCES

- Barbosa IG, Machado-Vieira R, Soares JC, Teixeira AL. The immunology of bipolar disorder. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2014) 21:117–22. doi: 10.1159/000356539
- Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:258–70. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)00122-9
- Teixeira AL, Salem H, Frey BN, Barbosa IG, Machado-Vieira R. Update on bipolar disorder biomarker candidates. *Exp Rev Mol Diagn.* (2016) 16:1209– 20. doi: 10.1080/14737159.2016.1248413
- Charo IF, Ransohoff RM. The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. N Engl J Med. (2006) 354:610–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra052723
- Ransohoff RM. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: standing at the crossroads of immunobiology and neurobiology. *Immunity* (2009) 31:711–21. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.010
- Stuart MJ, Baune BT. Chemokines and chemokine receptors in mood disorders, schizophrenia, and cognitive impairment: a systematic review of biomarker studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 42:93–115. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.02.001
- Stuart MJ, Singhal G, Baune BT. Systematic review of the neurobiological relevance of chemokines to psychiatric disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 9:357. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00357
- Teixeira AL, Reis HJ, Nicolato R, Brito-Melo G, Correa H, Teixeira MM, et al. Increased serum levels of CCL11/eotaxin in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32:710-4. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.11.019
- Jose PJ, Griffiths-Johnson DA, Collins PD, Walsh DT, Moqbel R, Totty NF, et al. Eotaxin: a potent eosinophil chemoattractant cytokine detected in a guinea pig model of allergic airways inflammation. J Exp Med. (1994) 179:881–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.3.881
- Williams TJ. Eotaxin-1 (CCL11). Front Immunol. (2015) 6:84. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00084
- Kitaura M, Nakajima T, Imai T, Harada S, Combadiere C, Tiffany HL, et al. Molecular cloning of human eotaxin, an eosinophil-selective CC chemokine, and identification of a specific eosinophil eotaxin receptor, CC chemokine receptor 3. J Biol Chem. (1996) 271:7725–30. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.13.7725

effects in the CNS. If confirmed these pathological effects, it is tempting to propose strategies against eotaxin-1/CCL11 or its CCR3 receptor for the treatment of severe, progressing, and/or refractory cases of major psychiatric disorders. There have been clinical trials with CCR3 antagonists and anti-eotaxin-1/CCL11 neutralizing antibodies in inflammatory human diseases with encouraging results.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AT and MT conceived the original idea. AT and CG performed the literature review and critically analyzed the data. AT wrote the first draft of the manuscript with inputs from CG and NR. MT critically reviewed the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Neuropsychiatry Program & Immuno-Psychiatry Lab are supported by grants from the Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences, UT Health Houston. NR is a Huntington's disease society of America (HDSA) fellowship recipient.

- 12. Ponath PD, Qin S, Ringler DJ, Clark-Lewis I, Wang J, Kassam N, et al. Cloning of the human eosinophil chemoattractant, eotaxin. Expression, receptor binding, and functional properties suggest a mechanism for the selective recruitment of eosinophils. *J Clin Invest.* (1996) 97:604–12. doi: 10.1172/JCI118456
- Teixeira MM, Wells TN, Lukacs NW, Proudfoot AE, Kunkel SL, Williams TJ, et al. Chemokine-induced eosinophil recruitment. Evidence of a role for endogenous eotaxin in an in vivo allergy model in mouse skin. J Clin Invest. (1997) 100:1657–66. doi: 10.1172/JCI119690
- Zlotnik A, Yoshie O. The chemokine superfamily revisited. *Immunity* (2012) 36:705–16. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.008
- Ogilvie P, Bardi G, Clark-Lewis I, Baggiolini M, Uguccioni M. Eotaxin is a natural antagonist for CCR2 and an agonist for CCR5. *Blood* (2001) 97:1920– 4. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.7.1920
- Baruch K, Ron-Harel N, Gal H, Deczkowska A, Shifrut E, Ndifon W, et al. CNS-specific immunity at the choroid plexus shifts toward destructive Th2 inflammation in brain aging. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:2264–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1211270110
- 17. Pease JE. Asthma, allergy and chemokines. *Curr Drug Targets* (2006) 7:3–12. doi: 10.2174/138945006775270204
- Neighbour H, Boulet LP, Lemiere C, Sehmi R, Leigh R, Sousa AR, et al. Safety and efficacy of an oral CCR3 antagonist in patients with asthma and eosinophilic bronchitis: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:508–16. doi: 10.1111/cea. 12244
- Mendonca VA, Malaquias LC, Brito-Melo GE, Castelo-Branco A, Antunes CM, Ribeiro AL, et al. Differentiation of patients with leprosy from noninfected individuals by the chemokine eotaxin/CCL11. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2007) 77:547–50. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2007.77.547
- Wu D, Zhou J, Bi H, Li L, Gao W, Huang M, et al. CCL11 as a potential diagnostic marker for asthma? J Asthma. (2014) 51:847–54. doi: 10.3109/02770903.2014.917659
- Gutierrez-Ramos JC, Lloyd C, Gonzalo JA. Eotaxin: from an eosinophilic chemokine to a major regulator of allergic reactions. *Immunol Today* (1999) 20:500–4. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(99)01522-4
- Erickson MA, Morofuji Y, Owen JB, Banks WA. Rapid transport of CCL11 across the blood-brain barrier: regional variation and importance of blood cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. (2014) 349:497–507. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114. 213074

- Krathwohl MD, Kaiser JL. Chemokines promote quiescence and survival of human neural progenitor cells. *Stem Cells* (2004) 22:109–18. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.22-1-109
- Villeda SA, Luo J, Mosher KI, Zou B, Britschgi M, Bieri G, et al. The ageing systemic milieu negatively regulates neurogenesis and cognitive function. *Nature* (2011) 477:90–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10357
- Parajuli B, Horiuchi H, Mizuno T, Takeuchi H, Suzumura A. CCL11 enhances excitotoxic neuronal death by producing reactive oxygen species in microglia. *Glia* (2015) 63:2274–84. doi: 10.1002/glia.22892
- 26. De Miranda AS, Brant F, Campos AC, Vieira LB, Rocha NP, Cisalpino D, et al. Evidence for the contribution of adult neurogenesis and hippocampal cell death in experimental cerebral malaria cognitive outcome. *Neuroscience* (2015) 284:920–33. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.10.062
- Simon NM, Mcnamara K, Chow CW, Maser RS, Papakostas GI, Pollack MH, et al. A detailed examination of cytokine abnormalities in major depressive disorder. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2008) 18:230–3. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.06.004
- Grassi-Oliveira R, Brieztke E, Teixeira A, Pezzi JC, Zanini M, Lopes RP, et al. Peripheral chemokine levels in women with recurrent major depression with suicidal ideation. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr.* (2012) 34:71–5. doi: 10.1590/S1516-44462012000100013
- Leighton SP, Nerurkar L, Krishnadas R, Johnman C, Graham GJ, Cavanagh J. Chemokines in depression in health and in inflammatory illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23:48–58. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.205
- Brietzke E, Kauer-Sant'anna M, Teixeira AL, Kapczinski F. Abnormalities in serum chemokine levels in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2009) 23:1079–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.04.008
- Muller N, Riedel M, Gruber R, Ackenheil M, Schwarz MJ. The immune system and schizophrenia. An integrative view. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2000) 917:456–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb05410.x
- Barbosa IG, Rocha NP, Bauer ME, De Miranda AS, Huguet RB, Reis HJ, et al. Chemokines in bipolar disorder: trait or state? *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 263:159–65. doi: 10.4306/pi.2016.13.5.541
- 33. Magalhaes PV, Jansen K, Stertz L, Ferrari P, Pinheiro RT, Da Silva RA, et al. Peripheral eotaxin-1 (CCL11) levels and mood disorder diagnosis in a population-based sample of young adults. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2014) 48:13–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.10.007
- Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:1696–709. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Panizzutti B, Gubert C, Schuh AL, Ferrari P, Bristot G, Fries GR, et al. Increased serum levels of eotaxin/CCL11 in late-stage patients with bipolar disorder: an accelerated aging biomarker? J Affect Disord. (2015) 182:64–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.12.010
- Rizzo LB, Do Prado CH, Grassi-Oliveira R, Wieck A, Correa BL, Teixeira AL, et al. Immunosenescence is associated with human cytomegalovirus and shortened telomeres in type I bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2013) 15:832–8. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12121
- 37. Pedrini M, Massuda R, De Lucena D, Macedo D, Paz AV, Lobato MI, et al. Differences in eotaxin serum levels patients with recent onset and in chronic stable schizophrenia: a clue for understanding accelerating aging profile. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 152:528–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.11.040
- 38. Czepielewski LS, Massuda R, Panizzutti B, Grun LK, Barbe-Tuana FM, Teixeira AL, et al. Telomere Length and CCL11 levels are associated with gray matter volume and episodic memory performance in schizophrenia: evidence of pathological accelerated aging. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:158–67. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx015

- Asevedo E, Gadelha A, Noto C, Mansur RB, Zugman A, Belangero SI, et al. Impact of peripheral levels of chemokines, BDNF and oxidative markers on cognition in individuals with schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2013) 47:1376– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.032
- Noto C, Maes M, Ota VK, Teixeira AL, Bressan RA, Gadelha A, et al. High predictive value of immune-inflammatory biomarkers for schizophrenia diagnosis and association with treatment resistance. World J Biol Psychiatry (2015) 16:422–29. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2015.1062552
- Hong S, Lee EE, Martin AS, Soontornniyomkij B, Soontornniyomkij V, Achim CL, et al. Abnormalities in chemokine levels in schizophrenia and their clinical correlates. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 181:63–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.09.019
- Bettcher BM, Fitch R, Wynn MJ, Lalli MA, Elofson J, Jastrzab L, et al. MCP-1 and eotaxin-1 selectively and negatively associate with memory in MCI and Alzheimer's disease dementia phenotypes. *Alzheimers Dement* (2016) 3:91–7. doi: 10.1016/j.dadm.2016.05.004
- Huber AK, Giles DA, Segal BM, Irani DN. An emerging role for eotaxins in neurodegenerative disease. *Clin Immunol.* (2016) 189:29–33 doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2016.09.010
- 44. Cunha GR, Asevedo E, Mansur RB, Zugman A, Pan PM, Gadelha A, et al. Inflammation, neurotrophism and oxidative stress and childhood psychopathology in a large community sample. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015) 134:569–70. doi: 10.1111/acps.12453
- Masi A, Quintana DS, Glozier N, Lloyd AR, Hickie IB, Guastella AJ. Cytokine aberrations in autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20:440–6. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.59
- 46. Ho PS, Yen CH, Chen CY, Huang SY, Liang CS. Changes in cytokine and chemokine expression distinguish dysthymic disorder from major depression and healthy controls. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 248:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.12.014
- Fontenelle LF, Barbosa IG, Luna JV, De Sousa LP, Abreu MN, Teixeira AL. A cytokine study of adult patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* (2012) 53:797–804. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.12.007
- Garcia-Marchena N, Araos PF, Barrios V, Sanchez-Marin L, Chowen JA, Pedraz M, et al. Plasma Chemokines in patients with alcohol use disorders: association of CCL11 (Eotaxin-1) with psychiatric comorbidity. *Front Psychiatry* (2016) 7:214. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00214
- Kuo HW, Liu TH, Tsou HH, Hsu YT, Wang SC, Fang CP, et al. Inflammatory chemokine eotaxin-1 is correlated with age in heroin dependent patients under methadone maintenance therapy. *Drug Alcohol Depend* (2018) 183:19– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.10.014
- Nair P, Denis S, Cancelliere L, Radford K, Efthimiadis A, Rosano M, et al. The effects of an epithelial barrier protective cationic aerosol on allergeninduced airway inflammation in asthma: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Clin Exp Allergy* (2014) 44:1200–3. doi: 10.1111/cea.12383
- Pham TH, Damera G, Newbold P, Ranade K. Reductions in eosinophil biomarkers by benralizumab in patients with asthma. *Respir Med.* (2016) 111:21–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2016.01.003

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Teixeira, Gama, Rocha and Teixeira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Carbonyl Stress and Microinflammation-Related Molecules as Potential Biomarkers in Schizophrenia

Tohru Ohnuma\*, Shohei Nishimon, Mayu Takeda, Takahiro Sannohe, Narimasa Katsuta and Heii Arai

Juntendo University Schizophrenia Projects (JUSP), Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

This literature review primarily aims to summarize our research, comprising both cross-sectional and longitudinal studies, and discuss the possibility of using microinflammation-related biomarkers as peripheral biomarkers in the diagnosis and monitoring of patients with schizophrenia. To date, several studies have been conducted on peripheral biomarkers to recognize the potential markers for the diagnosis of schizophrenia and to determine the state and effects of therapy in patients with schizophrenia. Research has established a correlation between carbonyl stress, an environmental factor, and the pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric diseases, including schizophrenia. In addition, studies on biomarkers related to these stresses have achieved results that are either replicable or exhibit consistent increases or decreases in patients with schizophrenia. For instance, pentosidine, an advanced glycation end product (AGE), is considerably elevated in patients with schizophrenia; however, low levels of vitamin B6 [a detoxifier of reactive carbonyl compounds (RCOs)] have also been reported in some patients with schizophrenia. Another study on peripheral markers of carbonyl stress in patients with schizophrenia revealed a correlation of higher levels of glyceraldehyde-derived AGEs with higher neurotoxicity and lower levels of soluble receptors capable of diminishing the effects of AGEs. Furthermore, studies on evoked microinflammation-related biomarkers (e.g., soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1) have reported relatively consistent results, suggesting the involvement of microinflammation in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. We believe that our cross-sectional and longitudinal studies as well as various previous inflammation marker studies that could be interpreted from several perspectives, such as mild localized encephalitis and microvascular disturbance, highlighted the importance of early intervention as prevention and distinguished the possible exclusion of inflammations in schizophrenia.

Keywords: AGEs, biomarkers, carbonyl stress, glyceraldehyde-derived AGEs, microinflammation, pentosidine, schizophrenia, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1

## INTRODUCTION

Several studies have been performed to identify peripheral biomarkers for use in the diagnosis and monitoring of schizophrenia. These have mostly been based on pathophysiological hypotheses that schizophrenia is caused by disturbed neurotransmission, such as the dopaminergic (1) and glutamatergic (2–5) hypothesis, and thus have investigated the potential roles of peripheral

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Błażej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Elena Martín-García, Universidad Pompeu Fabra, Spain Milica Milovan Borovcanin, University of Kragujevac, Serbia

> \*Correspondence: Tohru Ohnuma otoru@juntendo.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 November 2017 Accepted: 28 February 2018 Published: 13 March 2018

#### Citation:

Ohnuma T, Nishimon S, Takeda M, Sannohe T, Katsuta N and Arai H (2018) Carbonyl Stress and Microinflammation-Related Molecules as Potential Biomarkers in Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 9:82. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00082

43

monoamines and amino acids. Other studies have also investigated molecules related to the neurodevelopmental hypothesis, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factors (6, 7). Although some of these studies have shown altered biomarker levels in patients with schizophrenia, consistent results have not been achieved on replication, thereby raising questions over the validity of their use as diagnostic or therapeutic biomarkers (8–10). In addition, these studies have failed to show whether endogenous monoamine and/or amino acid levels in the peripheral blood truly reflect brain levels.

An alternative approach, based on the role of environmental factors, has also been proposed. Indeed, oxidative stress (11-13) and carbonyl stress (14-17), both environmental factors, have been associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Studies of biomarkers related to these stresses have achieved either results that are replicable or at least in the same direction (increases or decreases), concerning altered biomarker levels in schizophrenia. Moreover, relatively consistent results have been demonstrated in evoked microinflammation-related biomarker studies, with a subset of patients with schizophrenia showing pathophysiological microinflammation. In the present literature review, we discuss the findings of our previous studies, comprised of not only cross-sectional research, but also large-scale, longitudinal observations in which we identified putative biomarkers in the peripheral blood. We propose that these could be used for the diagnosis and monitoring of subpopulations of patients with schizophrenia.

## **CARBONYL STRESS**

## Pentosidine and Pyridoxal

Interesting results from a cross-sectional study showed that plasma levels of pentosidine, an advanced glycation end product (AGE), were significantly increased in patients with schizophrenia and that a subpopulation had low levels of vitamin B6 (14). In carbonyl stress pathway, reactive carbonyl compounds (RCOs), which cause carbonyl stress, are detoxified by degradation into lactic acid and glutathione by glyoxalase enzymes. Glyoxalase 1 and 2 (GLO1 and GLO2) are the rate-limiting enzymes in this metabolic pathway. Inhibition of RCO generation and the Maillard reaction by vitamin B6 results in the suppression of AGE accumulation (Figure 1A). This is important because vitamin B6 detoxifies RCOs. Among those with high pentosidine levels, most were also shown to have a family history of psychiatric illness, severe symptoms, and an affected gene associated with RCOs (14). A subsequent cross-sectional study that included more clinical data and more patients with chronic schizophrenia showed that the presence of carbonyl stress could lead to treatment resistance, establishing a role for markers carbonyl stress in chronic schizophrenia (16). These studies evidenced that high pentosidine and low pyridoxal levels in the peripheral blood could be state markers of "treatment resistance" in some patients with schizophrenia. However, to verify whether altered pentosidine and pyridoxal levels could be "state" and/or "therapeutic" biological markers of schizophrenia, parallel cross-sectional and longitudinal studies were needed that followed patients with schizophrenia from acute illness to remission.

#### Pentosidine

We repeated our original cross-sectional study to investigate the means and clinical significance of serum markers of carbonyl stress in 137 patients with acute schizophrenia and in 47 healthy controls (15). Although serum pentosidine levels were markedly elevated in some patients, levels were not significantly altered in schizophrenia (**Figure 1B**), meaning that pentosidine could not be confirmed as a state biomarker for severity. Moreover, the putative marker showed no correlation with any other clinical feature of schizophrenia (e.g., age at onset, illness duration, and family history). There was, however, a significant positive correlation between pentosidine levels and both the daily antipsychotic dose and the cumulative antipsychotic exposure (duration multiplied by the daily dose) (15).

The positive correlation between pentosidine levels and daily antipsychotic dose has been reported in previous studies (14-17), which concluded that this was due to the characteristic that treatment-resistant patients are usually treated with relatively high daily antipsychotic doses. To test this hypothesis, the influence of first- and second-generation antipsychotics, as well as the influence of different combinations of medication and dosages, was analyzed in a follow up to our first cross-sectional study (15). We enrolled another 137 patients with acute schizophrenia and pooled them with the existing cohort (22). We evaluated the associations of serum pentosidine with clinical variables that have shown a significant association with peripheral pentosidine levels (14-17). These included the severity of symptoms, the duration of education, and the duration and daily doses of antipsychotic, antiparkinsonian, and anxiolytic medications. The pooled cohort (n = 274) showed associations between higher serum pentosidine levels and both higher daily antipsychotic doses and longer estimated durations of medication use, only in the context of antipsychotic polypharmacy (not with monotherapy). However, there was no statistical significance for diagnostic purposes (Table 1) (22).

### Pyridoxal

As mentioned, our first cross-sectional study also showed a potential role for low levels of pyridoxal, a form of vitamin B6 (15). In the first replication study (**Figure 1C**) (15) with a pooled cohort of 274 patients (22), the results were consistent, showing a significant decrease in pyridoxal levels among patients with schizophrenia. Although no study had shown a correlation with other clinical features of the disease (14–17, 22) in our longitudinal study, we managed to show that the low pyridoxal levels during acute schizophrenia increased according to the clinical course of the illness but were not directly correlated with symptom improvement. Moreover, 18 patients whose pyridoxal levels decreased during their illnesses had less symptom improvement (**Figure 1D**) (15). Thus, we concluded that decreasing pyridoxal levels during the clinical course of schizophrenia could be a biomarker for non-responders to antipsychotic therapy.

# Glyceraldehyde-Derived AGEs (Glycer-AGEs)

Recently, strong *in vivo* neurotoxicity has been shown with Glycer-AGEs (23) that are central to the pathophysiology of



**FIGURE 1** | The assumed carbonyl stress and cytokine pathophysiology focused on TNF mechanism and their changes during the clinical course of patients with schizophrenia. (A) Carbonyl stress pathway. (B) Pentosidine between schizophrenia at admission and controls. Fourteen patients with high pentosidine levels (>2 SDs greater than the mean in controls) are indicated by an asterisk. Values were compared with the two-tailed Mann–Whitney *U* test. Error bars indicate mean and SDs (15). (C) Pyridoxal levels between schizophrenia at admission and controls. (D) Correlation between the changes ( $\Delta$ ) in pyridoxal levels and in total scores (left) and positive symptom scores (right) on the brief psychiatric rating scale among the paired patients who showed a decrease in pyridoxal levels (18 cases) according to the clinical course (15). (E) Glycer-AGE, (F) sRAGE, and (G) the Glycer-AGEs/SRAGE ratio are compared between patients with schizophrenia and controls (18). (H) Microinflammation patway. (I) Soluble TNF receptor 1, (K) adiponectin, and (L) PEDF levels between schizophrenia (19). Abbreviations: RCOs, reactive carbonyl compounds; GLO1 and GLO2, glyoxalase enzymes, glyoxalase 1 and 2; Glycer-AGE, glyceraldehyde-derived AGE; sRAGE, soluble AGE receptors; TNF, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; TNFR1, tumor necrosis factor receptor 1; TNFR2, tumor necrosis factor receptor 2; PEDF, pigment epithelium-derived factor; TACE, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; TNFR1, tumor necrosis factor receptor 1; STNFR2, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1; STNFR2, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 2. Reprinted with some modifications from Ref. (15), Copyright (2014), with permission from Oxford University Press (license number; 4241901371993), and (21), Copyright (2017), with permission from Elsevier (license number; 4241901371993), and (21), Copyright (2017), with permission from Elsevier (license number; 4241901371993), and (21), Copyright (2017), with permission from Elsevier (license number; 4241910166222).

neurodegenerative diseases (18, 24). In a longitudinal crosssectional study of peripheral serum Glycer-AGE levels, we included 61 patients with acute schizophrenia and 39 controls, with follow up data for 54 patients to remission (20). Peripheral Glycer-AGE levels were significantly higher than those of controls (**Figure 1E**), but did not change with the clinical disease course and were not correlated with clinical features, indicating that they may not be useful as therapeutic or state markers in patients with schizophrenia (20); however, they could serve as diagnostic markers. Indeed, unlike pentosidine, their levels were not correlated with daily chlorpromazine doses, indicating the lack of an iatrogenic effect (15).

## Soluble Receptors for AGE Receptors

AGEs interact with AGE receptors (RAGEs) to increase oxidative and carbonyl stress (25). Circulating receptors are also bound, such as endogenous secretory RAGE (esRAGE) and soluble receptors for RAGE (sRAGE), with the latter most likely to be indicative of carbonyl stress because they exist at levels five times greater than those of esRAGE (25). Peripheral serum soluble AGE receptors (sRAGE) levels were investigated in the earlier study of Glycer-AGEs (20), where levels in patients with acute schizophrenia were found to be significantly lower than those in healthy controls (**Figure 1F**). Accordingly, significant negative correlations were identified between serum Glycer-AGE and sRAGE **TABLE 1** | Multiple linear regression analysis of possible explanatory variables for the serum pentosidine levels.

	Tota	l	Poly	
	(N = 274)		(N = 68)	
Independent variables:	b(SE)	β	b(SE)	β
Duration of education	_	_	_	_
Total BPRS score	-	-	-	_
Estimated duration of medication	0.318 (0.139)	0.197*	0.900 (0.443)	0.365*
Daily dose of antipsychotics	0.012 (0.003)	0.390***	0.014 (0.007)	0.368*
Daily dose of antiparkinsonian drugs	_	-	_	-
Daily dose of anxiolytics	-	-	-	-
Constant	32.0		16.2	
$R^2$	0.195***		0.407***	

Multiple linear regression analysis includes six possible explanatory variables for all 274 patients and for the polypharmacy treatment group. Statistical values of independent factors excluded from the first step of the equation are not shown. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 (22).

BPRS, brief psychiatric rating scale; Poly, polypharmacy treatment group (treated with both types of antipsychotics; at least one of each); SE; standard error. Reprinted from Ref. (20), Copyright (2017), with permission from Elsevier (license number; 4241900807314).

levels, with Glycer-AGEs/sRAGE ratios being sensitive markers of carbonyl stress. Indeed, the ratio differed significantly, with an approximately twofold higher ratio in patients with schizophrenia than in healthy controls (**Figure 1G**). Neither sRAGE levels nor Glycer-AGEs/sRAGE ratios showed any correlation with clinical symptoms or change with the clinical course, meaning that they could not be used as state makers of schizophrenia.

Interestingly, discriminant analyses confirmed that Glycer-AGEs and Glycer-AGEs/sRAGE ratios were significant diagnostic markers for schizophrenia, effectively distinguishing between patients and controls in 70% of cases. Thus, Glycer-AGEs and their ratio to sRAGE could be used as diagnostic markers of schizophrenia.

## MICROINFLAMMATION

The oxidative (11, 26) and carbonyl stresses (15, 20, 22) involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia have been considered to induce a proinflammatory state that could lead to microinflammation (Figure 1H). In microinflammation pathway, when the brain is exposed to psychological stress or aging, the microglia develop to an activated state. The activated microglia release various inflammatory cytokines, nitric oxide, free radicals, neurotrophic factor, and neuroprotective factor. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α) binds to TNFR1 and TNFR2 and the TNFRs induce TNF-α production. These "autocrine loops" chronically continue to act on the TNF system. TNF- $\alpha$ , TNFR1, and TNFR2 are cleaved by TNF- $\alpha$  converting enzyme, and subsequently exist as soluble tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , soluble TNF receptor 1 (sTNFR1), and sTNF2 in circulation. These systems ultimately induce neuroinflammation. Several investigations of inflammatory markers in the peripheral blood have assessed the chronic inflammatory statuses of patients with schizophrenia (27-30). In a recent review and meta-analysis, interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  were identified as putative state markers, whereas IL-12, interferon- $\gamma$ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , and soluble IL-2 receptors were identified as putative trait markers based on evidence from longitudinal observations of patients with acute schizophrenia (31). However, whether changes in these biomarker levels reflect the current pathological disease state has not been established when controlled for age, sex, and body mass index (BMI). It is, therefore, unclear if these can be useful as biological markers for acute schizophrenia in clinical practice. In our recent longitudinal cross-sectional study of microinflammatory biomarkers, we investigated whether serum levels of sTNFR1, adiponectin, and pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) could be used as diagnostic and/or prognostic biomarkers for acute schizophrenia.

## **Soluble TNF Receptor 1**

Serum TNF- $\alpha$  has been shown to have proinflammatory effects. These effects occur when it binds to TNF receptors 1 or 2 (32), which enter the circulation as soluble TNFRs (sTNFRs) (33). Given that the most stable and reliable marker of TNF- $\alpha$  activity is considered to be sTNFR1 (34, 35), biomarker studies were done to investigate the average levels (means) of neuroinflammation in patients with schizophrenia (19, 34–36), concluding that sTNFR1 could reflect treatment resistance or severe clinical disease trajectories (19, 35).

In cross-sectional research, we reported significant differences in peripheral sTNFR1 levels between patients with acute schizophrenia and controls, regardless of whether we adjusted for physical confounders that could affect microinflammation (e.g., BMI and age) (21). Peripheral sTNFR1 levels were significantly higher in the patients with acute schizophrenia than in healthy controls (Figure 1I), but high sTNFR1 alone showed moderate discriminating efficacy between the two groups (>60% accuracy). The marker also effectively discriminated healthy controls from patients with clinical deterioration (>90% accuracy) and from patients with clinical improvement (>80% accuracy) during inpatient care. Thus, higher serum sTNFR1 levels could predict so-called treatment-resistant schizophrenia, as supported by the results of previous studies (19, 35). Although the peripheral sTNFR1 levels did not reflect clinical severity in acute schizophrenia, levels were correlated with the duration of illness and age, consistent with previous research showing an association between inflammatory biomarkers and age in patients with psychiatric disease (27). However, healthy controls showed no such association between age and peripheral sTNFR1 levels, and patients who were not taking medication had significantly shorter illness durations and lower sTNFR1 levels compared with medicated patients (21). Thus, we concluded that sTNFR1 levels may only increase as the disease progresses and stressors accumulate (Figure 1J) (21).

In longitudinal research, we found that intensive antipsychotic therapy between admission and discharge produced significant decreases in elevated peripheral sTNFR1 levels (21). Unfortunately, sTNFR1 did not reflect symptomatic improvement, with changes in levels failing to correlate with changes in positive, negative, or total scores on the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale, scores on the Global Assessment of Functioning scale, or with daily antipsychotic doses. We, therefore, concluded that overall relief of psychological stress factors was reflected by changes in peripheral sTNFR1 levels, with abating symptoms being only one such factor. Importantly, hospitalization did not appear to be a cause of stress (**Figure 1J**).

## Adiponectin

Adiponectin has been shown to regulate insulin sensitivity and tissue inflammation (37), but in our studies, we found no significant differences in adiponectin levels, irrespective of whether it was matched for potential confounders (**Figure 1K**). However, there was a significant correlation between BMI and serum adiponectin levels independent of the disease (21). Several studies have indicated that peripheral adiponectin levels are elevated in patients with chronic schizophrenia, concluding that adiponectin could be a marker for the metabolic syndrome for schizophrenia, especially that triggered by atypical antipsychotics, rather than reflecting the disease (38–42).

## **Pigment Epithelium-Derived Factor**

Pigment epithelium-derived factor inhibits the AGE-RAGE pathway in the activation of proinflammatory genes, with higher peripheral AGE/sRAGE ratios reported in patients with schizophrenia (20). By suppressing proinflammatory pathways, such as those involved in carbonyl stress, PEDF may be able to inhibit inflammation (43), and may function as an antiinflammatory in acute schizophrenia. In the above-mentioned study of sTNFR1 (21), peripheral PEDF levels were not significantly different between patients with acute schizophrenia and controls, regardless of matching for confounders (e.g., BMI and age; Figure 1L). Interestingly, peripheral PEDF levels in the 42 patients not receiving medication were significantly lower compared with controls, but without producing higher sTNFR1 levels (21). It is possible that the lower PEDF levels in untreated patients with shorter disease durations reflect a preparatory state for an inflammatory pathophysiology, from which prolonged and severe disease-related stress causes chronic inflammation reflected by increased peripheral sTNFR1 in patients receiving antipsychotics (Figure 1M). In addition, the fact that PEDF did not alter over time and did not correlate with other clinical variables may indicate that lower levels only affect disease onset (Figure 1M) (21). Taken together mentioned-above cross-sectional and longitudinal changes in sTNFR1 and PEDF levels in schizophrenia, we hypothesized that; while all patients with schizophrenia were initially treated with medication on admission, it was noted that patients not taking medications, including drug-naïve patients and those with relapse, had low PEDF levels (Figure 1M), but similar sTNFR1 levels (Figure 1J) when compared with healthy controls. This indicated a low anti-inflammatory state among these patients. However, during the acute exacerbation, greater stress levels (Figure 1J; arrows) were associated with higher sTNFR1 levels compared to healthy controls. Subsequently, while sTNFR1 and psychological stress levels decreased by the time of remission, PEDF levels did not change despite intensive antipsychotic therapy (Figure 1M).

## Involvement of Carbonyl Stress and Microinflammation in Schizophrenia: Model of Mild Localized Encephalitis With Microvascular Damage

Several epidemiological studies have suggested the involvement of prenatal (in utero) infection-related inflammation in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (44, 45). In particular, a study highlighted the prenatal exposure to herpes simplex virus type 1 infection as one of the etiologies of onset (46). Clinically, patients with mild localized encephalitis, especially localized temporal lobe encephalitis caused by herpes simplex virus type 1, have been shown to exhibit schizophrenic-like symptoms, such as auditory hallucinations and cognitive impairments (47-49). Environmental factors, such as physical stress (including these infections), hypoxia, and oxidative as well as carbonyl stress are known to evoke microinflammation that can damage the neurons and microvascular systems, with the latter damage easily (50-52). Reportedly, these findings could corroborate the already hypothesized "vascular-inflammatory theory" in the central nervous system of patients with schizophrenia (53). Despite the relatively mild degree of inflammation caused by each environmental factor, the cumulative microinflammation due to the repeated exposure to various postnatal stresses could evoke the exacerbation and/or treatment resistance in patients with schizophrenia (Figure 1J). Overall, while the damage to temporal lobe microvascular system might be only partly involved in the pathophysiology of onset of schizophrenia, the prevention of exposure to these microinflammations could be essential in patients with schizophrenia.

## Microinflammations as Specific Pathophysiology in Schizophrenia

Reportedly, environmental stress factors and evoked microinflammations could be involved in several psychiatric disorders, such as depression (54) and bipolar disorders, and some of these disorders exhibit characteristics similar to those exhibited in schizophrenia with altered cytokines (36). For instance, not only apparent neurodegenerative diseases, but also other psychiatric disorders could involve altered cytokine systems as their pathophysiology. In fact, patients with post-traumatic stress disorder, typically caused only due to intense psychological stress, also exhibited an elevation in peripheral TNF- $\alpha$  levels, which were reproducibly reported in other psychiatric diseases as well, including schizophrenia (36, 55). Thus, further studies are warranted to investigate the difference in the degree of alteration of cytokine levels among various neuropsychiatric disorders. Perhaps, findings of future research could be a diagnostic marker in the clinical practice if the discriminant analysis established a significant difference between several subjects and same measurement methods.

## Immune Responses Affected by Microinflammation in Schizophrenia

Although the immune responses directly affected by aforementioned stresses cannot be inferred, an interesting epidemiological study established an association of atopic disorders (in general) and asthma (in particular), namely type 1 hypersensitivity, with the risk of developing schizophrenia (56). In addition, elevated type-2 cytokine levels in schizophrenia were also reported to be a part of the pathophysiology (57). While psychosocial stress alone also could lead to asthma exacerbation by accompanying with histological microvascular system inflammation and increase of serum type-2 cytokine levels in asthma model animal (58). Taken together these findings, the damaged microvascular system seems to be the crucial site of inflammation in asthma and in the schizophrenia, especially in exacerbation.

Based on our previous studies and other above-mentioned studies on psychiatric subjects, increased TNF superfamily levels, among several cytokines, could be, at least, involved in the pathophysiology of psychiatric diseases (**Figure 1H**).

## Early Prediction and Prevention of Microinflammation

Among markers of microinflammation, the most reproducible outcomes have been obtained for elevated serum sTNFR1 levels as a marker of treatment resistance in patients with schizophrenia (21, 34, 36). Apparently, early intervention for diseases associated with carbonyl stress and microinflammation, such as diabetes mellitus, is imperative to prevent irreversible complications. Consequently, earlier discovery of proinflammatory states with sensitive markers of carbonyl stress, before any disease reaches the inflammatory stage, could be clinically beneficial. Reportedly, regarding the carbonyl stress status, Glycer-AGEs exert strong neurotoxicity (23), and Glycer-AGEs as well as the Glycer-AGE:sRAGE ratio demonstrate higher sensitivities than other AGEs-related molecules in schizophrenia (20). Thus, serum Glycer-AGEs and the Glycer-AGE:sRAGE ratio could act as important proinflammatory markers of subsequent microinflammation that is potentially associated with treatment-resistant schizophrenia. In addition, some studies have revealed that early intervention for prevention of exposure to these stresses, e.g., diet and habits, as well as a higher exposure to the daily dose of antipsychotics (22, 59) would be beneficial for such patients. Recently, an interesting study reported that augmentation therapy with high-dose pyridoxamine (a form of vitamin B6 that detoxifies RCOs) could improve, in part, patients with high AGEs levels and be a novel strategy for treatment-resistant schizophrenia (60). Furthermore, a study reporting that for patients in a state of micronflammation, add-on-therapy with Cox-II-blockers (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs) or valacyclovir (an antiviral drug), which improved acute schizophrenia, could be used as a treatment strategy based on the above-mentioned mild localized encephalitis model (61).

## REFERENCES

- Davis KL, Kahn RS, Ko G, Davidson M. Dopamine in schizophrenia: a review and reconceptualization. *Am J Psychiatry* (1991) 148:1474–86. doi:10.1176/ ajp.148.11.1474
- 2. Tortorella A, Monteleone P, Fabrazzo M, Viggiano A, De Luca L, Maj M. Plasma concentrations of amino acids in chronic schizophrenics treated

## CONCLUSION

In this review, we primarily offered a summary and analysis of our previous research into markers of proinflammatory carbonyl stress and microinflammation, and now highlight six key conclusions. First, in patients receiving antipsychotic polypharmacy, high peripheral pentosidine levels may be associated with high daily doses and longer antipsychotic use. Second, decreasing pyridoxal levels during treatment could potentially identify nonresponders to antipsychotic therapy. Third, although apparently unsuitable for use as markers of proinflammatory states, higher Glycer-AGE levels and higher Glycer-AGEs/sRAGE ratios could be diagnostic of schizophrenia. Fourth, as previously reported (19, 35), elevated sTNFR1 levels are accurate at discriminating patients who deteriorate during inpatient care from both healthy controls and patients who improve. Thus, higher peripheral sTNFR1 levels may not only be a useful adjunctive diagnostic biomarker for acute schizophrenia, but may also be a valuable prognostic biomarker for treatment response. Fifth, low PEDF levels in untreated patients with short disease durations might reflect a preparatory state for inflammation. Finally, raised adiponectin levels could be useful as a marker of the metabolic syndrome in patients receiving antipsychotics for schizophrenia. Our cross-sectional and longitudinal studies as well as various previous inflammation marker studies that could be interpreted from several perspectives, such as mild localized encephalitis and microvascular disturbance, highlighted the importance of early intervention as prevention and distinguished the possible exclusion of inflammations in schizophrenia.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TO contributed to the interpretation of the data and writing of the paper. SN, MT, TS, and NK contributed to the clinical evaluation of patients and the conception of the study. HA contributed to the conception and design of the study. All authors contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Enago (www.enago.jp) for their English language review. The technical assistance of Mrs. K. Yamamoto and Ms. W. Mao for measurement of carbonyl stress markers is also gratefully acknowledged.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Juntendo Institute of Mental Health from 2016 to 2017 (201607).

with clozapine. Neuropsychobiology (2001) 44:167-71. doi:10.1159/000054937

 Maeshima H, Ohnuma T, Sakai Y, Shibata N, Baba H, Ihara H, et al. Increased plasma glutamate by antipsychotic medication and its relationship to glutaminase 1 and 2 genotypes in schizophrenia – Juntendo University Schizophrenia Projects (JUSP). *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 31:1410–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.06.009

- Palomino A, Gonzalez-Pinto A, Aldama A, Gonzalez-Gomez C, Mosquera F, Gonzalez-Garcia G, et al. Decreased levels of plasma glutamate in patients with first-episode schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Schizophr Res* (2007) 95:174–8. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.06.012
- Ohnuma T, Shibata N, Maeshima H, Baba H, Hatano T, Hanzawa R, et al. Association analysis of glycine- and serine-related genes in a Japanese population of patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 33:511–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2009.02.004
- Zhang XY, Liang J, Chen DC, Xiu MH, De Yang F, Kosten TA, et al. Low BDNF is associated with cognitive impairment in chronic patients with schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2012) 222(2):277–84. doi:10.1007/ s00213-012-2643-y
- Zugman A, Pedrini M, Gadelha A, Kempton MJ, Noto CS, Mansur RB, et al. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor and cortical thickness are differently related in patients with schizophrenia and controls. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 234:84–9. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.08.009
- Weickert CS, Weickert TW, Pillai A, Buckley PF. Biomarkers in schizophrenia: a brief conceptual consideration. *Dis Markers* (2013) 35:3–9. doi:10.1155/2013/510402
- Green MJ, Matheson SL, Shepherd A, Weickert CS, Carr VJ. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in schizophrenia: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2011) 16:960–72. doi:10.1038/mp.2010.88
- Ohnuma T, Arai H. Significance of NMDA receptor-related glutamatergic amino acid levels in peripheral blood of patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:29–39. doi:10.1016/j. pnpbp.2010.08.027
- Marchbanks RM, Ryan M, Day IN, Owen M, McGuffin P, Whatley SA. A mitochondrial DNA sequence variant associated with schizophrenia and oxidative stress. *Schizophr Res* (2003) 65:33–8. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(03)00011-2
- Prabakaran S, Swatton JE, Ryan MM, Huffaker SJ, Huang JT, Griffin JL, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in schizophrenia: evidence for compromised brain metabolism and oxidative stress. *Mol Psychiatry* (2004) 9(7):684–97. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4001532
- Yao JK, Reddy RD, van Kammen DP. Oxidative damage and schizophrenia: an overview of the evidence and its therapeutic implications. CNS Drugs (2001) 15:287–310. doi:10.2165/00023210-200115040-00004
- Arai M, Yuzawa H, Nohara I, Ohnishi T, Obata N, Iwayama Y, et al. Enhanced carbonyl stress in a subpopulation of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2010) 67:589–97. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.62
- 15. Katsuta N, Ohnuma T, Maeshima H, Takebayashi Y, Higa M, Takeda M, et al. Significance of measurements of peripheral carbonyl stress markers in a cross-sectional and longitudinal study in patients with acute-stage schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40:1366–73. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt234
- Miyashita M, Arai M, Kobori A, Ichikawa T, Toriumi K, Niizato K, et al. Clinical features of schizophrenia with enhanced carbonyl stress. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40:1040–6. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt129
- Miyashita M, Arai M, Yuzawa H, Niizato K, Oshima K, Kushima I. Replication of enhanced carbonyl stress in a subpopulation of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2014) 68:83–4. doi:10.1111/pcn.12081
- Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S. Involvement of toxic AGEs (TAGE) in the pathogenesis of diabetic vascular complications and Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis (2009) 16:845–58. doi:10.3233/JAD-2009-0974
- Noto C, Maes M, Ota VK, Teixeira AL, Bressan RA, Gadelha A, et al. High predictive value of immune-inflammatory biomarkers for schizophrenia diagnosis and association with treatment resistance. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 27:1–8. doi:10.3109/15622975.2015.1062552
- Takeda M, Ohnuma T, Takeuchi M, Katsuta N, Maeshima H, Takebayashi Y, et al. Altered serum glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end product (AGE) and soluble AGE receptor levels indicate carbonyl stress in patients with schizophrenia. *Neurosci Lett* (2015) 593:51–5. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2015.03.002
- Nishimon S, Ohnuma T, Takebayashi Y, Katsuta N, Takeda M, Nakamura T, et al. High serum soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 predicts poor treatment response in acute-stage schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 76:145–54. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.03.006
- 22. Sannohe T, Ohnuma T, Takeuchi M, Tani E, Miki Y, Takeda M, et al. High doses of antipsychotic polypharmacy are related to an increase in serum levels of pentosidine in patients with schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 76:42–8. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.02.019

- Takeuchi M, Bucala R, Suzuki T, Ohkubo T, Yamazaki M, Koike T, et al. Neurotoxicity of advanced glycation end-products for cultured cortical neurons. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol (2000) 59:1094–105. doi:10.1093/ jnen/59.12.1094
- Yamagishi S, Nakamura K, Inoue H, Kikuchi S, Takeuchi M. Serum or cerebrospinal fluid levels of glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end products (AGEs) may be a promising biomarker for early detection of Alzheimer's disease. *Med Hypotheses* (2005) 64:1205–7. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2005. 01.016
- Prasad K. Low levels of serum soluble receptors for advanced glycation end products, biomarkers for disease state: myth or reality. *Int J Angiol* (2014) 23:11–6. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1363423
- Flatow J, Buckley P, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of oxidative stress in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74:400–9. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.018
- Haack M, Hinze-Selch D, Fenzel T, Kraus T, Kuhn M, Schuld A, et al. Plasma levels of cytokines and soluble cytokine receptors in psychiatric patients upon hospital admission: effects of confounding factors and diagnosis. *J Psychiatr Res* (1999) 33:407–18. doi:10.1016/S0022-3956(99)00021-7
- Muller N, Ackenheil M. Psychoneuroimmunology and the cytokine action in the CNS: implications for psychiatric disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (1998) 22:1–33. doi:10.1016/S0278-5846(97)00179-6
- Pae CU. Potential role of lymphotoxin-alpha (tumor necrosis factor-beta) in the development of schizophrenia. *Med Hypotheses* (2007) 68:1359–62. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2006.10.023
- Wassink TH, Crowe RR, Andreasen NC. Tumor necrosis factor receptor-II: heritability and effect on brain morphology in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2000) 5:678–82. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000807
- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70:663–71. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.04.013
- Idriss HT, Naismith JH. TNF alpha and the TNF receptor superfamily: structure-function relationship(s). *Microsc Res Tech* (2000) 50:184–95. doi:10.1002/1097-0029(20000801)50:3<184::AID-JEMT2>3.0.CO;2-H
- Levine SJ, Adamik B, Hawari FI, Islam A, Yu ZX, Liao DW, et al. Proteasome inhibition induces TNFR1 shedding from human airway epithelial (NCI-H292) cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2005) 289:L233–43. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00469.2004
- Coelho FM, Reis HJ, Nicolato R, Romano-Silva MA, Teixeira MM, Bauer ME, et al. Increased serum levels of inflammatory markers in chronic institutionalized patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2008) 15:140–4. doi:10.1159/000148197
- Noto C, Gadelha A, Belangero SI, Spindola LM, Rocha NP, de Miranda AS, et al. Circulating levels of sTNFR1 as a marker of severe clinical course in schizophrenia. *J Psychiatr Res* (2013) 47:467–71. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires. 2012.12.010
- Hope S, Melle I, Aukrust P, Steen NE, Birkenaes AB, Lorentzen S, et al. Similar immune profile in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: selective increase in soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor I and von Willebrand factor. *Bipolar Disord* (2009) 11:726–34. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5618.2009.00757.x
- Whitehead JP, Richards AA, Hickman IJ, Macdonald GA, Prins JB. Adiponectin – a key adipokine in the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2006) 8:264–80. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2005.00510.x
- Adachi H, Yanai H, Hirowatari Y. The underlying mechanisms for olanzapine-induced hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Med Res (2012) 4:206–8. doi:10.4021/jocmr802w
- Bai YM, Chen JY, Yang WS, Chi YC, Liou YJ, Lin CC, et al. Adiponectin as a potential biomarker for the metabolic syndrome in Chinese patients taking clozapine for schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2007) 68:1834–9. doi:10.4088/ JCP.v68n1202
- Balotsev R, Haring L, Koido K, Leping V, Kriisa K, Zilmer M, et al. Antipsychotic treatment is associated with inflammatory and metabolic biomarkers alterations among first-episode psychosis patients: a 7-month follow-up study. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2017). doi:10.1111/eip.12457
- Bartoli F, Crocamo C, Clerici M, Carra G. Second-generation antipsychotics and adiponectin levels in schizophrenia: a comparative meta-analysis. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25:1767–74. doi:10.1016/j. euroneuro.2015.06.011
- 42. Bartoli F, Lax A, Crocamo C, Clerici M, Carra G. Plasma adiponectin levels in schizophrenia and role of second-generation antipsychotics: a

meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2015) 56:179-89. doi:10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.03.012

- 43. Famulla S, Lamers D, Hartwig S, Passlack W, Horrighs A, Cramer A, et al. Pigment epithelium-derived factor (PEDF) is one of the most abundant proteins secreted by human adipocytes and induces insulin resistance and inflammatory signaling in muscle and fat cells. *Int J Obes (Lond)* (2011) 35:762–72. doi:10.1038/ijo.2010.212
- Kirch DG. Infection and autoimmunity as etiologic factors in schizophrenia: a review and reappraisal. *Schizophr Bull* (1993) 19:355–70. doi:10.1093/ schbul/19.2.355
- Meyer U. Developmental neuroinflammation and schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2013) 42:20–34. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2011.11.003
- Brown AS. Further evidence of infectious insults in the pathogenesis and pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:764–6. doi:10.1176/ appi.ajp.2011.11050722
- Prasad KM, Watson AM, Dickerson FB, Yolken RH, Nimgaonkar VL. Exposure to herpes simplex virus type 1 and cognitive impairments in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2012) 38:1137–48. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbs046
- Prasad KM, Eack SM, Goradia D, Pancholi KM, Keshavan MS, Yolken RH, et al. Progressive gray matter loss and changes in cognitive functioning associated with exposure to herpes simplex virus 1 in schizophrenia: a longitudinal study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168:822–30. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10101423
- Howard JS III. Herpes encephalitis, schizophrenia and the crossroads of psychiatry. *Integr Physiol Behav Sci* (1996) 31:219–23. doi:10.1007/BF02691452
- Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S. Possible involvement of advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Pharm Des* (2008) 14:973–8. doi:10.2174/138161208784139693
- Yamagishi S, Matsui T, Nakamura K. Blockade of the advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and their receptor (RAGE) system is a possible mechanism for sustained beneficial effects of multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. *Med Hypotheses* (2008) 71:749–51. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2008.05.039
- 52. Yamagishi S, Matsui T, Nakamura K, Inoue H, Takeuchi M, Ueda S, et al. Olmesartan blocks inflammatory reactions in endothelial cells evoked by advanced glycation end products by suppressing generation of reactive oxygen species. *Ophthalmic Res* (2008) 40:10–5. doi:10.1159/000111152
- Hanson DR, Gottesman II. Theories of schizophrenia: a genetic-inflammatory-vascular synthesis. BMC Med Genet (2005) 6:7. doi:10.1186/1471-2350-6-7

- Muller N, Myint AM, Schwarz MJ. Inflammatory biomarkers and depression. Neurotox Res (2011) 19:308–18. doi:10.1007/s12640-010-9210-2
- Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:1696–709. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Pedersen MS, Benros ME, Agerbo E, Borglum AD, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia in patients with atopic disorders with particular emphasis on asthma: a Danish population-based study. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 138:58–62. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.019
- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Djukic Dejanovic S, Stefanovic V, Arsenijevic N, et al. Antipsychotics can modulate the cytokine profile in schizophrenia: attenuation of the type-2 inflammatory response. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 147:103–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.03.027
- Li B, Duan XH, Wu JF, Liu BJ, Luo QL, Jin HL, et al. Impact of psychosocial stress on airway inflammation and its mechanism in a murine model of allergic asthma. *Chin Med J* (2013) 126:325–34.
- Hagen JM, Sutterland AL, Koeter MW, Lutter R, Cohen D, de Haan L. Advanced glycation end products in recent-onset psychosis indicate early onset of cardiovascular risk. J Clin Psychiatry (2017) 78:1395–401. doi:10.4088/ JCP.16m10972
- Itokawa M, Miyashita M, Arai M, Dan T, Takahashi K, Tokunaga T, et al. Pyridoxamine: a novel treatment for schizophrenia with enhanced carbonyl stress. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2018) 72:35–44. doi:10.1111/pcn.12613
- Bechter K. [The mild encephalitis-hypothesis new findings and studies]. Psychiatr Prax (2004) 31(Suppl 1):S41–3. doi:10.1055/s-2004-828428

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** None of the authors have any conflicts of interest pertaining to this paper to disclose.

Copyright © 2018 Ohnuma, Nishimon, Takeda, Sannohe, Katsuta and Arai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## C-Reactive Protein as a Peripheral Biomarker in Schizophrenia. An Updated Systematic Review

Guillaume Fond\*, Christophe Lançon, Pascal Auquier and Laurent Boyer

EA 3279, CEReSS-Health Service Research and Quality of Life Center, School of Medicine-La Timone Medical, Aix-Marseille Université, AP-HM Assistance Publique des Hôpitaux de Marseille, Marseille, France

**Objectives:** The objective of this systematic review was to synthetize the published data on the relationships between elevated blood C-reactive protein (CRP) levels and schizophrenia (SZ) onset risk, illness characteristics and treatments, cognition and physical health.

**Method:** The systematic bibliographic searches have been carried out according to the Cochrane methodology. Medline, web of science, Google Scholar with each database being searched from inception to November 2017.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Dorota Frydecka, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Elena Martín-García, Universidad Pompeu Fabra, Spain Carolina Haass-Koffler, Brown University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Guillaume Fond guillaume.fond@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 January 2018 Accepted: 06 August 2018 Published: 23 August 2018

#### Citation:

Fond G, Lançon C, Auquier P and Boyer L (2018) C-Reactive Protein as a Peripheral Biomarker in Schizophrenia. An Updated Systematic Review. Front. Psychiatry 9:392. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00392 **Results:** 53 studies were included in the present review. While meta-analyses including case-control studies suggest a clear association between CRP and SZ, one other study has suggested that CRP-associated genes were associated with a lower risk of SZ onset. Increased CRP has been significantly associated with positive symptoms in acute phase psychosis, while studies including community-dwelling stabilized subjects did not find such an association. Abnormal CRP has been associated with a wide range of cognitive impairment in SZ stabilized individuals. Body Mass index has been extensively associated with increased CRP in SZ subjects; and increased CRP has been identified as a risk factor for metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk in SZ subjects. Increased CRP has also been associated with high nicotine dependence in SZ smokers and one study has suggested that increased CRP was associated with sedentary behavior.

**Conclusion:** In the light of the above-mentioned studies, increased hs-CRP may be reasonably suggested as a marker for SZ onset risk, as well as a risk factor for increased positive symptoms, cognitive impairment, hypovitaminosis D, microbiota disturbances, cardiovascular and metabolic syndrome risk in SZ subjects, and increased nicotine dependence in SZ smokers. In case of increased CRP levels, anti-inflammatory strategies (add-on anti-inflammatory drugs including aspirin and omega 3 fatty acids, vitamin D supplementation, physical activity, probiotics) should be also further evaluated.

**Limits:** Most of the studies were cross-sectional and cohort studies are needed to determine the temporal relationship between increased CRP and the psychiatric outcomes.

Keywords: C-reactive protein (CRP), schizophrenia, peripheral biomarker, onset risk, cognition, physical health, nicotine dependence

51

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammation is a complex physiologic response to injury or tissue destruction, and involves recruitment of immune cells. The inflammatory hypothesis of major psychiatric disorders, posits that inflammatory processes are involved in the pathogenesis of psychiatric conditions and may underpin some of their neurobiological correlates (1). SZ is the psychiatric disorder causing the most severe burden of illness for the individual, by its significant cognitive and social functioning impairments but also due to its medical comorbidities (2). A bundle of studies have suggested a link between inflammation and at least a subgroup of SZ subjects (1, 3-5).

C-reactive protein (CRP) is the most commonly used biomarker of systemic inflammation worldwide. CRP is a standard laboratory exam and can be measured in the peripheral blood and analyzed in any clinical laboratory around the globe. CRP is therefore a very attractive potential clinical biomarker in psychiatric disorders (6). CRP is an acute phase protein that is produced by hepatocytes. The high-sensitivity CRP (hs-CRP) assay has a lower limit of detection of 0.1 mg/L. The measurement of CRP is useful in the diagnosis and monitoring of many acute and chronic inflammatory conditions, including obesity and the metabolic syndrome, which can cause elevations of hs-CRP in the range of 3–10 mg/L (7). Increased CRP has been recently associated with cognitive impairment in SZ, which suggests that anti-inflammatory strategies may improve the debilitating course of this illness (8).

The objective of the present systematic review was to determine if dosing CRP blood levels was relevant to synthetize cross-sectional studies and to determine (i) SZ onset risk in general population (ii) clinical characteristics and treatments (iii) cognitive deficits and (iv) physical health in SZ in- and outpatients.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

This meta-analysis is based on the PRISMA criteria (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analysis). The systematic bibliographic searches have been carried out according to the Cochrane methodology. These were performed to find relevant English and non-English language trials from the following databases: Medline, web of science, Google Scholar with each database being searched from inception to November 2017. Medline is considered as the database of highest quality level, and google scholar as the database with the largest referencing of studies. Most of the international congress posters and abstracts are referenced in web of science. Altogether, these three searches enable a comprehensive exploration and limit the risk of publication bias. The associated articles were also explored, to limit the risk of bias associated with the search terms. The primary search strategy was "C-reactive protein" or "CRP" and "schizophrenia" or "ultra high risk psychosis." Two reviewers (GF and LB) decided on eligibility and extracted data from included studies. The design of the studies, data extraction and data synthesis are described in Table 1. Only studies including at least a subgroup of SZ patients or at risk for SZ onset were included in the present review. As this meta-analysis mainly involved data from published studies, an institutional review board approval was not required.

## RESULTS

The study selection process is presented in **Figure 1**. Overall, 53 studies were included in the final qualitative analysis. The major findings and design characteristics of the included studies are presented in **Table 1**.

## Schizophrenia Onset Risk

A recent meta-analysis including 18 studies (1,989 SZ vs. 3,689 healthy controls) has concluded that higher CRP levels were associated with increased risk of SZ, especially for young adult patients <30 years and independently of body mass index (9). Another recent meta-analysis has concluded that the association between elevated CRP and SZ was robust (1). These meta-analyses underlined that the difference between CRP levels of SZ subjects and HC were higher in young people (aged < 30), due to an increase of CRP in the HC group in older subjects and a stable increased CRP levels in SZ throughout the illness course, independently of administered treatments (1, 9).

A prospective study including 6,362 healthy adolescents ages 15–16 years has found that elevated CRP levels were predictive of SZ onset at age 27 (10). Elevated CRP in childhood has not been identified as predictive of psychotic disorder or SZ onset in adolescence in one prospective study including 4,500 children (11). One population-based prospective study has reported that elevated plasma CRP levels were associated with late-onset SZ (12).

Inconsistently with the previous findings, a large genetic study including >25,000 SZ subjects and >30,000 controls has concluded that alleles associated with increased CRP were protective from schizophrenia with a moderate effect (13).

## **Clinical Characteristics and Treatments**

One recent meta-analysis has concluded that increased CRP levels were associated with positive but not negative symptoms in schizophrenia (1). However, many studies have reported no association between abnormal CRP levels and psychotic symptomatology (14–18). In one case control study, hsCRP levels were associated with insidious psychosis onset, duration of illness and chronic schizophrenia course with deterioration (17).

Higher CRP levels have been found in SZ females in some studies (19–21) but not all (15, 22, 23). This association has not been explored in the meta-analysis of Fernandes et al. (1).

One study has found an association between current depression and abnormal CRP in SZ subjects (24) while another has found no association with depression but with antidepressant consumption (16). One study has found that history of childhood trauma was associated with increased CRP in SZ adulthood (25).

Abnormal CRP levels have been further associated with increased nicotine dependence in two studies (15, 26), but not with daily tobacco smoking (23). Abnormal CRP levels have been associated with increased aggressive behavior in SZ inpatients in one study (27) but this has not been replicated in one other

TABLE 1 | Studies exploring relationships between C-reactive protein (CRP) blood levels and schizophrenia (SZ): designs and major findings.

Authors	Year	Design	Population	Major outcomes
SZ ONSET RISI	K (N = 13)			
Metcalf	2017	Prospective	6,362 HC 15-16 years adolescents	Using CRP as a categorical variable, those with high (>3 mg/L) compared with low (<1 mg/L) CRP levels at baseline were more likely to develop SZ; adjusted OR 4.25 (95% Cl, 1.30–13.93).
Prins	2016	Genetic cross-sectional study	>25,000 SZ >30,000 controls from populations of European ancestry	Genetically elevated CRP levels showed a significant potentially protective causal relationship with SZ risk.
Inoshita	2016	Control study and meta-analysis	418 SZ	Serum CRP levels were significantly higher in SZ patients than in the controls.
Aymaropoulos	2015	Case-control	460 SZ 241 HC	CRP levels were significantly higher in SZ subjects but smoking and BMI were not controlled.
Khandaker	2014	Prospective cohort study	4,500 children	While higher levels of the systemic inflammatory marker IL-6 in childhood are associated with an increased risk of developing depression and psychosis in young adulthood, the results were non-significant for CRP.
Wium- Andersen	2014	Prospective cohort study	78,810 HC	Baseline elevated plasma CRP was associated with a 6- to 11-fold increased risk of late- and very-late-onset schizophrenia in the general population.
Joshi	2014	Case-control	45 SZ 41 HC	The Schizophrenia subjects showed statistically significant increased hs-CRP values.
Dickerson	2013	Case-control	295 SZ 228 HC	The individuals with schizophrenia had significantly increased odds of having elevated levels of CRP relative to both the 75th and 90th percentile levels of the controls after adjustment for age, gender, race, maternal education, smoking status, and BMI.
Lin	2013	Case-control	36 SZ 36 matched HC	Ancova adjusted for age and BMI revealed a significant increase in the hsCRP levels in the schizophrenic group (1.4 mg/L, SD = 1.5 mg/L) in comparison with the control group (0.9 mg/L, SD = 1.4 mg/L; $P = 0.013$ ).
Fawzi	2011	Case-control	200 SZ antipsychotic-free 200 HC	In Egyptian men, waist circumference and SZ diagnosis were strong predictors of raised CRP levels independently of a number of potentially confounding variables. In antipsychotic-free SZ patients, CRP level was higher than in HC and is positively correlated with negative symptomatology as measured by the PANSS.
Suvisaai	2011	Case-control	45 SZ 57 ONAP 37 affective psychosis matched controls	SZ subjects had significantly higher CRP blood levels. CRP was influenced by both antipsychotic medication and nonaffective psychosis.
Zakharyan	2010	Case-control genetic	103 SZ 105 HC	None of the CRP rs1417938, rs1800947, rs1205 variants was associated with schizophrenia.
Hope	2009	Case-control	186 SZ 244 HC	There were no differences in CRP blood levels between the groups.
CLINICAL CHA	RACTERISTICS	S AND TREATMENTS ( $N =$	19)	
Aas	2017	Case-control	148 SZ and 123 BD vs. 212 HC	Patients had increased levels of hs-CRP ( $P < 0.001$ , Cohens $d = 0.4$ ). The severity of childhood abuse (up to three types of abuse: sexual abuse, physical abuse, and emotional abuse) was associated with higher hs-CRP blood levels ( $f = 5.47$ , $P = 0.001$ , Cohen's $d = 0.3$ ). Combined effects of patient status and severity of childhood abuse were found for elevated hs-CRP ( $f = 4.76$ , $P < 0.001$ , Cohen's $d = 0.4$ ). Differences among the groups disappeared when BMI was added to the model.
Hartwig	2017	Two-sample mendelian randomization	>30,000 SZ >45,000 HC	The pooled odds ratio estimate using 18 CRP genetic instruments was 0.90 (random effects 95% CI, 0.84–0.97; $P = 0.005$ ) per 2-fold increment in CRP levels.
Wang	2017	Meta-analysis	1,963 SZ 3,683 HC	Compared with non-SZs, blood CRP levels were moderately increased in SZ (SMD 0.53, 95% Cl 0.30–0.76) irrespectively of study region, sample size of included studies, patient mean age, age of SZ onset and patient body mass index. Patients in Asia or Africa ( $n = 6$ , SMD 0.73, 95% Cl 0.26–1.21) and whose age <30 years ( $n = 5$ , SMD 0.76, 95% Cl 0.07–1.58) had substantially higher CRP levels.
Christiano	2017	Cross-sectional	35 SZ	CRP levels were higher in cases with greater disease severity.
Frydecka	2015	Case-control	151 SZ 154 HC	hsCRP were higher in SZ subjects compared to HC. hsCRP levels were

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Authors	Year	Design	Population	Major outcomes
				associated with insidious psychosis onset, duration of illness and chronic schizophrenia course with deterioration.
Devaranayanan	2017	Case-control	40 SZ 40 HC	Hs-CRP levels were not associated with the disease severity.
Faugere	2017	Cross-sectional	307 SZ	In multivariate analyses, patients with abnormal CRP levels [>3 mg/L, N = 12 (40.4%)] were found to have higher depression scores than those with normal CRP levels in multivariate analyses ( $p = 0.035$ , OR = 1.067, 95% CI = 1.004–1.132). No significant association between CRP levels and antidepressant consumption was found.
Fond	2016	Cross-sectional	219 SZ	Overall, 43 (20.1%) of the subjects received a diagnosis of comorbid current depression, and 51 (31.9%) had ongoing antidepressant treatment. Abnormal CRP levels in schizophrenia [>3 mg/L, $N = 63$ (28.8%)] were found to be associated with antidepressant consumption, but not with depression. In a multivariate model, abnormal CRP was associated with antidepressant consumption (aOR 2.8, 95%CI 1.22–6.62). Metabolic syndrome was also independently associated with abnormal CRP (aOR2.6, 95%CI 1.01–6.71).
Barzilay	2016	Cross-sectional	213 SZ	Inpatients with elevated CRP (>1 mg/L) displayed increased aggressive behavior compared to patients with normal CRP levels.
Joseph	2015	Case-control	88 SZ 71 HC	hs-CRP levels were significantly higher in individuals with SZ than in comparison subjects. Higher hs-CRP levels in the SZ group were associated with female gender, more severe negative symptoms, greater medical comorbidity, and worse metabolic risk factors including BMI, fasting glucose, and hemoglobin A1c levels. hs-CRP was not related to age, race, education, smoking status, antipsychotic dosage, or cognitive impairment.
Fernandes	2016	Meta-analysis (26 studies)	>85,000 subjects	CRP levels were moderately increased in persons with SZ regardless of the use of antipsychotics and did not change between the first episode of psychosis and with progression of SZ ( $g = 0.66$ , 95% confidence interval (95% Cl) 0.43–0.88, $P < 0.001$ , 24 between-group comparisons, $n = 82,962$ ). The extent of the increase in peripheral CRP levels paralleled the increase in severity of positive symptoms, but was unrelated to the severity of negative symptoms. CRP levels were also aligned with an increased BMI. Conversely, higher age correlated with a smaller difference in CRP levels between persons with SZ and controls. Furthermore, CRP levels did not increase after initiation of antipsychotic medication notwithstanding whether these were typical or atypical antipsychotics ( $g = 0.01, 95\%$ Cl $-0.20$ to 0.22, $P = 0.803, 8$ within within-group comparisons, $n = 713$ ).
Faugere	2015	Cross-sectional	256 SZ	After adjusting for key socio-demographic and clinical confounding factors, patients with high levels of CRP (>3 mg/L) had a lower QoL than patients with normal CRP levels (OR = $0.97$ , 95% Cl = $0.94-0.99$ ). An investigation of the dimensions of QoL revealed that psychological well-being, physical well-being and sentimental life were the most salient features of QoL associated with CRP. Significant associations were found between lower educational level (OR = $4.15$ , 95% Cl = $1.55-11.07$ ), higher BMI (OR = $1.16$ , 95% Cl = $1.06-1.28$ ), higher Fagerström score (OR = $1.22$ , 95% Cl = $1.01-1.47$ ) and high levels of CRP.
Sobis	2015	Interventional	17 SZ	After 28 days of aripiprazole treatment a significant reduction in hsCRP has been detected ( $\rho < 0.001$ ).
Micoulaud- Franchi	2015	Cross-sectional	55 SZ outpatients	Abnormal CRP [>3 mg/L, $N =$ 15 (27.3%)] was associated with higher rate of sensory gating deficit (60 vs. 12.5%, $p < 0.001$ ).
Wyzokinski	2015	Cross-sectional	485 SZ	Increased CRP level (>3 mg/L, 35.7%) was associated with age and female gender.
Meyer	2009	3 months Follow-up interventional (CATIE study)	789 SZ	There were significant treatment differences in CRP at 3 months of antipsychotic treatment, with a differential impact of baseline values. In overall comparisons, quetiapine and olanzapine had the highest median levels for CRP. In those with low baseline CRP (<1 mg/L), olanzapine was significantly different than perphenazine ( $p < 0.001$ ), risperidone ( $p < 0.001$ ), and ziprasidone ( $p = 0.002$ ) for CRP. The 18-months repeated measures CRP analysis confirmed the significantly higher values for olanzapine in those with low baseline CRP.

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Authors	Year	Design	Population	Major outcomes
Akanji	2009	Case-control	207 SZ 165 HC	SZ subjects had significantly greater serum concentrations of hsCRP. There were significant associations between hsCRP and (i) age in both groups; (ii) BMI in HC but not in SZ. In the latter, hsCRP levels were: (a) marginally higher in women with later age of disease onset; (ii) highest with remission and with catatonic features; and (iii) lower with family history of psychosis.
Carrizo	2008	Case-control	88 SZ 34 first-degree relatives	The typical AP group had the highest CRP level ( $p = 0.013$ ) in spite of having the lowest BMI. Patients as a single group had higher CRP levels than relatives ( $p = 0.003$ ).
Baptista	2007	16 weeks follow-up Interventional	60 SZ inpatients with chronic severe illness	CRP levels significantly increased after olanzapine switch as well as metabolic markers.
Fan	2007	Cross-sectional	26 SZ	Subjects with CRP >5 mg/L ( $N = 5$ ) scored significantly higher on the PANSS total score, negative symptom subscale score and general psychopathology subscale score.
COGNITION (N	= 8)			
Dorofeikova	2017	Cross-sectional	125 SZ inpatients	Thought disorders were more pronounced in patients with CRP levels >3 mg/L [ $N = 26$ (21.4%)] ( $r = 0.433$ , $p = 0.017$ ). Increased CRP was also found in more aggressive, agitated patients ( $r = 0.394$ , $p = 0.031$ ). Patients with a smaller volume of retention of short-term memory were characterized by higher CRP levels ( $r = -0.280$ , $p = 0.045$ ).
Bulzacka	2016	Cross-sectional	369 SZ outpatients	Multiple factor analysis revealed that abnormal CRP levels [>3 mg/L, $N = 104$ (28.2%)] were associated with impaired General Intellectual Ability and Abstract Reasoning (aOR = 0.56, 95%IC 0.35–0.90, $p = 0.014$ ), independently of age, sex, education level, psychotic symptomatology, treatments and addiction comorbidities. Abnormal CRP levels were also associated with the decline of all components of working memory (respectively effect size (ES) = 0.25, $p = 0.033$ , $ES = 0.27$ , $p = 0.04$ , ES = 0.33, $p = 0.006$ , and ES = 0.38, $p = 0.004$ ) and a wide range of other impaired cognitive functions, including memory (ES = 0.26, $p = 0.026$ ), learning abilities (ES = 0.28, $p = 0.035$ ), semantic memory (ES = 0.26, $p = 0.026$ ), mental flexibility (ES = 0.26, $p = 0.044$ ), visual attention (ES = 0.23, $p = 0.004$ ) and speed of processing (ES = 0.23, $p = 0.043$ ).
Johnsen	2016	interventional	124 SZ inpatients at admittance	There was an inverse relationship between overall cognitive performance and CRP level at admittance.
Dickerson	2013	Case-control	295 SZ outpatients	There was an inverse relationship between CRP levels and performance on RBANS total ( $t = -2.48$ , $\rho = 0.015$ ); RBANS immediate memory ( $t = -2.16$ , $\rho = 0.033$ ); RBANS attention ( $t = -2.18$ , $\rho = 0.032$ ); RBANS language ( $t = -2.13$ , $\rho = 0.036$ ); Trail Making A ( $t = -2.39$ , $\rho = 0.019$ ).
Garcia-rizo	2012	Cross-sectional	62 antipsychotic-naïve SZ patients	CRP levels were significantly higher in the deficit patients (3 vs.2 mg/l).
Dickerson	2012	Cross-sectional	413 SZ outpatients	The risks of decreased cognitive functioning associated with HSV-1 exposure and elevated levels of CRP were independent and additive. There was no effect of HSV-1 exposure and CRP levels on the severity of symptoms as measured by the PANSS (all $p > 0.5$ ).
Dickerson	2007	Cross-sectional	413 SZ outpatients	Elevated serum levels of C-reactive protein in schizophrenia are associated with the severity of cognitive impairment but not of psychiatric symptoms.
PHYSICAL HEA	LTH ( <i>N</i> = 13)			
Horsdal	2017	Cross-cohort	17,314	Elevated CRP levels were associated with increased all-cause mortality by adjusted HRs of 1.56 (95% CI: 1.02–2.38) for levels 3–10 mg/L and 2.07 (95% CI: 1.30–3.29) for levels above 10 mg/L compared to individuals with levels below 3 mg/L.
Fond	2017	Cross-sectional	345 SZ	CRP levels $\geq$ 3 mg/L were associated with severe nicotine dependence (29 vs. 15%, OR = 2.8, $p = 0.003$ ) and BMI (OR = 1.1, $p < 0.0001$ ), independently of socio-demographic characteristics and antidepressant intake.
Lally	2016	Cross-sectional	324 SZ outpatients	Accounting for age, gender, ethnicity and season of sampling, serum 25-OHD levels were negatively correlated with waist circumference ( $r = -0.220$ , $p < 0.002$ ), triglycerides ( $r = -0.160$ , $p = 0.024$ ), total cholesterol ( $r = -0.144$ , $p = 0.043$ ), fasting glucose ( $r = -0.191$ , $p = 0.007$ ), HbA1c ( $r = -0.183$ , $p = 0.01$ ), and serum CRP levels

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Authors	Year	Design	Population	Major outcomes
				( $r = -0.211$ , $p = 0.003$ ) and were linked to the presence of metabolic syndrome.
Stubbs	2015	Cross-sectional	250 SZ	Higher sedentary behavior ( $\beta = 0.155$ , $p = 0.01$ ), female gender ( $\beta = 0.229$ , $p = 0.001$ ), waist circumference ( $\beta = 0.205$ , $p = 0.003$ ) and non-white ethnicity ( $\beta = 0.181$ , $p = 0.005$ ) was associated with elevated CRP levels [>5 mg/L, $N = 91$ (36.4%)] after adjustment for confounding variables.
Popovic	2015	Cross-sectional	93 SZ long-term inpatients	Elevated CRP was identified as a predictor of metabolic syndrome independently of diabetes mellitus in family history, BMI > 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> , and hyperlipidemia in family history ( $p = 0.042$ ).
Mori	2015	Interventional (CATIE study)	1,450 SZ	After controlling for potential confounders, blood CRP, interleukin-6, and leptin were significant predictors of all five individual components of the metabolic syndrome (as both continuous and categorical outcome measures).
Zhu	2015	Cross-sectional	93 SZ 93 family-matched HC	Mean levels of CRP and 25(OH)D were 43.3% higher and 26.7% lower for patients compared to controls, respectively. 25(OH)D were inversely associated with CRP in the patients, but not in the controls.
Fawzi	2015	Cross-sectional	100 SZ	In a multiple regression analysis, total energy intake and BMI emerged as the main independent predictors of deterioration in most inflammatory and psychopathology parameters.
Klemettila	2014	Cross-sectional	190 resistant SZ	hs-CRP was associated with obesity after controlling for age and smoking.
Severance	2013	Cross-sectional	141 SZ 78 HC	The serological surrogate markers of bacterial translocation (soluble CD14 and lipopolysaccharide binding protein) were both significantly correlated with CRP [ $R(2) = 0.26-0.27$ , $p < 0.0001$ ] and elevated in females compared to males ( $p < 0.01$ ).
Vuksan-Cusa	2013	Cross-sectional	60 BD+ 62 SZ 59 HC	In the patient group, CRP was correlated with waist circumference and diastolic blood pressure. Elevated CRP was not a significant predictor of MetS ( $\rho > 0.05$ ).
Dieset	2012	Cross-sectional	361 SZ	After adjusting for confounders: BMI, triglycerides and glucose were associated with increased hsCRP ( $\rho = 0.041-0.001$ ). In patients treated with SGA, elevated hsCRP was significantly associated with high BMI ( $\rho = 0.012$ ), and with high glucose levels ( $\rho = 0.003$ ).
Sicras-Mainar	2013	Cross-sectional	705 SZ spectrum disorder	After adjusting for age, gender, smoking and presence of neoplasm or inflammatory diseases, CRP was linearly associated with 10-years CVD risk stratified by risk (low, moderate, high/very high): respectively, 2.3 (95% CI: 2.1–2.5), 3.1 (2.6–3.5) and 3.7 (3.2–4.1) mg/L; $F = 13.5$ , $P < 0.001$ . Patients with known CVD also showed higher CRP levels: 3.7 (2.9–4.5) vs. 2.5 (2.4–2.7) mg/L, $P = 0.008$ ; and higher probability of above-normal values; odds ratio = 4.71 (2.01–11.04), $P < 0.001$ .
Vuksan-Cusa	2010	Cross-sectional	63 SZ	The prevalence of the MetS was 37%. CRP $> 5$ mg/L was significantly associated with the presence of MetS.

BD, bipolar disorder; ONAP, other non-affective psychoses; SGA, second generation antipsychotic; MetS, metabolic syndrome; BMI, body mass index.

SZ population (23). Increased CRP levels have been associated with impaired sensory gating in one small sample of stabilized SZ individuals (18).

The mean levels of CRP have not been found to change across the progression of the illness in one recent metaanalysis (1). While this meta-analysis has suggested that the antipsychotic treatment onset or modification did not impact mean peripheral CRP levels, one recent study has found that some specific psychotropic drugs were found to be associated with increased CRP levels (especially quetiapine, cyamemazine, tricyclic antidepressants, and hypnotics) independently of weight gain and tobacco smoking status (23). These results are consistent with the increased CRP levels in SZ subjects of the phase 1 CATIE study who received 3 months of quetiapine treatment (28). However, in the last study, the results have not been adjusted for weight gain. Inconsistent results have been found for olanzapine (23, 28). In one observational study and one clinical trial, aripiprazole has been found to be associated with decreased CRP blood levels (23, 29). The exact mechanism of the association of some psychotropic drugs and increased or decreased inflammation is not fully understood to date. Clozapine has been found to be associated with increased inflammation through mitochondria alterations and insulin resistance (30). Aripiprazole has been previously associated with lower rates of metabolic syndrome (31) and metabolic syndrome is one of the major sources of inflammation in SZ subjects (2). Only one study assessed the biological effect of the administration of a single dose of aripiprazole (10 mg) on the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 blood levels with negative results in healthy volunteers (32). A recent study has shown



that aripiprazole can suppress inflammatory responses triggered by Gram positive bacteria through suppression of both AP-1 and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways (33). Ziprasidone was found to trigger a macrophage inflammatory response *in vitro* (34). Quetiapine has been associated with high rates of constipation (35) and constipation may be associated with microbiota dysbiosis (36, 37). It may therefore be hypothesized that quetiapine-induced inflammation may be induced by intestinal local inflammation that may increase the intestinal barrier permeability. A recent study has found abnormal translocation bacterial markers in peripheral blood of SZ patients (38). Altogether, these results suggest that quetiapine may be associated with pro-inflammatory disturbances in SZ patients. Microbiota and gut permeability analyses are needed in future studies to determine the mechanisms of quetiapine-induced inflammation.

Abnormal CRP levels have been associated with impaired quality of life in SZ in one study (15). No association between increased CRP and impaired functioning in schizophrenia has been reported to date.

## Cognition

Abnormal CRP has been associated with a various range of impaired cognitive functions in both in/acute and out/stabilized SZ individuals (14, 16, 39, 40). More specifically, increased CRP

levels have been associated with impaired short-term memory (39), impaired general intellectual ability and abstract reasoning, working memory, memory, learning abilities, semantic memory, mental flexibility, visual attention and speed of processing (8).

## **Physical Health**

Increased CRP levels have been associated with all-causes mortality in SZ (41) and 10-years cardio-vascular disease risk (42). A study comparing 483 SZ and BD subjects to HCs has concluded that Trauma-altered immune activation via elevated hs-CRP in patients with SZ and BD may be mediated by higher BMI (25).

Increased CRP levels have been extensively associated with increased BMI and therefore metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk (3, 13, 15, 16, 20, 24, 28, 42–50). Increased CRP has been associated with decreased vitamin D blood level (51, 52), higher sedentary behavior (53), and increased markers of intestinal bacterial translocation (38).

## DISCUSSION

The literature has yielded inconsistent results in regard of the links between elevated CRP levels and the risk of later SZ onset. The results of the Prins et al. study, suggesting that CRP-associated alleles were associated with decreased risk of SZ (13) have fueled the debate about whether the CRP elevation in SZ is a by-product of the pathogenesis of SZ or directly contributing to clinical features of the disorder. These findings may also point out potential biases in previous studies regarding the causes of elevated CRP levels in SZ patients, such as pleiotropic effects within chosen instruments and/or reverse causality (13). In addition to CRP variants, other recent studies have identified other variants associated with SZ including variants in the major histocompatibility complex region on Chromosome 6p21 (54), harboring many cytokine genes (55-57), and in the TNF promoter (58), IL10 promoter (59), IL1B (60) and C4 (61). To make a long story short, CRP has been robustly associated with the SZ risk, however it remains unclear if this association may be due to confounding factors. This association was independent of BMI, and history of childhood trauma has not been associated with SZ risk to date. However, tobacco smoking, increased gut permeability (38), infections [especially Toxoplasma (62), HSV virus (63) or HERV-W endoretrovirus (64), candida albicans (65)], sleep disturbances, dental care and periodontal diseases (66) and impaired physical activity (53) may be all confounding factors for this association. It should be underlined that increased CRP has been associated with social withdrawal in the general population, social withdrawal being one the prodromal symptoms of schizophrenia in adolescents (67, 68).

The discrepancies between studies suggesting that peripheral inflammation is associated with positive symptoms and the others may be due to the psychotic phase status of the included patients (i.e., acute psychosis vs. stabilized/community-dwelling subjects). The studies that found no association between increased CRP and symptomatology have recruited community-dwelling stabilized outpatients (16, 22, 23).

One study has found that history of childhood trauma was associated with increased CRP in SZ adulthood (25), however this result has not been replicated in other studies (16) and this association disappeared after adjustment for BMI.

Inconsistent findings have been found in regard of the association between abnormal CRP, current depression and antidepressant consumption in SZ, with one study suggesting that increased CRP levels were associated with depressive symptoms, and one other that it was associated with antidepressant consumption (16, 24). This discrepancy may be due to different antidepressant administration, as the different classes of antidepressant have been associated with various anti-inflammatory properties (69).

Daily tobacco smoking is a major issue in SZ patients, more than half being current tobacco smokers (70). Increased CRP has been associated with high nicotine (NIC) dependence in SZ subjects. This finding was not consistent with the hypothesis that NIC dependence would be associated with lower peripheral inflammation due to the in vitro anti-inflammatory effects of nicotine (71, 72). Due to the cross-sectional design of the study, a causal relationship could not be drawn. The results of this study may support the self-medication hypothesis of tobacco smoking in SZ, which is still currently debated (73-76). As such, SZ smokers with increased CRP may self-administer nicotine to limit the negative effects of peripheral inflammation. The hypothesis of a genetic shared vulnerability between chronic peripheral inflammation and NIC dependence may also be suggested and has been described in other psychiatric disorders (77). As increased CRP and NIC dependence have both been associated with cognitive impairment in SZ (8, 78), it remains also to be determined if inflammation mediates the association between NIC dependence and cognitive impairment in SZ smokers. Preclinical and clinical studies have indicated that 7 nAChR deregulation may account for some of the cognition and mood SZ symptoms, with NIC use representing a strategy to alleviate these symptoms (79). It remain unclear to date if increased CRP levels at baseline may be associated with an increase rate of tobacco use relapse in tobacco cessation programs, and if NIC substitutes administration may improve peripheral inflammation in SZ patients.

Increased CRP levels have been associated with a wide range of impaired cognitive functions. While many studies [for metaanalysis see (80)] have suggested that anti-inflammatory add-on therapy may be effective in SZ subjects, no study has explored to date if adding anti-inflammatory agents to conventional treatment may improve cognitive function in SZ subjects with cognitive deficits and inflammatory disturbances. Antiinflammatory strategies, combined with cognitive remediation therapy and benzodiazepine withdrawal when needed, may be the most effective personalized-medicine approach to improve cognition in SZ subjects (81).

The physical health studies have confirmed that increased CRP levels was a predictor of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular risk in SZ subjects (42, 46, 48–50). Increased CRP have been associated with decreased 25-OH vitamin D levels, which may suggest that supplementing vitamin D may improve inflammatory status and cardio-vascular risk in SZ subjects

with hypovitaminosis D (51, 52). As sedentarily behavior has been associated with increased CRP levels (53), physical activity may be suggested as the prior therapeutic intervention for SZ subjects with increased weight and peripheral inflammation. As translocation markers have been associated with increased CRP (38), interventions for restoring the intestinal barrier integrity (namely probiotics and diet interventions) may be useful to improve inflammation status in SZ subjects with microbiota disturbances/ increased gut permeability and peripheral lowgrade inflammation.

#### Limits

The risk of publication bias has been limited by the use of three databases, medline being considered as the database of reference with the highest quality studies, google scholar as the largest database, and web of science for exploring specific congress abstracts. Most of the included studies were cross-sectional. Because data on each participant are recorded only once it would be difficult to infer the temporal association between increased CRP and each explored outcome (82). Therefore, only an association, and not causation, can be inferred. These results may inform the hypotheses for a more complex investigation, such as a cohort study.

Some statistical approaches are commonly used to analyse CRP blood levels but they present some limits. The dichotomization of the variable using a cut-off raises the question of the (arbitrary) choice of this cut-off. No consensual cut-off values have been proposed in psychiatric studies for the analysis of CRP. A recent meta-analysis has pointed out that most of the included psychiatric studies used a cut-off  $\geq 5$  mg/L (3) while the international guidelines for predicting cardiovascular risk ("The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration"; 2010) proposed a 3 mg/L cut-off. This last cut-off was also used in most of the psychiatric studies focusing on clinical symptoms and cognition. It remains unclear if these cut-offs, determined in non-psychiatric studies, are the most suitable for psychiatric studies. Moreover, the use of a dichotomized variable is questionable as it implies a loss of information (83). Considering CRP as a quantitative variable has led some researchers to use linear regression models. However, these models rely on the assumption of a normal distribution, which is not the case for CRP. It is possible to apply a log transformation of the data, which makes them more conform to normality (84). However, log transformation does not systematically help the data to be more normal or less variable (85, 86). Furthermore, log-transformed data cannot usually facilitate inferences concerning the original data, since it shares little in common with the original data (86). In the end, in the specific case of the CRP, the presence of a large number of patients with a value of 0 (undetectable) for the CRP makes

## REFERENCES

 Fernandes BS, Steiner J, Bernstein H-G, Dodd S, Pasco JA, Dean OM, et al. C-reactive protein is increased in schizophrenia but is not altered by antipsychotics: meta-analysis and implications. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:554–64. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.87 this transformation impossible (0 values becoming  $-\infty$ ). In this context, the zero-inflated Poisson regression model may appear as the most suited statistical method, as it allows taking into account data which contain a substantial proportion of zero and with a highly skewed distribution, while keeping the whole of the information (87). This method has been used in only one study to date (23).

While sleep disorders have been suggested to have a bidirectional relationship with inflammation, no study has explored the relationships between abnormal CRP levels and sleep disorders in SZ to date. Except for antipsychotic effects, no longitudinal data has suggested if increased CRP levels were associated with poor prognosis and outcomes in schizophrenia (including hospitalizations, accelerated cognitive impairment and functioning). Further studies should explore if decreasing CRP blood levels may improve SZ outcomes, especially cardiometabolic events, tobacco smoking behavior, quality of life and cognitive functioning. As some add-on anti-inflammatory strategies have shown effectiveness in SZ symptomatology (88), each anti-inflammatory drug should be independently evaluated (especially omega 3 fatty acid and aspirin, which have been suggested to be effective in some SZ subgroups) (89, 90). As CRP is a global marker of inflammatory disturbances, the relationship between increased CRP and respectively oxidative stress disturbances and hormonal disturbances should also be explored and may lead to other therapeutic options, like N-acetylcysteine add-on administration (88).

In the light of the above-mentioned studies, increased hs-CRP may be reasonably suggested as a marker for SZ onset risk, as well as a risk factor for increased positive symptoms, cognitive impairment, hypovitaminosis D, microbiota disturbances, cardiovascular and metabolic syndrome risk in SZ subjects, and increased nicotine dependence in SZ smokers. In case of increased CRP levels, anti-inflammatory strategies (add-on anti-inflammatory drugs including aspirin and omega 3 fatty acids, vitamin D supplementation, physical activity, probiotics) should be further evaluated.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GF and LB selected the studies, analyzed the major outcomes and wrote the manuscript. CL and PA reviewed the manuscript. All authors approved the final version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by Assistance Publique- Hôpitaux de Marseille. We express all our thanks to the patients who have participated to the studies presented in this article.

- Godin O, Leboyer M, Gaman A, Aouizerate B, Berna F, Brunel L, et al. Metabolic syndrome, abdominal obesity and hyperuricemia in schizophrenia: results from the FACE-SZ cohort. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 168:388–94. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.07.047
- 3. Miller BJ, Culpepper N, Rapaport MH. C-reactive protein levels in schizophrenia: a review and meta-analysis. *Clin Schizophr*

Relat Psychoses (2014) 7:223-30. doi: 10.3371/CSRP.MICU. 020813

- Potvin S, Stip E, Sepehry AA, Gendron A, Bah R, Kouassi E. Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: a systematic quantitative review. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63:801–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.09.024
- Tourjman V, Kouassi É, Koué M-È, Rocchetti M, Fortin-Fournier S, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Antipsychotics' effects on blood levels of cytokines in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 151:43–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.10.011
- Fond G, d'Albis M-A, Jamain S, Tamouza R, Arango C, Fleischhacker WW, et al. The promise of biological markers for treatment response in firstepisode psychosis: a systematic review. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:559–73. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv002
- Windgassen EB, Funtowicz L, Lunsford TN, Harris LA, Mulvagh SL. C-reactive protein and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein: an update for clinicians. *Postgrad Med.* (2011) 123:114–9. doi: 10.3810/pgm.2011. 01.2252
- Bulzacka E, Boyer L, Schürhoff F, Godin O, Berna F, Brunel L, et al. Chronic peripheral inflammation is associated with cognitive impairment in schizophrenia: results from the multicentric FACE-SZ dataset. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:1290–302. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw029
- Wang Z, Li P, Chi D, Wu T, Mei Z, Cui G. Association between C-reactive protein and risk of schizophrenia: an updated meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:75445–54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17995
- Metcalf SA, Jones PB, Nordstrom T, Timonen M, Mäki P, Miettunen J, et al. Serum C-reactive protein in adolescence and risk of schizophrenia in adulthood: a prospective birth cohort study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 59:253–259. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.09.008
- Khandaker GM, Pearson RM, Zammit S, Lewis G, Jones PB. Association of serum interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein in childhood with depression and psychosis in young adult life: a population-based longitudinal study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71:1121–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1332
- Wium-Andersen MK, Ørsted DD, Nordestgaard BG. Elevated C-reactive protein associated with late- and very-late-onset schizophrenia in the general population: a prospective study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 40:1117–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt120
- Prins BP, Abbasi A, Wong A, Vaez A, Nolte I, Franceschini N, et al. Investigating the causal relationship of C-reactive protein with 32 complex somatic and psychiatric outcomes: a large-scale crossconsortium mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1001976. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001976
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Boronow J, Yolken R. C-reactive protein is associated with the severity of cognitive impairment but not of psychiatric symptoms in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 93:261–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.03.022
- Faugere M, Micoulaud-Franchi JA, Alessandrini M, Richieri R, Faget-Agius C, Auquier P, et al. Quality of life is associated with chronic inflammation in schizophrenia: a cross-sectional study. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:10793. doi: 10.1038/srep10793
- Fond G, Godin O, Brunel L, Aouizerate B, Berna F, Bulzacka E, et al. Peripheral sub-inflammation is associated with antidepressant consumption in schizophrenia. Results from the multi-center FACE-SZ data set. J Affect Disord. (2016) 191:209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.017
- Frydecka D, Misiak B, Pawlak-Adamska E, Karabon L, Tomkiewicz A, Sedlaczek P, et al. Interleukin-6: the missing element of the neurocognitive deterioration in schizophrenia? The focus on genetic underpinnings, cognitive impairment and clinical manifestation. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2015) 265:449–59. doi: 10.1007/s00406-014-0533-5
- Micoulaud-Franchi J-A, Faugere M, Boyer L, Fond G, Richieri R, Faget C, et al. Elevated C-reactive protein is associated with sensory gating deficit in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 165:94–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.03.018
- Akanji AO, Ohaeri JU, Al-Shammri S, Fatania HR. Association of blood levels of C-reactive protein with clinical phenotypes in Arab schizophrenic patients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 169:56–61. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2008. 06.010
- 20. Joseph J, Depp C, Martin AS, Daly RE, Glorioso DK, Palmer BW, et al. Associations of high sensitivity C-reactive protein levels in

schizophrenia and comparison groups. Schizophr Res. (2015) 168:456-60. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.08.019

- Wysokinski A, Margulska A, Strzelecki D, Kłoszewska I. Levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) in patients with schizophrenia, unipolar depression and bipolar disorder. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2015) 69:346–53. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2014.984755
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Yang S, et al. C-reactive protein is elevated in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 143:198–202. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.041
- Fond G, Resseguier N, Schürhoff F, Godin O, Andrianarisoa M, Brunel L, et al. Relationships between low-grade peripheral inflammation and psychotropic drugs in schizophrenia: results from the national FACE-SZ cohort. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017). 268:541–53. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0847-1
- Faugere M, Micoulaud-Franchi J-A, Faget-Agius C, Lançon C, Cermolacce M, Richieri R. High C-reactive protein levels are associated with depressive symptoms in schizophrenia. J Affect Disord. (2018) 225:671–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.09.004
- Aas M, Dieset I, Hope S, Hoseth E, Mørch R, Reponen E, et al. Childhood maltreatment severity is associated with elevated C-reactive protein and body mass index in adults with schizophrenia and bipolar diagnoses. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 65:342–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.06.005
- 26. Fond G, Berna F, Andrianarisoa M, Godin O, Leboyer M, Brunel L, et al. Chronic low-grade peripheral inflammation is associated with severe nicotine dependence in schizophrenia: results from the national multicentric FACE-SZ cohort. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 267:465–72. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0771-4
- Barzilay R, Lobel T, Krivoy A, Shlosberg D, Weizman A, Katz N. Elevated Creactive protein levels in schizophrenia inpatients is associated with aggressive behavior. *Eur Psychiatry* (2016) 31:8–12. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.09.461
- Meyer JM, McEvoy JP, Davis VG, Goff DC, Nasrallah HA, Davis SM, et al. Inflammatory markers in schizophrenia: comparing antipsychotic effects in phase 1 of the clinical antipsychotic trials of intervention effectiveness study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66:1013–22. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009. 06.005
- Sobiś J, Rykaczewska-Czerwinska M, Swietochowska E, Gorczyca P. Therapeutic effect of aripiprazole in chronic schizophrenia is accompanied by anti-inflammatory activity. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2015) 67:353–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2014.09.007
- Contreras-Shannon V, Heart DL, Paredes RM, Navaira E, Catano G, Maffi SK, et al. Clozapine-induced mitochondria alterations and inflammation in brain and insulin-responsive cells. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e59012. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059012
- Fonseka TM, Müller DJ, Kennedy SH. Inflammatory cytokines and antipsychotic-induced weight gain: review and clinical implications. *Mol Neuropsychiatry* (2016) 2:1–14. doi: 10.1159/000441521
- Handley R, Mondelli V, Zelaya F, Marques T, Taylor H, Reinders AATS, et al. Effects of antipsychotics on cortisol, interleukin-6 and hippocampal perfusion in healthy volunteers. *Schizophr Res.* (2016). 174:99–105. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.03.039
- Yoo S, Kim M-Y, Cho JY. Syk and Src-targeted anti-inflammatory activity of aripiprazole, an atypical antipsychotic. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2018) 148:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2017.12.006
- 34. Duarte T, Barbisan F, do Prado-Lima PAS, Azzolin VF, da Cruz Jung IE, Duarte MMMF, et al. Ziprasidone, a second-generation antipsychotic drug, triggers a macrophage inflammatory response *in vitro*. *Cytokine* (2017). 106:101–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2017.10.017
- 35. Maneeton N, Maneeton B, Woottiluk P, Likhitsathian S, Suttajit S, Boonyanaruthee V, et al. Quetiapine monotherapy in acute treatment of generalized anxiety disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2016) 10:259–76. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S89485
- Chassard C, Dapoigny M, Scott KP, Crouzet L, Del'homme C, Marquet P, et al. Functional dysbiosis within the gut microbiota of patients with constipatedirritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2012) 35:828–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2012.05007.x
- Zoppi G, Cinquetti M, Luciano A, Benini A, Muner A, Bertazzoni Minelli E. The intestinal ecosystem in chronic functional constipation. *Acta Paediatr.* (1998) 87:836–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1998.tb01547.x

- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Khushalani S, Leweke FM, et al. Discordant patterns of bacterial translocation markers and implications for innate immune imbalances in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 148:130–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.018
- Dorofeikova M, Neznanov N, Petrova N. Cognitive deficit in patients with paranoid schizophrenia: Its clinical and laboratory correlates. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017). 262:542–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.09.041
- Johnsen E, Fathian F, Kroken RA, Steen VM, Jørgensen HA, Gjestad R, et al. The serum level of C-reactive protein (CRP) is associated with cognitive performance in acute phase psychosis. *BMC Psychiatry* (2016) 16:60. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0769-x
- Horsdal HT, Köhler-Forsberg O, Benros ME, Gasse C. C-reactive protein and white blood cell levels in schizophrenia, bipolar disorders and depression– associations with mortality and psychiatric outcomes: a population-based study. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 44:164–72. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.04.012
- 42. Sicras-Mainar A, Rejas-Gutiérrez J, Navarro-Artieda R, Blanca-Tamayo M. C-reactive protein as a marker of cardiovascular disease in patients with a schizophrenia spectrum disorder treated in routine medical practice. *Eur Psychiatry* (2013) 28:161–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.07.003
- Balötšev R, Koido K, Vasar V, Janno S, Kriisa K, Mahlapuu R, et al. Inflammatory, cardio-metabolic and diabetic profiling of chronic schizophrenia. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 39:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.05.010
- 44. Klemettilä J-P, Kampman O, Seppälä N, Viikki M, Hämäläinen M, Moilanen E, et al. Resistin as an inflammatory marker in patients with schizophrenia treated with clozapine. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2017) 71:89–95. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2016.1230649
- Miller BJ, Mellor A, Buckley P. Total and differential white blood cell counts, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, and the metabolic syndrome in non-affective psychoses. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2013) 31:82–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.08.016
- Mori N, McEvoy JP, Miller BJ. Total and differential white blood cell counts, inflammatory markers, adipokines, and the metabolic syndrome in phase 1 of the clinical antipsychotic trials of intervention effectiveness study. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 169:30–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.10.001
- Suvisaari J, Loo B-M, Saarni SE, Haukka J, Perälä J, Saarni SI, et al. Inflammation in psychotic disorders: a population-based study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2011) 189:305–11. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.07.006
- Dieset I, Hope S, Ueland T, Bjella T, Agartz I, Melle I, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors during second generation antipsychotic treatment are associated with increased C-reactive protein. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 140:169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.06.040
- Popović I, Ravanić D, Janković S, Milovanović D, Folić M, Stanojević A, et al. Long-term treatment with olanzapine in hospital conditions: prevalence and predictors of the metabolic syndrome. *Srp Arh Celok Lek.* (2015) 143:712–8. doi: 10.2298/SARH1512712P
- Vuksan-Cusa B, Sagud M, Jakovljević M. C-reactive protein and metabolic syndrome in patients with bipolar disorder compared to patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Danub*. (2010) 22:275–7.
- Lally J, Gardner-Sood P, Firdosi M, Iyegbe C, Stubbs B, Greenwood K, et al. Clinical correlates of vitamin D deficiency in established psychosis. *BMC Psychiatry* (2016) 16:76. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0780-2
- Zhu D, Liu Y, Zhang A, Chu Z, Wu Q, Li H, et al. High levels of vitamin D in relation to reduced risk of schizophrenia with elevated C-reactive protein. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:565–70. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015. 05.051
- 53. Stubbs B, Gardner-Sood P, Smith S, Ismail K, Greenwood K, Farmer R, et al. Sedentary behaviour is associated with elevated C-reactive protein levels in people with psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2015) 168:461–4. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.07.003
- Lewis CM, Levinson DF, Wise LH, DeLisi LE, Straub RE, Hovatta I, et al. Genome scan meta-analysis of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, part II: schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2003) 73:34–48. doi: 10.1086/376549
- International Schizophrenia Consortium, Purcell SM, Wray NR, Stone JL, Visscher PM, O'Donovan MC, et al. Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Nature* (2009) 460:748–52. doi: 10.1038/nature08185

- Schizophrenia Psychiatric Genome-Wide Association Study (GWAS) Consortium. Genome-wide association study identifies five new schizophrenia loci. *Nat Genet*. (2011) 43:969–76. doi: 10.1038/ng.940
- Shi J, Levinson DF, Duan J, Sanders AR, Zheng Y, Pe'er I, et al. Common variants on chromosome 6p22.1 are associated with schizophrenia. *Nature* (2009) 460:753–7. doi: 10.1038/nature08192
- Saviouk V, Chow EWC, Bassett AS, Brzustowicz LM. Tumor necrosis factor promoter haplotype associated with schizophrenia reveals a linked locus on 1q44. *Mol Psychiatry* (2005) 10:375–83. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001582
- Al-Asmary SM, Kadasah S, Arfin M, Tariq M, Al-Asmari A. Genetic variants of interleukin-10 gene promoter are associated with schizophrenia in Saudi patients: a case-control study. N Am J Med Sci. (2014) 6:558–65. doi: 10.4103/1947-2714.145466
- 60. Hänninen K, Katila H, Saarela M, Rontu R, Mattila KM, Fan M, et al. Interleukin-1 beta gene polymorphism and its interactions with neuregulin-1 gene polymorphism are associated with schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 258:10–5. doi: 10.1007/s00406-007-0756-9
- Sekar A. A Natural Allelic Series of Complex Structural Variants and its Influence on the Risk of Lupus and Schizophrenia. Available online at: https:// dash.harvard.edu/handle/1/13070061 (Accessed December 26, 2017).
- 62. Sutterland AL, Fond G, Kuin A, Koeter MWJ, Lutter R, van Gool T, et al. Beyond the association. Toxoplasma gondii in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and addiction: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2015). 132:161–79. doi: 10.1111/acps.12423
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Yolken R. Additive effects of elevated C-reactive protein and exposure to herpes simplex virus type 1 on cognitive impairment in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 134:83–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.10.003
- 64. Perron H, Mekaoui L, Bernard C, Veas F, Stefas I, Leboyer M. Endogenous retrovirus type W GAG and envelope protein antigenemia in serum of schizophrenic patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64:1019–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.06.028
- 65. Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, Katsafanas E, Schweinfurth LA, Savage CL, et al. Candida albicans exposures, sex specificity and cognitive deficits in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. NPJ Schizophr. (2016) 2:16018. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2016.18
- Berk M, Williams LJ, Jacka FN, O'Neil A, Pasco JA, Moylan S, et al. So depression is an inflammatory disease, but where does the inflammation come from? *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:200. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-200
- Cole SW, Hawkley LC, Arevalo JM, Sung CY, Rose RM, Cacioppo JT. Social regulation of gene expression in human leukocytes. *Genome Biol.* (2007) 8:R189. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-9-r189
- Vedhara K, Gill S, Eldesouky L, Campbell BK, Arevalo JMG, Ma J, et al. Personality and gene expression: do individual differences exist in the leukocyte transcriptome? *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2015) 52:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.10.028
- Hannestad J, DellaGioia N, Bloch M. The effect of antidepressant medication treatment on serum levels of inflammatory cytokines: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2011) 36:2452–9. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.132
- Rey R, D'Amato T, Boyer L, Brunel L, Aouizerate B, Berna F, et al. Nicotine dependence is associated with depression and childhood trauma in smokers with schizophrenia: results from the FACE-SZ dataset. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017). 267:567–77. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0779-9
- Báez-Pagán CA, Delgado-Vélez M, Lasalde-Dominicci JA. Activation of the macrophage α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor and control of inflammation. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* (2015) 10:468–76. doi: 10.1007/s11481-015-9601-5
- Kalkman HO, Feuerbach D. Modulatory effects of α7 nAChRs on the immune system and its relevance for CNS disorders. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2016) 73:2511–30. doi: 10.1007/s00018-016-2175-4.
- Amitai N, Markou A. Chronic nicotine improves cognitive performance in a test of attention but does not attenuate cognitive disruption induced by repeated phencyclidine administration. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. (2009) 202:275–86. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1246-0
- Conway JLC. Exogenous nicotine normalises sensory gating in schizophrenia; therapeutic implications. *Med Hypotheses* (2009) 73:259–62. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2009.02.017

- Drusch K, Lowe A, Fisahn K, Brinkmeyer J, Musso F, Mobascher A, et al. Effects of nicotine on social cognition, social competence and self-reported stress in schizophrenia patients and healthy controls. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2013) 263:519–27. doi: 10.1007/s00406-012-0377-9
- Hahn B, Harvey AN, Concheiro-Guisan M, Huestis MA, Holcomb HH, Gold JM. A test of the cognitive self-medication hypothesis of tobacco smoking in schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74:436–43. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.03.017
- Nunes SOV, Vargas HO, Prado E, Barbosa DS, de Melo LP, Moylan S, et al. The shared role of oxidative stress and inflammation in major depressive disorder and nicotine dependence. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1336–45. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.014
- Featherstone RE, Siegel SJ. The role of nicotine in schizophrenia. Int Rev Neurobiol. (2015) 124:23–78. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2015.07.002
- Parikh V, Kutlu MG, Gould TJ. nAChR dysfunction as a common substrate for schizophrenia and comorbid nicotine addiction: current trends and perspectives. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 171:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.01.020
- Sommer IE, van Westrhenen R, Begemann MJ, de Witte LD, Leucht S, Kahn RS. Efficacy of anti-inflammatory agents to improve symptoms in patients with schizophrenia: an update. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013). 40:181–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt139
- Fond G, Berna F, Boyer L, Godin O, Brunel L, Andrianarisoa M, et al. Benzodiazepine long-term administration is associated with impaired attention/working memory in schizophrenia: results from the national multicentre FACE-SZ data set. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 268:17–26. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0787-9
- Sedgwick P. Ecological studies: advantages and disadvantages. *BMJ* (2014) 348:g2979. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g2979
- MacCallum RC, Zhang S, Preacher KJ, Rucker DD. On the practice of dichotomization of quantitative variables. *Psychol Methods* (2002) 7:19–40. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.7.1.19
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Transforming data. BMJ (1996) 312:770. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7033.770

- Feng C, Wang H, Lu N, Tu XM. Log transformation: application and interpretation in biomedical research. *Stat Med.* (2013) 32:230–9. doi: 10.1002/sim.5486
- Feng C, Wang H, Lu N, Chen T, He H, Lu Y, et al. Log-transformation and its implications for data analysis. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry* (2014) 26:105–9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2014.02.009
- Atkins DC, Baldwin SA, Zheng C, Gallop RJ, Neighbors C. A tutorial on count regression and zero-altered count models for longitudinal substance use data. *Psychol Addict Behav.* (2013) 27:166–77. doi: 10.1037/a0029508
- Fond G, Hamdani N, Kapczinski F, Boukouaci W, Drancourt N, Dargel A, et al. Effectiveness and tolerance of anti-inflammatory drugs' add-on therapy in major mental disorders: a systematic qualitative review. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2014) 129:163–79. doi: 10.1111/acps.12211
- Kidd PM. Omega-3 DHA and EPA for cognition, behavior, and mood: clinical findings and structural-functional synergies with cell membrane phospholipids. *Altern Med Rev J Clin Ther.* (2007) 12:207–27.
- Nitta M, Kishimoto T, Müller N, Weiser M, Davidson M, Kane JM, et al. Adjunctive use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of randomized controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1230–41. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt070

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Fond, Lançon, Auquier and Boyer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Interleukin-6 in Schizophrenia—Is There a Therapeutic Relevance?

Milica Milovan Borovcanin<sup>1\*</sup>, Ivan Jovanovic<sup>2</sup>, Gordana Radosavljevic<sup>2</sup>, Jelena Pantic<sup>2</sup>, Slavica Minic Janicijevic<sup>3</sup>, Nebojsa Arsenijevic<sup>2</sup> and Miodrag L. Lukic<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia, <sup>2</sup>Center for Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia, <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia

Renewing interest in immune aspects of schizophrenia and new findings about the brain-fat axis encourage us to discuss the possible role of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in schizophrenia. Previously, it was suggested that a primary alteration of the innate immune system may be relevant in schizophrenia. Functional dichotomy of IL-6 suggests that this chemical messenger may be responsible for regulating the balance between proand anti-inflammatory responses, with tissue-specific properties at the periphery and in the central nervous system. Specific phase of this chronic and deteriorating disorder must be considered, which can involve IL-6 in acute or possible chronic inflammation and/or autoimmunity. We give an overview of IL-6 role in the onset and progression of this disorder, also considering cognitive impairment and metabolic changes in patients with schizophrenia. Data suggest that decreased serum level of IL-6 following antipsychotic therapy could be predisposing factor for the development of obesity and obesity-related metabolic disorders in schizophrenia. As we reviewed, the IL-6 plays significant role in disease genesis and progression, so the use of specific inhibitors may not only be beneficial for exacerbation and alleviation of positive symptoms, but may attenuate cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Błażej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Edyta Agnieszka Pawlak-Adamska, Ludwik Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy (PAN), Poland Kamila Daria Kotowicz, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### \*Correspondence:

Milica Milovan Borovcanin milicaborovcanin@yahoo.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 26 August 2017 Accepted: 20 October 2017 Published: 06 November 2017

#### Citation:

Borovcanin MM, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Pantic J, Minic Janicijevic S, Arsenijevic N and Lukic ML (2017) Interleukin-6 in Schizophrenia – Is There a Therapeutic Relevance? Front. Psychiatry 8:221. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00221 Keywords: interleukin-6, schizophrenia, immune response, inflammation, metabolic syndrome

## INTRODUCTION

The immune system could be described as a sensory system whose primary purpose is identifying the foreign ("non-self") substances, referred to as antigens. Two equally important aspects of the immune system are the innate and acquired immunity. The mechanisms of innate immunity are physical and chemical barriers, cellular components, and soluble molecules. The principal cellular components of the innate immune response include dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells. The unique components of acquired immunity are T and B lymphocytes that specifically recognize and respond to an antigen. Thus, innate and acquired immune response represents the action of various specialized cells and soluble molecules that they secrete.

Cytokines are chemical messengers or hormones of the immune system. They mediate cell-cell interactions in immune responses and induce the movement of cells toward sites of inflammation, infection, and trauma. Thus, these soluble molecules regulate and coordinate many activities of the cells of innate and acquired immunity.

There is a renewing interest in immune aspects of schizophrenia (1, 2) and new findings have been presented regarding the linkage of innate and adaptive immunity by the brain-fat axis (3).

63

These findings encouraged us to discuss a possible influence of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in schizophrenia onset and progression, considering cognitive impairment and metabolic changes in patients with schizophrenia. We try to enlighten some metabolic aspects of IL-6 in schizophrenia and introduce some new drug-targets.

## **IL-6 AS A PLEIOTROPIC CYTOKINE**

Interleukin-6 was first identified as a B-cell differentiation factor, which induces antibody production by activated B cells. This cytokine promotes the differentiation of B cells, the population expansion and activation of T cells, and regulates the acute inflammation (4, 5). Upon IL-6 binding to IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) are initiated its multiple functions. The IL-6R is composed of the IL-6-binding chain, existing in forms of transmembrane IL-6R and soluble IL-6R (sIL-6R) (6), and a gp130 signal-transducing chain (7). IL-6 is secreted by different types of cells and under various conditions of immune activation. For example, the primary sources of this cytokine are monocytes and macrophages at site of injury during acute inflammation, as well as T cells in chronic inflammation.

The toll-like receptors (TLRs) are major sensors of the innate immunity, able to recognize a broad spectrum molecule of different classes of microbes, as well as damage-associated molecular pattern released from stressed cells, and to initiate an inflammatory response rapidly. TLR ligation is one of the earliest events leading to IL-6 production (8). In homeostatic conditions, level of IL-6 is low, but IL-6 serum levels rise quickly in stress. Numerous studies show that IL-6 modulates various aspects of the innate immune system, such as hematopoiesis and influx of neutrophils at sites of infection or trauma (9, 10). In addition, this cytokine induces synthesis of C-reactive protein, serum amyloid A, and fibrinogen, as proteins of acute phase.

Interestingly, IL-6 has pro- and anti-inflammatory properties which are context dependent. Although it has been mostly regarded as a clear pro-inflammatory cytokine of acute innate responses, it has many regenerative or anti-inflammatory activities crucial for resolution of inflammation [reviewed in Ref. (11)]. A role of IL-6 in limiting inflammation has been based on several observations. It was shown that IL-6 exerts its immunosuppressive properties by inhibiting activity of the transcription factor named nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells and expression of the chemokine receptor on dendritic cells required for recruiting these cells to lymphoid tissues (12). Moreover, IL-6 signaling promotes alternative macrophages activation and inhibits their microbicidal activities (13-15). Additionally, IL-6 also induces expression of the IL-1R antagonist and the soluble p55 receptor for tumornecrosis factor (TNF) (16). In these settings, IL-6 is involved not only in the induction of acute inflammation, but also in the resolution of inflammation.

Upon activation by antigen-presenting cells, naive CD4+ T cells can differentiate into Th1, Th2, or Th17 and regulatory T (Treg) cells. Besides its role in the innate immune response, IL-6 also regulates acquired immunity by promoting specific differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells, but these effects are context dependent. Some reports suggested that IL-6 skewed T-cell differentiation toward Th2 cells and simultaneously inhibited Th1 polarization through two independent molecular mechanisms (17, 18). However, it has been demonstrated that IL-6 promotes Th1-cell responses (19). Recently, it has been reported that IL-6 has an important role in regulating Th17/ Treg balance (20). Thus, in the presence of the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), IL-6 is a necessary signal for differentiation of naive T cells to Th17 cells, a subset of T helper cells that are implicated in the induction of autoimmune diseases (21, 22), and contribute to local tissue damage in chronic inflammatory diseases (23). In contrast, IL-6 can strongly inhibit the TGF-\beta-induced differentiation of Treg cells that inhibit autoimmunity and protect against tissue injury (24). Downregulation or overproduction of IL-6 alters the balance between Th17 and Treg cells. Th17/Treg disbalance appears to interfere with immunological tolerance and consequently leading to development of autoimmune and chronic inflammatory diseases (20). Also, considering its role in production of IL-10 by T cells (25, 26), it seems that IL-6 may be included in relieving an inflammatory response. This functional dichotomy suggests that IL-6 may be responsible for regulating the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory responses.

## **ROLE OF IL-6 IN THE BRAIN FUNCTION**

Interleukin-6 can be also produced by activated astrocytes and microglial cells in the brain (27, 28) and neurons (29, 30). IL-6Rs have been localized in the central nervous system (31). It has been shown that IL-6 boosts central neurotrophin secretion by different cells (32, 33). Under stress, IL-6 induces increased production of metabolites by astrocytes, while neurons primarily consume resources from the microenvironment (34).

Interleukin-6 contributes in the normal brain functioning (**Figure 1**): it is involved in the body weight control, food intake, and energy expenditure, it stimulates the pituitary–adrenal axis, has a role in pain, sleep-wake behavior, emotional reactivity, learning, and memory [reviewed in Ref. (35)]. Pyrogenic effects of IL-6 have been widely explored (36) and sickness behavior was observed in association with higher IL-6 levels in the peripheral circulation and the liver of a mouse (37).

Interleukin-6 exerts its effects on neurotransmission of catecholamines, by intensifying dopaminergic and serotonergic turnover in hypocampus and frontal cortex (38, 39). Although, there was no effect of IL-6 on noradrenaline, reversely this neurotransmitter could induce expression of IL-6 in glial cells (40). IL-6 and other pro-inflammatory cytokines activate kinurenine pathway, involved in glutamatergic neurotransmission [reviewed in Ref. (41)].

While IL-6 can have protective properties in many infections, its activity seems to be a key in maintaining the chronic inflammation in model of autoimmune encephalitis and various neurological diseases when IL-6 is overexpressed in the central nervous system [reviewed in Ref. (11)]. Population-based longitudinal studies reported associations of higher serum IL-6 with future risks for depression and psychosis (42). Increased



levels of IL-6 were observed in acutely ill patients with schizophrenia, bipolar mania, and major depressive disorder and significantly decreased following treatment in schizophrenia and major depressive disorder, so one may speculate about common stress-related phenomenon across acute phases of these disorders (43).

## POSSIBLE ROLE OF IL-6 IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Interleukin-6 has been widely studied in different aspects of schizophrenia: its onset and progression, association with different clusters of symptoms, response and resistance to the treatment, and metabolical and other comorbid states. IL-6-174G/C polymorphism showed to be associated with increased IL-6 plasma levels and represent a risk factor for schizophrenia (44). IL-6 gene expression in first-episode psychosis is in significant negative correlation with BDNF gene expression and associated with a smaller left hippocampal volume (45). The meta-analysis of Baumeister et al. (46) provide strong evidence that traumatic events have significant impact on the inflammatory immune system. Further, IL-6 is included in potential molecular pathway that leads to development of mental disorders and somatic states later in life. Induced viral or bacterial infection with IL-6 in pregnant mice produces intermediate phenotypes that are related to adult offspring schizophrenia (47). Also, increased levels of IL-6 were found only in those patients with schizophrenia that had a positive childhood trauma history (48). The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children has recently reported twofold increased risk of psychotic disorder at age 18 years for subjects who had higher IL-6 serum levels at age 9 years, in a dose–response manner (42).

Previous studies have presented conflicting results regarding the levels of IL-6 in schizophrenia. Some authors did not report any alterations in central nervous system (49, 50) and serum (51-55). Elevated levels of IL-6 have been measured in the cerebrospinal fluid of schizophrenia patients by others (56-58). The first meta-analysis of cytokine levels in schizophrenia patients has concluded that IL-6 levels are increased (59), but recent meta-analysis has pointed out that IL-6 is increased in first-episode psychosis and acute relapse, and can be used as a state marker of schizophrenia (60). This has been confirmed by elevated IL-6 level in subjects with at-risk mental state (ARMS) and suggested that it can be used as a marker in prodromal period (61). On the contrary, our findings (62) did not confirm elevation of IL-6 in first-episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse. Additionally, Ganguli et al. (63) establish the positive correlation between IL-6 level and illness duration. Therefore, Potvin et al. (59) assumed that the fluctuation of IL-6 level in schizophrenia may be relevant for its pathogenesis. Taking all this into account, it is of great importance to mark the exact period in the evolution of this chronic and deteriorating disorder, in order to understand the possible different roles of IL-6 in acute inflammation, chronic inflammation, and/or autoimmunity in natural history of schizophrenia (Figure 1).

Positive correlation between IL-6 plasma levels and the positive symptoms severity were suggested in subjects with ARMS (61) and war veterans with schizophrenia (64). Levels of IL-6 mRNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells were found to be elevated in patients with worse positive symptomatology (65). Others presented results of positive correlation between IL-6 serum levels and negative symptoms severity in drug-naive male patients with schizophrenia (66). Recently, it has been shown that individuals with schizophrenia have higher plasma levels of IL-6 that are correlated with depressive symptoms and worse mental and physical well-being (67). Higher IL-6 levels showed to be related with cognitive decline in schizophrenia (44). These neurobiological findings could direct the remodeling of categorical approach (68) and dimensional approach (69) into some new concepts of schizophrenia syndrome.

# ROLE OF IL-6 IN THE METABOLIC FUNCTIONS

Obesity itself leads to systemic inflammatory response, called metaflammation, originated from metabolic tissues such as adipose tissue, pancreatic islets, liver, muscle, and brain (70). In response to metabolic stress triggered by the excess of nutrients, expanding adipose tissue infiltrates Th1 lymphocytes, NKT cells, and classically activated macrophages that mediate the development of metabolic abnormalities (71–73). Macrophages may be activated in different ways, which favor microbicidal and pro-inflammatory functions (called classically activated

macrophage, M1), or in contrast, reparative, and anti-inflammatory functions (called alternative activated macrophage, M2). On the other hand, Treg cells, Th2 lymphocytes, and alternatively activated macrophages exert protective role in nutrient excessinduced inflammation (74, 75). Pro-inflammatory macrophages are the major source of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 in metabolic tissues that mediate impaired glucose utilization and attenuate insulin sensitivity in both paracrine and endocrine manner (76). Systemic level of IL-6 strongly correlates with obesity and insulin resistance and serum concentrations of IL-6, sIL-6R, and gp130 are elevated in patients with metabolic syndrome (MetS) and related cardiovascular disorders (77). On the contrary, the production of IL-6 by skeletal muscles during exercise is found to be protective (78). Additionally, the deletion of gene encoding IL-6 impairs systemic insulin sensitivity and enhances hepatic inflammation (79). In accordance with these pleiotropic properties of IL-6, it seems that it can exhibit different effects in tissue-specific manner.

Apart from the impact on adipose tissue expansion during obesity, IL-6, as the most important regulator of numerous functions in central nervous system (35), is widely expressed in hypothalamic region that regulates appetite and energy intake (80). The expression of IL-6 in central nervous system negatively correlates with the expansion of adipose tissue during obesity (81). It was previously shown that mice lacking gene encoding IL-6 develop mature onset obesity, suggesting an important role of IL-6 in the regulation of body weight (82, 83). Intracerebroventricular administration of IL-6 increases energy expenditure thus demonstrating central anti-obesity effects of IL-6 (82, 83). The recent data show that IL-6 exhibits anti-inflammatory properties during obesity by promoting IL-4-dependant alternative macrophage polarization thus contributing to attenuation of obesity-induced inflammation and regulation of glucose homeostasis (15).

## IL-6 AS A LINKAGE BETWEEN SCHIZOPHRENIA AND METABOLIC SYNDROME

Metabolic abnormalities including obesity and obesity-related disorders such as impaired glucose tolerance, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease are strongly associated with psychotic diseases, in particular schizophrenia (84). Patients with schizophrenia are at higher risk to develop MetS, although it is not clear weather this is a disease-inherited state or the side effect of widely used antipsychotic medications (85, 86). Schizophrenia and type 2 diabetes could be associated independently of antipsychotic treatment, possibly based on the common genetic background (87). There are evidences that drug-naive patients in the first episode of schizophrenia have impaired glucose tolerance (88). Moreover, in the first episode of schizophrenia the elevated circulating insulin-related peptides were found, with no difference in glucose levels (89).

However, numerous studies have confirmed that both schizophrenia and MetS underlie chronic low-grade inflammation indicating that disturbances in immune response might be involved in concurrent onset of both conditions (90–92).

Increase in adipose tissue activity could contribute to the inflammation seen in schizophrenia. Also, low-grade inflammation independent of adipose tissue activity have been associated with low-physical inactivity, inadequate dietary choices, smoking, and stress, which are often seen in schizophrenia patients (93–95).

Cytokines that are important in glucose utilization and insulin sensitivity appear to be elevated and might be involved in pathogenesis of schizophrenia (59, 60, 96). It has been shown that patients with schizophrenia have higher plasma levels of IL-6 and significant correlation of cytokine plasma levels with body mass index was established (67).

These metabolic abnormalities can correlate with both schizophrenia and antipsychotic treatment, possibly based on the alterations of systemic levels of different cytokines and adipokines (96). Antipsychotics can increase rates of obesity, with consequent upregulation of IL-6, and leptin (97). In rodent and human studies, there are evidence for an association between leptin, cognition, and behavior. Leptin modulates activity of mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons in the hypothalamus, which is especially important in schizophrenia (98). Trujillo et al. (99) showed that leptin production was increased by IL-6 in human adipocyte cultures, but others observed IL-6 inhibitory function or no effect on leptin production (100, 101). It appears that leptin has neuroprotective role, but in antipsychotic-induced leptin resistance and in obesity these neuroprotective properties are not so obvious (102, 103). Therefore, cytokine changes that are associated with antipsychotic treatment could be a consequence of weight gain (104). We did not find significant difference in the serum level of IL-6 in psychotic patients compared with healthy control (62). However, we observed that serum level of IL-6 had significantly decreased after antipsychotic treatment in patients with first-episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse (105). These data suggest that decreased levels of IL-6 following antipsychotic therapy could be predisposing factor for the development of obesity and obesity-related metabolic disorders in schizophrenia (Figure 1).

Novel insight into pathogenesis of psychotic disorders indicates that gut microbiota could have a role in cognitive and behavioral patterns and affects the development of MetS through not entirely known mechanisms (106, 107). Commensal microorganisms trigger activation of innate immune cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages in lamina propria, following increased production of pro-inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-23, and possibly IL-12, thus contributing to the polarization of adaptive immune response toward Th17 or Th1 type, respectively (108). Increased intestinal inflammation was observed in patients with schizophrenia, more significantly before the initial administration of antipsychotics (109). Gut microbial composition affects systemic cytokine concentrations and possibly, by this gut-brain communication, alters the behavior in schizophrenia [reviewed by Khandaker et al. (110)].

# IL-6 AS A POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC TARGET IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Clinicians noticed altered immune response in patients with schizophrenia long before antipsychotics' era [reviewed in Ref.

(111)]. This finding indicated that antipsychotics would affect not only the schizophrenia outcome, but additionally would modify the immunity of treated patients. All available antipsychotics treat the symptoms of schizophrenia by blocking D2 receptors, but also regulate the serotonin and glutamate neurotransmission. Efficacy and side effects of antipsychotics cannot be completely explained by neurotransmission theory and it is well known that they exhibit neurotrophic, neurogenetic, and neuroprotective properties (112-114). Several studies reported that antipsychotics decrease systemic values of pro-inflammatory cytokines (114-116). Some researchers found an increase of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in sera of patients treated with antipsychotics (117) and we showed that increased levels of TGF-β stay elevated after antipsychotic therapy in first-episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse (62, 105). Taken together, it appears that antipsychotics have additional anti-inflammatory properties.

It was previously suggested that treatment resistance in schizophrenia is associated with IL-6 elevated levels (118). Several cytokines, including IL-6, can predict a treatment response in first-episode psychosis (119). Decrease of systemic value of IL-6, together with favorable clinical outcome following antipsychotic therapy, is the dominant phenomenon in most studies (59, 116, 120-123). Researchers found a significant positive correlation between the concentration of IL-6 in sera and psychopathology at the onset, as well as after the administration of antipsychotics (60). In the post-mortem orbitofrontal brain studies in people with schizophrenia, IL-6 mRNA significantly positively correlated with antipsychotic lifetime and daily mean intake (124). Few studies revealed that clozapine affects the increase of IL-6 in the plasma during the 2 weeks, but not the longer treatment (125-128), while other, comprehensive studies showed that atypical antipsychotic risperidone or the typical antipsychotic haloperidol do not significantly affect serum levels of IL-6 in patients with schizophrenia (117, 129). Further, decrease of IL-6 in the plasma of patients with exacerbation of schizophrenia was shown after discontinuation of the haloperidol therapy (130). The peripheral low-grade inflammation was observed in animal model after olanzapine treatment, correlated with upregulation of IL-6 in hypothalamus and adipose tissue (white and brown), and enhanced average size of adipocyte and macrophage infiltration level (131).

Clinical studies pointed out the beneficial effects of immunomodulatory therapy in schizophrenia, especially in early stage of the disorder (132) with respect to symptoms severity (133, 134), and in improving cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia (135). Anti-IL-6 drugs have been developed and already used for treatment of various diseases and cancers, such as CNTO328 chimeric anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibody (mAb) (siltuximab) and anti-IL-6R mAb, atlizumab (also called tocilizumab) (136). Ingested tocilizumab can inhibit experimental autoimmune encephalitis by decreasing pro-inflammatory Th1 cytokines and increasing Th2 anti-inflammatory cytokines (137). In accordance with important role of IL-6 in regulation of metabolic homeostasis, this kind of therapy might have side effects, such as significant weight gain followed by hypertrygliceridemia and hypercholesterolemia in patients treated with IL-6R neutralizing antibody tocilizumab (138). Blocking of IL-6 transsignaling, while classical IL-6R signaling stays intact is important for the maintenance of gut mucosal integrity and epithelial regeneration [reviewed by Hunter and Jones (11)].

One of the possibilities in drug development for the treatment of schizophrenia might be the tissue-specific IL-6 blockade, thus avoiding systemic side effects of this kind of treatment. IL-6 plays significant role in disease genesis and progression, and the use of specific inhibitors may not only be beneficial for exacerbation and alleviation of positive symptoms, but in particular to possible attenuation of cognitive impairment in patients with schizophrenia.

## CONCLUSION

Interleukin-6 orchestrates the innate and acquired immunity, but all these effects are context dependent and tissue-specific role of IL-6 in central nervous system and other metabolite tissues must be considered. The functional dichotomy of IL-6 may play a critical role in maintaining the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory responses. It seems that IL-6 can have a phase specific role in schizophrenia evolution, in the context of acute inflammation, chronic inflammation, and/ or autoimmunity. Limitation is that there is between-study heterogeneity and most valuable studies are those comparing different phases of illness and considering influence of age, sex, illness duration, BMI, fasting status, and applied therapy. Now it seems to be clear that metabolic dysregulation in terms of glucose metabolism alteration (139) or lipide profile disturbance (140) occurs already in antipsychotic-naïve patients with first-episode psychosis. IL-6 and leptin activity in hypothalamus

### REFERENCES

- Pariante C. Psychoneuroimmunology or immunopsychiatry? Lancet Psychiatry (2015) 2(3):197–9. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00042-5
- Khandaker GM, Dantzer R. Is there a role for immune-to-brain communication in schizophrenia? *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* (2016) 233(9): 1559–73. doi:10.1007/s00213-015-3975-1
- Kim MS, Yan J, Wu W, Zhang G, Zhang Y, Cai D. Rapid linkage of innate immunological signals to adaptive immunity by the brain-fat axis. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(5):525–33. doi:10.1038/ni.3133
- Klimpel GR. Soluble factor(s) from LPS-activated macrophages induce cytotoxic T cell differentiation from alloantigen-primed spleen cells. *J Immunol* (1980) 125:1243–9.
- Yasukawa K, Hirano T, Watanabe Y, Muratani K, Matsuda T, Nakai S, et al. Structure and expression of human B cell stimulatory factor-2 (BSF-2/ IL-6) gene. *EMBO J* (1987) 6:2939–45.
- Yamasaki K, Taga T, Hirata Y, Yawata H, Kawanishi Y, Seed B, et al. Cloning and expression of the human interleukin-6 (BSF-2/IFN beta 2) receptor. *Science* (1988) 241:825–8. doi:10.1126/science.3136546
- Hibi M, Murakami M, Saito M, Hirano T, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Molecular cloning and expression of an IL-6 signal transducer, gp130. *Cell* (1990) 63:1149–57. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(90)90411-7
- Karin M, Lawrence T, Nizet V. Innate immunity gone awry: linking microbial infections to chronic inflammation and cancer. *Cell* (2006) 124:823–35. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.016
- Liu F, Poursine-Laurent J, Wu HY, Link DC. Interleukin-6 and the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor receptor are major independent regulators of granulopoiesis in vivo but are not required for lineage commitment or terminal differentiation. *Blood* (1997) 90:2583–90.

could explain co-occurrence of schizophrenia and metabolic syndrome. Current research data about the role of microbiome in schizophrenia is still modest, but antipsychotic-induced alterations of the gut microbiota and metabolic changes should also be thoroughly explored (141). Treatment-resistant schizophrenia is associated with increased IL-6 sera level, and the relationship between higher IL-6 level and cognitive decline in schizophrenia has been observed, thus implicating the impact of IL-6 on behavioral aspects of schizophrenia. Beneficial effects of immunomodulatory therapy in schizophrenia have been already shown and the use of tissue-specific inhibitors of IL-6 or other IL-6-targeted therapy could possibly be useful in the treatment of schizophrenia and comorbid somatic states.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors were included in the designing of the manuscript, drafting the work, critical revision, and final approval for all aspects of the work and the final version to be published.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Milan Milojevic for excellent technical assistance.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia (projects 175103 and 175069) and from the Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac (projects JP 12-09 and JP 15-05).

- Chou DB, Sworder B, Bouladoux N, Roy CN, Uchida AM, Grigg M, et al. Stromal-derived IL-6 alters the balance of myeloerythroid progenitors during *Toxoplasma gondii* infection. *J Leukoc Biol* (2012) 92:123–31. doi:10.1189/jlb.1011527
- Hunter CA, Jones SA. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat Immunol (2015) 16(5):448–57. doi:10.1038/ni.3153
- Hegde S, Pahne J, Smola-Hess S. Novel immunosuppressive properties of interleukin-6 in dendritic cells: inhibition of NF-kB binding activity and CCR7 expression. FASEB J (2004) 18(12):1439–41. doi:10.1096/fj.03-0969fje
- Nagabhushanam V, Solache A, Ting LM, Escaron CJ, Zhang JY, Ernst JD. Innate inhibition of adaptive immunity: *Mycobacterium tuberculo*sis-induced IL-6 inhibits macrophage responses to IFN-g. J Immunol (2003) 171:4750–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4750
- Silver JS, Stumhofer JS, Passos S, Ernst M, Hunter CA. IL-6 mediates the susceptibility of glycoprotein 130 hypermorphs to *Toxoplasma gondii*. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:350–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1004144
- Mauer J, Chaurasia B, Goldau J, Vogt MC, Ruud J, Nguyen KD, et al. Signaling by IL-6 promotes alternative activation of macrophages to limit endotoxemia and obesity-associated resistance to insulin. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:423–30. doi:10.1038/ni.2865
- Tilg H, Trehu E, Atkins MB, Dinarello CA, Mier JW. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) as an anti-inflammatory cytokine: induction of circulating IL-1 receptor antagonist and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor p55. *Blood* (1994) 83:113–8.
- Rincón M, Anguita J, Nakamura T, Fikrig E, Flavell RA. Interleukin (IL)-6 directs the differentiation of IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* (1997) 185:461–9. doi:10.1084/jem.185.3.461
- Diehl S, Rincón M. The two faces of IL-6 on Th1/Th2 differentiation. Mol Immunol (2002) 39:531–6. doi:10.1016/S0161-5890(02)00210-9

- Fielding CA, Jones GW, McLoughlin RM, McLeod L, Hammond VJ, Uceda J, et al. Interleukin-6 signaling drives fibrosis in unresolved inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 40:40–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.022
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. Eur J Immunol (2010) 40:1830–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201040391
- Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, et al. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* (2006) 441:235–8. doi:10.1038/nature04753
- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the T(H)17 lineage. *Nature* (2006) 441:231–4. doi:10.1038/nature04754
- Iwakura Y, Ishigame H, Saijo S, Nakae S. Functional specialization of interleukin-17 family members. *Immunity* (2011) 34:149–62. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.02.012
- Dominitzki S, Fantini MC, Neufert C, Nikolaev A, Galle PR, Scheller J, et al. Cutting edge: trans-signaling via the soluble IL-6R abrogates the induction of FoxP3 in naïve CD4+CD25 T cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:2041–5. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2041
- Stumhofer JS, Silver JS, Laurence A, Porrett PM, Harris TH, Turka LA, et al. Interleukins 27 and 6 induce STAT3-mediated T cell production of interleukin 10. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1363–71. doi:10.1038/ni1537
- McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, et al. TGF-b and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain TH-17 cell-mediated pathology. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1390–7. doi:10.1038/ni1539
- Müller N, Riedel M, Gruber R, Manfred A, Schwarz M. The immune system and schizophrenia—an integrative view. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2000) 917:456–67. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb05410.x
- Lajtha A, Galoyan A, Besedovsky H. Handbook of Neurochemistry and Molecular Neurobiology: Neuroimmunology. 3rd ed. New York: Springer (2010). 165 p.
- Breder CD, Dinarello DA, Saper CB. Interleukin-1 immunoreactive innervation of the human hypothalamus. *Science* (1988) 240:321–4. doi:10.1126/ science.3258444
- Freidin M, Bennett MV, Kessler JA. Cultured sympathetic neurons synthesize and release the cytokine interleukin 1 beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1992) 89(21):10440–3. doi:10.1073/pnas.89.21.10440
- Gladkevich A, Kauffman HF, Korf J. Lymphocytes as a neural probe: potential for studying psychiatric disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 28(3):559–76. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.01.009
- Gadient RA, Cron KC, Otten U. Interleukin-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha synergistically stimulate nerve growth factor (NGF) release from cultured rat astrocytes. *Neurosci Lett* (1990) 117:335–40. doi:10.1016/ 0304-3940(90)90687-5
- Schulte-Herbruggen O, Nassenstein C, Lommatzsch M, Quarcoo D, Renz H, Braun A. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6 regulate secretion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in human monocytes. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) 160:204–9. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.10.026
- Brown JA, Sherrod SD, Goodwin CR, Brewer B, Yang L, Garbett KA, et al. Metabolic consequences of interleukin-6 challenge in developing neurons and astroglia. *J Neuroinflammation* (2014) 11:183. doi:10.1186/ s12974-014-0183-6
- Erta M, Quintana A, Hidalgo J. Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system. *Int J Biol Sci* (2012) 8(9):1254–66. doi:10.7150/ijbs.4679
- LeMay LG, Vander AJ, Kluger MJ. Role of interleukin 6 in fever in rats. *Am J Physiol* (1990) 258(3 Pt 2):R798–803.
- Nguyen K, D'Mello C, Le T, Urbanski S, Swain MG. Regulatory T cells suppress sickness behaviour development without altering liver injury in cholestatic mice. J Hepatol (2012) 56(3):626–31. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.09.014
- Hama T, Kushima Y, Miyamoto M, Kubota M, Takei N, Hatanaka H. Interleukin-6 improves the survival of mesencephalic catecholaminergic and septal cholinergic neurons from postnatal, two-week-old rats in cultures. *Neuroscience* (1991) 40(2):445–52. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(91)90132-8
- Zalcman S, Green-Johnson JM, Murray L, Nance DM, Dyck D, Anisman H, et al. Cytokine-specific central monoamine alterations induced by interleukin-1, -2 and -6. *Brain Res* (1994) 643(1–2):40–9. doi:10.1016/0006-8993 (94)90006-X
- Day JS, O'Neill E, Cawley C, Aretz NK, Kilroy D, Gibney SM, et al. Noradrenaline acting on astrocyticβ2-adrenoceptors induces neurite

outgrowth in primary cortical neurons. *Neuropharmacology* (2014) 77:234–48. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.09.027

- Müller N, Myint AM, Krause D, Weidinger E, Schwarz MJ. Anti-inflammatory treatment in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 42:146–53. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.11.008
- Khandaker GM, Pearson RM, Zammit S, Lewis G, Jones PB. Association of serum interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein in childhood with depression and psychosis in young adult life: a population-based longitudinal study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71(10):1121–8. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry. 2014.1332
- Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(12):1696–709. doi:10.1038/mp.2016.3
- 44. Frydecka D, Misiak B, Pawlak-Adamska E, Karabon L, Tomkiewicz A, Sedlaczek P, et al. Interleukin-6: the missing element of the neurocognitive deterioration in schizophrenia? The focus on genetic underpinnings, cognitive impairment and clinical manifestation. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2015) 265(6):449–59. doi:10.1007/s00406-014-0533-5
- 45. Mondelli V, Cattaneo A, Murri MB, Di Forti M, Handley R, Hepgul N, et al. Stress and inflammation reduce brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in first-episode psychosis: a pathway to smaller hippocampal volume. J Clin Psychiatry (2011) 72(12):1677–84. doi:10.4088/JCP.10m06745
- 46. Baumeister D, Akhtar R, Ciufolini S, Pariante CM, Mondelli V. Childhood trauma and adulthood inflammation: a meta-analysis of peripheral C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor-α. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(5):642–9. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.67
- Meyer U, Feldon J. Epidemiology-driven neurodevelopmental animal models of schizophrenia. *Prog Neurobiol* (2010) 90(3):285–326. doi:10.1016/j. pneurobio.2009.10.018
- Dennison U, McKernan D, Cryan J, Dinan T. Schizophrenia patients with a history of childhood trauma have a pro-inflammatory phenotype. *Psychol Med* (2012) 42(9):1865–71. doi:10.1017/S0033291712000074
- Van Kammen DP, McAllister-Sistilli CG, Kelley ME, Gurklis JA, Yao JK. Elevated interleukin-6 in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (1999) 87(2–3): 129–36. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(99)00053-0
- Katila H, Appelberg B, Hurme M, Rimón R. Plasma levels of interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 in schizophrenia, other psychoses, and affective disorders. *Schizophr Res* (1994) 12(1):29–34. doi:10.1016/0920-9964(94) 90081-7
- Katila H, Hurme M, Wahlbeck K, Appelberg B, Rimón R. Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-6 in hospitalized schizophrenic patients. *Neuropsychobiology* (1994) 30(1):20–3. doi:10.1159/ 000119130
- Baker I, Masserano J, Wyatt RJ. Serum cytokine concentrations in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (1996) 20(1–2):199–203. doi:10.1016/ 0920-9964(95)00089-5
- Haack M, Hinze-Selch D, Fenzel T, Kraus T, Kühn M, Schuld A, et al. Plasma levels of cytokines and soluble cytokine receptors in psychiatric patients upon hospital admission: effects of confounding factors and diagnosis. J Psychiatr Res (1999) 33(5):407–18. doi:10.1016/S0022-3956(99) 00021-7
- Erbağci AB, Herken H, Köylüoglu O, Yilmaz N, Tarakçioglu M. Serum IL-1beta, sIL-2R, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-alpha in schizophrenic patients, relation with symptomatology and responsiveness to risperidone treatment. *Mediators Inflamm* (2001) 10(3):109–15. doi:10.1080/09629350123895
- Cazzullo CL, Sacchetti E, Galluzzo A, Panariello A, Colombo F, Zagliani A, et al. Cytokine profiles in drug-naive schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res* (2001) 47(2–3):293–8. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00046-3
- Garver DL, Tamas RL, Holcomb JA. Elevated interleukin-6 in the cerebrospinal fluid of a previously delineated schizophrenia subtype. *Neuro*psychopharmacology (2003) 28(8):1515–20. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1300217
- Hayes LN, Severance EG, Leek JT, Gressitt KL, Rohleder C, Coughlin JM, et al. Inflammatory molecular signature associated with infectious agents in psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(5):963–72. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbu052
- Schwieler L, Larsson MK, Skogh E, Kegel ME, Orhan F, Abdelmoaty S, et al. Increased levels of IL-6 in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with chronic schizophrenia-significance for activation of the kynurenine pathway. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (2015) 40(2):126–33. doi:10.1503/jpn.140126

- Potvin S, Stip E, Sepehry AA, Gendron A, Bah R, Kouassi E. Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: a systematic quantitative review. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63(8):801–8. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.09.024
- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70(7):663–71. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011. 04.013
- Stojanovic A, Martorell L, Montalvo I, Ortega L, Monseny R, Vilella E, et al. Increased serum interleukin-6 levels in early stages of psychosis: associations with at-risk mental states and the severity of psychotic symptoms. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 41:23–32. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2013.12.005
- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Djukic Dejanovic S, Bankovic D, Arsenijevic N, et al. Elevated serum level of type-2 cytokine and low IL-17 in first episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse. J Psychiatr Res (2012) 46(11):1421–6. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.08.016
- Ganguli R, Yang Z, Shurin G, Chengappa KN, Brar JS, Gubbi AV, et al. Serum interleukin-6 concentration in schizophrenia: elevation associated with duration of illness. *Psychiatry Res* (1994) 51(1):1–10. doi:10.1016/ 0165-1781(94)90042-6
- 64. Dimitrov DH, Lee S, Yantis J, Valdez C, Paredes RM, Braida N, et al. Differential correlations between inflammatory cytokines and psychopathology in veterans with schizophrenia: potential role for IL-17 pathway. Schizophr Res (2013) 151(1–3):29–35. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013. 10.019
- Chase KA, Cone JJ, Rosen C, Sharma RP. The value of interleukin 6 as a peripheral diagnostic marker in schizophrenia. *BMC Psychiatry* (2016) 16:152. doi:10.1186/s12888-016-0866-x
- Kim YK, Kim L, Lee MS. Relationships between interleukins, neurotransmitters and psychopathology in drug-free male schizophrenics. *Schizophr Res* (2000) 44(3):165–75. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00171-1
- Lee EE, Hong S, Martin AS, Eyler LT, Jeste DV. Inflammation in schizophrenia: cytokine levels and their relationships to demographic and clinical variables. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry* (2017) 25(1):50–61. doi:10.1016/j.jagp. 2016.09.009
- Möller HJ. Development of DSM-V and ICD-11: tendencies and potential of new classifications in psychiatry at the current state of knowledge. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63(5):595–612. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009. 02020.x
- 69. Carpenter WT. The facts of schizophrenia: a personal commentary. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 128(1–3):3–4. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2011.03.002
- Osborn O, Olefsky JM. The cellular and signaling networks linking the immune system and metabolism in disease. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:363–74. doi:10.1038/nm.2627
- Weisberg SP, McCann D, Desai M, Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL, Ferrante AW Jr. Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. J Clin Invest (2003) 112:1796–808. doi:10.1172/JCI200319246
- Strissel KJ, DeFuria J, Shaul ME, Bennett G, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. T-cell recruitment and Th1 polarization in adipose tissue during dietinduced obesity in C57BL/6 mice. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2010) 2018: 1918–25. doi:10.1038/oby.2010.1
- 73. Ohmura K, Ishimori N, Ohmura Y, Tokuhara S, Nozawa A, Horii S, et al. Natural killer T cells are involved in adipose tissues inflammation and glucose intolerance in diet-induced obese mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2010) 30:193–9. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.198614
- Lumeng CN, Bodzin JL, Saltiel AR. Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J Clin Invest (2007) 117:175–84. doi:10.1172/JCI29881
- 75. Ilan Y, Maron R, Tukpah AM, Maioli TU, Murugaiyan G, Yang K, et al. Induction of regulatory T cells decreases adipose inflammation and alleviates insulin resistance in ob/ob mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:9765–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908771107
- Uysal KT, Wiesbrock SM, Marino MW, Hotamisligil GS. Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking TNF-a function. *Nature* (1997) 389:610–4. doi:10.1038/39335
- 77. Weiss TW, Arnesen H, Seljeflot I. Components of the interleukin-6 transsignalling system are associated with the metabolic syndrome, endothelial dysfunction and arterial stiffness. *Metabolism* (2013) 62(7):1008–13. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2013.01.019

- Pedersen BK, Febbraio MA. Point: interleukin-6 does have a beneficial role in insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis. *J Appl Physiol* (2007) 102:814–6. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01208.2006
- Matthews VB, Allen TL, Risis S, Chan MH, Henstridge DC, Watson N, et al. Interleukin-6-deficient mice develop hepatic inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. *Diabetologia* (2016) 53:2431–41. doi:10.1007/ s00125-010-1865-y
- Shizuya K, Komori T, Fujiwara R, Miyahara S, Ohmori M, Nomura J. The expressions of mRNAs for interleukin-6 (IL-6) and the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) in the rat hypothalamus and midbrain during restraint stress. *Life Sci* (1998) 62(25):2315–20. doi:10.1016/S0024-3205(98)00212-4
- Stenlöf K, Wernstedt I, Fjällman T, Wallenius V, Wallenius K, Jansson JO. Interleukin-6 levels in the central nervous system are negatively correlated with fat mass in overweight/obese subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2003) 88(9):4379–83. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021733
- Wallenius K, Wallenius V, Sunter D, Dickson SL, Jansson JO. Intracerebroventricular interleukin-6 treatment decreases body fat in rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2002) 293:560–5. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(02) 00230-9
- Wallenius V, Wallenius K, Ahrén B, Rudling M, Carlsten H, Dickson SL, et al. Interleukin-6-deficient mice develop mature-onset obesity. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(1):75–9. doi:10.1038/nm0102-75
- American Diabetic Association. Consensus development conference on antipsychotic drugs and obesity and diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27: 596–601. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.2.596
- Ryan MC, Flanagan S, Kinsella U, Keeling F, Thakore JH. Atypical antipsychotics and visceral fat distribution in first episode, drug-naïve patients with schizophrenia. *Life Sci* (2004) 74(16):1999–2008. doi:10.1016/j.lfs. 2003.08.044
- Steiner J, Bernstein HG, Schiltz K, Müller UJ, Westphal S, Drexhage HA, et al. Immune system and glucose metabolism interaction in schizophrenia: a chicken-egg dilemma. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 48:287–94. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.09.016
- Mukherjee S, Schnur DB, Reddy R. Family history of type 2 diabetes in schizophrenic patients. *Lancet* (1989) 1(8636):495. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(89)91392-5
- Spelman LM, Walsh PI, Sharifi N, Collins P, Thakore JH. Impaired glucose tolerance in first-episode drug-naïve patients with schizophrenia. *Diabet Med* (2007) 24(5):481–5. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2007.02092.x
- Guest PC, Wang L, Harris LW, Burling K, Levin Y, Ernst A, et al. Increased levels of circulating insulin-related peptides in first-onset, antipsychotic naïve schizophrenia patients. *Mol Psychiatry* (2010) 15(2):118–9. doi:10.1038/mp.2009.81
- Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11(2):98–107. doi:10.1038/nri2925
- Neelamekam S, Nurjono M, Lee J. Regulation of interleukin-6 and leptin in schizophrenia patients: a preliminary analysis. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* (2014) 12(3):209–14. doi:10.9758/cpn.2014.12.3.209
- Chase KA, Rosen C, Gin H, Bjorkquist O, Feiner B, Marvin R, et al. Metabolic and inflammatory genes in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 225(1–2):208–11. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.11.007
- Gispen-de Wied CC. Stress in schizophrenia: an integrative view. Eur J Pharmacol (2000) 405:375–84. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(00)00567-7
- Aronson D, Avizohar O, Levy Y, Bartha P, Jacob G, Markiewicz W. Factor analysis of risk variables associated with low-grade inflammation. *Athero-sclerosis* (2008) 200:206–12. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.12.008
- Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Stress, food, and inflammation: psychoneuroimmunology and nutrition at the cutting edge. *Psychosom Med* (2010) 72:365–9. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181dbf489
- Klemettilä JP, Kampman O, Seppälä N, Viikki M, Hämäläinen M, Moilanen E, et al. Cytokine and adipokine alterations in patients with schizophrenia treated with clozapine. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 218(3):277–83. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.04.049
- Jin H, Meyer JM, Mudaliar S, Jeste DV. Impact of atypical antipsychotic therapy on leptin, ghrelin, and adiponectin. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 100:70–85. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2007.11.026
- DiLeone RJ. The influence of leptin on the dopamine system and implications for ingestive behavior. *Int J Obes (Lond)* (2009) 33(Suppl 2):S25–9. doi:10.1038/ijo.2009.68

- Trujillo ME, Sullivan S, Harten I, Schneider SH, Greenberg AS, Fried SK. Interleukin-6 regulates human adipose tissue lipid metabolism and leptin production in vitro. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89:5577–82. doi:10.1210/ jc.2004-0603
- Granowitz EV. Transforming growth factor-beta enhances and proinflammatory cytokines inhibit ob gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1997) 240:382–5. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.7663
- Bruun JM, Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Richelsen B. Effects of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines on leptin production in human adipose tissue in vitro. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2002) 190:91–9. doi:10.1016/ S0303-7207(02)00007-2
- 102. Dodd S, Maes M, Anderson G, Dean OM, Moylan S, Berk M. Putative neuroprotective agents in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 42:135–45. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.11.007
- Davis C, Mudd J, Hawkins M. Neuroprotective effects of leptin in the context of obesity and metabolic disorders. *Neurobiol Dis* (2014) 72(Pt A):61–71. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.04.012
- Tourjman V, Koué MÈ, Kouassi E, Potvin S. Immunomodulatory effects of antipsychotics on inflammatory mediators: a review. *Adv Biosci Biotechnol* (2012) 3:551–65. doi:10.4236/abb.2012.324072
- 105. Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Djukic Dejanovic S, Stefanovic V, Arsenijevic N, et al. Antipsychotics can modulate the cytokine profile in schizophrenia: attenuation of the type-2 inflammatory response. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 147(1):103–9. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2013.03.027
- 106. Tilg H, Kaser A. Gut microbiome, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(6):2126–32. doi:10.1172/JCI58109
- Dinan TG, Borre YE, Cryan JF. Genomics of schizophrenia: time to consider the gut microbiome? *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(12):1252–7. doi:10.1038/ mp.2014.93
- Kamada N, Seo SU, Chen GY, Núñez G. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(5):321–35. doi:10.1038/nri3430
- 109. Severance EG, Alaedini A, Yang S, Halling M, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, et al. Gastrointestinal inflammation and associated immune activation in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res (2012) 138(1):48–53. doi:10.1016/j.schres. 2012.02.025
- 110. Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2(3):258–70. doi:10.1016/ S2215-0366(14)00122-9
- Yolken RH, Torrey EF. Viruses, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. Clin Microbiol Rev (1995) 8(1):131–45.
- 112. Zheng LT, Hwang J, Ock J, Lee MG, Lee WH, Suk K. The antipsychotic spiperone attenuates inflammatory response in cultured microglia via the reduction of proinflammatory cytokine expression and nitric oxide production. *J Neurochem* (2008) 107(5):1225–35. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008. 05675.x
- 113. Kato T, Mizoguchi Y, Monji A, Horikawa H, Suzuki SO, Seki Y, et al. Inhibitory effects of aripiprazole on interferon-gamma-induced microglial activation via intracellular Ca2+ regulation in vitro. J Neurochem (2008) 106(2):815–25. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05435.x
- 114. Monji A, Kato T, Kanba S. Cytokines and schizophrenia: microglia hypothesis of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2009) 63:257–65. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2009.01945.x
- Pae CU, Yoon CH, Kim TS, Kim JJ, Park SH, Lee CU, et al. Antipsychotic treatment may alter T-helper (TH) 2 arm cytokines. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2006) 6(4):666–71. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2005.10.004
- 116. Singh B, Bera NK, Nayak CR, Chaudhuri TK. Decreased serum levels of interleukin-2 and interleukin-6 in Indian Bengalee schizophrenic patients. *Cytokine* (2009) 47(1):1–5. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2009.05.005
- 117. O'Brien SM, Scully P, Dinan TG. Increased tumor necrosis factor-alpha concentrations with interleukin-4 concentrations in exacerbations of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2008) 160(3):256–62. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2007. 11.014
- 118. Lin A, Kenis G, Bignotti S, Tura GJ, De Jong R, Bosmans E, et al. The inflammatory response system in treatment-resistant schizophrenia: increased serum interleukin-6. *Schizophr Res* (1998) 32(1):9–15. doi:10.1016/ S0920-9964(98)00034-6

- 119. Mondelli V, Ciufolini S, Belvederi Murri M, Bonaccorso S, Di Forti M, Giordano A, et al. Cortisol and inflammatory biomarkers predict poor treatment response in first episode psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(5):1162–70. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv028
- Kronfol Z, Remick DG. Cytokines and the brain: implications for clinical psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry (2000) 157(5):683–94. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.157.5.683
- 121. Kim YK, Myint AM, Lee BH, Han CS, Lee HJ, Kim DJ, et al. Th1, Th2 and Th3 cytokine alteration in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 28(7):1129–34. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2004.05.047
- 122. Schmitt A, Bertsch T, Tost H, Bergmann A, Henning U, Klimke A, et al. Increased serum interleukin-1beta and interleukin-6 in elderly, chronic schizophrenic patients on stable antipsychotic medication. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2005) 1(2):171–7. doi:10.2147/nedt.1.2.171.61048
- Meyer U. Anti-inflammatory signaling in schizophrenia. Brain Behav Immun (2011) 25(8):1507–18. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2011.05.014
- 124. Zhang Y, Catts VS, Sheedy D, McCrossin T, Kril JJ, Shannon Weickert C. Cortical grey matter volume reduction in people with schizophrenia is associated with neuro-inflammation. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6(12):e982. doi:10.1038/tp.2016.238
- 125. Maes M, Meltzer HY, Bosmans E. Immune-inflammatory markers in schizophrenia: comparison to normal controls and effects of clozapine. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (1994) 89(5):346–51. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.1994. tb01527.x
- 126. Maes M, Bosmans E, Kenis G, De Jong R, Smith RS, Meltzer HY. In vivo immunomodulatory effects of clozapine in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (1997) 26(2–3):221–5. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00057-1
- 127. Pollmacher T, Haack M, Schuld A, Kraus T, Hinze-Selch D. Effects of antipsychotic drugs on cytokine networks. J Psychiatr Res (2000) 34(6): 369–82. doi:10.1016/S0022-3956(00)00032-7
- Hinze-Selch D, Becker EW, Stein GM, Berg PA, Mullington J, Holsboer F, et al. Effects of clozapine on in vitro immune parameters: a longitudinal study in clozapine-treated schizophrenic patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (1998) 19(2):114–22. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(98)00006-2
- 129. Reale M, Patruno A, De Lutiis MA, Pesce M, Felaco M, Di Giannantonio M, et al. Dysregulation of chemo-cytokine production in schizophrenic patients versus healthy controls. *BMC Neurosci* (2011) 12:13. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2202-12-13
- Watanabe Y, Someya T, Nawa H. Cytokine hypothesis of schizophrenia pathogenesis: evidence from human studies and animal models. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2010) 64(3):217–30. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2010. 02094.x
- 131. Zhang Q, He M, Deng C, Wang H, Huang XF. Effects of olanzapine on the elevation of macrophage infiltration and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in female rats. *J Psychopharmacol* (2014) 28(12):1161–9. doi:10.1177/ 0269881114555250
- Müller N, Myint AM, Schwarz MJ. Immunological treatment options for schizophrenia. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol* (2012) 13(8):1606–13. doi:10.2174/ 138920112800784826
- 133. Sommer IE, de Witte L, Begemann M, Kahn RS. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs in schizophrenia: ready for practice or a good start? A meta-analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2012) 73(4):414–9. doi:10.4088/JCP. 10r06823
- 134. Nitta M, Kishimoto T, Muller N, Weiser M, Davidson M, Kane JM, et al. Adjunctive use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of randomized controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(6):1230–41. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbt070
- Müller N, Riedel M, Schwarz MJ, Engel RR. Clinical effects of COX-2 inhibitors on cognition in schizophrenia. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2005) 255(2):149–51. doi:10.1007/s00406-004-0548-4
- Rossi JF, Lu ZY, Jourdan M, Klein B. Interleukin-6 as a therapeutic target. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(6):1248–57. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2291
- Brod SA, Bauer VL. Ingested (oral) tocilizumab inhibits EAE. Cytokine (2014) 68(2):86–93. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.04.003
- Nishimoto N, Kanakura Y, Aozasa K, Johkoh T, Nakamura M, Nakano S, et al. Humanized anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody treatment of multicentric Castleman disease. *Blood* (2005) 106:2627–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-12-4602
- 139. Greenhalgh AM, Gonzalez-Blanco L, Garcia-Rizo C, Fernandez-Egea E, Miller B, Arroyo MB, et al. Meta-analysis of glucose tolerance, insulin, and insulin resistance in antipsychotic-naïve patients with nonaffective psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 179:57–63. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016. 09.026
- 140. Misiak B, Stańczykiewicz B, Łaczmański Ł, Frydecka D. Lipid profile disturbances in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode non-affective psychosis: authors' reply. *Schizophr Res* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.schres.2017. 04.032
- 141. Kanji S, Fonseka TM, Marshe VS, Sriretnakumar V, Hahn MK, Müller DJ. The microbiome-gut-brain axis: implications for schizophrenia and antipsychotic induced weight gain. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2017). doi:10.1007/s00406-017-0820-z

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer KK and handling editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2017 Borovcanin, Jovanovic, Radosavljevic, Pantic, Minic Janicijevic, Arsenijevic and Lukic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: An Immunological Disorder?

Zhewu Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Blaine Caughron<sup>3</sup> and M. Rita I. Young<sup>3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Mental Health Service, Ralph H. Johnson VA Medical Center, Charleston, SC, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States, <sup>3</sup>Research Service, Ralph H. Johnson VA Medical Center, Charleston, SC, United States, <sup>4</sup>Department of Otolaryngology – Head and Neck Surgery, Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, United States

Patients with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) exhibit an increased state of inflammation. Various animal models for PTSD have shown some of the same immune imbalances as have been shown in human subjects with PTSD, and some of these studies are discussed in this review. However, animal studies can only indirectly implicate immune involvement in PTSD in humans. This review of mainly studies with human subjects focuses on dissecting the immunological role in the pathogenesis of PTSD following initial trauma exposure. It addresses both the inflammatory state associated with PTSD and the immune imbalance between stimulatory and inhibitory immune mediators, as well as variables that can lead to discrepancies between analyses. The concept of immunological treatment approaches is proposed for PTSD, as new treatments are needed for this devastating disorder that is affecting unprecedented numbers of Veterans from the long-standing wars in the Middle East and which affects civilians following severe trauma.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Dorota Frydecka, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Kelly M. Standifer, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, United States Tamas Kozicz, Radboud University Nijmegen, Netherlands Anđelko Vidović, Klinika za psihijatriju Vrapče, Croatia

> \*Correspondence: M. Rita I. Young youngmr@musc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 August 2017 Accepted: 23 October 2017 Published: 06 November 2017

#### Citation:

Wang Z, Caughron B and Young MRI (2017) Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: An Immunological Disorder? Front. Psychiatry 8:222. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00222 Keywords: Immune, Inflammation, PTSD, Stress, Disorder

#### IMMUNE IMBALANCES IN POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER (PTSD)

Posttraumatic stress disorder is a debilitating psychiatric disorder that follows trauma exposure. There are four symptom clusters that characterize PTSD: reliving the traumatic event, avoidance of situations reminiscent of the traumatic event, negative thoughts and mood, and hyperarousal. These symptoms are debilitating to function. Trauma exposure is a required risk factor for developing PTSD, but is not sufficient as not all who are exposed to trauma develop PTSD (1, 2). The complex phenotype of PTSD emerges from interactions among genetic, environmental, and other biological risk factors. Dissecting the causes of PTSD could identify individuals who would be at increased risk of developing PTSD following trauma exposure.

A number of studies assessing cytokine levels and, in a few instances, blood immune cell functions have provided support for immunological involvement in PTSD following an initial trauma event. Although somewhat inconsistent, the compilation of these studies points to immune alterations in PTSD that indicate the immunological balance is skewed toward a pro-inflammatory state (**Table 1**). This is supported by increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-17 in the plasma, and increased levels of immune stimulatory Th1 and inflammatory Th17 cells in the blood (3–8). The increase in levels of the pro-inflammatory mediators IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  in plasma of PTSD subjects is associated with multiple genetic and epigenetic modifications in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (9).

73

	Source	Mediator	Reference	Interpretation caution
Increase in inflammatory cytokine or cell levels	Plasma	IL-2 IFN-γ IL-6	(5–9)	Depression associated with increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines Diurnal variations May be influenced by type of trauma, time since trauma
		TNF-α		
		IL-12		
		IL-17		
	Saliva	IL-2	(6, 25, 26)	Oral health conditions increase pro-inflammatory cytokines
		IFN-γ		
		IL-6		
		IL-17		
		CCL2		
	Blood cell secretion	IL-1	(22)	Leukocyte cytokine secretion may not reflect plasma levels
		IL-6		
		TNF-α		
	Blood cells	Th1	(3)	
		Th17		
Decrease in inhibitory cytokine or cell levels	Plasma	TGF-β	(5, 6, 8, 20, 21)	Decrease may be difficult to see if normal levels are low
		IL-4		
		IL-10		
	Saliva	IL-4	(6)	
		IL-10		
	Blood cells	Treg	(3, 23)	

Multiple molecular genetics studies that have sought to pinpoint genetic variations associated with the risk for PTSD after trauma exposure (10). Some of these include genes encoding mediators involved in immune regulation. The best studied is the FK506-binding protein 5 gene, FKBP5, which encodes an immune regulatory immunophilin (11). FKBP5 gene variants moderate the effect of trauma exposure on the risk of PTSD. The minor allele of FKBP5 SNPs rs1360780 was associated with increased hurricane-associated PTSD (12). In subjects with chronic pain, heterozygous T-allele carriers of the FKBP5 SNP rs9470080 were associated with an increased risk for PTSD (13). A study of mainly African-American subjects who had experienced severe childhood trauma showed that those who carried minor alleles of FKBP5 SNPs rs9296158, rs3800373, rs1360780, or rs9470080 were more likely to exhibit PTSD (14).

In addition to FKBP5 polymorphisms, there are associations between variants in the pro-inflammatory C-reactive protein (CRP) and PTSD. A study of mainly African-American innercity individuals who had been exposed to trauma showed a link between a CRP SNP, rs1130864, and the risk of PTSD, with the most prominent symptom of being overly alert (15). This risk SNP was also associated with increased serum CRP levels, which indicates an inflammatory state.

Multiple studies have indicated that immune hyperactivation could be a predictor of PTSD risk. For example, high levels of CRP in Marines before their deployment were predictive of PTSD following deployment; this study suggested inflammation to be a contributor to PTSD (16). Blood levels of inflammatory cytokines were increased in hospitalized patients with traumatic orthopedic injuries who subsequently developed PTSD (8). In a pre- and post-deployment analysis that used whole-transcriptome RNA-Seq gene expression of blood from U.S. Marines, both pairs of samples from subjects who developed PTSD over-expressed genes enriched for immune responses (17). This supports the concept that immune hyperactivation before trauma exposure could predict PTSD.

Some studies have shown that increases in inflammatory mediators correlate with PTSD severity (3), although others have not (18). A polymorphism in the gene of the inflammatory marker, TNF- $\alpha$  (rs1800629) was associated with PTSD in Vietnam war combat Veterans, and correlated with PTSD severity (19). While rs1800629 was a risk genotype for PTSD severity, serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were associated with symptom severity, but only trended to significance when controlling for covariates.

Although studies have shown increases in pro-inflammatory mediators in subjects with PTSD, fewer have measured inhibitory cytokines (5, 8, 20). In such studies, PTSD subjects have generally lower inhibitory cell levels such as Treg and reduced levels of the inhibitory mediators TGF- $\beta$  and IL-4 (3, 6) in the blood. A comparison of individuals who were exposed to urban violence-associated trauma showed that those with PTSD had lower blood levels of the inhibitory mediator IL-10 than those who were resilient to the trauma (21). The importance of these deficiencies in immune inhibitory regulators is that a healthy immune status is composed of a balance of stimulatory and inhibitory and inhibitory mediators. In studies where balances in stimulatory and inhibitory mediators were assessed, immune skewing was toward the pro-inflammatory direction in Veterans and civilians with PTSD (6, 8).

Most studies examining the changes in cytokine levels in PTSD have measured cytokine levels in the blood. However, several studies have also examined the sources of the pro-inflammatory cytokines. Blood leukocytes of war-exposed refugees with PTSD spontaneously produced increased levels of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ 

than did leukocytes of controls, although plasma cytokine levels were similar among the two groups of subjects (22). Also shown in this study was a direct correlation between PTSD severity and spontaneous secretion of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  by the leukocytes. Stimulation of the PTSD subjects' blood leukocytes with LPS further increased IL-6 production to higher levels than those produced by leukocytes of controls. A separate analysis of peripheral blood of combat Veterans with PTSD showed increases in blood pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 subsets and a reduction in the number of inhibitory Treg (3). Reduced levels of Treg cells were similarly seen in war-exposed civilians with PTSD as compared to exposed civilians without PTSD or controls (23). In contrast, a separate study comparing war Veterans to age-matched healthy controls showed reduced T-cell production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-2 and IFN-y (24). Possible reasons for the discrepancies among some of these studies are discussed below.

There have been a few studies that also examined levels of immune mediators in saliva. Similar to the blood observations, inflammatory mediator levels in saliva were increased following stress exposure (25, 26). Veterans with PTSD had higher levels of pro-inflammatory mediators IL-2, IFN-y, IL-6, and IL-17 and reduced levels of the inhibitory mediators IL-4 and IL-10 in saliva compared to Veterans without combat-related PTSD (6). In this latter study, it was shown that the immune cytokine imbalances in PTSD patients are more prominently expressed in saliva than in blood (6). A study of hurricane survivors with PTSD showed that the increased saliva levels of the inflammatory mediator CCL2 (MCP-1) correlated with PTSD severity (25). The origin of cytokines in saliva and whether salivary cytokine levels are a reflection of blood levels has been questioned, but increases in inflammatory cytokines have appeared rapidly in saliva following acute stress and could reflect mental health status (26-28).

Comorbidities need to be considered when studying immune imbalances in saliva, plasma, or blood cells of PTSD subjects. For example, oral health increases salivary cytokine levels in individuals with periodontitis, gingivitis, premalignant oral lesions, and oral cancer (29, 30). Depression, which is common in subjects with PTSD, also increases levels of inflammatory cytokines (31). However, several studies that examined the contribution of depression to the increases in inflammatory cytokines in subjects with PTSD showed that such increases were independent of a depression diagnosis (6, 32). Other variables that can impact on cytokine or immune cell analyses could include treatments and recovery from PTSD. Traumatized women with PTSD had increased plasma levels of IL-6, but those who had recovered from PTSD had the same lower levels as did healthy controls (33). The reduced levels of Treg in war-exposed PTSD subjects were restored to levels of healthy controls following narrative exposure therapy (23). Cytokine levels can also be influenced by technical complications. For example, cytokines such as IL-1 and IL-6 exhibit diurnal variations, which can contribute to differing results among studies (34, 35). The type of trauma can also impact on cytokine measurements. This was highlighted by an analysis showing that interpersonal-related traumas had distinct gene expression signatures from combat-related traumas, but there was convergence on immune cascades between the different trauma categories (36).

More difficult to control in studies with human subjects is the impact of the duration between the PTSD-associated trauma and the time of immunological analysis, in particular if the immunological skewing is a predisposing factor for PTSD (37). However, this can be controlled in animal models of PTSD. Using the stress-enhanced fear learning model, IL-1 expression was shown to rapidly increase (within 6 h) in the dorsal hippocampus and remain increased for the 72-h duration of assessments (38). Brain levels of IL- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  were also increased within 1 day of stress re-exposure in a rat predator stress model for PTSD (39). Also using the predator model, a separate study showed increased brain levels of the inflammatory mediator IL-1 and reduced levels of the inhibitory mediators IL-4 and IL-10 after 7 days following re-exposure (40). While these studies in animal models of PTSD demonstrate dysregulation of cytokines within the brain within a short period of time following stress exposure, there is a deficiency in studies to demonstrate the duration of this immune imbalance. This leaves a gap in understanding the kinetics of the immune imbalances associated with PTSD as diagnosis, immune analysis, and treatment for humans with PTSD typically occur considerably later after exposure to the traumatic event. However, these animal models are in a unique position to determine whether immunological dysregulation is a consequence or a cause of PTSD; this is further discussed below.

#### CLINICAL IMPACTS OF IMMUNE IMBALANCES IN PTSD

Associated with PTSD is not only inflammation but its consequence on poorer health outcomes. For example, health-related quality of life was lower in military persons with PTSD who had higher plasma levels of IL-6 (41). The pro-inflammatory milieu of subjects with PTSD may predispose them to autoimmune diseases since combat Veterans with PTSD have an increased incidence of thyroiditis, inflammatory bowel disease, multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and systemic lupus erythematosus (42). Patients exhibiting trauma-related symptoms had a slower neutrophil recovery time following stem cell transplantation than those without PTSD (43). Other comorbidities of subjects with PTSD include an increased risk of coronary heart disease (25, 44). A study of a Vietnam Era Twin Registry showed that the rate of coronary heart disease in twins with PTSD was twice that of twins without PTSD (44). The increased risk of coronary heart disease in PTSD subjects could be due to the increased levels of immune chemokines such as CCL-2, which recruits monocytes toward the inflamed endothelium (25). Monocytes, whose role has not been extensively examined in PTSD, have upregulation of target genes of the pro-inflammatory NF-kB/Rel family of transcription factors, which further contributes to the inflammatory state of PTD subjects (45).

It could also be argued that the increase in autoimmune diseases and other immune-associated comorbidities of PTSD are not the result of PTSD but are predisposing factors for developing PTSD following a traumatic event. Although the immune skewing in PTSD subjects toward an inflammatory state is becoming established, it is difficult to design studies with human subjects to test causality between immune dysregulation and PTSD. However, triggering of CNS neuroinflammation by peripheral inflammation has been shown in animal models (38, 46-55). Activation of the peripheral immune system by endotoxin injection triggered neuroinflammation in the brain (49, 50). Studies with animal models have also shown the requirement for functional immune competence for anxiety behavior to be evident following stress sensitization. For example, neutralization of the inflammatory cytokine IL-1 lessened the maladaptation to acute psychological stress (38). Also shown was monocyte recruitment from the periphery to the brain in stress-sensitized mice, but splenectomy before stress sensitization prevented monocyte migration to the brain and, in turn, prevented anxiety is stress-sensitized mice (38, 46-55).

Studies with human subjects have been less frequent and less definitive, but nevertheless suggest the contribution of peripheral inflammation to neuroinflammation and behavior (Table 2). Traumatic brain injury resulting from military deployment is associated with inflammation and, more recently, this has been associated with a higher extent of PTSD comorbidity (56). This study speculated that the chronic inflammatory state associated with the traumatic brain injury results in elevated cytokine levels in the central nervous system and, in turn, microglial over-activation. In a clinical trial, patients with acute respiratory distress who were treated with GM-CSF had more severe PTSD symptoms than those treated with placebo (57). Since GM-CSF stimulates proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic cells and can cross the blood-brain barrier, this study suggested the possibility of GM-CSF stimulating either brain microglia or production of inflammatory cytokines within the brain to result in more severe PTSD.

 
 TABLE 2 | Suggestions of causal associations between immune imbalances and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD).

	Assessment	Result	Reference
Human studies			
Endotoxin administration to healthy volunteers	Plasma	↑ TNF-α ↑ IL-6 ↑ IL-8	(58)
	CNS	Brain microglial activation	(58)
Immune stimulatory cytokine administration to cancer patients	Plasma	Neurotransmitter precursors including tryptophan	(66)
	PTSD symptoms	↑ Hypervigilance, irritability, anxiety	(66)
Animal models			
Peripheral immune activation	Brain	↑ Brain neuroinflammation	(49, 50)
Blocking IL-1 signaling	PTSD symptoms	↓ Symptoms after predator stress	(38)
Blocking monocyte migration to brain	PTSD symptoms	<ul> <li>Anxiety in repeated social defeat model</li> </ul>	(46, 51)

While not directly studied, it could be expected that increased persistent infection could stimulate a chronic inflammatory state to, in turn, increase vulnerability to PTSD following trauma. This concept could be in part supported by studies with human subjects in which healthy volunteers who systemically received endotoxin exhibited stimulated peripheral levels of inflammatory mediators TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-8, and microglial activation in the brain (58). Once activated, brain microglia release mediators such as nitric oxide, IL-1, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and glutamate, which impact neurotransmission, neuronal apoptosis, neuroendocrine function, neural plasticity, and behavior (59-64). Induction of peripheral inflammation in healthy human volunteers via typhoid vaccination resulted in functional impairments in the form of reduced spatial memory performance (65). The impact of peripheral immune activation on behavior was inadvertently made evident by immune-activating treatment of cancer patients who resulted in symptoms characteristic of PTSD such as hypervigilance, irritability, anxiety, and decreased concentrations of tryptophan, a precursor to the neurotransmitter serotonin (66). The serotonergic axis influences mood, aggression, arousal, anxiety, sleep, learning, nociception, fear, and appetite (67).

#### PTSD TREATMENTS IN THE CONTEXT OF IMMUNE IMBALANCES

A few studies have examined the impact of therapies for PTSD on the inflammatory status of patients with PTSD, although more of these studies have been conducted in mouse PTSD models. A study with PTSD patients showed that narrative exposure psychotherapy improved PTSD symptoms and restored the levels of immune inhibitory Treg cells, which were reduced before treatment (23). However, the immune imbalances were not fully corrected as the proportion of naïve T-cell remained low relative to memory T-cells, suggesting premature immune senescence. PTSD subjects who received pharmacotherapy with selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) improved clinically and showed reductions in levels of the pro-inflammatory mediator IL-1 (68). In a mouse model of PTSD, treatment with the SSRI inhibitor fluoxetine prevented stress-induced inflammatory gene expression and improved PTSD-like symptoms (69). The results of this study indicated the role of inflammation in PTSD pathology and suggested using anti-inflammatory agents to treat PTSD. A rat study of PTSD showed that treatment with ibuprofen to directly target inflammation reduced both levels of inflammatory cytokines and PTSD-like symptoms (70). Similarly, treating mice with intraperitoneal injections of COX-2 inhibitors to diminish inflammation attenuated their PTSD-like symptoms and reduced neuronal excitability in the basolateral amygdala (71).

While studies showing immune restoration with PTSD treatment suggest a psycho-neuro-immune relationship, it is not possible to determine if treatment impacted the PTSD disorder to, in turn, lessen the extent of inflammation, or if the restoration of immune balance led to PTSD psychological improvement. SSRIs, by modulating serotonin levels, may be influencing immune function since serotonin has been shown to be an immune modulator (72–74). There remains a need for studies to determine the associations between improvements in PTSD clinical status and the immune rebalancing.

Despite the availability of psychological and pharmacological treatments for PTSD, approximately half of combat Veterans do not respond favorably to treatments (75). Therefore, studies need to be expanded to assess if PTSD treatment responsiveness or resistance is associated with a respective immune rebalancing or resistance to rebalancing. If the pro-inflammatory state contributes to PTSD, and if inflammation-skewed leukocytes of PTSD subjects still retain plasticity, then there is the opportunity for immune redirection as an additional PTSD treatment approach. Such immune rebalancing approaches have become more common in treating inflammation-associated diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis or type 1 diabetes, and as treatments for cancer (76–79).

The plasticity of immune T-cells and monocytes provides optimism that the inflammation-skewed immune state in patients with PTSD can be rebalanced. This rebalancing could be driven by the composition of the cytokine milieu (80, 81). Inflammatory Th17 cells share a common lineage with inhibitory Treg cells, and their plasticity is evident by examples of one phenotype differentiating from the other (82). Although cytokines have been widely used to define immune plasticity, a pharmaco-immunological approach may be a more practical means by which to attain immune rebalancing. For example, the STAT3 inhibitor STA-21 was effective in restoring immune balance in a mouse model of inflammatory arthritis (80). Studies in both mouse models and in humans have shown vitamin D metabolites can restore immune balance in several different clinical conditions (83–86). These alternative agents could be used in future clinical studies to

#### REFERENCES

- Dursa EK, Reinhard MJ, Barth SK, Schneiderman AI. Prevalence of a positive screen for PTSD among OEF/OIF and OEF/OIF-era veterans in a large population-based cohort. J Trauma Stress (2014) 27:542–9. doi:10.1002/jts.21956
- Creamer M, Burgess P, McFarlane AC. Post-traumatic stress disorder: findings from the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Well-being. *Psychol Med* (2001) 31:1237–47. doi:10.1017/S0033291701004287
- Zhou J, Nagarkatti P, Zhong Y, Ginsberg JP, Singh NP, Zhang J, et al. Dysregulation in microRNA expression is associated with alterations in immune functions in combat veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e94075. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0094075
- Sommershof A, Aichinger H, Engler H, Adenauer H, Catani C, Boneberg EM, et al. Substantial reduction of naive and regulatory T cells following traumatic stress. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23:1117–24. doi:10.1016/j.bbi. 2009.07.003
- von Kanel R, Hepp U, Kraemer B, Traber R, Keel M, Mica L, et al. Evidence for low-grade systemic proinflammatory activity in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* (2007) 41:744–52. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2006.06.009
- Wang Z, Mandel H, Levingston CA, Young MRI. An exploratory approach demonstrating immune skewing and a loss of coordination among cytokines in plasma and saliva of veterans with combat-related PTSD. *Hum Immunol* (2016) 77:652–7. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2016.05.018
- Guo M, Liu T, Guo JC, Jiang XL, Chen F, Gao YS. Study on serum cytokine levels in posttraumatic stress disorder patients. *Asian Pac J Trop Med* (2012) 5:323–5. doi:10.1016/s1995-7645(12)60048-0

restore immune balance in Veterans and civilians, with the goal of tempering the clinical course of their PTSD.

#### CONCLUSION

The interconnections between immune imbalances and PTSD are becoming better defined, but much is left to be resolved. It is clear that PTSD is associated with a pro-inflammatory state but whether this contributes to the symptoms of PTSD or whether it is a consequence of disease has yet to be clarified. There is, however, increasing evidence that hyperinflammation is not only a biomarker for PTSD but increases the risk of PTSD following trauma. This is important to enable identification of those at risk for PTSD that could, for example, result from military combat exposure. It could also expose new opportunities for prevention and treatment of PTSD. Immune modulating approaches are accepted means of treating various disorders such as autoimmune diseases. Unraveling the psycho-neuro-immunological interplay in PTSD is an ongoing challenge that could results in effective means to prevent and to treat PTSD.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

This manuscript was written by MY with close collaboration and contribution by ZW and BC.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Clinical Sciences Research and Development Program of the Department of Veterans Affairs (Merit Review grants I01 CX000851 to MY and 1 I01 CX000487 to ZW).

- Cohen M, Meir T, Klein E, Volpin G, Assaf M, Pollack S. Cytokine levels as potential biomarkers for predicting the development of posttraumatic stress symptoms in casualties of accidents. *Int J Psychiatry Med* (2011) 42:117–31. doi:10.2190/PM.42.2.b
- Bam M, Yang X, Zhou J, Ginsberg JP, Leyden Q, Nagarkatti PS, et al. Evidence for epigenetic regulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, interleukin-12 and interferon-γ, in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from PTSD patients. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol (2016) 11:168–81. doi:10.1007/s11481-015-9643-8
- Voisey J, Young RM, Lawford BR, Morris CP. Progress towards understanding the genetics of posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Anxiety Disord* (2014) 28:873–83. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2014.09.014
- Romano S, D'Angelillo A, Staibano S, Simeone E, D'Arrigo P, Ascierto PA, et al. Immunomodulatory pathways regulate expression of a spliced FKBP51 isoform in lymphocytes of melanoma patients. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res* (2015) 28:442–52. doi:10.1111/pcmr.12378
- Dunn EC, Solovieff N, Lowe SR, Gallagher PJ, Chaponis J, Rosand J, et al. Interaction between genetic variants and exposure to Hurricane Katrina on post-traumatic stress and post-traumatic growth: a prospective analysis of low income adults. *J Affect Disord* (2014) 152-154:243–9. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2013.09.018
- Boscarino JA, Erlich PM, Hoffman SN, Zhang X. Higher FKBP5, COMT, CHRNA5, and CRHR1 allele burdens are associated with PTSD and interact with trauma exposure: implications for neuropsychiatric research and treatment. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2012) 8:131–9. doi:10.2147/ndt.s29508
- 14. Binder EB, Bradley RG, Liu W, Epstein MP, Deveau TC, Mercer KB, et al. Association of FKBP5 polymorphisms and childhood abuse with risk of

posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adults. JAMA (2008) 299:1291-305. doi:10.1001/jama.299.11.1291

- Michopoulos V, Rothbaum AO, Jovanovic T, Almli LM, Bradley B, Rothbaum BO, et al. Association of CRP genetic variation and CRP level with elevated PTSD symptoms and physiological responses in a civilian population with high levels of trauma. *Am J Psychiatry* (2015) 172:353–62. doi:10.1176/appi. ajp.2014.14020263
- Eraly SA, Nievergelt CM, Maihofer AX, Barkauskas DA, Biswas N, Agorastos A, et al. Assessment of plasma C-reactive protein as a biomarker of posttraumatic stress disorder risk. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71:423–31. doi:10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.4374
- Breen MS, Maihofer AX, Glatt SJ, Tylee DS, Chandler SD, Tsuang MT, et al. Gene networks specific for innate immunity define post-traumatic stress disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20:1538–45. doi:10.1038/mp.2015.9
- Lindqvist D, Dhabhar FS, Mellon SH, Yehuda R, Grenon SM, Flory JD, et al. Increased pro-inflammatory milieu in combat related PTSD – a new cohort replication study. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 59:260–4. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.09.012
- Bruenig D, Mehta D, Morris CP, Harvey W, Lawford B, Young RM, et al. Genetic and serum biomarker evidence for a relationship between TNFα and PTSD in Vietnam war combat veterans. *Compr Psychiatry* (2017) 74:125–33. doi:10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.01.015
- Newton TL, Fernandez-Botran R, Miller JJ, Burns VE. Interleukin-6 and soluble interleukin-6 receptor levels in posttraumatic stress disorder: associations with lifetime diagnostic status and psychological context. *Biol Psychol* (2014) 99:150–9. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.03.009
- Teche SP, Rovaris DL, Aguiar BW, Hauck S, Vitola ES, Bau CHD, et al. Resilience to traumatic events related to urban violence and increased IL10 serum levels. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 250:136–40. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.072
- 22. Gola H, Engler H, Sommershof A, Adenauer H, Kolassa S, Schedlowski M, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder is associated with an enhanced spontaneous production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *BMC Psychiatry* (2013) 13:40. doi:10.1186/1471-244x-13-40
- Morath J, Gola H, Sommershof A, Hamuni G, Kolassa S, Catani C, et al. The effect of trauma-focused therapy on the altered T cell distribution in individuals with PTSD: evidence from a randomized controlled trial. *J Psychiatr Res* (2014) 54:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.03.016
- Jergovic M, Tomicevic M, Vidovic A, Bendelja K, Savic A, Vojvoda V, et al. Telomere shortening and immune activity in war veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 54:275–83. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.06.010
- An K, Salyer J, Kao HF. Psychological strains, salivary biomarkers, and risks for coronary heart disease among hurricane survivors. *Biol Res Nurs* (2015) 17:311–20. doi:10.1177/1099800414551164
- Slavish DC, Graham-Engeland JE, Smyth JM, Engeland CG. Salivary markers of inflammation in response to acute stress. *Brain Behav Immun* (2015) 44:253–69. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.08.008
- Minetto MA, Gazzoni M, Lanfranco F, Baldi M, Saba L, Pedrola R, et al. Influence of the sample collection method on salivary interleukin-6 levels in resting and post-exercise conditions. *Eur J Appl Physiol* (2007) 101:249–56. doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0484-x
- Izawa S, Sugaya N, Kimura K, Ogawa N, Yamada KC, Shirotsuki K, et al. An increase in salivary interleukin-6 level following acute psychosocial stress and its biological correlates in healthy young adults. *Biol Psychol* (2013) 94:249–54. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.06.006
- Ebersole JL, Nagarajan R, Akers D, Miller CS. Targeted salivary biomarkers for discrimination of periodontal health and disease(s). *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2015) 5:62. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2015.00062
- 30. Juretic M, Cerovic R, Belusic-Gobic M, Brekalo Prso I, Kqiku L, Spalj S, et al. Salivary levels of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 in patients with oral premalignant and malignant lesions. *Folia Biol* (2013) 59:99–102.
- van Dooren FE, Schram MT, Schalkwijk CG, Stehouwer CD, Henry RM, Dagnelie PC, et al. Associations of low grade inflammation and endothelial dysfunction with depression – the Maastricht Study. *Brain Behav Immun* (2016) 56:390–6. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.03.004
- Lindqvist D, Wolkowitz OM, Mellon S, Yehuda R, Flory JD, Henn-Haase C, et al. Proinflammatory milieu in combat-related PTSD is independent of depression and early life stress. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 42:81–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.003

- Gill JM, Saligan L, Lee H, Rotolo S, Szanton S. Women in recovery from PTSD have similar inflammation and quality of life as non-traumatized controls. *J Psychosom Res* (2013) 74:301–6. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2012.10.013
- 34. Ghazali NB, Steele M, Koh D, Idris A. The diurnal pattern of salivary IL-1β in healthy young adults. *Int J Adolesc Med Health* (2017). doi:10.1515/ ijamh-2017-0058
- Nilsonne G, Lekander M, Akerstedt T, Axelsson J, Ingre M. Diurnal variation of circulating interleukin-6 in humans: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0165799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165799
- Breen MS, Tylee DS, Maihofer AX, Neylan TC, Mehta D, Binder E, et al. PTSD blood transcriptome mega-analysis: shared inflammatory pathways across biological sex and modes of trauma. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017). doi:10.1038/npp.2017.220
- Olff M, van Zuiden M. Neuroendocrine and neuroimmune markers in PTSD: pre-, peri- and post-trauma glucocorticoid and inflammatory dysregulation. *Curr Opin Psychol* (2017) 14:132–7. doi:10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.01.001
- Jones ME, Lebonville CL, Barrus D, Lysle DT. The role of brain interleukin-1 in stress-enhanced fear learning. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40: 1289–96. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.317
- Levkovitz Y, Fenchel D, Kaplan Z, Zohar J, Cohen H. Early post-stressor intervention with minocycline, a second-generation tetracycline, attenuates posttraumatic stress response in an animal model of PTSD. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25:124–32. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2014.11.012
- Wilson CB, McLaughlin LD, Ebenezer PJ, Nair AR, Dange R, Harre JG, et al. Differential effects of sertraline in a predator exposure animal model of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Front Behav Neurosci* (2014) 8:256. doi:10.3389/ fnbeh.2014.00256
- Gill J, Lee H, Barr T, Baxter T, Heinzelmann M, Rak H, et al. Lower health related quality of life in U.S. Military personnel is associated with servicerelated disorders and inflammation. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 216:116–22. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2014.01.046
- O'Donovan A, Cohen BE, Seal KH, Bertenthal D, Margaretten M, Nishimi K, et al. Elevated risk for autoimmune disorders in Iraq and Afghanistan veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77:365–74. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.06.015
- Hobfoll SE, Gerhart JI, Zalta AK, Wells K, Maciejewski J, Fung H. Posttraumatic stress symptoms predict impaired neutrophil recovery in stem cell transplant recipients. *Psychooncology* (2015) 24:1529–35. doi:10.1002/pon.3761
- Vaccarino V, Goldberg J, Rooks C, Shah AJ, Veledar E, Faber TL, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder and incidence of coronary heart disease: a twin study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2013) 62:970–8. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.04.085
- 45. O'Donovan A, Sun B, Cole S, Rempel H, Lenoci M, Pulliam L, et al. Transcriptional control of monocyte gene expression in post-traumatic stress disorder. *Dis Markers* (2011) 30:123–32. doi:10.3233/dma-2011-0768
- 46. Wohleb ES, McKim DB, Shea DT, Powell ND, Tarr AJ, Sheridan JF, et al. Re-establishment of anxiety in stress-sensitized mice is caused by monocyte trafficking from the spleen to the brain. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75:970–81. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.11.029
- Banks WA, Kastin AJ, Broadwell RD. Passage of cytokines across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (1995) 2:241–8. doi:10.1159/000097202
- Vargas-Caraveo A, Perez-Ishiwara DG, Martinez-Martinez A. Chronic psychological distress as an inducer of microglial activation and leukocyte recruitment into the area postrema. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2015) 22:311–21. doi:10.1159/000369350
- Ho YH, Lin YT, Wu CW, Chao YM, Chang AY, Chan JY. Peripheral inflammation increases seizure susceptibility via the induction of neuroinflammation and oxidative stress in the hippocampus. *J Biomed Sci* (2015) 22:46. doi:10.1186/s12929-015-0157-8
- Cazareth J, Guyon A, Heurteaux C, Chabry J, Petit-Paitel A. Molecular and cellular neuroinflammatory status of mouse brain after systemic lipopolysaccharide challenge: importance of CCR2/CCL2 signaling. *J Neuroinflammation* (2014) 11:132. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-11-132
- McKim DB, Patterson JM, Wohleb ES, Jarrett BL, Reader BF, Godbout JP, et al. Sympathetic release of splenic monocytes promotes recurring anxiety following repeated social defeat. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 79:803–13. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2015.07.010
- 52. Cohen H, Ziv Y, Cardon M, Kaplan Z, Matar MA, Gidron Y, et al. Maladaptation to mental stress mitigated by the adaptive immune system

via depletion of naturally occurring regulatory CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> cells. *J Neurobiol* (2006) 66:552–63. doi:10.1002/neu.20249

- Muhie S, Gautam A, Meyerhoff J, Chakraborty N, Hammamieh R, Jett M. Brain transcriptome profiles in mouse model simulating features of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Mol Brain* (2015) 8:14. doi:10.1186/s13041-015-0104-3
- 54. Gautam A, D'Arpa P, Donohue DE, Muhie S, Chakraborty N, Luke BT, et al. Acute and chronic plasma metabolomic and liver transcriptomic stress effects in a mouse model with features of post-traumatic stress disorder. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0117092. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0117092
- Liu X, Nemeth DP, Tarr AJ, Belevych N, Syed ZW, Wang Y, et al. Euflammation attenuates peripheral inflammation-induced neuroinflammation and mitigates immune-to-brain signaling. *Brain Behav Immun* (2016) 54:140–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.01.018
- Devoto C, Arcurio L, Fetta J, Ley M, Rodney T, Kanefsky R, et al. Inflammation relates to chronic behavioral and neurological symptoms in military with traumatic brain injuries. *Cell Transplant* (2016) 26:1169–77. doi:10.3727/09 6368916x693455
- Spencer-Segal JL, Hyzy RC, Iwashyna TJ, Standiford TJ. Psychiatric symptoms in survivors of the acute respiratory distress syndrome: effects of age, sex, and immune modulation. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* (2017) 14:960–7. doi:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201606-468OC
- Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, et al. Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:12468–73. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1511003112
- 59. Ye L, Huang Y, Zhao L, Li Y, Sun L, Zhou Y, et al. IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  induce neurotoxicity through glutamate production: a potential role for neuronal glutaminase. *J Neurochem* (2013) 125:897–908. doi:10.1111/jnc.12263
- 60. Kaur C, Sivakumar V, Zou Z, Ling EA. Microglia-derived proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-α and interleukin-1β induce Purkinje neuronal apoptosis via their receptors in hypoxic neonatal rat brain. *Brain Struct Funct* (2014) 219:151–70. doi:10.1007/s00429-012-0491-5
- Takeuchi H, Jin S, Wang J, Zhang G, Kawanokuchi J, Kuno R, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-α induces neurotoxicity via glutamate release from hemichannels of activated microglia in an autocrine manner. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:21362–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.M600504200
- 62. Lee YY, Lee EJ, Park JS, Jang SE, Kim DH, Kim HS. Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant mechanism of tangeretin in activated microglia. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2016) 11:294–305. doi:10.1007/s11481-016-9657-x
- Reshef R, Kreisel T, Beroukhim Kay D, Yirmiya R. Microglia and their CX3CR1 signaling are involved in hippocampal- but not olfactory bulb-related memory and neurogenesis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 41:239–50. doi:10.1016/j. bbi.2014.04.009
- 64. Qian J, Zhu L, Li Q, Belevych N, Chen Q, Zhao F, et al. Interleukin-1R3 mediates interleukin-1-induced potassium current increase through fast activation of Akt kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:12189–94. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1205207109
- Harrison NA, Doeller CF, Voon V, Burgess N, Critchley HD. Peripheral inflammation acutely impairs human spatial memory via actions on medial temporal lobe glucose metabolism. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 76:585–93. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.01.005
- Capuron L, Ravaud A, Neveu PJ, Miller AH, Maes M, Dantzer R. Association between decreased serum tryptophan concentrations and depressive symptoms in cancer patients undergoing cytokine therapy. *Mol Psychiatry* (2002) 7:468–73. doi:10.1038/sj.mp.4000995
- Davis LL, Suris A, Lambert MT, Heimberg C, Petty F. Post-traumatic stress disorder and serotonin: new directions for research and treatment. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* (1997) 22:318–26.
- Tucker P, Ruwe WD, Masters B, Parker DE, Hossain A, Trautman RP, et al. Neuroimmune and cortisol changes in selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor and placebo treatment of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 56:121–8. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.03.009
- Kao CY, He Z, Zannas AS, Hahn O, Kuhne C, Reichel JM, et al. Fluoxetine treatment prevents the inflammatory response in a mouse model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Psychiatr Res* (2016) 76:74–83. doi:10.1016/j. jpsychires.2016.02.003
- 70. Lee B, Sur B, Yeom M, Shim I, Lee H, Hahm DH. Effects of systemic administration of ibuprofen on stress response in a rat model of post-traumatic

stress disorder. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol (2016) 20:357-66. doi:10.4196/ kjpp.2016.20.4.357

- Gamble-George JC, Baldi R, Halladay L, Kocharian A, Hartley N, Silva CG, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition reduces stress-induced affective pathology. *Elife* (2016) 5:e14137. doi:10.7554/eLife.14137
- Kut JL, Young MRI, Crayton JW, Wright MA, Young ME. Regulation of murine T-lymphocyte function by spleen cell-derived and exogenous serotonin. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* (1992) 14:783–96. doi:10.3109/ 08923979209009235
- Young MR, Kut JL, Coogan MP, Wright MA, Young ME, Matthews J. Stimulation of splenic T-lymphocyte function by endogenous serotonin and by low dose exogenous serotonin. *Immunology* (1993) 80:395–400.
- Young MRI, Matthews JP. Serotonin regulation of T-cell subpopulations and of macrophage accessory function. *Immunology* (1995) 84:148–52.
- Rodriguez P, Holowka DW, Marx BP. Assessment of posttraumatic stress disorder-related functional impairment: a review. J Rehabil Res Dev (2012) 49:649–65. doi:10.1682/JRRD.2011.09.0162
- 76. George S, Motzer RJ, Hammers HJ, Redman BG, Kuzel TM, Tykodi SS, et al. Safety and efficacy of nivolumab in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma treated beyond progression: a subgroup analysis of a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Oncol (2016) 2:1179–86. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.0775
- Benham H, Nel HJ, Law SC, Mehdi AM, Street S, Ramnoruth N, et al. Citrullinated peptide dendritic cell immunotherapy in HLA risk genotypepositive rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7:290ra87. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa9301
- Bluestone JA, Buckner JH, Fitch M, Gitelman SE, Gupta S, Hellerstein MK, et al. Type 1 diabetes immunotherapy using polyclonal regulatory T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7:315ra189. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aad4134
- Rech AJ, Mick R, Martin S, Recio A, Aqui NA, Powell DJ Jr, et al. CD25 blockade depletes and selectively reprograms regulatory T cells in concert with immunotherapy in cancer patients. *Sci Transl Med* (2012) 4:134ra62. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003330
- Park JS, Kwok SK, Lim MA, Kim EK, Ryu JG, Kim SM, et al. STA-21, a promising STAT3 inhibitor that reciprocally regulates Th17 and Treg, inhibits osteoclastogenesis and alleviates autoimmune inflammation. *Arthritis Rheum* (2014) 66:918–29. doi:10.1002/art.38305
- Astry B, Venkatesha SH, Moudgil KD. Involvement of the IL-23/IL-17 axis and the Th17/Treg balance in the pathogenesis and control of autoimmune arthritis. *Cytokine* (2015) 74:54–61. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.11.020
- Valmori D, Raffin C, Raimbaud I, Ayyoub M. Human RORγt<sup>+</sup> TH17 cells preferentially differentiate from naive FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Treg in the presence of lineage-specific polarizing factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107: 19402–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1008247107
- Meeker S, Seamons A, Paik J, Treuting PM, Brabb T, Grady WM, et al. Increased dietary vitamin D suppresses MAPK signaling, colitis and colon cancer. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74:4398–408. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-13-2820
- Joshi S, Pantalena LC, Liu XK, Gaffen SL, Liu H, Rohowsky-Kochan C, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> ameliorates Th17 autoimmunity via transcriptional modulation of interleukin-17A. *Mol Cell Biol* (2011) 31:3653–69. doi:10.1128/ MCB.05020-11
- Dyring-Andersen B, Bonefeld CM, Bzorek M, Lovendorf MB, Lauritsen JP, Skov L, et al. The vitamin D analogue calcipotriol reduces the frequency of CD8<sup>+</sup> IL-17<sup>+</sup> T cells in psoriasis lesions. *Scand J Immunol* (2015) 82:84–91. doi:10.1111/sji.12304
- Walsh JE, Clark AM, Day TA, Gillespie MB, Young MR. Use of 1α,25dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> treatment to stimulate immune infiltration into head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Hum Immunol* (2010) 71:659–65. doi:10.1016/j. humimm.2010.04.008

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Wang, Caughron and Young. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Assessment of Complement Cascade Components in Patients With Bipolar Disorder

Artur Reginia<sup>1</sup>, Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur<sup>1\*</sup>, Marcin Jabłoński<sup>1</sup>, Marta Budkowska<sup>2</sup>, Barbara Dołęgowska<sup>3</sup>, Leszek Sagan<sup>4</sup>, Błazej Misiak<sup>5</sup>, Mariusz Z. Ratajczak<sup>6</sup>, Janusz K. Rybakowski<sup>7</sup> and Jerzy Samochowiec<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Analytics, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>3</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland, <sup>5</sup> Department of Genetics, Wrocław Medical University, Wrocław, Poland, <sup>6</sup> Stem Cell Institute at James Graham Brown Cancer Center, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY, United States, <sup>7</sup> Department of Adult Psychiatry, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Fernando Rodriguez De Fonseca, Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Málaga (IBIMA), Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Juan C. Leza, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Tamas Kozicz, Mayo Clinic, United States

\*Correspondence:

Jolanta Kucharska-Mazur jola\_kucharska@tlen.pl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 November 2017 Accepted: 01 November 2018 Published: 27 November 2018

#### Citation:

Reginia A, Kucharska-Mazur J, Jabloński M, Budkowska M, Dołęgowska B, Sagan L, Misiak B, Ratajczak MZ, Rybakowski JK and Samochowiec J (2018) Assessment of Complement Cascade Components in Patients With Bipolar Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 9:614. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00614 **Introduction:** The immune system is undoubtedly involved in the pathogenesis of various psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or depression. Although its role is not fully understood, it appears that this area of research can help to understand the etiology of mental illness. One of the components of the human immune system is the complement system, which forms a part of the innate immune response. Physiologically, except for its essential protective role, it is a vital element in the regeneration processes, including neurogenesis. To date, few studies have tried to clarify the role of the complement cascade in mental disorders.

**Materials and Methods:** We evaluated concentrations of C3a, C5a, and C5b-9 complement cascade components in the peripheral blood of 30 patients suffering from bipolar disorder (BD) for at least 10 years, in euthymia, who were not treated with lithium salts. In addition, we divided our study sample into BD type I (BD-I, 22 persons), and BD type II (BD-II, 8 patients). The control group consisted of 30 healthy volunteers matched for age, sex, BMI, and smoking habits.

**Results:** Compared to healthy controls, BD patients had elevated concentrations of all the investigated components. Furthermore, in patients with BD-II, we observed higher concentrations of C5b-9 as compared to patients with BD-I. However, there was a significant effect of BD diagnosis only on the levels of C3a and C5a but not on the level of C5b-9 after adjustment for potential confounding factors.

**Conclusions:** Increased concentrations of components C3a and C5a of the complement system in the investigated group as compared to healthy controls suggest involvement of the complement cascade in the pathogenesis of BD, and provides further evidence of immune system dysregulation in BD patients.

Keywords: bipolar disorder, complement system, C3a, C5a, C5b-9

#### INTRODUCTION

Despite enormous efforts of researchers, undeniable progress of knowledge and research opportunities provided by modern medicine, the etiology of BD is still not fully understood. The prevalence of BD has been estimated at over 1% of the general population, regardless of their origin, ethnicity, or socioeconomic status (1). Proper diagnosis, especially in the early stages of the disease causes considerable difficulties (2). The disease itself, as well as its improper diagnosis or treatment lead to enormous social consequences and economic costs (3, 4).

Several lines of evidence indicate that BD has a multifactorial etiology, comprising both genetic (5, 6) and environmental factors (7, 8). The concept of viewing mental disorders as the consequences of aberrant immune-inflammatory processes has recently become the subject of numerous studies (9-11). It appears that what is observed in the course of BD are both the activation of inflammatory processes within the central nervous system and systemic inflammatory reactions (12, 13). Such arguments are supported by an increased activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (especially in the manic phase) and increased peripheral metabolism of cortisol (14). Moreover, it is hypothesized that exposure to certain infectious agents in the prenatal period may lead to the occurrence of BD (15), although results in this field remain somewhat inconclusive. Both exposure to infectious agents in the prenatal period and the aforementioned activation of the HPA axis may potentially affect the function of the immune system (16, 17).

*Post-mortem* studies indicate an increased expression of inflammatory markers and excitotoxicity in the frontal cortex of patients with BD compared to healthy controls (18–20). Examination of cerebrospinal fluid provides some further evidence of higher concentrations of interleukin-8 (IL-8) linked to the treatment of BD with lithium salts (21). Other studies demonstrate higher levels of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 and chitinase-3-like protein 1 (22–24), and changes in concentrations of lymphocytes Th1, Th2, or cytokines. Some of these changes depend on the stage of the disease (25–27).

A growing body of evidence points to the fact that the activation of systemic inflammatory reactions occurs in the course of mood disorders, including BD (28, 29). Furthermore, there are increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood of patients with BD. While the findings are not conclusive, cytokine concentrations appear to vary depending on the stage of the disease and its subtype (30, 31). During euthymia there are increased concentrations of IL-10, TNF- $\alpha$ , and increased levels of neutrophils and monocytes (32). Epidemiological studies show higher comorbidity of BD and autoimmune diseases or metabolic disorders, whose pathogenesis is mediated by inflammatory processes (33–35).

The central nervous system was traditionally perceived as an immunologically privileged organ, but nevertheless there is some communication between the CNS neural tissue with the immune system (36, 37). In addition, leakages within the blood-brain barrier can occur during the periods of BD exacerbation, and thus a cross-talk between the central nervous system and the immune system may be facilitated (38, 39).

The complement system is involved in both immunological as well as regenerative processes. It consists of dozens of proteins produced mainly in the liver and in small amounts also by neurons, microglia, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, and several cell receptors. In addition to participating in the immunological mechanisms, it plays an important role in processes such as: reducing inflammatory reaction, removal of apoptotic cells, angiogenesis, wound healing, repair processes and the mobilization of some types of stem cells. It is considered to play a role in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases (40-42). Complement component C3a affects neurogenesis, stimulates the differentiation of neural progenitor cells under hypoxic conditions. It also modulates astrocytes' response to ischaemia, increasing their ability to survive stress conditions associated with ischemia. During the development of nerve cells in fetal life, it acts as a chemoattractant for these cells (43-46). Soluble anaphylatoxins (C3a, C4a, and C5a) control local inflammatory response by activating and attracting leukocytes (47). The presence of the receptors C5aR C3aR on neurons can prevent their apoptosis, while sublithic levels of C5b-9 can protect oligodendrocytes from apoptosis. At the same time, it is known that the activated complement is involved in a process called synaptic elimination, it enhances the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by glial cells and induces neuronal damage and death by C5b-9 (48). The C5a component has a neuroprotective effect on mature neurons (49).

Despite all past attempts at defining the role of the complement system in the etiology of BD remains uncliear. Certainly, it is involved in the neuroinflammation process (50). It is one of the many factors, whose interactions lead to the development of BD (51). The complement system is also believed to be one of the elements linking the theory of prenatal infection or hypersensitivity to gluten with the development of neuropsychiatric disorders (52).

The aim of this study was to evaluate alterations in the levels of complement components in patients with BD as well as to determine whether these alterations are related to psychopathological manifestation of BD.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

The study involved 30 unrelated patients suffering from BD for at least 10 years, not treated with lithium salts for at least 5 years prior to the study, due to the potential impact of lithium salts on inflammation and regeneration processes (53). A diagnosis of BD was established according to the ICD-10 criteria (54). At the time of the study all patients were in a stabilized mental state and met the criteria for BD remission. Exclusion criteria were presence of active substance dependence in the last 6 months (except for nicotine addiction); current or lifetime history of significant organic brain damage; cognitive impairment typical of dementia; serious somatic diseases, glucose intolerance, currently active inflammatory disease (exclusion based on the results of laboratory tests and physical examination); mental disorder other than BD, or personality disorders. The control group consisted of 30 individuals matched for age, sex, BMI, smoking habits, and sociodemographic factors. The controls did not manifest any symptoms of a mental disorder at the time of the study. They were also somatically healthy.

#### **Clinical Assessment**

All patients underwent a standard psychiatric, physical and neurological examination. Demographics and family history were collected in the form of a standardized medical history. Presence of psychiatric disorders other than BD was excluded using the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) questionnaire (55). The patient group was divided into two subgroups according to the type of the disease: BD type I (BD-I) and BD type II (BD-II) (56). To assess the severity of mood disorders, we used the Montgomery-Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) (57) and the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) (58). Data on previous treatment was based on medical records and the interview. All patients were treated in line with the Polish standards of pharmacological treatment of affective disorders (59, 60). At the time of the study, patients were primarily treated with: lamotrigine in doses ranging from 50 to 300 mg/day (12 patients); valproic acid/sodium valproate in doses ranging from 600 to 1,500 mg/day (10 patients); quetiapine in doses from 100 to 700 mg/day (14 patients); olanzapine in doses of 5-20 mg/day (5 patients); clozapine in doses of 225 mg/day (1 patient) and aripiprazole (1 patient). In addition, the patients were receiving: sertraline (2 patients); venlafaxine (2 patients); escitalopram (1 patient); citalopram (1 patient); mirtazapine (1 patient); paroxetine (1 patient); clomipramine (1 patient); perazine (1 patient); levomepromazine (1 patient) and chlorprothixene (1 patient). For statistical analysis, all doses of antypsychitics were converted to chlorpromazine equivalents (61-63). The drug and its dosage were determined by the patient's physician. The research team did not modify the prescribed treatment in any way. Healthy controls underwent similar examinations to exclude mental disorders and somatic diseases.

## Measurement of Complement Cascade Components

Venous blood samples were collected between 8 am and 9 am after overnight fasting. For determination of the C5b-9 (MAC) levels, we used the Human C5b-9 ELISA Set (BD OptEIA). The levels of C3a and C5a were determined using the Human C3a ELISA Kit and the Human C5a ELISA Kit (BD OptEIA).

#### **Statistics**

The results were analyzed using the STATISTICA 13.1 software (StatSoft, Inc.). In order to verify normality of data distribution, we used the Shapiro-Wilk test. Due to the fact that the parameters were not normally distributed, bivariate analyses were performed using the Mann-Whitney *U*-test. In the next step, the analysis of co-variance (ANCOVA) testing for differences in the levels of complement cascade components was performed. The following variables were used as co-variates: chlorpromazine equivalent dosage, valproate/valproic acid dosage, lamotrigine dosage, BMI and cigarette smoking status. The distribution of C3a and C5a levels fell within acceptable ranges of skewness (C3a: -0.492, C5a: 1.554) and

kurtosis (C3a: -0.651, C5a: 1.834 C5a) and thus this data was not transformed before ANCOVA. The distribution of C5b-9 fell originally beyond acceptable range and it was square root transformed. After data transformation, skewness and kurtosis appeared to be acceptable (skewness: -0.455, kurtosis

#### TABLE 1 | Clinical and demographic characteristics of the study sample.

	Patient group (BDG)	Control group (CG)	p
	n = 30	n = 30	
Age in years (mean $\pm$ SD)	48.08 ± 11.54	43.90 ± 10.74	0.0699
Sex	Male 15 (50.0%)	Male 13 (43.3%)	0.6650
	Female 15 (50.0%)	Female 17 (56.7%)	
Marital status	Single 4 (13.3%)	Single 5 (22.7%)	0.2359
	Married 17 (56.7%)	Married 13 (59.1%)	
	Partnership 2 (6.7%)	Partnership 3 (13.6%)	
	Widow(er) 1 (3.3%)	Widow(er) 0 (0.0%)	
	Divorced 6 (20.0%)	Divorced 1 (4.6%)	
Education	Elementary 0 (0.0%)	Elementary 0 (0.0%)	0.3083
	Vocational 5 (16.7%)	Vocational 1 (4.5%)	
	Secondary 11 (36.7%)	Secondary 8 (36.4%)	
	Higher 14 (46.6%)	Higher 13 (59.1%)	
Occupation	Student 1 (3.3%)	Student 4 (18.2%)	0.0012
	Employed 15 (50.0%)	Employed 18 (81.8%)	
	Unemployed 2 (6.67%)	Unemployed 0 (0.0%)	
	Retired 2 (6.67%)	Retired 0 (0.0%)	
	Disability pensioner 10 (33.3%)	Disability pensioner 0 (0.0%)	
Residence	Rural 3 (10.0%)	Rural 3 (13.6%)	0.9042
	Small town 1 (3.3%)	Small town 1 (4.6%)	
	Medium-size town 4 (13.3%)	Medium-size town 1 (4.6%)	
	City 22 (73.4%)	City 17 (77.2%)	
Smoking	Yes 13 (43.3%)	Yes 9 (40.9%)	0.8905
	No 17 (65.7%)	No 13 (59.1%)	
BMI (mean $\pm$ SD)	$26.53 \pm 4.86$	$25.15 \pm 4.48$	0.2173
BD type	BD-I 22 (73.3%)		
	BD-II 8 (26.7%)		
Disease duration (years) (mean $\pm$ SD)	$17.63 \pm 8.22$		
Treatment duration (years) (mean $\pm$ SD)	$11.84\pm8.73$		
MADRS mean score (mean $\pm$ SD)	0.07 ± 1.71		
YMRS mean score (mean $\pm$ SD)	$0.93 \pm 1.26$		

-0.638) (64). To evaluate correlations between continuous variables, we used the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. Results were considered significant if the *p*-value was below 0.05.

#### RESULTS

General characteristics of patients and controls are shown in **Table 1**. Both groups did not differ significantly in terms of socio-demographic characteristics, except for vocational status. Indeed, there were significantly more employed individuals in the group of controls. Concentrations of all investigated complement components were higher in the group of patients compared to the control group (**Table 2**). These differences were also significant in separate analyses of BD-I and BD-II patients. However, BD-II patients presented higher C5b-9 concentrations than BD-I patients (trend level significance).

The ANCOVA revealed that there were significant effects of BD diagnosis on the levels of C3a and C5a after co-varying for BMI, smoking, chlorpromazine equivalent dosage and mood stablizer dosage (**Table 3**). However, differences in the levels of

C5b-9 appeared to be insignificant after controlling for the same co-variates.

There were no significant correlations between the concentrations of complement cascade components and the scores of MADRS and YMRS (**Table 4**).

#### DISCUSSION

We demonstrated significantly higher concentrations of each of the three identified complement cascade components in patients with BD compared to healthy subjects. Such patterns were also observed when comparing the distinguished BD-I and BD-II patient groups to the control group. When the concentrations were compared between BD-I and BD-II patients, there was a higher C5b-9 concentration in patients with BD-II subtype. However, due to the small number of BD-II patients, the latter difference should be interpreted with caution. Despite elevation of levels of all examinated components, only C3a and C5a were elevated in BD patients after adjustment for potential confounding factor related to differences in BMI and cigarette smoking as well as medication effects. Differences in the levels of

TABLE 2   Concentrations of co	omplement components in the study sample.		
A. COMPARISONS of C3a, C	5a and C5b-9 SERUM CONCENTRATIONS	S IN BD PATIENTS AND HEALTHY CONTROL	S
Complement component	BD patient group ( $n = 30$ )	Control group ( $n = 30$ )	p
C3a [ng/ml]	$968.62 \pm 82.65$	$638.78 \pm 146.96$	0.000001
C5a [ng/ml]	$203.56 \pm 128.56$	$74.00 \pm 63.01$	0.000001
C5b-9 [ng/ml]	$408.94 \pm 4020.96$	$267.78 \pm 303.48$	0.0002
B. COMPARISONS OF C3a, C	C5a AND C5b-9 SERUM CONCENTRATIO	NS IN BD TYPE I PATIENTS AND HEALTHY C	ONTROLS
Complement component	BD type I patient group ( $n = 22$ )	Control group ( $n = 30$ )	p
C3a [ng/ml]	$959.36 \pm 67.20$	$638.78 \pm 146.96$	0.000001
C5a [ng/ml]	$191.49 \pm 117.65$	$74.00 \pm 63.01$	0.000001
C5b-9 [ng/ml]	$369.21 \pm 147.31$	$267.78 \pm 303.48$	0.0016
C. COMPARISONS OF C3a, C	C5a AND C5b-9 SERUM CONCENTRATIO	NS IN BD TYPE II PATIENTS and HEALTHY C	ONTROLS
Complement component	BD type II patient group ( $n = 8$ )	Control group ( $n = 30$ )	p
C3a [ng/ml]	$994.08 \pm 117.26$	$638.78 \pm 146.96$	0.000001
C5a [ng/ml]	$236.75 \pm 158.86$	$74.00 \pm 63.01$	0.0001
C5b-9 [ng/ml]	$518.18 \pm 149.58$	$267.78 \pm 303.48$	0.0007
D. COMPARISONS of C3a, C	5a and C5b-9 SERUM CONCENTRATION	S IN BD TYPE I PATIENTS AND BD TYPE II PA	ATIENTS
plasma factor	BD type I patient group ( $n = 22$ )	BD type II patient group ( $n = 8$ )	p
C3a [ng/ml]	$959.36 \pm 67.20$	$994.08 \pm 117.26$	0.0575
C5a [ng/ml]	$191.49 \pm 117.65$	$236.75 \pm 158.86$	0.6559
C5b-9 [ng/ml]	$369.21 \pm 147.31$	$518.18 \pm 149.58$	0.0292

TABLE 3 | The ANCOVA results testing for differences in the levels of complement cascade components after co-varying for potential confounding factors.

	BD		BD Chlorpromazine equivalent		Valproate/valproic acid		Lamotrigine		BMI		Smoking	
	F	р	F	p	F	р	F	р	F	р	F	р
C3a	30.032	0.000	0.000	0.993	0.000	0.990	0.014	0.907	0.054	0.817	0.043	0.837
C5a	11.112	0.002	1.704	0.199	0.031	0.861	3.306	0.076	0.838	0.365	1.440	0.237
sqrtC5b9	4.022	0.051	0.117	0.734	0.021	0.885	0.036	0.850	0.001	0.975	0.030	0.864

Complement component	MADRS			YMRS				
	Rs	R <sup>2</sup> <sub>s</sub>	р	R <sub>s</sub>	R <sup>2</sup> <sub>s</sub>	р		
СЗа	-0.0918	0.0084	0.6296	0.0936	0.0088	0.226		
C5a	-0.1926	0.0371	0.3079	-0.0326	0.0011	0.8642		
C5b-9	0.2703	0.0731	0.1486	0.1520	0.0231	0.4226		

TABLE 4 | Correlation between YMRS score, MADRS score and C3a, C5a, C5b-9 concentrations in the study sample.

C5b-9 appeared to be insignificant after controlling for potential confounders.

It is difficult to refer our results to current evidence in the field as there is a scarcity of srudies addressing these alterations. For instance, Spivak et al. found no significant differences in the concentrations of C3 and C4 between BD patients and patients with other psychiatric disorders or healthy controls in study on forty individuals, of whom eight were diagnosed with BD. However, the authors did not test the concentrations of the active forms of complement cascade components (65). Another study revealed that serum concentrations of C3 and C4 in patients with BD were comparable to the levels in healthy individuals, but significantly lower than in schizophrenia patients (66). Active forms of complement cascade components were also not measured in this study. In turn, there are reports on higher peripheral concentrations of C3, C4, and C6 in the course of a manic episode in BD patients as compared to healthy subjects (67). Similarly, higher concentrations of C4 were earlier observed in patients during the course of bipolar psychosis (68).

Reports on the plasma concentrations of complement components in other psychiatric disorders are also scarce. Studies on mobilization of stem cells into the peripheral blood in patients with psychotic disorders also involved evaluation of components of the complement cascade, as potential factors influencing the process of mobilization of these cells. They showed reduced C3a concentrations in untreated patients with first-episode psychosis. After the initiation of antipsychotic treatment, there was no significant difference in C3a levels as compared to the control group. A second similar study on patients with panic disorder showed decreased levels of all investigated components, namely C3a, C5a, and C5b-9 (69-71). On the other hand, in a study examining concentrations of C4 and sC5b-9 (soluble C5b-9), Akcan et al. (72) found lower concentrations of these components in patients with chronic BD, both in the acute and chronic phase, compared to healthy controls and individuals with the first episode of mood disorders in the course of BD. These concentrations were inversely correlated with the YMRS score and duration of the disease. We did not observe any correlation between the levels of complement cascade components with YMRS and MADRS scores. It should be noted, however, that in contrast to our study, Akcan et al. examined patients in the period of unstable mood and treated with, among others, salts of lithium, which was a clear difference between theirs and our study (72).

Due to their ability to activate and attract leukocytes, anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a seem to be an important link in the

inflammatory processes associated with the complement system within the CNS. Importantly, C3a is also a key element in the endothelial and leukocyte activation within the CNS (73). Although in certain situations it may have anti-inflammatory effects, its pro-inflammatory effects take over in the course of chronic reactions, affecting progression of the disease (74, 75). Thus, it seems that the increased concentrations of the complement cascade components observed in the present study may be indicative of a chronic inflammatory process, which could give rise to neurodegenerative changes in the CNS (76).

As previously mentioned, in healthy individuals the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) prevents the entry of proteins, including the complement, into plasma. However, pathological conditions may lead to the blood-brain barrier leakage, affected by, among others, C5a. It has been shown that after several hours from such a leakage, complement components may penetrate the brain tissue. It is believed that the permeability of the BBB can further progress in with subsequent BD exacerbations (39, 73, 77, 78). For these reasons, increased concentrations of C3a and C5a in patients with BD may significantly affect the central nervous system, including the regenerative processes.

In our study, we demonstrated that there is an activation of the immune system manifested by an increase in the concentrations of C3a and C5a complement cascade components in the course of BD. However, it should be clearly stated here that the limitation of the study was a small sample size. In their aforementioned study, Kucharska et al. demonstrated a lower C3a concentration in patients with first-episode psychosis as compared to healthy controls (69). In agreement with these findings, complement cascade components have been found to be helpful in differentiating first-episode psychosis (79). In the study on panic disorder, on the other hand, there was no evidence of increased complement activation (70). Therefore, it seems that complement system alterations might be different in distinct groups of mental disorders. Still, there are no reports on C3a, C5a, and C5b-9 levels in depressive disorders or in early stages of BD, i.e., situations involving greatest diagnostic difficulties (71).

In summary, BD patients experience a systemic dysfunction of the immune system manifested by the activation of the complement cascade. In the future, components of the complement system may become useful in research of a biomarker helpful in diagnosing BD. However, further studies addressing complement cascade alterations in various stages of BD and other mental disorders are needed to establish their relevance as potential biomarkers.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the by the Bioethical Committee of the Pomeranian Medical University, at its meeting of 10.29.2014 r., resolution No KB-0012/127/12, supplemented with consents KB-0012/70/14 of 10.13.2014 and KB 0012/48/15 of 03.23.2015.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AR: Patients recruitment, investigation, methodology, validation, writing-original draft, writing-final version. MJ: Patients recruitment, investigation. MB: Investigation. BD:

#### REFERENCES

- Merikangas KR, Jin R, He JP, Kessler RC, Lee S, Sampson NA, et al. Prevalence and correlates of bipolar spectrum disorder in the world mental health survey initiative. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2011) 68:241–51. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.12
- Phillips ML, Kupfer DJ. Bipolar disorder diagnosis: challenges and future directions. *Lancet* (2013) 381:1663–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60989-7
- Simon GE. Social and economic burden of mood disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (2003) 54:208–15. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00420-7
- Nasrallah HA. Consequences of misdiagnosis: inaccurate treatment and poor patient outcomes in bipolar disorder. J Clin Psychiatry (2015) 76:e1328. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14016tx2c
- Seifuddin F, Mahon PB, Judy J, Pirooznia M, Jancic D, Taylor J, et al. Metaanalysis of genetic association studies on bipolar disorder. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet.* (2012) 159B:508–18. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.b.32057
- Forstner AJ, Hofmann A, Maaser A, Sumer S, Khudayberdiev S, Mühleisen TW, et al. Genome-wide analysis implicates microRNAs and their target genes in the development of bipolar disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2015) 5:e678. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.159
- Aas M, Henry C, Andreassen OA, Bellivier F, Melle I, Etain B. The role of childhood trauma in bipolar disorders. *Int J Bipolar Disord*. (2016) 4:2. doi: 10.1186/s40345-015-0042-0
- Bergink V, Larsen JT, Hillegers MHJ, Dahl SK, Stevens H, Mortensen PB, et al. Childhood adverse life events and parental psychopathology as risk factors for bipolar disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2016) 6:e929. doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.201
- Wilkowska A, Pikuła M, Rynkiewicz A, Wdowczyk-Szulc J, Trzonkowski P, Landowski J. Increased plasma pro-inflammatory cytokine concentrations after myocardial infarction and the presence of depression during next 6months. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2015) 49:455–64. doi: 10.12740/PP/33179
- Bhattacharya A, Derecki NC, Lovenberg TW, Drevets WC. Role of neuro-immunological factors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders. *Psychopharmacology* (2016) 233:1623–36. doi: 10.1007/s00213-016-4214-0
- Mak M, Misiak B, Frydecka D, Pełka-Wysiecka J, Kucharska-Mazur J, Samochowiec A, et al. Polymorphisms in immune-inflammatory response genes and the risk of deficit schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 193:359–63. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.06.050
- Lohoff FW, Berrettini WH. "Genetics of Bipolar Disorder," In: Yatham LM, Maj M editor. *Bipolar Disorder Clinical and Neurobiological Foundations*. Chichester, West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell. (2010). p. 110–24.
- Jakobsson J, Bjerke M, Sahebi S, Isgren A, Ekman CJ, Sellgren C, et al. Monocyte and microglial activation in patients with mood-stabilized bipolar disorder. *J Psychiatry Neurosci.* (2015) 40:250–8. doi: 10.1503/jpn. 140183
- Murri MB, Prestia D, Mondelli V, Pariante C, Patti S, Olivieri B, et al. The HPA axis in bipolar disorder: systematic review and meta- analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2016) 63:327–42. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.10.014

Investigation and methodology. LS: Investigation and project administration. BM: Methodology and revision-original draft. MR: Methodology, supervision, and validation. JR: Investigation and methodology. JS: Investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, and validation. JK-M: Patients recruitment, investigation, methodology, supervision, validation, writing-original draft, writing-final version.

#### FUNDING

The study was funded within the framework of the project Fundusz Stymulacji Nauki (grant number: FSN 246-05/17) provided by Pomeranian Medical University in Szczecin (Poland).

- Barichello T, Badawy M, Pitcher MR, Saigal P, Generoso JS, Goularte JA, et al. Exposure to perinatal infections and bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Curr Mol Med.* (2016) 16:106–18. doi: 10.2174/1566524016666660126143741
- Brown AS. The kraepelinian dichotomy from the perspective of prenatal infectious and immunologic insults. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41:786–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv063
- Herkenham M, Kigar SL. Contributions of the adaptive immune system to mood regulation: mechanisms and pathways of neuroimmune interactions. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 79:49–57. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2016.09.003
- Kim HW, Rapoport SI, Rao JS. Altered expression of apoptotic factors and synaptic markers in postmortem brain from bipolar disorder patients. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2010) 37:596–603. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.11.010
- Rao JS, Harry GJ, Rapoport SI, Kim HW. Increased excitotoxicity and neuroinflammatory markers in postmortem frontal cortex from bipolar disorder patients. *Mol Psychiatry* (2010) 15:384–92. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.47
- Rosenblat JD, Brietzke E, Mansur RB, Maruschak NA, Lee Y, McIntyre RS. Inflammation as a neurobiological substrate of cognitive impairment in bipolar disorder: evidence, pathophysiology and treatment implications. J Affect Disord. (2015) 188:149–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.08.058
- Isgren A, Jakobsson J, Pålsson E, Ekman CJ, Johansson AG, Sellgren C, et al. Increased cerebrospinal fluid interleukin-8 in bipolar disorder patients associated with lithium and antipsychotic treatment. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 43:198–204. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.10.001
- Jakobsson J, Bjerke M, Ekman CJ, Sellgren C, Johansson AG, Zetterberg H, et al. Elevated concentrations of neurofilament light chain in the cerebrospinal fluid of bipolar disorder patients. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2014) 39:2349– 56. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.81
- Rolstad S, Jakobsson J, Sellgren C, Isgren A, Ekman CJ, Bjerke M, et al. CSF neuroinflammatory biomarkers in bipolar disorder are associated with cognitive impairment. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2015) 25:1091–8. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.04.023
- Isgren A, Sellgren C, Ekman CJ, Holmén-Larsson J, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, et al. Markers of neuroinflammation and neuronal injury in bipolar disorder: Relation to prospective clinical outcomes. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 65:195– 201. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.05.002
- Uyanik V, Tuglu C, Gorgulu Y, Kunduracilar H, Uyanik MS. Assessment of cytokine levelsand hs-CRP in bipolar I disorder before and after treatment. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:386–92. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.05.078
- Jacoby AS, Munkholm K, Vinberg M, Pedersen BK, Kessing LV. Cytokines, brain-derived neurotrophic factor and C-reactive proteinin bipolar I disorder
   Results from a prospective study. J Affect Disord. (2016) 197:167–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.040
- Muneer A. Bipolar disorder: role of inflammation and the development of disease biomarkers. *Psychiatry Invest.* (2016) 13:18–33. doi: 10.4306/pi.2016.13.1.18
- 28. Misiak B, Beszłej JA, Kotowicz K, Szewczuk-Bogusławska M, Samochowiec J, Kucharska-Mazur J, et al. Cytokine alterations and cognitive impairment

in major depressive disorder: from putative mechanisms to novel treatment targets. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 80:177–188. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.04.021

- Leboyer M, Soreca I, Scott J, Frye M, Henry C, Tamouza R, et al. Can bipolar disorder be viewed as a multi-system inflammatory disease? J Affect Disord. (2012) 141:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.12.049
- Bai YM, Su TP, Tsai SJ, Wen-Fei C, Li CT, Pei-Chi T, et al. Comparison of inflammatory cytokine levels among type I/type II and manic/hypomanic/euthymic/depressive states of bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. (2014) 166:187–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.05.009
- Fiedorowicz JG, Prossin AR, Johnson CP, Christensen GE, Magnotta VA, Wemmie JA. Peripheral inflammation during abnormal mood states in bipolar I disorder. J Affect Disord. (2015) 187:172–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.08.036
- Tatay-Manteiga A, Balanzá-Martínez V, Bristot G, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Kapczinski F, Cauli O. Clinical staging and serum cytokines in bipolar patients during euthymia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 77:194– 201. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.04.028
- Hamdani N, Doukhan R, Kurtlucan O, Tamouza R, Leboyer M. Immunity, inflammation, and bipolar disorder: diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2013) 15:387. doi: 10.1007/s11920-013-0387-y
- Perugi G, Quaranta G, Belletti S, Casalini F, Mosti N, Toni C, et al. General medical conditions in 347 bipolar disorder patients: clinical correlates of metabolic and autoimmune-allergic diseases. J Affect Disord. (2015) 170:95– 103. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.08.052
- Welty FK, Alfaddagh A, Elajami TK. Targeting inflammation in metabolic syndrome. *Transl Res.* (2016) 167:257–80. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2015.06.017
- Louveau A, Harris TH, Kipnis J. Revisiting the mechanisms of CNS immune privilege. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:569–77. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.08.006
- Engelhardt B, Carare RO, Bechmann I, Flügel A, Laman JD, Weller RO. Vascular, glial, and lymphatic immune gateways of the central nervous system. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2016) 132:317–38. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1606-5
- Patel JP, Frey BN. Disruption in the blood-brain barrier: the missing link between brain and body inflammation in bipolar disorder? *Neural Plast.* (2015) 2015:708306. doi: 10.1155/2015/708306
- Tsai MC, Huang TL. Decreased S100B serum levels after treatment in bipolar patients in a manic phase. *Compr Psychiatry* (2017) 74:27–34. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2016
- Alexander JJ, Anderson AJ, Barnum SR, Stevens B, Tenner AJ. The complement cascade: Yin-Yang in neuroinflammation-neuroprotection and -degeneration. J Neurochem (2008) 107:1169–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05668.x
- Schraufstatter IU, Khaldoyanidi SK, DiScipio RG. Complement activation in the context of stem cells and tissue repair. World J Stem Cells (2015) 7:1090–108. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v7.i8.1090
- Arbore G, Kemper C, Kolev M. Intracellular complement the complosome - in immune cell regulation. *Mol Immunol.* (2017) 89:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.05.012
- Rahpeymai Y, Hietala MA, Wilhelmsson U, Fotheringham A, Davies I, Nilsson A-K, et al. Complement: a novel factor in basal and ischemia-induced neurogenesis. *The EMBO J.* (2006) 25:1364–74. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7601004
- 44. Carmona-Fontaine C, Theveneau E, Tzekou A, Tada M, Woods M, Page KM, et al. Complement Fragment C3a controls mutual cell attraction during collective cell migration. *Dev Cell* (2011) 21:1026–37. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2011.10.012
- Shinjyo N, de Pablo Y, Pekny M, Pekna M. Complement Peptide C3a Promotes astrocyte survival in response to ischemic stress. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2016) 53:3076–87. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9204-4
- Stokowska A, Atkins AL, Morán J, Pekny T, Bulmer L, Pascoe MC, et al. Complement peptide C3a stimulates neural plasticity after experimental brain ischaemia. *Brain* (2017) 140:353–69. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww314
- Gasque P. Complement: a unique innate immune sensor for danger signals. *Mol Immunol.* (2004) 41:1089–98. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2004. 06.011
- Bonifati DM, Kishor U. Role of complement in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. *Mol Immunol.* (2007) 44:999–1010. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2006.03.007

- O'Barr SA, Caguioa J, Gruol D, Perkins G, Ember JA, Hugli T, et al. Neuronal expression of a functional receptor for the C5a complement activation fragment. J Immunol. (2001) 166:4154–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.6.4154
- Panaccione I, Spalletta G, Sani G. Neuroinflammation and excitatory symptoms in bipolar disorder. *Neuroimmunol Neuroinflammat.* (2015) 2:215– 27. doi: 10.4103/2347–8659.167304
- Woo HJ, Yu C, Kumar K, Reifman J. Large-scale interaction effects reveal missing heritability in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7:e1089. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.61
- Severance EG, Kannan G, Gressitt KL, Xiao J, Alaedini A, Pletnikov MV, et al. Anti-gluten immune response following toxoplasma gondii infection in mice. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e50991. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050991
- Dell'Osso L, Del Grande C, Gesi C, Carmassi C, Musetti L. A new look at an old drug: neuroprotective effects and therapeutic potentials of lithium salts. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2016) 12:1687–703. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S106479
- 54. The International Classification of Diseases. 10th revision, Polish version: Klasyfikacja zaburzen psychicznych i zaburzen zachowania w ICD-10. Badawcze kryteria diagnostyczne. Krakow-Warszawa: Uniwersyteckie Wydawnictwo Medyczne Vesalius (1998). 190 p.
- 55. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry* (1998) 59:22–33.
- First MB. DSM-5 Diagnostyka Róznicowe. Transl by P. Gałecki. Edra Urban & Partner (2016). p. 194–9.
- 57. Montgomery SA, Asberg M. A new depression scale designed to be sensitive to change. *Br J Psychiatry* (1979) 134:382–9.
- Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry (1978) 133:429–35.
- Rybakowski J, Dudek D, Jaracz J. "Choroby afektywne," In: Jarema M, editor. Standardy Leczenia Farmakologicznego Niektórych Zaburzen Psychicznych. Wydanie 2.Gdansk: Via Medica (2015). p. 55–133.
- Gaebel W, Zielasek J, Reed GM. Mental and behavioural disorders in the ICD-11: concepts, methodologies, and current status. *Psychiatr Pol.* (2017) 51:169–195. doi: 10.12740/PP/69660
- Gardner DM, Murphy AL, O'Donnell H, Centorrino F, Baldessarini RJ. International consensus study of antipsychotic dosing. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167:686–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09060802
- Danivas V, Venkatasubramanian G. Current perspectives on chlorpromazine equivalents: comparing apples and oranges! *Indian J Psychiatry* (2013) 55:207– 8. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.111475
- Inada T, Inagaki A. Psychotropic dose equivalence in Japan. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2015) 69:440–7. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12275
- 64. George D, Mallery M. (2010). SPSS for Windows Step by Step: A Simple Guide and Reference, 17.0 Update, 10a edn. Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Spivak B, Radwan M, Elimelech D, Baruch Y, Avidan G, Tyano S. A study of the complement system in psychiatric patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (1989) 26:640–2.
- 66. Santos Sória L, Moura Gubert C, Ceresér KM, Gama CS, Kapczinski F. Increased serum levels of C3 and C4 in patients with schizophrenia compared to eutymic patients with bipolar disorder and healthy. *Rev Bras Psiquiatry* (2012) 34:119–20.
- Wadee AA, Kuschke RH, Wood LA, Berk M, Ichim L, Maes M. Serological observations in patients suffering from acute manic episodes. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* (2002) 17:175–9. doi: 10.1002/hup.390
- Fontana A, Storck U, Angst J, Dubs R, Abegg A, Grob PJ. An immunological basis of schizophrenia and affective disorders? *Neuropsychobiology* (1980) 6:284–9.
- Kucharska-Mazur J, Tarnowski M, Dołegowska B, Budkowska M, Pedziwiatr D, Jabłonnski M, et al. Novel evidence for enhanced stem cell trafficking in antipsychotic naïve subjects during their first psychotic episode. J Psychiatr Res. (2014) 49:18–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.10.016
- Jabłonski M, Kucharska Mazur J, Tarnowski M, Dołegowska B, Pedziwiatr D, Kubiś E, et al. Mobilization of peripheral blood stem cells and changes in the concentration of plasma factors influencing their movement in patients with panic disorder. *Stem Cell Rev.* (2017) 13:217–25. doi: 10.1007/s12015–016-9700-6

- Kucharska-Mazur J, Jabłonski M, Misiak B, Frydecka D, Rybakowski J, Ratajczak MZ et al. Adult stem cells in psychiatric disorders - new discoveries in peripheral blood. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 80:23– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.04.005
- Akcan U, Karabulut S, Ismail Küçükali C, Çakir S, Tüzün E. Bipolar disorder patients display reduced serum complement levels and elevated peripheral blood complement expression levels. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2017) 12:1–9. doi: 10.1017/neu.2017.10
- Wu F, Zou Q, Ding X, Shi D, Zhu X, Hu W, et al. Complement component C3a plays a critical role in endothelial activation and leukocyte recruitment into the brain. *J Neuroinflam.* (2016) 13:23. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0485-y
- Boos L, Szalai AJ, Barnum SR. C3a expressed in the central nervous system protects against LPS-induced shock. *Neurosci Lett.* (2005) 387:68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.07.015
- Merle NS, Noe R, Halbwachs-Mecarelli L, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Roumenina LT. Complement System Part II: Role in Immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 6:257. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00257
- Buoli M, Serati M, Caldiroli A, Cremaschi L, Altamura AC. Neurodevelopmental versus neurodegenerative model of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: comparison with physiological brain development and aging. *Psychiatr Danub*. (2017) 29:24–27.
- 77. Lettiero B, Andersen AJ, Hunter AC, Moghimi SM. Complement system and the brain: selected pathologies and avenues toward engineering

of neurological nanomedicines. J Control Rel. (2012) 161:283–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.10.036

- Mantovani S, Gordon R, Macmaw JK, Pfluger CM, Henderson RD, Noakes PG, et al. Elevation of the terminal complement activation products C5a and C5b-9 in ALS patient blood. J Neuroimmunol. (2014) 276:213–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014. 09.005
- Kopczynska M, Zelek W, Touchard S, Gaughran F, Di Forti M, Mondelli V. Complement system biomarkers in first episode psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.12.012. [Epub ahead of print].

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Reginia, Kucharska-Mazur, Jabłoński, Budkowska, Dołęgowska, Sagan, Misiak, Ratajczak, Rybakowski and Samochowiec. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Markers of Inflammation and Monoamine Metabolism Indicate Accelerated Aging in Bipolar Disorder

Seline van den Ameele<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Dietmar Fuchs<sup>3</sup>, Violette Coppens<sup>1,2</sup>, Peter de Boer<sup>4</sup>, Maarten Timmers<sup>4,5</sup>, Bernard Sabbe<sup>1,2</sup> and Manuel Morrens<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, <sup>2</sup> University Psychiatric Hospital Duffel -VZW Emmaüs, Duffel, Belgium, <sup>3</sup> Division of Biological Chemistry, Biocenter, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria, <sup>4</sup> Janssen Research and Development, A Division of Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., Beerse, Belgium, <sup>5</sup> Reference Center for Biological Markers of Dementia, Institute Born-Bunge, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

**Background:** A mild pro-inflammatory status accompanies bipolar disorder (BD). Inflammation can cause a shift in monoamine metabolism, thereby activating more cytotoxic pathways. The extent to which low-grade inflammation in BD interacts with monoamine metabolism and how this accords to aging and clinical course is unknown.

**Objectives:** We evaluated the presence of alterations in inflammation and monoamine metabolism in BD throughout different mood states and the role of aging therein.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Błażej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Hemmo A. Drexhage, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Netherlands Janusz K. Rybakowski, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

\*Correspondence: Seline van den Ameele seline.vandenameele@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 December 2017 Accepted: 23 May 2018 Published: 14 June 2018

#### Citation:

van den Ameele S, Fuchs D, Coppens V, de Boer P, Timmers M, Sabbe B and Morrens M (2018) Markers of Inflammation and Monoamine Metabolism Indicate Accelerated Aging in Bipolar Disorder. Front. Psychiatry 9:250. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00250 **Methods:** Sixty-seven patients with BD were included during an acute mood episode, either depressive (n = 29), (hypo)manic (n = 29), or mixed (n = 9). Plasma levels of inflammatory markers [tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interferon gamma (IFN-y), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and C-reactive protein (CRP)] and markers of monoamine metabolism (neopterin, tryptophan, kynurenine, phenylalanine, and tyrosine) were measured repeatedly during a follow-up of 8 months. Levels in patients were compared to controls (n = 35) and correlated to HDRS-17 and YMRS scores. Spearman correlations and linear mixed model analysis were used for statistical analysis.

# **Results:** Forty-nine patients and 30 controls (age range: 22–62 years) completed the study. No significant differences in inflammatory markers were found between patients and controls overall. Tryptophan, tyrosine, and phenylalanine levels were lower in patients. In both patients and controls, markers of inflammation correlated only weakly with markers of monoamine metabolism, but correlations representative for activity of cytotoxic pathways in monoamine metabolism were more pronounced in patients. In patients, but not in controls, older age was associated with increases in inflammatory markers (IL-6, CRP, neopterin) and the kynurenine/tryptophan ratio. None of the biological markers correlated significantly with mood symptom severity.

**Conclusion:** Our data suggest an increased susceptibility of patients with BD to develop a pro-inflammatory state and to shift monoamine metabolism toward more cytotoxic pathways. These findings are in support of the theory of neuroprogression and accelerated aging in BD. Since associations between biological markers and clinical characteristics are limited, it remains to be determined if alterations in biological markers are due to a disease effect or rather are a consequence of confounding factors.

Keywords: bipolar disorder, inflammation, monoamines, neopterin, neuroprogression, accelerated aging

#### INTRODUCTION

Low-grade inflammation has been documented extensively in bipolar disorder (BD). Increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and acute phase proteins have been shown during acute mood episodes (1–5) and in later stages of the disease (4, 6). Even during euthymia, isolated monocytes were found to express more pro-inflammatory genes, and the activity of hippocampal microglia was increased (7–9). According to the theory of accelerated aging, the early onset of a chronic low-grade inflammation underlies neuroprogression in BD by affecting monoamine synthesis and increasing the production of cytotoxic metabolites (10, 11).

Rising evidence suggests that immune system pathways act on monoamine biosynthesis (See **Figure 1**) (12–14). In chronic inflammation, activation of guanosine triphosphate cyclohydroxylase 1 (GTP-CH1) by the pro-inflammatory cytokines interferon gamma (IFN-y) and tumor necrosis factoralfa (TNF- $\alpha$ ) results in increased neopterin production at the expense of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>). Neopterin is a marker of activated cell-mediated immunity and increased oxidative stress (15, 16), while BH<sub>4</sub> is an essential cofactor in the synthesis of dopamine, noradrenaline, adrenaline and serotonin (17–19). IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  also stimulate indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase 1 (IDO-1) activity. Upon immune activation, IDO-1 converts tryptophan to kynurenine and thus depletes tryptophan for serotonin synthesis. Kynurenine metabolites have several downstream cytotoxic or neuroactive effects (14, 20).

In viral infections, cancer and autoimmune diseases, inflammatory markers have already been correlated with monoamine synthesis and neopterin production (16). As seen in healthy aging, low-grade inflammation correlates to increased neopterin levels and IDO-1-mediated induction of tryptophan metabolism. In otherwise healthy elderly IDO-1 and GTP-CH1 activity have been associated with depressive symptomatology (17). Decreased levels of BH<sub>4</sub> have been found in patients with major depression and schizophrenia (21, 22). Although changes in neopterin levels and IDO-1 activity were found in patients with BD (23, 24), it remains unclear whether these changes in monoamine synthesis correlate with inflammatory alterations.

The aim of this study was to evaluate a possible association between inflammation and monoamine metabolism in bipolar disorder and its relation to aging and clinical course. We hypothesized pro-inflammatory cytokines to be increased in patients with BD compared to healthy controls, and more so during mood episodes and in older patients with a longer duration of illness, resulting in an activation of GTP-CH1 and IDO-1.

#### **METHODS**

#### **Participants**

Inpatients were recruited in 3 psychiatric centers in the region of Antwerp, Belgium. Outpatients were recruited via the Flemish patient association. The inclusion criteria were age 18–65 years, DSM-IV diagnosis of BD type I, type II



FIGURE 1 | Influence of inflammatory cytokines on neurotransmitter metabolism. The pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  can activate enzymatic pathways that change neurotransmitter metabolism. IFN-y stimulates GTP-CH1, resulting in the synthesis of  $BH_4$  and neopterin. TNF- $\alpha$ further enhances IFN-v-stimulated GTP-CH1 activity. Neopterin is almost exclusively synthesized in and released by activated cells of the monocyte/macrophage system and used as a marker for activated cell-mediated immunity. Increased neopterin levels also indicate increased oxidative stress induced by immune-mediated processes. In chronic inflammation, mainly neopterin is released at the expense of BH<sub>4</sub> production. BH<sub>4</sub> is an essential cofactor in the synthesis of dopamine, noradrenaline, adrenaline and serotonin. IFN-y and TNF-a also stimulate IDO-1 activity. Upon immune activation, IDO-1 converts Trp to Kyn and thus depletes Trp for serotonin synthesis. Downstream kynurenine metabolites have several cytotoxic or neuroactive effects. Arg, L-Arginine; BH<sub>4</sub>, tetrahydrobiopterin; GTP-CH1, guanosine triphosphate cyclohydroxylase 1; IDO-1, indoleamine 2,3 dioxygenase 1; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL, interleukin; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; Kyn, kynurenine; KYNA, kynurenic acid; L-DOPA, L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine; NH<sub>2</sub>PPP, dihydroneopterin triphosphate; NO, nitric oxide; PAH, phenylalanine hydroxylase; Phe, phenylalanine; TH, tyrosine hydroxylase; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; TPH, tryptophan hydroxylase; Trp, tryptophan; Tyr, tyrosine; QUIN, quinolinic acid; 3-HK, 3-hydroxykynurenine.

or schizoaffective disorder and suffering from a depressive or (hypo)manic episode at time of inclusion. Clinical assessments are described below (see section Clinical Assessments). Age and gender matched controls were recruited mainly among staff members of the participating centers. We ensured an equal distribution of inclusions of patients and controls throughout the year to account for seasonality in immune system activity (25). Exclusion criteria for both patient and control group were: substance abuse, use of anti-inflammatory drugs within 2 weeks preceding screening or test days, acute infection, autoimmune diseases, chronic inflammatory or neurological diseases, pregnancy or breastfeeding, electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) within 6 months before screening or during followup, mental retardation, significant disturbances on a screening blood test evaluating complete blood count, electrolytes, fasting glucose, lipid profile, liver, kidney and thyroid function, and serology (human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B and C). Urine drug testing was routinely done at screening and repeated on subsequent test days when drug abuse was suspected (e.g., history of substance abuse, unreliable anamnesis). In the control group, additional exclusion criteria were applied: current or past diagnosis of major depressive disorder, BD or psychotic syndrome as defined by DSM-IV criteria and BD or psychotic syndrome in a first-degree family member and current use of psychopharmacological drugs. There were no other restrictions regarding medication use.

Participants were recruited between March 2015 and May 2016. The study was approved by the Committee for Medical Ethics of the University Hospital Antwerp and the Antwerp University with protocol number B300201421645. The local ethical committees of the participating centers approved the protocol. All participants agreed to participate in the study and signed informed consent. The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki.

#### **Study Design**

Patients were recruited during an acute mood episode, either depressed, (hypo)manic or mixed. In both patients and controls, screening was followed by a first test day after 1–5 days. Subsequent test days were planned after, respectively 1, 2, 4, 6, and 8 months of follow-up, resulting in 6 test days per participant over the course of 8 months. Every test day included the same clinical and laboratory assessments as described below. During the study period, patients received treatment as usual without intervention of the investigators.

#### **Clinical Assessments**

The M.I.N.I.-plus, International Neuropsychiatric Interview, version 5.0.0 was chosen as diagnostic instrument in patients and controls because of its accurate structured DSM-IV diagnosis and convenience to administer (26). In patients, the severity of mood symptoms was assessed by the 17-item Hamilton Depression Rating Scaling (HDRS-17) (27) and the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS) (28) at screening and on all test days. At screening, threshold score for inclusion was set at  $\geq$ 17 for the HDRS-17 or  $\geq$ 13 for the YMRS, corresponding to moderate depression or hypomania, respectively (29, 30). On all subsequent test days, the mood state of patients was classified as "depressive," "(hypo)manic," "mixed," or "euthymic" according to the HDRS and YMRS scores. Psychotic symptoms were evaluated on test days using the positive subscale of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (31). In the control group, the occurrence of mood episodes during followup was evaluated on all test days based on a short screening questionnaire. For all participants, we assessed medication use and the occurrence of any of the exclusion criteria on every test day. All clinical assessments were done by a psychiatrist in training (SvdA) and supervised by a psychiatrist (MM).

#### Laboratory Assessments

Blood was drawn by venipuncture between 08.00 and 10.30 a.m. into a citrate vacuum tube (2.7 ml). Tubes were immediately

stored at  $4^{\circ}$ C, centrifuged at 2 g and  $4^{\circ}$ C for 10 min within 2 h after blood draw, and plasma was aliquoted and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until assayed.

TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN-y, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, IL-6, and CRP were measured in duplicate by an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay technique developed by Mesoscale Discovery (Rockville, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Kits used for detection were V-plex Pro-inflammatory Panel I for TNF- $\alpha$ , IFNy, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-4, and IL-6 and Human Vascular Injury Panel for CRP. The lower limits of detection (LLOD) were, respectively 0.04, 0.2, 0.04, 0.02, 0.06, and 1.3 pg/ml. Sample signals were fitted on a 4-parametric logistic calibration curve to calculate concentrations.

Patient and control samples were analyzed in randomized sequence with both samples of a single subject on the same plate and an equal distribution of patients and controls per plate. Samples with a coefficient of variation (CV) > 20% were excluded from statistical analyses. Because >80% of the samples were below the LLOD for IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-4, these cytokines were not included in statistical analyses. Excluded samples were equally distributed among patients and controls. For TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN-y, IL-6, and CRP, >80% of the samples were included for analysis. The mean CV and standard deviation were 6.3 (4.7), 8.4 (5.5), 7.6 (5.5), 5.4 (4.5), respectively.

Neopterin concentrations were determined by enzymelinked immunosorbent assay according to the manufacturer's instructions (BRAHMS Diagnostics, Hennigsdorf, Germany). Tryptophan, kynurenine, phenylalanine, and tyrosine were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography, as described previously (32, 33). The ratios of Kyn/Trp and Phe/Tyr were calculated as indexes of IDO-1 and PHA activity, respectively. The Phe/Tyr ratio is also used as a reliable measure of BH<sub>4</sub> availability (34).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Normality of outcome variables and homoscedasticity of residuals were evaluated by visual inspection. For the regression modeling, IFN-y, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and CRP concentrations were log-transformed to obtain a normal distribution. Homogeneity of variances was assessed by Levene's test and further analyses were adapted accordingly.

Baseline differences in clinical and demographic parameters between the patient and control group were examined by twotailed independent *t*-tests for continuous variables and Pearson chi-square test for categorical variables.

Longitudinal data were examined using linear mixed model analysis with the biological parameters as outcome variable. Based on the *LogLikelihood* value, we fitted a model that included the subject ID as random intercept. We included subsequently group (patient vs. HC) and mood state [depression vs. (hypo)mania vs. mixed episode vs. euthymia vs. controls] as fixed effects. Smoking status and BMI were added as covariates to the adjusted models. As nutritional status affects amino acid levels, albumin concentrations were also added as covariates in the adjusted model of amino acid level prediction. Impact of age was assessed by adding age and the interaction between age and group as covariates in the linear mixed model. The output from the mixed model analysis, is reported as "F-ratio (DF); *p*-value; *b*."

The relation among biological parameters and the relation between symptom severity scores and biological parameter levels were studied by pairwise correlations. Correlations are reported by the Spearman's rho for non-parametric distributions. *P*-values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were performed in JMP Pro 12 (JMP, Marlow, UK).

#### RESULTS

#### **Participants**

Sixty-seven patients with BD and 35 controls were included. At screening, 29 patients had a depressive episode, 29 patients a hypomanic or manic episode, and 9 patients a mixed episode. Demographic and metabolic characteristics are shown in **Table 1**. Patients and controls were matched by sex and age. Body mass index (BMI) and the percentage of smokers were higher in patients compared to controls. No other significant differences in demographic or metabolic parameters were found between patients and controls. Clinical characteristics of patients are shown in **Table 2**.

Forty-nine patients and 30 controls completed the 8-month's study design. Drop-out in the patient group was due to: chronic use of low-dose acetylsalicylic acid (n = 5), substance abuse (n = 3), ECT (n = 2), and loss of contact or lack of motivation for further participation (n = 8). Drop-out in the control group was due to difficult blood draws (n = 1) and repeated orthopedic surgery (n = 1). Three controls were only included for baseline testing. The mean number of test days per participant was 5.0 in patients and 5.4 in controls. Over 8 months, the total number of blood samples included for analyses was 336 in patients and 188 in controls. In

**TABLE 1** | Baseline demographic and metabolic characteristics.

Patients	Controls	p-value <sup>a</sup>
67	35	
39 (58.2)	19 (54.3)	0.704
$43.3 \pm 11.1$ (23–62)	42.7 ± 11.6 (23–62)	0.883
63 (94.0)	34 (97.1)	0.489
32 (47.8)	6 (17.1)	0.002
$25.3 \pm 4.2$ (18–39)	$23.7 \pm 2.6$ (20–29)	0.025
89.1 ± 12.1 (66–122)	84.4 ± 9.6 (67–104)	0.059
90.0 ± 9.3 (69–116)	87.5 ± 6.8 (73–102)	0.176
186.5 ± 44.7 (101–341)	$190.9 \pm 42.4$ (132–283)	0.636
58.6 ± 17.8 (24–102)	62.0 ± 18.4 (28–118)	0.372
$105.6 \pm 40.9 \ \text{(}44264\text{)}$	$109.0\pm 33.4\ (57184)$	0.674
	Patients           67           39 (58.2)           43.3 $\pm$ 11.1 (23–62)           63 (94.0)           32 (47.8)           25.3 $\pm$ 4.2 (18–39)           89.1 $\pm$ 12.1 (66–122)           90.0 $\pm$ 9.3 (69–116)           186.5 $\pm$ 44.7 (101–341)           58.6 $\pm$ 17.8 (24–102)           105.6 $\pm$ 40.9 (44–264)	PatientsControls673539 (58.2)19 (54.3)43.3 $\pm$ 11.1 (23-62)42.7 $\pm$ 11.6 (23-62)63 (94.0)34 (97.1)32 (47.8)6 (17.1)25.3 $\pm$ 4.2 (18-39)23.7 $\pm$ 2.6 (20-29)89.1 $\pm$ 12.1 (66-122)84.4 $\pm$ 9.6 (67-104)90.0 $\pm$ 9.3 (69-116)87.5 $\pm$ 6.8 (73-102)186.5 $\pm$ 44.7 (101-341)190.9 $\pm$ 42.4 (132-283)58.6 $\pm$ 17.8 (24-102)62.0 $\pm$ 18.4 (28-118)105.6 $\pm$ 40.9 (44-264)109.0 $\pm$ 33.4 (57-184)

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (range) or n (%). BMI, body mass index; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein. <sup>a</sup>p-values of t-test or Chi-squared test. Bold values: significant p-values (p < 0.05).

total, 178 test moments were during a depressive episode, 71 during a (hypo)manic episode, 23 during a mixed episode, and 64 test moments were during a euthymic episode. Symptom severity scores by mood state are shown in **Table 3** and Table S1.

#### **Biological Markers in Patients and Healthy** Controls

#### Biological Markers in Patients vs. Controls

The overall levels of inflammatory markers and amino acids in patients and controls are shown in Table S2. No significant differences in levels of inflammatory markers (IFN-y, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and CRP) were found between patients and controls. Patients had significantly lower levels of tryptophan [ $F_{(92.4)} = 5.2$ ; p = 0.026; b = 3.37], tyrosine [ $F_{(98.2)} = 7.8$ ; p = 0.006; b = 9.56], and phenylalanine [ $F_{(95.0)} = 9.6$ ; p = 0.003; b = 5.14] as compared to controls. After adjustment for BMI and albumin levels, also kynurenine was found to be lower in patients

TABLE 2 | Clinical characteristics and baseline data of patients.

Ν	67		
Diagnosis			
BD type I	42 (62.7)		
BD type II	23 (34.3)		
Schizoaffective disorder	2 (3)		
Age of onset, years	24.9 ± 11.5 (8-55)		
Duration of illness, years	17.6 ± 11.3 (0-49)		
First episode: depression	40 (60.6)		
Age first depression, years	25.9 ± 12.1 (8-55)		
Age first mania/hypomania, years	28.9 ± 11.9 (8-59)		
Lifetime psychotic features	37 (55.2)		
Total number of hospitalizations			
0	9 (13.4)		
1-5	45 (67.2)		
6-10	13 (19.4)		
Lifetime substance abuse	30 (44.8)		
Alcohol	18 (26.9)		
THC	13 (19.4)		
Hard drugs	5 (7.5)		
Baseline medication use			
Medication-free	6 (9.0)		
Lithium	24 (35.8)		
Valproate	9 (13.4)		
Carbamazepine	3 (4.5)		
Lamotrigine	8 (11.9)		
Antipsychotic	42 (62.7)		
Antidepressant	31 (46.3)		
Benzodiazepine	24 (35.8)		
Baseline mood episode			
Depression	29 (43.3)		
(Hypo)mania	29 (43.3)		
Mixed	9 (13.4)		

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SD (range) or n (%). BD, bipolar disorder; THC, tetrahydrocannabinol.

 $[F_{(95.6)} = 3.9; p = 0.0499; b = 0.13]$ . After adjustment for smoking status, kynurenine remained significantly lower in patients  $[F_{(99)} = 4.0; p = 0.048; b = 0.16]$ . Neopterin and the Phe/Tyr and Kyn/Trp ratios did not differ significantly between patients and controls.

Differences between controls and different mood states in patients [i.e., depression vs. (hypo)mania vs. mixed episode vs. euthymia vs. controls] are shown in **Table 3**. No differences in levels of inflammatory markers were found. The decrease in tryptophan, tyrosine, and phenylalanine found in the total patient group is significantly more pronounced in depressive patients. These findings did not retain statistical significance after adjustment for smoking status.

## Correlation Between Markers of Inflammation and Amino Acids in Patients vs. Controls

In both patients and controls, inflammatory parameters correlated positively to neopterin levels. IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  positively correlated to Kyn/Trp in both groups. In patients, but not in controls, IL-6 correlated positively to the Kyn/Trp ratio and negatively to tryptophan. Neopterin correlated positively to kynurenine and the Kyn/Trp and Phe/Tyr ratios, with a stronger correlation in patients. Further details on correlations are shown in **Table 4** and Table S3.

## Impact of Age and Course of Illness on Biological Markers

Correlations between inflammatory markers and symptom severity scores were weak and not significant (see Table S4). Small inverse correlations were found between HDRS scores and tryptophan ( $\rho = -0.13$ ), kynurenine ( $\rho = -0.14$ ), and tyrosine ( $\rho = -0.11$ ) levels, while positive correlations ( $\rho$  between 0.15 and 0.22) were found between YMRS and PANSS positive subscale scores and tryptophan, kynurenine, tyrosine,

TABLE 3 | Mood symptom severity and differences in biological markers between mood states and controls.

and phenylalanine levels. Neopterin levels and the Phe/Tyr and Kyn/Trp ratios were not significantly correlated to symptom severity scores, except for a weak positive correlation between Phe/Tyr and HDRS scores ( $\rho = 0.13$ ). See Table S4 for further details. In line with the correlations, the presence of psychotic features was associated with an increase in phenylalanine levels [ $F_{(318.4)} = 9.1$ ; p = 0.003; b = 4.99].

Longer duration of illness was associated with higher TNF- $\alpha$  $[F_{(65,2)} = 5.3; p = 0.024; b = 0.01]$ , kynurenine  $[F_{(64,7)} = 4.3;$ p = 0.042; b = 0.01], Kyn/Trp [ $F_{(66.4)} = 8.0; p = 0.006;$ b = 0.17], and neopterin [ $F_{(70,2)} = 6.2$ ; p = 0.015; b = 0.03], effect sizes are rather small. Comparing the impact of aging on biological parameters between patients and controls, we observed a significant interaction effect between age and patient/control status for IL-6, CRP, neopterin, and the Kyn/Trp ratio. Patients have rising IL-6, CRP, neopterin, and Kyn/Trp ratio with older age, while these parameters are stable in controls (see Figure 2). A similar age effect is found when comparing biomarker levels in participants below and above 45 years of age (see Table 5). Only in the patient group we observed a significant difference between both age groups: the older patient group had higher levels of Kyn/Trp, neopterin, IL-6, and TNF-α and lower tryptophan levels. Comparing patients and controls, the <45 years group had lower levels of kynurenine, Kyn/Trp, and tyrosine in patients (p = 0.012, 0.018, and 0.040, respectively), while inflammatory markers were not different between patients and controls. Patients in the >45 years group had lower levels of tryptophan and phenylalanine (p-value of 0.009 and 0.006, respectively) compared to controls and higher IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and CRP levels (p-values of 0.003, 0.047, and 0.007).

Other illness characteristics such as duration of current mood state, lifetime psychotic features, BD type I or II, number of mood episodes and number of hospitalizations revealed no significant relations with any of the biological markers (p > 0.05).

Depression (Hypo)mania Mixed Euthymia Controls Effect **Tukey HSD** # Test moments (N) 178 71 23 64 188 HDRS 16.6 (5.8) 6.6 (4.1) 20.5 (4.4) 3.9 (2.2) YMRS 3.5 (2.7) 15.2 (4.4) 18.3 (7.0) 2.7 (2.4) IFN-y (pg/ml)\* 4.24 (0.08) 4.67 (0.10) 4.71 (0.15) 4.78 (0.10) 4.87 (0.10)  $F_{(403.4)} = 0.6; p = 0.655$ 0.49 (0.07) 0.41 (0.09)  $F_{(434)} = 1.6; p = 0.168$ IL-6 (pg/ml)\* 0.52 (0.08) 0.42 (0.12) 0.52 (0.08) TNF-α (pg/ml)\* 1.95 (0.04) 1.89 (0.04) 1.83 (0.06) 1.87 (0.04) 1.77 (0.05)  $F_{(498,4)} = 1.5; p = 0.198$ 1.97 (0.15) CRP (mg/L)\* 1.81 (0.15) 2.16 (0.21) 1.27 (0.17)  $F_{(487.7)} = 1.5; p = 0.205$ 2.08 (0.15) Trp (µmol/l) 50.04 (0.99) 51.67 (1.24) 54.61 (2.02) 51.29 (1.28) 54.37 (1.18) F<sub>(333,2)</sub> = 2.8; **p** = 0.025 D < CKyn (µmol/l) 1.43 (0.04) 1.46 (0.05) 1.53 (0.08) 1.51 (0.05) 1.58 (0.05)  $F_{(350,7)} = 1.9; p = 0.116$  $F_{(351.5)} = 0.5; p = 0.702$ Kyn/Trp (µmol/mmol) 28.89 (0.75) 28.89 (0.91) 28.54 (1.42) 29.98 (0.93) 29.41 (0.92)  $F_{(306.1)} = 0.8; p = 0.499$ Neo (nmol/l) 4.96 (0.17) 5.00 (0.23) 5.12 (0.40) 5.44 (0.25) 5.04 (0.18) Tyr (µmol/l) 62.64 (2.25) 70.62 (2.78) 71.67 (4.45) 64.10 (2.87) 75.06 (2.71)  $F_{(345,3)} = 4.9; p < 0.001$ D < C & M; E < CD < C & MxPhe (µmol/l) 49.47 (1.12) 52.08 (1.43) 56.13 (2.35) 50.54 (1.48) 55.93 (1.31)  $F_{(334.7)} = 4.9; p < 0.001$ Phe/Tyr 0.83 (0.02) 0.77 (0.22) 0.81 (0.03) 0.82 (0.02) 0.78 (0.02)  $F_{(346,3)} = 2.4; p = 0.053$ 

Data presented as mean (SE). SE, standard error; HDRS, Hamilton depression rating scale; YMRS, Young mania rating scale; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL, interleukin; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; CRP, C-reactive protein; Trp, tryptophan; Kyn, kynurenine; Neo, neopterin; Tyr, tyrosine; Phe, phenylalanine; D, depression; C, controls; E, euthymia; M, (hypo)mania; Mx, mixed. \*SE on log-transformed data. Bold values: significant p-values (p < 0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study we measured markers of monoamine synthesis and immune activity in patients with BD and controls. We found decreased levels of tryptophan, phenylalanine and tyrosine in patients, which were more pronounced during depressive episodes. We found no differences in inflammatory markers between the overall groups of patients vs. controls. Nonetheless, our results suggest a proneness of patients with BD for an increased pro-inflammatory state and its related cytotoxic effects as (i) correlations between inflammatory markers and monoamine metabolites diverge distinctly between patients and controls and (ii) a premature pro-inflammatory status arises in middle-aged patients and increases over the course of illness.

The positive correlation between Phe/Tyr and neopterin levels found in patients with BD is similar to the changes seen

**TABLE 4** | Spearman correlations between markers of inflammation and monoamine metabolism in patients vs. controls.

	Neopterin		Kyn	/Trp	Phe/Tyr		
	Patients	Controls	Patients	Controls	Patients	Controls	
IFN-y	0.31***	0.35***	0.17**	0.34***	0.05	-0.11	
IL-6	0.20**	0.28**	0.19**	0.15	-0.14*	-0.06	
TNF-α	0.33***	0.26***	0.32***	0.27*	0.04	-0.04	
CRP	0.23***	0.25***	-0.01	0.1	-0.04	-0.05	
Neopterin	1	1	0.43***	0.27***	0.17**	-0.07	

\*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001. Trp, tryptophan; Kyn, kynurenine; Tyr, tyrosine; Phe, phenylalanine; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL, interleukin; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor alpha; CRP, C-reactive protein.

during chronic inflammation in cancer, HIV, and autoimmune diseases which are related to activation of the GTP-CH1 enzyme (18). Activation of GTP-CH1 results in increased neopterin synthesis in macrophages at the expense of BH<sub>4</sub>, an essential cofactor for monoamine synthesis (17). We found that IL-6 levels correlated positively to Kyn/Trp and negatively to tryptophan only in patients, which suggests activation of the IDO-1 enzyme. Increased IDO-1 activity results in higher tryptophan breakdown in the kynurenine pathway. The consequence is a lower tryptophan availability for serotonin synthesis and increased levels of kynurenine metabolites that have multiple cytotoxic and neuroactive effects. These different interactions between markers of inflammation and monoamine metabolism in patients vs. controls are suggestive for a stronger interaction between inflammation, activation of IDO-1 and GTP-CH1, impaired monoamine synthesis and increased production of cytotoxic metabolites in patients.

Interestingly, exclusively in the patient group, aging and increased duration of illness were associated with a rise in levels of pro-inflammatory markers, neopterin and the Kyn/Trp ratio. A pro-inflammatory status accompanies normal aging and is thought to underlie the increased frailty and vulnerability for psychiatric disorders in elderly (35–37). Similar to the correlations found in our patient group, chronic low-grade inflammation in healthy elderly was related to increased Phe/Tyr, and to decreased tryptophan levels (17). As in our patient group, older age was also related to increasing IL-6, neopterin, and IDO-1 activation. The mean age of 79.9 years in the above study of Capuron et al. (17) contrasts with the mean age of 43 years in our study population. Previous research shows that in healthy subjects over 60 years of age the effects of aging on inflammation and IDO-1 activation become more apparent



FIGURE 2 | Effect of aging on Neopterin, Kyn/Trp, IL-6, and CRP in patients vs. controls: interaction plots. CRP, C-reactive protein; IL, interleukin; Kyn, kynurenine; Neo, neopterin; Trp, tryptophan.

		Р	atients		С	ontrols
	<45 y (n = 36)	≥45 y (n = 31)	Effect	<45 y (n = 19)	≥45 y ( <i>n</i> = 16)	Effect
Trp (µmol/l)	52.91 (1.35)	48.70 (1.8)	F <sub>(61.6)</sub> = 5.3; <b>p</b> = 0.025; b = 4.21	53.81 (1.30)	55.15 (1.34)	$F_{(150)} = 0.8; p = 0.369; b = -1.34$
Kyn (µmol/l)	1.43 (0.05)	1.51 (0.06)	$F_{(63.5)} = 1.0; p = 0.311; b = -0.08$	1.57 (0.05)	1.59 (0.05)	$F_{(181)} = 0.1; p = 0.700; b = -0.02$
Kyn/Trp (µmol/mmol)	27.20 (0.91)	31.30 (0.99)	$F_{(65.0)} = 9.4; \mathbf{p} = 0.003; b = -4.09$	29.71 (0.87)	29.08 (0.90)	$F_{(180.5)} = 0.5; p = 0.468; b = 0.64$
Neo (nmol/l)	4.78 (0.18)	5.41 (0.20)	<i>F</i> <sub>(67.5)</sub> = 5.5; <i>p</i> = 0.022; <i>b</i> = -0.63	5.15 (0.22)	4.94 (0.23)	$F_{(88.8)} = 0.6; p = 0.457; b = 0.22$
Tyr (µmol/l)	64.05 (2.50)	66.34 (2.69)	$F_{(60.6)} = 0.5; p = 0.498; b = -2.28$	76.70 (4.00)	73.12 (4.14)	$F_{(179.7)} = 0.8; p = 0.378; b = 3.52$
Phe (µmol/l)	50.97 (1.26)	50.27 (1.37)	$F_{(58.2)} = 0.2; p = 0.695; b = 0.69$	55.89 (1.85)	55.88 (1.92)	$F_{(169.7)} = 0.0; p = 0.998; b = 0.01$
Phe/Tyr	0.83 (0.02)	0.79 (0.02)	$F_{(64.8)} = 1.3; p = 0.250; b = 0.04$	0.77 (0.02)	0.78 (0.03)	$F_{(160.7)} = 0.1; p = 0.757; b = -0.01$
IFN-y (pg/ml)*	4.66 (0.10)	4.94 (0.09)	$F_{(56.7)} = 0.2; p = 0.683; b = -0.06$	5.55 (0.13)	4.29 (0.14)	$F_{(95.5)} = 2.0; p = 0.161; b = 0.26$
IL-6 (pg/ml)*	0.41 (0.08)	0.61 (0.08)	<i>F</i> <sub>(62.8)</sub> = 12.4; <i>p</i> < <b>0.001</b> ; <i>b</i> = -0.41	0.42 (0.12)	0.41 (0.12)	$F_{(136.3)} = 0.1; p = 0.774; b = 0.04$
TNF-α (pg/ml)*	1.77 (0.05)	2.08 (0.06)	<i>F</i> <sub>(65.2)</sub> = 4.4; <i>p</i> = 0.039; <i>b</i> = -0.16	1.74 (0.06)	1.81 (0.06)	$F_{(174.7)} = 0.8; p = 0.378; b = -0.04$
CRP (mg/L)*	1.65 (0.19)	2.29 (0.20)	$F_{(67.7)} = 1.4; p = 0.236; b = -0.33$	1.41 (0.16)	1.14 (0.16)	$F_{(154.2)} = 1.3; p = 0.260; b = 0.21$

Data presented as mean (SE).

SE, standard error; IFN-y, interferon gamma; IL, interleukin; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor alpha; CRP, C-reactive protein; Trp, tryptophan; Kyn, kynurenine; Neo, neopterin; Tyr, tyrosine; Phe, phenylalanine. \*SE on log-transformed d. Bold values: significant p-values (p < 0.05).

(38, 39). Our study revealed increased pro-inflammatory markers in patients with BD above 45 years of age. Similarly, Drexhage et al. (40) demonstrated a higher proportion of regulatory T-cells in patients below 40 years, compared to controls. Regulatory Tcells temper the inflammatory response and maintain immune homeostasis and tolerance.

Both the stronger correlation between inflammation and GTP-CH1 and IDO-1 activation and the premature shift toward a pro-inflammatory status in our patient group strengthens the hypothesis of BD as a disease of accelerated aging (11). Due to both acute and chronic stress throughout the course of illness, the compensatory mechanisms in patients show a decreasing capacity to restore homeostasis, resulting in impaired resilience and neuroprogression (10, 11, 41).

However, the associations between biological parameters and characteristics of clinical course are rather small. It remains to be determined whether the differences in biological markers between patients and controls are inherent characteristics of the disease pathophysiology or rather a consequence of confounding factors such as psychopharmacological treatment, smoking status, or other lifestyle factors. Nearly all patients received psychopharmacological treatment that evidently affects monoamine metabolism. Differences in amino acid levels did not remain significant after adjustment for smoking status. Conflicting data on the effect of smoking on monoamine metabolism (42–44) and the high proportion of smokers in our patient group vs. the low proportion in controls make the interpretation of these results difficult.

#### STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

We included patients in manic, depressive, and mixed episodes and completed approximately 6 test moments during a follow-up of 8 months. The longitudinal design enables a within-person assessment of diverse mood states and the high number of assessments by mood state increases the power of the

study. The impact of methodological bias was minimized by standardized blood sampling and uniform, meticulous laboratory procedures. All clinical assessments were done by the same clinician-researcher, excluding interrater bias. Data on illness course and medication use were collected carefully. We used robust, transparent statistical methods. Mixed model analysis enables correction for missed moments, drop-out and a random variation in time and subject. The statistical models were adjusted for possible influences of BMI, smoking status, age, and albumin levels. The naturalistic design has several inherent limitations. Despite strict in- and exclusion criteria, the patient sample remained heterogeneous regarding characteristics as illness severity, duration of illness, treatment history, diagnosis, and history of substance abuse. Sample heterogeneity may hide relevant information that could have been discerned in a more homogenous patient group. We carefully collected data regarding course of illness and patient characteristics and integrated these data in the statistical analysis. Apart from the use of anti-inflammatory medication and ECT, there were no treatment restrictions during followup. Since patients were included during an acute mood episode, nearly all had changes in psychopharmacological treatment.

#### CONCLUSION

We found stronger correlations between pro-inflammatory markers and cytotoxic pathways of monoamine metabolism in patients vs. controls. Middle-aged patients and patients with longer duration of illness had increased inflammatory and cytotoxic markers compared to young patients and controls. A pro-inflammatory proneness of patients and a subsequent shift of monoamine metabolism toward more cytotoxic pathways could underlie neuroprogression in BD. Since only few associations are found between biological markers and characteristics of clinical course, it remains to be determined if alterations in biological markers are due to a disease effect or rather a consequence of confounding factors.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MM, VC, and SvdA developed the study protocol. SvdA did the patient recruitment, screening, and clinical assessments and first drafted the manuscript. DF did the laboratory analyses and supervised the data interpretation. Statistical analyses were done by SvdA. All authors contributed to the development of the manuscript and have approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by a grant from Janssen Research and Development, a division of Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V. The

#### REFERENCES

- Becking K, Haarman BC, van der Lek RF, Grosse L, Nolen WA, Claes S, et al. Inflammatory monocyte gene expression: trait or state marker in bipolar disorder? *Int J Bipolar Disord*. (2015) 3:20. doi: 10.1186/s40345-015-0037-x
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Boronow J, Yolken R. Elevated serum levels of C-reactive protein are associated with mania symptoms in outpatients with bipolar disorder. *Progr Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 31:952–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.02.018
- Munkholm K, Brauner JV, Kessing LV, Vinberg M. Cytokines in bipolar disorder vs. healthy control subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res. (2013) 47:1119–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.018
- Siwek M, Sowa-Kucma M, Styczen K, Misztak P, Nowak RJ, Szewczyk B, et al. Associations of serum cytokine receptor levels with melancholia, staging of illness, depressive and manic phases, and severity of depression in bipolar disorder. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2017) 54:5883–93. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-0124-8
- van den Ameele S, van Diermen L, Staels W, Coppens V, Dumont G, Sabbe B, et al. The effect of mood-stabilizing drugs on cytokine levels in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. J Affecte Disord. (2016) 203:364–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.06.016
- Grande I, Magalhaes PV, Chendo I, Stertz L, Panizutti B, Colpo GD, et al. Staging bipolar disorder: clinical, biochemical, and functional correlates. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2014) 129:437–44. doi: 10.1111/acps.12268
- Haarman BC, Riemersma-Van der Lek RF, Burger H, Netkova M, Drexhage RC, Bootsman F, et al. Relationship between clinical features and inflammation-related monocyte gene expression in bipolar disorder - towards a better understanding of psychoimmunological interactions. *Bipolar Disord.* (2014) 16:137–50. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12142
- Haarman BC, Riemersma-Van der Lek RF, de Groot JC, Ruhe HG, Klein HC, Zandstra TE, et al. Neuroinflammation in bipolar disorder - A [(11)C]-(R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2014) 40:219–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.03.016
- Padmos RC, Hillegers MH, Knijff EM, Vonk R, Bouvy A, Staal FJ, et al. A discriminating messenger RNA signature for bipolar disorder formed by an aberrant expression of inflammatory genes in monocytes. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2008) 65:395–407. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.65.4.395
- Berk M, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Dean OM, Giorlando F, Maes M, et al. Pathways underlying neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: focus on inflammation, oxidative stress and neurotrophic factors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:804–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.001
- 11. Rizzo LB, Costa LG, Mansur RB, Swardfager W, Belangero SI, Grassi-Oliveira R, et al. The theory of bipolar disorder as an illness of accelerated aging:

funding source has no role in the design and the conduct of the study.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all participants, participating centers and patient organization Ups&Downs for their motivated contribution. We thank I. Vanderplas and E. Schellens for the blood drawings and all-round assistance. We thank J. Schuermans for his help in laboratory work. We thank G. Koppen and D. Ooms for the use of laboratory facilities in the VITO Biology, Mol, Belgium.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2018.00250/full#supplementary-material

implications for clinical care and research. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2014) 42:157-69. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.02.004

- Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Lawson MA, Kelley KW. Inflammation-associated depression: from serotonin to kynurenine. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2011) 36:426–36. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.09.012
- Maes M, Scharpe S, Meltzer HY, Okayli G, Bosmans E, D'Hondt P, et al. Increased neopterin and interferon-gamma secretion and lower availability of L-tryptophan in major depression: further evidence for an immune response. *Psychiatry Res.* (1994) 54:143–60. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(94)90003-5
- Myint AM, Kim YK. Network beyond IDO in psychiatric disorders: revisiting neurodegeneration hypothesis. *Progr Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 48:304–13. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.08.008
- Fuchs D, Hausen A, Reibnegger G, Werner ER, Dierich MP, Wachter H. Neopterin as a marker for activated cell-mediated immunity: application in HIV infection. *Immunol Today* (1988) 9:150–5. doi: 10.1016/0167-5699(88)91203-0
- Murr C, Widner B, Wirleitner B, Fuchs D. Neopterin as a marker for immune system activation. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2002) 3:175–87. doi: 10.2174/1389200024605082
- Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Feart C, Aubert A, Higueret D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70:175–82. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.12.006
- Neurauter G, Schrocksnadel K, Scholl-Burgi S, Sperner-Unterweger B, Schubert C, Ledochowski M, et al. Chronic immune stimulation correlates with reduced phenylalanine turnover. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2008) 9:622–7. doi: 10.2174/138920008785821738
- Werner ER, Blau N, Thony B. Tetrahydrobiopterin: biochemistry and pathophysiology. *Biochem J.* (2011) 438:397–414. doi: 10.1042/BJ20110293
- Birner A, Platzer M, Bengesser SA, Dalkner N, Fellendorf FT, Queissner R, et al. Increased breakdown of kynurenine towards its neurotoxic branch in bipolar disorder. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0172699. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0172699
- Hashimoto R, Mizutani M, Ohta T, Nakazawa K, Nagatsu T. Changes in plasma tetrahydrobiopterin levels of depressives in depressive and remission phases: reconfirmed by measurement with an internal standard. *Neuropsychobiology* (1994) 29:57–60. doi: 10.1159/000119064
- Richardson MA, Read LL, Reilly MA, Clelland JD, Clelland CL. Analysis of plasma biopterin levels in psychiatric disorders suggests a common BH4 deficit in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. *Neurochem Res.* (2007) 32:107–13. doi: 10.1007/s11064-006-9233-5

- Myint AM, Kim YK, Verkerk R, Park SH, Scharpe S, Steinbusch HW, et al. Tryptophan breakdown pathway in bipolar mania. J Affect Disord. (2007) 102:65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.12.008
- Reininghaus EZ, McIntyre RS, Reininghaus B, Geisler S, Bengesser SA, Lackner N, et al. (2013). Tryptophan breakdown is increased in euthymic overweight individuals with bipolar disorder: a preliminary report. *Bipolar Disord*. 16:432–40. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12166
- Nelson RJ. Seasonal immune function and sickness responses. Trends Immunol. (2004) 25:187–92. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.02.001
- Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *J Clin Psychiatry* (1998) 59(Suppl. 20):22–33. quiz: 34–57.
- Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1960) 23:56–62. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.23.1.56
- Young RC, Biggs JT, Ziegler VE, Meyer DA. A rating scale for mania: reliability, validity and sensitivity. Br J Psychiatry (1978) 133:429–35. doi: 10.1192/bjp.133.5.429
- 29. Vieta E. (2009). *Guide to Assessment Scales in Bipolar Disorder*. Tarporley: Springer Healthcare Ltd.
- Zimmerman M, Martinez JH, Young D, Chelminski I, Dalrymple K. Severity classification on the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale. J Affect Disord. (2013) 150:384–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.04.028
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- 32. Neurauter G, Scholl-Burgi S, Haara A, Geisler S, Mayersbach P, Schennach H, et al. Simultaneous measurement of phenylalanine and tyrosine by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with fluorescence detection. *Clin Biochem.* (2013) 46:1848–51. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2013.10.015
- Widner B, Werner ER, Schennach H, Wachter H, Fuchs D. Simultaneous measurement of serum tryptophan and kynurenine by HPLC. *Clin Chem.* (1997) 43:2424–6.
- Hoekstra R, van den Broek WW, Fekkes D, Bruijn JA, Mulder PG, Pepplinkhuizen L. Effect of electroconvulsive therapy on biopterin and large neutral amino acids in severe, medication-resistant depression. *Psychiatry Res.* (2001) 103:115–23. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(01)00282-7
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2000) 908:244–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- McEwen BS. (2017). Allostasis and the epigenetics of brain and body health over the life course: the brain on stress. JAMA Psychiatry 74:551–2. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0270
- 37. Seeman TE, Singer BH, Rowe JW, Horwitz RI, McEwen BS. Price of adaptation-allostatic load and its health consequences. MacArthur

studies of successful aging. Arch Int Med. (1997) 157:2259-68. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1997.00440400111013

- Frick B, Schroecksnadel K, Neurauter G, Leblhuber F, Fuchs D. Increasing production of homocysteine and neopterin and degradation of tryptophan with older age. *Clin Biochem.* (2004) 37:684–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2004.02.007
- Oxenkrug GF. Interferon-gamma-inducible kynurenines/pteridines inflammation cascade: implications for aging and aging-associated psychiatric and medical disorders. J Neural Transm. (2011) 118:75–85. doi: 10.1007/s00702-010-0475-7
- Drexhage RC, Hoogenboezem TH, Versnel MA, Berghout A, Nolen WA, Drexhage HA. The activation of monocyte and T cell networks in patients with bipolar disorder. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2011) 25:1206–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.03.013
- Kapczinski F, Vieta E, Andreazza AC, Frey BN, Gomes FA, Tramontina J, et al. Allostatic load in bipolar disorder: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2008) 32:675–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.10.005
- Mathai AJ, Kanwar J, Okusaga O, Fuchs D, Lowry CA, Peng X, et al. Blood levels of monoamine precursors and smoking in patients with schizophrenia. *Front Public Health* (2016) 4:182. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00182
- Murr C, Grammer TB, Kleber ME, Meinitzer A, Marz W, Fuchs D. Low serum tryptophan predicts higher mortality in cardiovascular disease. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2015) 45:247–54. doi: 10.1111/eci.12402
- 44. Pertovaara M, Heliovaara M, Raitala A, Oja SS, Knekt P, Hurme M. The activity of the immunoregulatory enzyme indoleamine (2006) 2,3dioxygenase is decreased in smokers. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 145:469–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03166.x

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** SvdA was supported by a grant from Janssen Research and Development, a division of Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V. PdB and MT are employees of Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V. MM received grants and personal honoraria from Janssen Pharmaceutica N.V., AstraZeneca, Lundbeck, Bristol-Myer Squibb, and Eli Lilly.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 van den Ameele, Fuchs, Coppens, de Boer, Timmers, Sabbe and Morrens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## IL-33/ST2 Pathway and Galectin-3 as a New Analytes in Pathogenesis and Cardiometabolic Risk Evaluation in Psychosis

Milica M. Borovcanin<sup>1\*</sup>, Slavica M. Janicijevic<sup>1</sup>, Ivan P. Jovanovic<sup>2</sup>, Nevena Gajovic<sup>2</sup>, Nebojsa N. Arsenijevic<sup>2</sup> and Miodrag L. Lukic<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medical Sciences, Center for Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, University of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia

Schizophrenia and treatment of this disorder are often accompanied with metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular issues. Alterations in the serum level of innate immune mediators, such as interleukin-33 (IL-33) and its receptor IL-33R (ST2) and Galectin-3 (Gal-3) were observed in these conditions. Moreover, these parameters are potential prognostic and therapeutic markers. There is also accumulating evidence that these molecules play a role in neuroinflammation. Therefore, in this study we have investigated the serum level of Gal-3, IL-33 and soluble ST2 (sST2) in different stages of schizophrenia. Gal-3 levels were elevated in remission and lower in schizophrenia exacerbation in comparison with controls and patients in remission. This initial analysis of new markers of neuroinflammation suggested their involvement in schizophrenia pathophysiology and/or cardiometabolic comorbidity.

#### **HIGHLIGHTS**

- Gal-3 serum levels are elevated in remission and lower in schizophrenia exacerbation.
- IL-33 and sST2 serum levels are higher in schizophrenia exacerbation.
- sST2 serum levels negatively correlate with N subscore in acute psychosis.
- sST2 serum levels negatively correlate with cholesterol in relapse and positively with CK-MB in schizophrenia remission.

Keywords: schizophrenia, galectin-3, interleukin-33, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular issues

#### INTRODUCTION

The novel therapeutical strategies have encountered new problems in treatment of patients with schizophrenia (1). Although efficient in resolving the positive symptoms and mitigating the extrapyramidal sympthomatology, the use of atypical antipsychotics in schizophrenia was linked to higher prevalence of patients with metabolic syndrome (2) and cardiovascular issues (3, 4). Diagnostic and treatment algorithms incorporated predictive values of Galectin-3 (Gal-3) and interleukin-33 (IL-33) in treatment of coronary diseases and heart failure (5, 6) and evaluating prediabetic state (7). The dogma about immune privilege of the brain is now revisited again (8) and this bidirectional communication implicated the usefulness of peripheral markers and indicated that underlying mechanisms of somatic states frequently observed in schizophrenia should be explored further.

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Błazej Misiak, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Kosuke Kajitani, Kyushu University, Japan Donghong Cui, Shanghai Mental Health Center (SMHC), China

\*Correspondence: Milica M. Borovcanin milicaborovcanin@yahoo.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 March 2018 Accepted: 05 June 2018 Published: 22 June 2018

#### Citation:

Borovcanin MM, Janicijevic SM, Jovanovic IP, Gajovic N, Arsenijevic NN and Lukic ML (2018) IL-33/ST2 Pathway and Galectin-3 as a New Analytes in Pathogenesis and Cardiometabolic Risk Evaluation in Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 9:271. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00271

Galectins present animal lectins family, that have the affinity for β-galactosides and could interact with cell-surface and extracellular matrix glycoproteins through lectin-carbohydrate interactions (9). The most studied and unique family member is Gal-3 (10). Gal-3 is found in different cell and tissue types, and its various functions have been described, like promotion of cell migration, stimulating role in proliferation, differentiation, survival, adhesion, apoptosis, and immune responses (11). Gal-3 can be expressed in cytoplasm, nucleus, mitochondria, and cell surface, and it can also be secreted by macrophages and monocytes and other various cell types into the extracellular matrix and circulation (12, 13). Intracellular Gal-3 can be transported to the cell surface or even secreted outside of cells and depending on localization Gal-3 could act as positive or negative regulator of apoptosis [reviewed in (14)]. We postulated that extracellular Gal-3 is most important in interaction that leads to inflammation, as shown in lipopolysaccharide induced neuroinflammation (15). This can be only formally proven by using different inhibitors of Gal-3 in experimental models. Deletion of the Gal-3 gene has influence on deterioration of diabetes mellitus (16) and could predict vascular complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (17). In obesity in animal models and in humans, elevated serum levels of Gal-3 seem to have protective function (18). Gal-3 showed to be included into myocardial fibrosis and remodeling (19) and circulating Gal-3 was associated with cardiometabolic disease in the community (20).

Experimental studies have shown that Gal-3 gene expression is upregulated after neuronal damage (21), in traumatic spinal cord injury (22) and in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (23). Also, it is expressed in activated adult microglial cells in the ischemic lesion and it is required for resident microglia activation and proliferation (24). Gal-3- deficient mice showed to be protected against ischemic injury, particularly in the hippocampus and striatum (21). Considering Gal-3 regulating properties especially in the hippocampus, Trompet et al. (25) hypothesized that Gal-3 may also play a role in cognitive functioning. Elevated Gal-3 sera levels were measured in patients with Alzheimer's disease and Mini-Mental Status Examination score, as a measure for cognitive status, was found to correlate with the Gal-3 serum levels in both, in the patients and healthy controls (26).

IL-33, as an IL-1 family member, has a role in initiation of inflammation, its regulation and maintenance (27). IL-33 is a ligand for receptor complex of two proteins, binds to ST2 and forms suitable conformation to contact with IL-1 receptor accessory protein. ST2 has two forms: trans-membranes fulllength (ST2L) and soluble form (sST2), which binds directly to IL-33 and has a role as a decoy receptor to competing with membrane bound ST2 (28). It seems that after secreted into the circulation, sST2 inhibits the effects of IL-33/ST2L signaling and attenuates the systemic effects of IL-33 (29). IL-33/ST2 signals have anti- or pro- inflammatory effects in diseases by activating cells of innate and adaptive immune systems, but it is still unclear what kind of immune cells are first induced to produce IL-33 (28). IL-33 can have protective properties in atherosclerosis development (30) and blood concentrations of sST2 are markedly increased in cardiac diseases (31) and metabolic syndrome (32).

During the brain development both precursors of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes express IL-33 and its detection during first postnatal week coincides with very important neurodevelopmental phases, suggesting a role of IL-33 in the absence of an inflammatory response (33). Genetic study showed decreased IL-33 expression in the brain of Alzheimer's disease patients (34). IL-33 polymorphism was associated with risk for schizophrenia (35) and recently de Campos-Carli et al. (36) have measured similar sera concentrations of IL-33 and sST2 in patients with chronic schizophrenia and established significant correlation between levels of these cytokines and cognition in chronic schizophrenia.

Consequently, we wanted to investigate the alterations of innate inflammatory markers Gal-3, IL-33, and sST2 in different stages of schizophrenia and to explore the possible correlation of their serum concentrations with clinical symptomatology and laboratory parameter.

#### **EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

#### **Participants**

Subjects included in this study were: drug naïve patients with First Episode Psychosis-FEP (n = 77); patients with Schizophrenia in relapse—SC in relapse (n = 45) previously treated with antipsychotics; patients with Schizophrenia in remission—SC in remission (n = 27); and healthy control—HC subjects (n = 18). The patients with FEP and SC in relapse were recruited during the previous project [data published in (37–39)] and patients with SC in remission were enrolled during 2016 at Psychiatric Clinic, Clinical Centre Kragujevac, after a 3 month stable depot antipsychotic therapy of risperidone or paliperidone. Healthy control subjects were recruited at Service Supply of Blood and Blood Products, Clinical Centre Kragujevac. Studies were approved by the Ethic Committee and were conducted in compliance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Patients were informed and written consent was obtained from all of the patients before starting any study procedure.

Diagnoses were established using International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, Tenth Revision (ICD-10) (40) criteria for acute psychotic episode (F23) and schizophrenia (F20). Complete medical history was obtained; physical examination and laboratory testing were done. The exclusion criteria considered any severe somatic comorbidity, especially current infections, autoimmune disorders, metabolic disorders, or current anti-inflammatory or antiviral medications. Neither the psychotic patients nor controls have previously suffered from substance or alcohol abuse, nor were other mental illnesses diagnosed as dual diagnoses.

#### **Psychological Assessment**

Psychopathology was evaluated using the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale of Schizophrenia (PANSS) consistent of positive, negative and general psychopathology subscale (41). Criteria for the diagnosis of schizophrenia in remission were lower scores (three or less) on eight diagnostically relevant symptoms in the PANSS: P1, G9, P3, P2, G5, N1, N4, and N6 (42).

#### Blood Collection and Cytokine Measurements

The blood samples were collected in the morning ( $\sim$ 8 a.m.) and participants were fasting before sampling. Blood clot was cut, than centrifuged and after separation the serum samples were stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ . Serum levels of Gal-3, IL-33, and sST2 were measured using sensitive Enzyme-Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA) kits specific for the human cytokines, following the instructions of the manufacturer (R&D System, Minneapolis, MB). The procedure has been described in detail previously (37–39) and performed at the Center for Molecular Medicine and Stem Cell Research, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were presented as means, standard deviation (SD), standard errors (SE), and median. The distribution of data was tested with Shapiro-Wilk test and further statistical analysis was performed using parametric and non-parametric tests. Mann-Whitney test was used to evaluate the significance of differences of parameters between two examined groups. Kruskal-Wallis test was used to examine the difference of parameters among groups. The possible relationships between patients' serum cytokine levels and clinical scores were evaluated using the Pearson's correlation and between laboratory parameters and clinical scores using the Spearman's correlation. A *p*-value of 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant. The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 20.0 software.

#### RESULTS

#### **Demographical and Clinical Data**

The control group consisted of 18 healthy subjects (6 men vs. 12 women), with mean age of 37.67  $\pm$  9.96 and without significant age difference in comparison with patients' groups. Table 1 presents demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients. Significant difference was observed in duration of illness among groups of patients, showed in Table 1 (FEP vs. SC in relapse vs. SC in remission: 0.28  $\pm$  1.93 vs. 7.31  $\pm$  6.30 vs. 9.95  $\pm$ 7.71 years; p = 0.000), with no difference in gender distribution comparing with control group. Comparison of PANSS scores and subscores reveals differences in positive, negative and general psychopathology scores between patients. Mean value of negative subscores was higher in SC in relapse, than those in FEP patients (FEP vs. SC in relapse:  $21.75 \pm 5.90$  vs.  $26.20 \pm 9.98$ ; p = 0.006). Patients with SC in remission have significantly lower positive and general subscores (p = 0.007 and p = 0.004, respectively), with higher negative subscores (p = 0.000) than patients with FEP. Differences in PANSS subscores were established in lower positive (p = 0.007) and lower general subscores (p = 0.001) in patients with SC in remission compared with SC patients in relapse.

Patients with SC in remission were treated with depot formulation of atypical antipsychotics risperidone in a dose range of 25–50 mg ( $\sum n = 22$ ) and paliperidone in a dose range of 75–150 mg ( $\sum n = 5$ ). Laboratory analysis parameters are presented in **Table 2**.

## Higher Serum Concentrations of IL-33 and sST2 in Exacerbation of Early Schizophrenia

Comparison of IL-33 serum levels between FEP and SC in relapse group did not reveal statistically significant difference (p = 0.869). Also, there was no difference in serum levels of IL-33 between SC in remission and HC subjects (p = 0.871). IL-33 sera levels were significantly higher in FEP patients compared to SC in remission and those in HC (FEP vs. SC in remission vs. HC: 470.97  $\pm$  72.54 vs. 89.61  $\pm$  40.48 vs. 188.35  $\pm$  85.64 pg/ml; p = 0.000). Comparing serum concentrations of IL-33 in SC in relapse with those in remission and HC also show statistically significant difference (p = 0.000 and p = 0.001, respectively) (**Figure 1**).

While conducting the group cross-comparison of serum sST2 levels, the grading in descending manner was observed (**Figure 1**). The statistically significant higher values of sST2 were measured in patients with FEP compared to SC in relapse ( $3648.26 \pm 130.34$  vs.  $3030.19 \pm 183.08$  pg/ml; p = 0.010), higher values were observed in patients with SC in relapse compared with SC in remission ( $3030.19 \pm 183.08$  vs.  $936.03 \pm 66.82$  pg/ml; p = 0.000), with no difference between serum levels of sST2 in patients with SC in remission and healthy control group ( $936.03 \pm 66.82$  vs.  $845.27 \pm 55.96$ ; p = 0.391).

## Correlations of IL-33 Serum Levels With Positive and General PANSS Scores

Sera levels of IL-33 in remission are in significant correlation with the PANSS items of positive symptoms [excitement -P4 (r = 0.570; p = 0.002), suspiciousness/persecution - P6 (r = 0.486; p = 0.010), and hostility - P7 (r = 0.664; p = 0.000)] and general symptoms [anxiety - G2 (r = 0.424; p = 0.028), tension - G4 (r = 0.435; p = 0.023), and uncooperativeness - G8 (r = 0.396; p = 0.041)] (presented in **Figure 2**).

#### Serum Concentrations of Gal- 3 in Patients With Schizophrenia Are Lower in Exacerbation and Higher in Remission Compared With Healthy Subjects

Levels of Gal-3 in patients with FEP and SC in relapse were not significantly different between these groups of patients (297.52  $\pm$  37.86 vs. 252.75  $\pm$  41.35 pg/ml; p = 0.230), but lower levels were measured in both groups compared with those in HC (p = 0.000) (**Figure 3**). In patients with SC in remission significantly higher levels of Gal-3 were observed in comparison with concentrations measured in patients with FEP (1457.89  $\pm$  104.60 vs. 297.52  $\pm$  37.86 pg/ml; p = 0.000), SC in relapse (1457.89  $\pm$  104.60 vs. 252.75  $\pm$  41.35 pg/ml; p = 0.000), and HC (1457.89  $\pm$  104.60 vs. 1044.28  $\pm$  83.37 pg/ml; p = 0.011). Binary logistic regression analysis revealed that increased levels of Gal-3 influence on the illness onset [Odds Ratio 0.998 (0.996–1.000)]. There was no correlation between Gal-3 sera levels with positive, negative, general and total PANSS scores (data not presented).

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic data and clinical disability measures.

Parameter	Gender Men/women		Age (Years; mean ± SD)	Duration of illness (Years; mean $\pm$ SD)	PANSS positive score	PANSS negative score	PANSS general score	PANSS total score
FEP	36	52	33.64 ± 8.84	0.28 ± 1.93	25.73 ± 5.99	21.75 ± 5.90	53.56 ± 7.27	101.03 ± 14.62
SC in relapse SC in remission	17 11	28 16	$35.95 \pm 11.40$ $36.19 \pm 9.28$	$7.31 \pm 6.30$ $9.95 \pm 7.71$	$26.53 \pm 6.29$ $22.26 \pm 5.97^{**,***}$	$26.20 \pm 9.98^{*}$ $27.52 \pm 6.10^{**}$	$56.44 \pm 12.67$ $9.44 \pm 7.83^{**,***}$	$105.86 \pm 19.79$ $99.22 \pm 18.24$

\*Mann-Whitney test, statistically significant difference between FEP and SC in relapse groups (p = 0.006). \*\*Mann-Whitney test, statistically significant difference between FEP and SC in remission groups (p < 0.05). \*\*\*Mann-Whitney test, statistically significant difference between SC in relapse and SC in remission groups (p < 0.05).

#### TABLE 2 | Laboratory values of cardiometabolic parameters.

Parameter	Fasting glucose (mMol/L)	Total cholesterol (mMol/L)	Triglycerides (mMol/L)	HDL (mMol/L)	LDL (mMol/L)	CK (IU/L)	CK-MB (IU/L)
FEP	5.04 ± 1.38	5.17 ± 2.97	3.60 ± 2.15	1.35 ± 0.42	2.89 ± 1.21	437.46 ± 1275.16	ND <sup>a</sup>
SC in relapse	$5.01 \pm 2.10$	$4.86 \pm 1.37$	$1.32 \pm 1.03$	$1.33\pm0.38$	$3.33 \pm 2.35$	$533.10 \pm 1346.93$	NDa
SC in remission	$5.27\pm2.14$	$5.90 \pm 1.38$	$1.80\pm1.31$	$1.34\pm0.31$	$3.66\pm1.14$	$119.33\pm92.82$	$19.19\pm4.26$

<sup>a</sup>ND, not done.

#### Correlation of Serum sST2 With Negative Scores, Cholesterol and Cardiac Troponin Levels

In patients with acute psychosis, sera levels of sST2 were in negative correlation with N subscore (r = -0.184; p = 0.044) and in patients with SC in remission sera levels were in positive correlation with item P7 (r = 0.413; p = 0.032), stereotyped thinking - N7 (r = 0.384; p = 0.048). In patients with schizophrenia in remission negative correlation was observed between serum concentrations of sST2 and levels of cholesterol (r = -0.434; p = 0.024), Low-Density Lipoprotein (LDL) (r = -0.479; p = 0.011) and positive correlation with Creatine Kinase - MB (CK-MB) levels (r = 0.460; p = 0.016).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study we evaluated the serum level of two novel participants in innate immunity in patients with psychosis. We have shown that Gal-3 levels were lower in FEP and SC in relapse and higher in SC in remission than those measured in control subjects. We observed higher serum levels of IL-33 and sST2 in patients with FEP and SC in relapse, compared with those in remission and healthy control subjects. In remission, the positive correlation of sera levels of IL-33 was established with positive symptoms of excitement, suspiciousness/persecution, and hostility, but also with general symptoms of anxiety and tension. Serum level of sST2 in acute psychosis negatively correlated with N subscore, but in remission correlated positively with hostility and stereotyped thinking. Measurements in remission reveal the negative correlation of sST2 levels with cholesterol and LDL levels, but positive correlation with cardiac troponin CK-MB was observed.

There is clear importance of Gal-3 in development of nervous system and in neuroinflammation. Gal-3 plays a role in the modulation of immune/inflammatory function, with both proand anti-inflammatory actions, depending on multiple factors, such as inflammatory setting and target cell/tissue (11, 43, 44). It is well known that Gal-3 regulation of type-1/type-2 immune response in asthma was presented with lower airway type-2 response in Gal- $3^{-/-}$ , but a higher type-1 response compared to Gal-3<sup>+/+</sup> mice, indicating that Gal-3 facilitates type 2 immune response (45). Also, asthma and schizophrenia cooccurrence was established (46, 47). Kajitani et al. (48) recently reported that the serum Gal-3 levels are elevated in chronic schizophrenia. Thus, it is not surprising to find lower level of Gal-3 in patients with FEP and SC in relapse and higher level in SC in remission (Figure 3) and it is in line with our previous finding of type-2 immune response predominance in these patients (37). We believe that Gal-3 acts as a proinflammatory lectin in patients with schizophrenia. Further, elevation of Gal-3 in chronic schizophrenia could initiate myocardial fibrosis, metabolic changes, and may have protective properties in type-2 diabetes. Gal-3 could be a mediator of underlying mechanisms in schizophrenia onset and cardiovascular and metabolic changes in these patients.

We have shown here that the level of IL-33 is not significantly altered in schizophrenia patients in remission (**Figure 1**). However, there is clear statistically significant increase in IL-33 levels in patients with exacerbation (**Figure 1**) and correlation of its levels with positive symptoms scores (**Figure 2**). Earlier studies have shown different role of IL-33 in inflammatory diseases; immunosupressive role in obesity, atherosclerosis and experimental fulminant hepatitis and proinflammatory role in asthma and antigen-induced arthritis (49–51). Although, IL-33 was initially considered to be a proinflammatory cytokine, its



linkage with regulatory T (Treg) immune response was later suggested (51). Recent data have shown that IL-33 downregulates immune response in autoimmune processes (52). It is well known that IL-33 is abundantly present in the central nervous system (CNS) (53). It is particularly highly expressed during early development (33), as well as in inflammatory disease in CNS such as experimental autoimmune encephalitis, an animal model of multiple sclerosis (54). Also, it is reported that IL-33 can modulate microglia in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease (55), but its function in these condition is still unclear. It is established that IL-33 acts as alarmin, meaning that this cytokine is released from cells during tissue damage, and not apoptotic cells (56). We assume that during CNS damage, neuroinflammation is followed by IL-33 release from necrotic cells and increment of its serum levels in patients with schizophrenia. It should be added that in atherosclerosis, IL-33 was protective (30). Thus, it is possible that IL-33 production is an attempt to limit inflammation accompanying relapse in schizophrenia. However, direct pathogenic effect cannot be excluded as ST2 dependent Th2 pathology reported to be common denominator in asthma and schizophrenia (57). Considering that sST2 binds directly to IL-33 or acts as a decoy



**FIGURE 2** | Significant correlation of IL-33 with positive PANSS items [P4 (r = 0.570; p = 0.002), P6 (r = 0.486; p = 0.010), P7 (r = 0.664; p = 0.000)] and general PANSS symptoms [G2 (r = 0.424; p = 0.028), G4 (r = 0.435; p = 0.023) and G8 (r = 0.396; p = 0.041)].

receptor when competing with membrane bound ST2 [reviewed in (28)], higher systemic level of sST2 in FEP and SC patients in relapse as well as negative correlation of this molecule with N subscore in acute psychosis may represent compensatory mechanism in suppressing IL-33-dependent inflammation.

The positive correlation of IL-33 with positive PANSS symptoms in remission suggests its potential role in underling mechanisms of psychosis onset. sST2 could have neutralizing properties in the context of excessive IL-33 secretion and also in amelioration of negative symptoms. Although direct correlation of Gal-3 levels with clinical symptoms was not established,

some other molecular mechanisms involved in Gal-3-dependent regulation could preserve cognitive potentials in patients with schizophrenia. Considering involvement of Gal-3 and the IL-33/ST2 pathway interactions in the somatic states (58), this interplay could be also involved in onset, clinical presentation and somatic comorbidity of psychosis.

As discussed by Mueller and Dieplinger (59), plasma concentrations of these two analytes have been incorporated in 2013 ACCF/AHA guidelines for additive risk stratification in acute and chronic heart failure (60) and Gal-3, sST2 and BNP were all useful as predictors of 1-year all-cause mortality



(6). It was previously presented that life expectancy of patients with schizophrenia is 10–25 years shorter than in general population (61) and 40–50% of premature deaths have been due to cardiovascular diseases (62). Patients with schizophrenia are reported to be three times as likely to experience sudden cardiac death (63). Hou et al. (4) have shown that a history of aggressive behaviors is strongly associated with sudden cardiac death in patients with schizophrenia. Although CK-MB levels were measured additionally only in stable state in our study, in spite of that, the positive correlation with serum sST2 was established. Simultaneously presented elevation of sST2 and higher scores on items equivalent of aggressive behavior suggest that these new inflammatory markers should be considered in additional monitoring of cardiac symptoms that occur without warning in schizophrenia.

Innate immune system primarily initiates defense against pathogens, but also contributes to adaptive induction of sickness behavior and infection recovery (64). In the previous few years central nervous system was no longer viewed as an immunologicaly isolated space, but it seems that its dynamic interaction with the peripheral immune system regulates the activity of immune cells within the central nervous system (65). Childhood traumatic events could have a significant impact by changing the immune response and precipitating further vulnerability for psychiatric disorders and somatic states later in life (64). It is now obvious that metabolic dysregulation in patients with schizophrenia already exists before antipsychotic treatment (66, 67). The fact that schizophrenia risk is driven by genes that not have direct relevance to disease, suggests that schizophrenia could rather be considered as developmental physiological defect (68).

#### THE LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The sample size of the healthy control subjects is rather small compared to other groups (FEP, SC in relapse). The data

considering potential confounding factors, such as body mass index, cigarette smoking, and the use of alcohol or other illicit drugs were not collected in patients with FEP and SC in relapse, so it was not possible to include these data into assessment. The possible impact of antipsychotics on cytokine profiles could not be excluded (69), so the further analysis of diverse antipsychotics' influences on these specific biomarkers should be done.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The study of two pathways of innate immunity in schizophrenia revealed that the serum levels of IL-33 and its soluble receptor was unaltered in stable disease, but was significantly enhanced in exacerbation and accompanied with hostility and elevation of cardiac troponin levels. Further, Gal-3 is increased in the serum of schizophrenia patients in remission and seems to be involved in schizophrenia onset. Taken together, this initial analysis of new markers of inflammation suggested their involvement in schizophrenia pathogenesis and cardiometabolic comorbidity.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors equally contributed in the planning, designing and conducting this research. MB and SJ selected the patients, did psychological assessment and statistical analysis and wrote about psychiatric aspects of this topic. IJ, NG, MB, and SJ have done cytokine measurements. MB and IJ designed figures and tables. IJ and NG wrote about immunological underlying mechanisms. NA and ML wrote the introduction and discussion and made integral version of the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Ministry of Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia

(projects 175103 and 175069) and from the Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac (project JP 12-09 and JP 15-05).

#### REFERENCES

- American Diabetes Association, American Psychiatric Association, American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, North American Association for the Study of Obesity. Consensus development conference on antipsychotic drugs and obesity and diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2004) 27:596–601. doi: 10.2337/diacare.27.2.596
- Mitchell AJ, Vancampfort D, Sweers K, van Winkel R, Yu W, De Hert M. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome and metabolic abnormalities in schizophrenia and related disorders - a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:306–18. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr148
- Fan Z, Wu Y, Shen J, Ji T, Zhan R. Schizophrenia and the risk of cardiovascular diseases: a meta-analysis of thirteen cohort studies. J Psychiatr Res. (2013) 47:1549–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.07.011
- Hou PY, Hung GC, Jhong JR, Tsai SY, Chen CC, Kuo CJ. Risk factors for sudden cardiac death among patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* (2015) 168:395–401. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.07.015
- Berezin AE. Cardiac biomarkers in diabetes mellitus: new dawn for risk stratification? *Diabetes. Metab. Syndr.* (2016) 11(Suppl. 1):S201–8. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2016.12.032
- Mueller T, Gegenhuber A, Leitner I, Poelz W, Haltmayer M, Dieplinger B. Diagnostic and prognostic accuracy of galectin-3 and soluble ST2 for acute heart failure. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2016) 463:158–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2016.10.034
- Yilmaz H, Cakmak M, Inan O, Darcin T, Akcay A. Increased levels of galectin-3 were associated with prediabetes and diabetes: new risk factor? *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2015) 38:527–33. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0222-2
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* (2015) 523:337–41. doi: 10.1038/nature14432
- 9. Dumic J, Dabelic S, Flögel M. Galectin-3: an open-ended story. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2006) 1760:616–35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2005.12.020
- Funasaka T, Raz A, Nangia-Makker P. Galectin-3 in angiogenesis and metastasis. *Glycobiology* (2014) 24:886–91. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwu086
- Radosavljevic G, Volarevic V, Jovanovic I, Milovanovic M, Pejnovic N, Arsenijevic N, et al. The roles of Galectin-3 in autoimmunity and tumor progression. *Immunol Res.* (2012) 52:100–10. doi: 10.1007/s12026-012-8286-6
- Yu F, Finley R, Raz A, Kim HRC. Galectin-3 translocates to the perinuclear membranes and inhibits cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. A role for synexin in galectin-3 translocation. *J. Biol. Chem.* (2002) 277:15819–27. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M200154200
- Shibata T, Noguchi T, Takeno S, Takahashi Y, Fumoto S, Kawahara K. Impact of nuclear galectin-3 expression on histological differentiation and vascular invasion in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncol. Rep.* (2005) 13:235–9. doi: 10.3892/or.13.2.235
- Radosavljevic G, Pantic J, Jovanovic I, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML. The two faces of galectin-3: roles in various pathological conditions. Ser J Exp Clin Res. (2016) 17:187–98. doi: 10.1515/sjecr-2016-0011
- Yip PK, Carrillo-Jimenez A, King P, Vilalta A, Nomura K, Chau CC, et al. Galectin-3 released in response to traumatic brain injury acts as an alarmin orchestrating brain immune response and promoting neurodegeneration. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:41689. doi: 10.1038/srep41689
- Mensah-Brown EP, Al Rabesi Z, Shahin A, Al Shamsi M, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML, et al. Targeted disruption of the galectin-3 gene results in decreased susceptibility to multiple low dose -induced diabetes in mice. *Clin Immunol.* (2009) 130:83–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.08.024
- Jin QH, Lou YF, Li TL, Chen HH, Liu Q, He XJ. Serum galectin-3: a risk factor for vascular complications in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Chin. Med. J.* (2013) 126:2109–15. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.20130217
- Pejnovic NN, Pantic JM, Jovanovic IP, Radosavljevic GD, Milovanovic MZ, Nikolic IG, et al. Galectin-3 deficiency accelerates high-fat diet-induced

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Aleksandar Ilic for excellent technical assistance.

obesity and amplifies inflammation in adipose tissue and pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:1932–44. doi: 10.2337/db12-0222

- Gawor M, Spiewak M, Janas J, Kozuch K, Wróbel A, Mazurkiewicz Ł, Grzybowski J, et al. The usefulness of sST2 and galectin-3 as novel biomarkers for better risk stratification in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Kardiol. Pol.* (2017) 75:997–1004. doi: 10.5603/KP.a2017.0118
- Nayor M, Wang N, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Levy D, Ho JE. Circulating galectin-3 is associated with cardiometabolic disease in the community. J Am Heart Assoc. (2015) 5:e002347. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002347
- Doverhag C, Hedtjärn M, Poirier F, Mallard C, Hagberg H, Karlsson A, et al. Galectin-3 contributes to neonatalhypoxic-ischemic brain injury. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2010) 38:36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.12.024
- Pajoohesh-Ganji A, Knoblach SM, Faden AI, Byrnes KR. Characterization of inflammatory gene expression and galectin-3 function after spinal cord injury in mice. *Brain Res.* (2012) 1475:96–105. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.07.058
- 23. Reichert F, Rotshenker S. Galectin-3/MAC-2 in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Exp Neurol.* (1999) 160:508–14. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1999.7229
- Lalancette-Hébert M, Swarup V, Beaulieu JM, Bohacek I, Abdelhamid E, Weng YC, et al. Galectin-3 is required for resident microglia activation and proliferation in response to ischemic injury. *Kriz J J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:10383–95. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1498-12.2012
- Trompet S, Jukema W, Mooijaart SP, Ford I, Stott DJ, Westendorp RG, et al. Genetic variation in galectin-3 gene associates with cognitive function at old age. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2012) 33:2232. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2012.05.001
- Wang X, Zhang S, Lin F, Chu W, Yue S. Elevated galectin-3 levels in the serum of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen*. (2015) 30:729–32. doi: 10.1177/1533317513495107
- 27. Dinarello CA. Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2009) 27:519–50. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132612
- Lu J, Kang J, Zhang C, Zhang X. The role of IL-33/ST2L signals in the immune cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2015) 164:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2015.01.008
- Mueller T, Jaffe AS. Soluble ST2 analytical considerations. Am. J. Cardiol. (2015) 115(7 Suppl):8B–21. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2015.01.035
- Miller AM, Xu D, Asquith DL, Denby L, Li Y, Sattar N, et al. IL-33 reduces the development of atherosclerosis. J. Exp. Med. (2008) 205:339–46. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071868
- Dieplinger B, Mueller T. Soluble ST2 in heart failure. Clin. Chim. Acta. (2015) 443:57–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2014.09.021
- Pencic-Popovic B, Sljivic A, Lopez-Andres N, Roy I, Escribano E, Beunza M, et al. Soluble ST2 levels and left ventricular structure and function in patients with metabolicsyndrome. *Ann. Lab. Med.* (2016) 36:542–9. doi: 10.3343/alm.2016.36.6.542
- Wicher G, Husic E, Nilsson G, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Developmental expression of IL-33 in the mouse brain. *Neurosci Lett.* (2013) 555:171–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.09.046
- 34. Chapuis J, Hot D, Hansmannel F, Kerdraon O, Ferreira S, Hubans C, et al. Transcriptomic and genetic studies identify IL-33 as a candidate gene for Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Psychiatry.* (2009) 14:1004–16. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.10
- Kordi-Tamandani DM, Bahrami AR, Sabbaghi-Ghale-No R, Soleimani H, Baranzehi T. Analysis of IL-33 gene polymorphism (rs11792633 C/T) and risk of schizophrenia. *Mol. Biol. Res. Commun.* (2016) 5:45–8.
- 36. De Campos-Carli SM, Miranda AS, Dias IC, de Oliveira A, Cruz BF, Vieira ÉL, et al. Serum levels of interleukin-33 and its soluble form receptor (sST2) are associated with cognitive performance in patients with schizophrenia. *Compr. Psychiatry* (2017) 74:96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.01.008
- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Djukic Dejanovic S, Bankovic D, Arsenijevic N, et al. Elevated serum level of type-2 cytokine and low IL-17

in first episode psychosis and schizophrenia in relapse. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2012) 46:1421–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.08.016

- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Radosavljevic G, Djukic Dejanovic S, Stefanovic V, Arsenijevic N, et al. Antipsychotics can modulate the cytokine profile in schizophrenia: attenuation of the type-2 inflammatory response. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 147:103–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.03.027
- Borovcanin M, Jovanovic I, Dejanovic SD, Radosavljevic G, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML. Increase systemic levels of IL-23 as a possible constitutive marker in schizophrenia. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2015) 56:143–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.03.003
- 40. World Health Organization. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems Tenth Revision. Geneva:World Health Organization (1992).
- Kay SR, Opler LA, Fiszbein A. Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale Manual. North Tonawanda, NY: Multi-Health Systems (1994).
- Van Os J, Burns T, Cavallaro R, Leucht S, Peuskens J, Helldin L, et al. Standardized remission criteria in schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2006) 113:91–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00659.x
- 43. Zuberi RI, Hsu DK, Kalayci O, Chen HY, Sheldon HK, Yu L, et al. Critical role for galectin-3 in airway inflammation and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in a murine model of asthma. *Am J Pathol.* (2004) 165:2045–53. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63255-5
- Liu FT, Hsu DK. The role of galectin-3 in promotion of the inflammatory response. *Drug News Perspect.* (2007) 220:455–60. doi: 10.1358/dnp.2007.20.7.1149628
- Lee AF, Chen HY, Wan L, Wu SY, Yu JS, Huang AC, et al. Galectin-3 modulates Th17 responses by regulating dendritic cell cytokines. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 183:1209–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.06.017
- Chen YH, Lee HC, Lin HC. Prevalence and risk of atopic disorders among schizophrenia patients: a nationwide population based study. *Schizophr. Res.* (2009) 108:191–6. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.12.021
- Pedersen MS, Benros ME, Agerbo E, Børglum AD, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia in patients with atopic disorders with particular emphasis on asthma: a Danish population-based study. *Schizophr. Res.* (2012) 138:58–62. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.019
- Kajitani K, Yanagimoto K, Nakabeppu Y. Serum galectin-3, but not galectin-1, levels are elevated in schizophrenia: implications for the role of inflammation. *Psychopharmacology* (2017) 234:2919–27. doi: 10.1007/s00213-017-4683-9
- Kurowska-Stolarska M, Kewin P, Murphy G, Russo RC, Stolarski B, Garcia CC, et al. IL-33 induces antigen-specific IL-51 T cells and promotes allergicinduced airway inflammation independent of IL-4. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:4780–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4780
- Xu D, Jiang HR, Kewin P, Li Y, Mu R, Fraser AR, et al. IL-33 exacerbates antigen-induced arthritis by activating mast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:10913–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801898105
- Jovanovic IP, Pejnovic NN, Radosavljevic GD, Pantic JM, Milovanovic MZ, Arsenijevic NN, et al. Interleukin-33/ST2 axis promotes breast cancer growth andmetastases by facilitating intratumoral accumulation of immunosuppressiveand innate lymphoid cells. *Int J Cancer* (2014) 134:1669–82. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28481
- Jovanovic IP, Pejnovic NN, Radosavljevic GD, Arsenijevic NN, Lukic ML. IL-33/ST2 axis in innate and acquired immunity to tumors. *Oncoimmunology* (2012) 1:229–31. doi: 10.4161/onci.1.2.18131
- Liew FY, Girard JP, Turnquist HR. Interleukin-33 in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. (2016) 16:676–89. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.95
- 54. Jiang HR, Milovanović M, Allan D, Niedbala W, Besnard AG, Fukada S, et al. IL-33 attenuates EAE by suppressing IL-17 and IFN-γ production and inducing alternatively activated macrophages. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1804–14. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141947
- 55. Fu AK, Hung KW, Yuen MY, Zhou X, Mak DS, Chan IC, et al. IL-33 ameliorates Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E2705–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1604032113

- Lamkanfi M, Dixit VM. IL-33 raises alarm. *Immunity* (2009) 31:5–7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.011
- Momen T, Ahanchian H, Reisi M, Shamsdin SA, Shahsanai A, Keivanfar M. Comparison of interleukin-33 serum levels in asthmatic patients with a control group and relation with the severity of the disease. *Int J Prev Med.* (2017) 8:65. doi: 10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM\_179\_16
- Pejnovic N, Jeftic I, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Lukic ML. Galectin-3 and IL-33/ST2 axis roles and interplay in diet-induced steatohepatitis. World J Gastroenterol. (2016) 22:9706–17. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i44.9706
- Mueller T, Dieplinger B. Soluble ST2 and galectin-3: what we know and don't know analytically. *EJIFCC* (2016) 27:224–37.
- 60. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DEJr, Colvin MM, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA focused update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. J Card Fail. (2017) 23:628–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.04.014
- Crump C, Winkleby MA, Sundquist K, Sundquist J. Comorbidities and mortality in persons with schizophrenia: a Swedish national cohort study. Am J Psychiatry (2013) 170:324–33. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.120 50599
- Sweeting J, Duflou J, Semsarian C. Postmortem analysis of cardiovascular deaths in schizophrenia: a 10-year review. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:398–403. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.08.029
- 63. Davidson M. Risk of cardiovascular disease and sudden death in schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry. (2002) 63(Suppl. 9):5–11. Review. Erratum in: J. Clin. Psychiatry. (2002) 63:744.
- Baumeister D, Akhtar R, Ciufolini S, Pariante CM, Mondelli V. Childhood trauma and adulthood inflammation: a meta-analysis of peripheral C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and tumour necrosis factor-α. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21:642–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.67
- Negi N, Das BK. CNS: Not an immunoprivilaged site anymore but a virtual secondary lymphoid organ. *Int Rev Immunol.* (2017) 37:57–68. doi: 10.1080/08830185.2017.1357719.
- 66. Greenhalgh AM, Gonzalez-Blanco L, Garcia-Rizo C, Fernandez-Egea E, Miller B, Arroyo MB, et al. Meta-analysis of glucose tolerance, insulin, and insulin resistance in antipsychotic-naïve patients with nonaffective psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 179:57–63. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016. 09.026
- Misiak B, Stanczykiewicz B, Łaczmanski Ł, Frydecka D. Lipid profile disturbances in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode nonaffective psychosis: Authors' reply. *Schizophr. Res.* (2017) 192:471–2. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.04.032
- Weinberger DR. The neurodevelopmental origins of schizophrenia in the penumbra of genomic medicine. World Psychiatry (2017) 16:225–6. doi: 10.1002/wps.20474
- 69. Song X, Fan X, Li X, Zhang W, Gao J, Zhao J, et al. (2014). Changes in pro-inflammatory cytokines and body weight during 6-month risperidone treatment in drug naïve, first-episode schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology* 231:319–25. doi: 10.1007/s00213-013-3382-4

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Borovcanin, Janicijevic, Jovanovic, Gajovic, Arsenijevic and Lukic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Impact of Aging, Psychotic Symptoms, Medication, and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor on Cognitive Impairment in Japanese Chronic Schizophrenia Patients

Kiyokazu Atake<sup>1\*</sup>, Tomoyuki Nakamura<sup>2</sup>, Nobuhisa Ueda<sup>3</sup>, Hikaru Hori<sup>1</sup>, Asuka Katsuki<sup>1</sup> and Reiji Yoshimura<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neuropsychiatry, Kurume University, Kurume, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Tsutsumi Hospital, Okagaki, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Dorota Frydecka, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

#### Reviewed by:

Paul Moser, BIAL Portela & Ca, Portugal James E. Barrett, College of Medicine, Drexel University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Kiyokazu Atake k-atake@med.uoeh-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 December 2017 Accepted: 11 May 2018 Published: 29 May 2018

#### Citation:

Atake K, Nakamura T, Ueda N, Hori H, Katsuki A and Yoshimura R (2018) The Impact of Aging, Psychotic Symptoms, Medication, and Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor on Cognitive Impairment in Japanese Chronic Schizophrenia Patients. Front. Psychiatry 9:232. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00232 **Background:** Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia can result in considerable difficulty in performing functions of daily life or social rehabilitation. Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is related to various factors, such as the psychotic severity, aging, medication, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). To date, however, no studies investigating the impact of these factors on cognitive functioning in chronic schizophrenia patients have been performed.

**Objective:** The aim of this study is to identify those factors that influence the cognitive functioning in patients with chronic schizophrenia.

**Methods:** Sixty-five of 116 long-term hospitalized chronic schizophrenia patients (63.8  $\pm$  12.1 years old, M/F = 29/36) were enrolled this cross-sectional study. We investigated the relationship among the patients' age, psychotic severity, treatment medication, serum BDNF levels, and cognitive functioning (measured by the Japanese-language version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia; BACS-J). Additionally, we performed a multivariable linear regression analysis.

**Results:** According to the partial correlation analysis, certain parameters [i.e., age, chlorpromazine (CP) equivalent, biperiden (BP) equivalent, and serum BDNF] were significantly correlated with cognitive functioning, including working memory (WM), motor function (MF), attention and processing speed (AP), and executive function (EF). For the multivariate analysis, the MF component, which had the highest correlation, was selected as the dependent variable, and the independent variables included age, Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis (ManS) total score, CP equivalent, BP equivalent, serum BDNF, estimated full scale IQ, and years of education. According to the multiple regression analysis of this model, *R* (multiple regression coefficient) was 0.542, the adjusted  $R^2$  (coefficient of determination) was 0.201, and only BP equivalent ( $\beta = -0.305$ , p = 0.030), but not age, ManS score, CP equivalent, or serum BDNF, could significantly explain MF at the 5% significant level.

106

**Conclusion:** In conclusion, aging, medication (administering more antipsychotics or anticholinergics), and serum BDNF concentration are significantly correlated with cognitive dysfunction in chronic schizophrenia patients but not with the severity of psychotic symptoms. Furthermore, only the anticholinergic dosage had a significant causal relationship with MF. Thus, the use of anticholinergics in chronic schizophrenia patients with deteriorating cognitive functioning must be reconsidered.

Keywords: schizophrenia, cognitive impairment, aging, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, Japanese-language version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia

#### INTRODUCTION

Cognitive impairments in schizophrenia can result in considerable difficulty in performing functions of daily life or social rehabilitation, and cognitive difficulty persists even after the alleviation of psychotic symptoms. Reintegrating into society is particularly challenging for these patients due to their severe cognitive impairment. Therefore, ascertaining the level of cognitive dysfunction remaining after improvement in acute psychiatric symptoms is important.

Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is related to various factors, such as psychotic symptoms, aging, medication, and genetic variants. In the current study, we investigate the cognitive functioning in schizophrenia patients using the Japanese language version of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS-J). Kaneda et al. (1) investigated the influence of disease and aging on performance on the BACS-J in schizophrenic patients. A multiple regression analysis including all subjects indicated that performance on almost all BACS-J components were attributable to the disease, aging, the level of education, and the duration of illness.

In schizophrenia patients, deterioration in cognitive functioning is a symptom of the disease; additionally, medication also affects functioning. Anticholinergic agents affect cognitive functioning, and antipsychotics, which are used to treat schizophrenia, also cause cognitive function to deteriorate. We previously reported that excessive doses of antipsychotics can cause deterioration in cognitive functioning in chronic schizophrenia patients (2), and switching from polypharmacy to antipsychotic monotherapy improves cognitive functions, such as attention and executive function (EF) (3).

Additionally, serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels are positively associated with cognitive functions, such as immediate memory, in chronic schizophrenia patients (4). In addition, Zhang et al. (5) found that low BDNF levels are associated with poor performance on the cognitive factor of the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) in chronic schizophrenia. In particular, Tumor Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) may interact with BDNF and cause cognitive impairment. In contrast, Buchman et al. (6) reported that higher levels of brain BDNF expression are associated with a slower cognitive decline. We previously reported that the serum BDNF levels are positively correlated with verbal memory (VM), attention, and processing speed in chronic schizophrenia (7). Altogether, BDNF is closely associated with symptomatology and cognitive

dysfunction in schizophrenia. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis demonstrated that higher levels of BDNF correspond to better performance on several cognitive tests, including reasoning and problem-solving tasks, on the Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS) consensus cognitive battery (MCCB) (8).

Considering these findings, we aim to identify the factor (i.e., psychotic severity, aging, medication, or BDNF) that has the greatest influence on cognitive functioning in patients with chronic schizophrenia. Specifically, the purpose of this study was to determine the factors that are significantly related to cognitive performance in chronic schizophrenia inpatients and those that have the greatest impact on their cognitive impairment. To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to examine the association between the factors described above and cognitive functioning in long-term hospitalized chronic schizophrenia inpatients.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Subjects**

One hundred and sixteen chronic schizophrenia inpatients were recruited from Hiagari Hospital, Tsutsumi Hospital, Shin-Moji Hospital, and the University of Occupational and Environmental Health. The participants in the present study met the following inclusion criteria: (1) age over 20 years; (2) chronic illness without acute exacerbation; (3) continuous hospitalization for at least 3 years for schizophrenia; and (4) continuous treatment with a stable dose of atypical antipsychotic medication for at least 3 months. The diagnosis of schizophrenia was based on the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Disorders (SCID) and a comprehensive review of patient medical records. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) any comorbid CNS disorder; (2) meeting the DSM-IV-TR criteria for affective, schizoaffective, or schizophreniform psychosis; alcohol or other substance dependence; or mental retardation; (3) receiving antidepressants or mood stabilizers; (4) having received electroconvulsive therapy within the 6 months preceding the study period; and (5) having received clozapine. We used the SCID to screen all participants and excluded those patients with psychiatric disorders. No subjects had a history of neurological, somatic, or psychiatric illnesses. Sixty-five patients (63.8  $\pm$ 12.1 years old, M/F = 29/36) who met the above-mentioned criteria, completed all assessments, including blood extraction, and provided informed consent were enrolled in the present
study. The participants who declined to participate or did not participate for another reason were not disadvantaged in any treatment modalities due to their lack of participation in this study.

#### **Clinical Assessment**

The Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) was used to assess the general functioning of the participants. The participants' psychotic symptoms were assessed by their primary doctors using the Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis (ManS). Their cognitive functioning was assessed using the BACS-J. Adverse effects, such as extrapyramidal symptoms, were measured using the Drug-Induced Extrapyramidal Symptoms Scale (DIEPSS). The use of antipsychotic and anticholinergic drugs was considered in terms of chlorpromazine (CP) and biperiden (BP) equivalents.

### **Neurocognitive Functioning Test**

Cognitive functioning was assessed by trained psychiatrists using the BACS-J. The BACS is an instrument to evaluate the cognitive functioning in schizophrenic patients. This assessment consists of six tests, including VM, working memory (WM), motor function (MF), attention and processing speed (AP), EF, and composite scores (CS) (9). Patients with chronic schizophrenia have severe impairments that range from one and a half to two standard deviations below healthy control subjects in VM, WM, motor speed, attention, EFs, and verbal fluency (9). The BACS-J has established reliability and validity and is designed to measure cognitive functioning in schizophrenia patients. The primary measures of each subtest of the BACS-J were standardized by creating z-scores (i.e., the mean of the healthy controls was set to zero, and the standard deviation was set to one). All data for the healthy controls were obtained from a study conducted by Kaneda et al., and a composite score was calculated by averaging all z-scores for the six primary measures (10). The influence of age was adjusted using age-matched cohorts of controls to calculate the BACS-J z-scores for each schizophrenia patient in the present study.

#### **Intelligence Test**

The IQs of the participants were estimated using the Japanese Adult Reading Test: JART (11, 12), which is a Japanese version of the National Adult Reading Test, to exclude mental retardation and estimate the relevance of IQ for cognitive functioning. This test reflects the premorbid IQs in Japanese patients with schizophrenia (13).

#### **BDNF Measurement**

All blood samples were obtained between 7:00 and 10:00 a.m. after fasting on the day the clinical assessment was performed. Fifteen milliliters of venous blood were drawn from subjects in the supine position after the subjects rested in the supine position overnight. The serum samples were quickly separated in a centrifuge and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until assay. The serum levels of BDNF were assayed by ELISA using a Milliplex MAP Kit (HNDG3MAG-36K) on a Milliplex Analyzer 4.2

MAGPIX machine (Millipore) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

## **Statistical Analysis**

For the statistical analysis, we supposed that the present studies' sample is based on the normal distribution same as the Kaneda's previous study. Pearson's correlation coefficients were examined to identify the correlations between the patients' clinical variables and serum BDNF levels and scores on each BACS-J neuropsychological test component. Subsequently, we performed a partial correlation analysis to examine the correcter relationship among the parameters without influencers. In the analysis of the partial correlations between the BACS-J z-scores and the clinical parameters, the six task scores and the composite score on the BACS-J were set as the dependent variables, while the clinical parameters, including medication information and clinical conditions, and the serum BDNF concentration, were set as the independent variables. Parameters thought to influence the results of the test battery, such as estimated full-scale IQ and years of education, were set as control variables. Furthermore, we performed a regression analysis to investigate the causality. In the multivariable linear regression analysis, we analyzed the linearity of the BACS-J components that were statistically significant in the partial correlation analysis and set the parameters of interest in the current study (i.e., age, CP equivalent, BP equivalent, and serum BDNF) as independent variables. The results were considered significant at p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (SPSS version 23.0J; SPSS, Tokyo, Japan).

#### Consent

This study protocol was approved by the review board of our institute; the Ethics Committee of the University of Occupational and Environmental Health. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects who participated in this study in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

# RESULTS

## **Background Data of Participants**

Sixty-five of 116 subjects (63.8  $\pm$  12.1 years old, M/F = 29/36) who consented to participate in the study and provided full data for all assessment items were enrolled in the study. On the occasion of statistical analysis, we supposed that these samples are based on the normal distribution in the track of the Kaneda's previous study. Across all subjects (n = 65), the mean number of administered antipsychotic agents was 2.0  $\pm$  1.1. The CP equivalent dose of the antipsychotic agents was 908.3  $\pm$  627.1 mg/day, and the BP equivalent dose of the anticholinergic drugs was 2.01  $\pm$  2.58 mg/day. The mean GAF score was 38.2  $\pm$  15.0, and the mean ManS total score was 12.6  $\pm$  5.8; thus, the disease severity of the enrolled patients ranged from mildly to moderately ill. The mean education level was 11.4  $\pm$  2.1 years, and the premorbid IQ, which was calculated according to the JART, was 90.8  $\pm$  11.1. The demographic data of the enrolled participants are shown in Table 1. Additionally, the mean BACS-J z-score of six components in the present study were as follows, respectively,

TABLE 1   Demographic data d	of the participants.
------------------------------	----------------------

Sex (male/female)	29/36
Age (years)	63.8 ± 12.1
Number of antipsychotics	$2.00 \pm 1.05$
CP equivalent (mg/day)	$908.3 \pm 627.1$
BP equivalent (mg/day)	$2.01 \pm 2.58$
ManS total score	$12.6 \pm 5.8$
DIEPSS total score	$4.35 \pm 3.78$
GAF score	38.2 ± 15.0
Estimated full scale IQ	$90.8 \pm 11.1$
Years of education	$11.4 \pm 2.1$

Values represent the means  $\pm$  standard deviations. CP, chlorpromazine; BP, biperiden; ManS, Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis; DIEPSS, Drug-Induced Extrapyramidal Symptoms Scale; GAF, Global Assessment of Functioning.

i.e., VM,  $-2.79 \pm 1.33$ ; WM,  $-2.12 \pm 1.39$ ; MF,  $-2.63 \pm 1.86$ ; VF,  $-1.60 \pm 1.08$ ; AP,  $-2.54 \pm 1.37$ ; EF,  $-2.64 \pm 2.12$ ; CS,  $-2.10 \pm 0.99$ .

#### **Simple Correlation Analyses**

Significant correlations were observed between (1) working memory (WM) and age (r = -0.310, p = 0.012); (2) attention and processing speed (AP) (r = -0.331, p = 0.007) and executive function (EF) (r = -0.316, p = 0.010) and CP equivalent dosage; (3) verbal memory (VM) (r = -0.270, p = 0.029), motor function (MF) (r = -0.403, p = 0.001), AP (r = -0.262, p = 0.035), composite scores (CS) (r = -0.255, p = 0.041), and BP equivalent dosage; (4) AP (r = 0.340, p = 0.006), EF (r = 0.314, p = 0.011), and the estimated full-scale IQ; (5) VM (r = 0.258, p = 0.045), AP (r = 0.261, p = 0.042), CS (r = 0.261, p = 0.042), and education; and (6) MF (r = -0.252, r = 0.043) and serum BDNF concentration (**Table 2**). No correlations were observed between the BACS-J components and the GAF score or DIEPSS total score.

#### **Partial Correlation Analyses**

In the analyses of the partial correlations between the BACS-J z-scores and multiple clinical parameters, the six task scores and the composite score of the BACS-J were set as dependent variables, while the clinical parameters (i.e., CP equivalent, BP equivalent, GAF score, ManS total score, DIEPSS total score, and serum BDNF) were set as independent variables. Additionally, those parameters known to influence the results of the test battery, such as the estimated full-scale IQ and years of education, were set as control variables. By this correction, several significant relationship found in the simple correlation analysis couldn't be confirmed in the partial correlation analysis. The partial correlations were calculated based on the aforementioned conditions. Significant correlations were observed between (1) WM (r = -0.297, p = 0.022) and age; (2) MF (r = -0.290, p =0.026), AP (r = -0.336, p = 0.009), EF (r = -0.310, p = 0.017), and CP equivalent dosage; (3) MF (r = -0.434, p = 0.001) and BP equivalent; and (4) MF (r = -0.287, p = 0.027) and serum BDNF concentration (Table 3). The BACS-J components were not correlated with the GAF score or DIEPSS total score.

#### **Multiple Regression Analysis**

In the multivariable linear regression analysis, we analyzed the MF component because this component exhibited more significant associations than the other components. We included the parameters of interest in the current study (i.e., age, CP equivalent, BP equivalent, and serum BDNF concentration) as independent variables. Specifically, the MF component was included as the dependent variable, and the independent variables such as age, ManS total score, CP equivalent, BP equivalent, serum BDNF concentration, estimated full-scale IQ, and years of education were loaded all by the forced entry method. Any collinearity was not found among the following independent variables based on the value of variance inflation factor (VIF) (i.e., age, 1.183; ManS total score, 1.209; CP equivalent, 1.483; BP equivalent, 1.411; serum BDNF, 1.074; estimated full-scale IQ, 1.293; educated years, 1.242), respectively. The multiple regression coefficient of this model, R, was 0.542; the adjusted  $R^2$  (coefficient of determination) was 0.201. Additionally, the significance of the F-test in the analysis of variance was p < 0.007, which was significant at the 1% level. The  $\beta$ -values, which indicate the strength of the effect of each variable, and the significance probability were as follows: age  $(\beta = -0.115, p = 0.363)$ , ManS total score  $(\beta = -0.082, p =$ 0.648), CP equivalent ( $\beta = -0.133$ , p = 0.347), BP equivalent  $(\beta = -0.305, p = 0.030)$ , serum BDNF ( $\beta = -0.205, p =$ 0.092), estimated full-scale IQ ( $\beta = -0.180$ , p = 0.175), and years of education ( $\beta = 0.166$ , p = 0.204) (**Table 4**). Thus, BP equivalent significantly explained MF at the 5% significance level; in contrast, age, ManS score, CP equivalent, and serum BDNF were not significantly associated with MF. Overall, only the BP equivalent dosage had a causal relationship with MF according to the final analysis.

## DISCUSSION

Kaneda et al. (1) mentioned that BACS is affected negatively not only by schizophrenia but also by the level of education and aging. However, there were some differences between the Kaneda's paper and the present study. For example, the mean age of participants in the present study was higher (more than 20 years older), and, in addition, the mean z-score of respective components in the present study was lower than in Kaneda et al. (1).

The main finding in the present study was a negative causal relationship between the anticholinergic agent dosage and MF. The partial correlation analyses revealed the following correlations: age and WM (r = -0.297, p = 0.022); antipsychotic agent dose and MF (r = -0.336, p = 0.009) or EF (r = -0.310, p = 0.017); anticholinergic agent dose and MF (r = -0.434, p = 0.001); and serum BDNF and MF (r = -0.287, p = 0.027).

Many studies have compared BACS scores before and after the administration of antipsychotic medication (14, 15). Additionally, we previously reported an association between cognitive functioning and schizophrenia medication use in which polypharmacy adversely affected cognitive functioning (2), and switching to antipsychotic monotherapy from polypharmacy TABLE 2 | Analysis of simple correlations between BACS-J z-scores and multiple parameters.

	VM		WM		MF		VF		AP		EF		CS	
	r	р	r	р	r	p	r	p	r	р	r	р	r	p
Age (years)	-0.233*	0.061	-0.310*	0.012*	-0.236*	0.058	-0.007	0.956	0.134	0.288	-0.123	0.330	-0.163	0.196
CP equivalent (mg/day)	-0.120	0.341	-0.079	0.531	-0.233*	0.062	0.078	0.538	-0.331*	0.007**	-0.316*	0.010*	-0.207*	0.098
BP equivalent (mg/day)	-0.270*	0.029*	-0.151	0.229	-0.403**	0.001**	0.046	0.715	-0.262*	0.035*	-0.231*	0.064	-0.255*	0.041*
GAF score	0.203*	0.105	0.159	0.206	0.132	0.295	0.029	0.821	0.080	0.525	0.090	0.474	0.152	0.228
ManS total score	-0.139	0.271	-0.177	0.159	-0.196	0.117	-0.031	0.809	-0.193	0.123	-0.226*	0.070	-0.213*	0.088
DIEPSS total score	0.021	0.870	-0.024	0.851	-0.137	0.276	0.064	0.615	-0.106	0.403	-0.096	0.449	-0.058	0.648
Estimated full scale IQ	-0.042	0.741	0.154	0.220	-0.083	0.512	0.213*	0.088	0.340*	0.006**	0.314*	0.011*	0.213*	0.088
Years of education	0.258*	0.045*	0.158	0.225	0.178	0.169	0.114	0.383	0.261*	0.042*	0.246*	0.056	0.261*	0.042*
Serum BDNF (ng/ml)	-0.161	0.201	-0.079	0.532	-0.252*	0.043*	-0.115	0.362	-0.196	0.118	-0.110	0.383	-0.203*	0.104

"r" indicates Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient; "|r| > 0.2, "\*|r| > 0.4; "p" indicates the p-value; \*p < 0.05, "\*p < 0.01. CP, chlorpromazine; BP, biperiden; GAF, Global Assessment of Functioning; ManS, Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis; DIEPSS, Drug-Induced Extrapyramidal Symptoms Scale; VM, verbal memory; WM, working memory; MF, motor function; VF, verbal fluency; AP, attention and processing speed; EF, executive function; CS, composite score.

TABLE 3 | Analysis of partial correlations between the BACS-J z-scores and multiple parameters.

	VM		WM		MF		VF		AP		EF		CS	
	r	p	r	p	r	p	r	р	r	p	r	p	r	р
Age (years)	-0.053	0.692	-0.297*	0.022*	-0.144	0.277	-0.087	0.513	0.033	0.803	-0.136	0.305	-0.151	0.255
CP equivalent (mg/day)	-0.183	0.165	-0.042	0.750	-0.290*	0.026*	0.133	0.317	-0.336*	0.009**	-0.310*	0.017*	-0.199	0.132
BP equivalent (mg/day)	-0.231*	0.078	-0.025	0.849	-0.434**	0.001**	0.080	0.545	-0.249*	0.057	-0.133	0.315	-0.189	0.152
GAF score	0.121	0.363	0.082	0.537	0.099	0.455	<i>O</i> .015	0.910	0.116	0.383	O.015	0.908	0.094	0.478
ManS total score	-0.072	0.586	-0.055	0.678	-0.203*	0.124	0.058	0.663	-0.168	0.203	-0.088	0.507	-0.105	0.427
DIEPSS total score	0.011	0.937	-0.018	0.890	-0.163	0.218	0.073	0.585	-0.144	0.275	-0.111	0.401	-0.071	0.594
Serum BDNF (ng/ml)	-0.197	0.136	-0.039	0.767	-0.287*	0.027*	-0.054	0.686	-0.136	0.304	-0.041	0.761	-0.159	0.229

Values were adjusted by including the estimated full-scale IQ and years of education as control variables. "r" indicates the Pearson's product-moment correlation coefficient; \*|r| > 0.2, \*\*|r| > 0.4; "p" indicates the p-value; \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01. CP, chlorpromazine; BP, biperiden; GAF, Global Assessment of Functioning; ManS, Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis; DIEPSS, Drug-Induced Extrapyramidal Symptoms Scale; VM, verbal memory; WM, working memory; MF, motor function; VF, verbal fluency; AP, attention and processing speed; EF, executive function; CS, composite score.

improved cognitive functions, including AP (3). The results of the current study are similar to those of these reports.

total score were not correlated in this study. Therefore, the effect of anticholinergics on MF is considered independent of extrapyramidal symptoms.

To date, multiple studies have reported that anticholinergic drugs may be associated with cognitive impairment, particularly in older adults (16–18). However, few studies have focused on MF in investigations of the anticholinergic influences on cognitive impairment. The MF component of the BACS-J assesses the agility and accuracy of hand movements as patients place a token in a container. The results may be affected by the degree of extrapyramidal symptoms independently of the anticholinergic dosage even though MF and the DIEPSS

Blood BDNF concentrations reflect brain BDNF levels in rats, mice, or pigs (19), so peripheral BDNF levels might partially reflect a synthesis, secretion and metabolism of brain BDNF in schizophrenia patients. In short, measuring blood BDNF levels may be valuable for assuming brain BDNF dynamics. A meta-analysis showed that the blood BDNF concentration in schizophrenia patients is lower than that in healthy controls (20, 21). BDNF levels are related to the negative symptoms

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 4}}\xspace$  ] Multivariable linear regression analysis of BACS-J motor function and multiple parameters.

	Motor function									
	В	SE	β	t	р					
Constant	1.326	2.376		0.558	0.579					
Age	-0.019	0.020	-0.115	-0.918	0.363					
ManS total Score	-0.027	0.042	-0.082	-0.648	0.520					
CP equivalent (mg/day)	0.000	0.000	-0.133	-0.950	0.347					
BP equivalent (mg/day)	-0.233	0.104	-0.305	-2.226	0.030*					
serum BDNF (ng/ml)	-0.057	0.033	-0.205	-1.717	0.092					
Estimated full scale IQ	-0.031	0.023	-0.180	-1.374	0.175					
Years of education	0.149	0.115	0.166	1.287	0.204					
serum BDNF (ng/ml) Estimated full scale IQ Years of education	-0.057 -0.031 0.149	0.033 0.023 0.115	-0.205 -0.180 0.166	-1.717 -1.374 1.287						

Values were adjusted by including the estimated full-scale IQ and years of education as control variables. "B" indicates the unstandardized coefficient; "SE" indicates the standard error of B; " $\beta$ " indicates the standardized regression coefficient; and "p" indicates the p-value; "p < 0.05. ManS, Manchester Scale for chronic psychosis; CP, chlorpromazine; BP, biperiden.

(22). Chiou et al. (23) also reported that pretreatment negative symptoms played a pivotal role in the trajectories of the serum BDNF levels. Thus, BDNF likely affects cognitive functioning via the negative symptoms. We also reported that decision making, which was tested using the Iowa Gambling Task, was influenced by the PANSS-G scores and serum BDNF levels in chronic schizophrenia patients (24); however, in the present study, we found a significant relationship between MF and serum BDNF in chronic schizophrenia patients. Moreover, these effects were detected not only in the simple correlation analysis but also in the partial correlation analysis, which was adjusted for the estimated full-scale IQ and years of education. Thus, BDNF likely influences certain cognitive functions, such as decision making or MF, in chronic schizophrenia patients.

From an anatomical perspective, Rao et al. (25) reported that BDNF protein levels in the prefrontal cortex gray matter were significantly lower in elderly patients in both non-psychiatric and psychiatric patients, while BDNF levels in the white matter did not significantly decrease with age in either group. In animal aging studies, older age is associated with reduced BDNF expression in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus (26). Therefore, BDNF may be considered a useful biomarker for re-examining the assumed neurodegenerative course in schizophrenia. The prefrontal cortex BDNF levels linearly decrease from 20 to 80 years of age in non-psychiatric samples. In schizophrenia, the age effect is similarly linear in younger patients, but a decline does not occur in older patients. Thus, the prefrontal cortex BDNF levels do not follow a normative linear age effect in schizophrenia patients with increasing age, which may represent a "floor effect" due to an earlier decline (25). In summary, aging in schizophrenia patients could lessen the influence of the disease, and BDNF changes may decelerate as schizophrenia patients' age. These hypotheses could explain the correlation between cognitive functioning (MF) and age observed in the present study.

Many previous reports using small sample sizes (at least a few dozen) have demonstrated a positive correlation between peripheral BDNF levels and cognition as follows: higher levels of BDNF are associated with better cognitive functioning in schizophrenia. However, this finding is not robust. In the present study, we demonstrated a negative correlation between serum BDNF and MF in chronic schizophrenia patients. Thus, whether peripheral BDNF reflects cognitive functioning in schizophrenia patients remains unknown. According to a recent report, peripheral BDNF concentrations are significantly lower in schizophrenia patients than those in healthy subjects. In addition, BDNF is not correlated with the severity of the positive and negative symptom (20) and cognitive impairment (27). Considering these evidences, we may be able to think as follows. Low BDNF may contribute to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia indeed, however, it may not contribute to its cognitive impairments directly. We cannot explain the cause of the negative correlation between MF and serum BDNF.

Regarding the relationship between BDNF and motor functioning, many articles focus on Parkinson's disease, where limited MF appears to indicate lower levels of peripheral BDNF. The findings in the present study, i.e., that the anticholinergic dosage is strongly negatively correlated with MF, depend on various confounding factors, such as the effects of schizophrenia, other medications, and other factors affecting the participants' cognitive states. The cause of this discrepancy is currently unknown.

As described above, the multiple regression analysis considered seven parameters (i.e., age, ManS total score, CP equivalent, BP equivalent, serum BDNF, estimated full-scale IQ, and years education) as independent variables. The standardized regression coefficient " $\beta$ " suggests that BP equivalent dosage had the greatest influence on cognitive impairment, followed in order by serum BDNF concentration, estimated full-scale IQ, years of education, CP equivalent dosage, age, and ManS total score. However, only the BP equivalent dosage ( $\beta = -0.305$ , p = 0.030) significantly explained MF at the 5% significance level. Thus, treating patients with lower doses of anticholinergic drugs is optimal for improving MF. We may wish to reconsider the prescriptions given to patients who have been hospitalized for a long time to determine whether we can reduce their intake of anticholinergic agents.

Our study has several limitations. First, this study was a cross-sectional survey without control subjects. Although we considered the factor of age, the data do not directly indicate the effect of aging. Second, the sample size was too small to characterize the relationships described above. Third, the study considered the effect of antipsychotic and anticholinergic drugs but did not consider other drugs, such as benzodiazepine compounds. Fourth, the data were not adjusted for other control variables, such as smoking, obesity, platelet count, lifestyle factors, sleep, and diet. Fifth, the MF might be influenced by age and medication and the impairment of MF might affect other components of cognitive function, however the present study did not consider the points. Finally, we did not analyze of possible differences in any of these outcomes between male and female patients. Further studies considering these variables should be performed to confirm the results of this preliminary study.

# CONCLUSIONS

In summary, we confirmed that aging, medication (administering more antipsychotic or anticholinergic drugs) and higher serum BDNF concentrations were significantly correlated with cognitive dysfunction in chronic schizophrenia but not the severity of psychotic symptoms. Additionally, the BP equivalent dosage had the highest impact on MF. Diminishing the use of anticholinergic drugs may improve cognitive dysfunction, particularly in terms of motor functioning, in chronic schizophrenia patients.

## REFERENCES

- Kaneda A, Katagai T, Yasui-Furukori N. Comparing the influences of age and disease on the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia in Japanese patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2013) 9:1203–8. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S43280
- Hori H, Yoshimura R, Katsuki A, Hayashi K, Ikenouchi-Sugita A, Umene-Nakano W, et al. Several prescription patterns of antipsychotic drugs influence cognitive functions in Japanese chronic schizophrenia patients. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract.* (2012) 16:138–42. doi: 10.3109/13651501.2011.6 31018
- Hori H, Yoshimura R, Katsuki A, Sugita AI, Atake K, Nakamura J. Switching to antipsychotic monotherapy can improve attention and processing speed, and social activity in chronic schizophrenia patients. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2013) 47:1843–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.08.024
- Zhang XY, Liang J, Chen DC, Xiu MH, Yang FD, Kosten TA, et al. Low BDNF is associated with cognitive impairment in chronic patients with schizophrenia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* (2012) 222:277–84. doi: 10.1007/s00213-012-2643-y
- Zhang XY, Tan YL, Chen DC, Tan SP, Yang FD, Wu HE, et al. Interaction of BDNF with cytokines in chronic schizophrenia. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2016) 51:169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.09.014
- Buchman AS, Yu L, Boyle PA, Schneider JA, De Jager PL, Bennett DA. Higher brain BDNF gene expression is associated with slower cognitive decline in older adults. *Neurology* (2016) 86:735–41. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002387
- 7. Hori H, Yoshimura R, Katsuki A, Atake K, Igata R, Konishi Y, et al. Relationships between serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor, plasma catecholamine metabolites, cytokines, cognitive function and clinical symptoms in Japanese patients with chronic schizophrenia treated with atypical antipsychotic monotherapy. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 15:1–8. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2016.1212172
- Ahmed AO, Mantini AM, Fridberg DJ, Buckley PF. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and neurocognitive deficits in people with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 226:1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.12.069
- Keefe RS, Goldberg TE, Harvey PD, Gold JM, Poe MP, Coughenour L. The brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: reliability, sensitivity, and comparison with a standard neurocognitive battery. *Schizophr Res.* (2004) 68:283–97. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2003.09.011
- Kaneda Y, Sumiyoshi T, Keefe R, Ishimoto Y, Numata S, Ohmori T. Brief assessment of cognition in schizophrenia: validation of the Japanese version. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2007) 61:602–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01725.x
- 11. Matsuoka K, Kim Y, Hiro H, Miyamoto Y, Fujita K. Development of Japanese Adult Reading Test (JART) for predicting premorbid IQ in mild dementia. *Clin Psychiatry* (2002) **44**:503–11.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KA and RY conceived and designed the experiments. KA, TN, and NU performed the experiments. KA, HH, and AK analyzed the data. KA prepared the manuscript. RY edited the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We deeply appreciate the cooperation of Junichi Kitahara (director of Hiagari Hospital), Yasuharu Tsutsumi (director of Tsutsumi Hospital), and Shinichiro Shirakawa (director of Shin-Moji Hospital) in the current study.

- Hori H, Noguchi H, Hashimoto R, Okabe S, Saitoh O, Kunugi H. IQ decline and memory impairment in Japanese patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2008) 158:251–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2007.11.002
- Uetsuki M, Matsuoka K, Kim Y, Araki T, Suga M. Estimation of premorbid IQ by JART in schizophrenia. *Clin Psychiatry* (2006) 48:15–22.
- Keefe RS, Harvey PD, Goldberg TE, Gold JM, Walker TM, Kennel C, et al. Norms and standardization of the Brief Assessment of Cognition in Schizophrenia (BACS). *Schizophr Res.* (2008) **102**:108–15. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.03.024
- Elie D, Poirier M, Chianetta J, Durand M, Gregoire C, Grignon S. Cognitive effects of antipsychotic dosage and polypharmacy: a study with the BACS in patients with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2010) 24:1037–44. doi: 10.1177/0269881108100777
- Salahudeen MS, Chyou TY, Nishtala PS. Serum anticholinergic activity and cognitive and functional adverse outcomes in older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0151084. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151084
- Campbell N, Boustani M, Limbil T, Ott C, Fox C, Maidment I, et al. The cognitive impact of anticholinergics: a clinical review. *Clin Interv Aging* (2009) 4:225–33.
- Chew ML, Mulsant BH, Pollock BG, Lehman ME, Greenspan A, Mahmoud RA, et al. Anticholinergic activity of 107 medications commonly used by older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2008) 56:1333–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01737.x
- Klein AB, Williamson R, Santini MA, Clemmensen C, Ettrup A, Rios M, et al. Blood BDNF concentrations reflect brain-tissue BDNF levels across species. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 14:347–53. doi: 10.1017/S1461145710000738
- Fernandes BS, Steiner J, Berk M, Molendijk ML, Gonzalez-Pinto A, Turck CW, et al. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor in schizophrenia and the role of antipsychotics: meta-analysis and implications. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20:1108–19. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.117
- Green MJ, Matheson SL, Shepherd A, Weickert CS, Carr VJ. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in schizophrenia: a systematic review with metaanalysis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2011) 16:960–72. doi: 10.1038/mp.2010.88
- Niitsu T, Shirayama Y, Matsuzawa D, Hasegawa T, Kanahara N, Hashimoto T, et al. Associations of serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor with cognitive impairments and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 35:1836–40. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.09.004
- 23. Chiou YJ, Huang TL. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factors in Taiwanese patients with drug-naive first-episode schizophrenia: effects of antipsychotics. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2017) **18**:382–91. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2016.1224925
- 24. Hori H, Yoshimura R, Katsuki A, Atake K, Nakamura J. Relationships between brain-derived neurotrophic factor, clinical symptoms, and decision-making in chronic schizophrenia: data from the Iowa Gambling

Task. Front Behav Neurosci. (2014) 8:417. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014. 00417

- 25. Rao J, Chiappelli J, Kochunov P, Regenold WT, Rapoport SI, Hong LE. Is schizophrenia a neurodegenerative disease? Evidence from age-related decline of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the brains of schizophrenia patients and matched nonpsychiatric controls. *Neurodegener Dis.* (2015) **15**:38–44. doi: 10.1159/0003 69214
- Calabrese F, Guidotti G, Racagni G, Riva MA. Reduced neuroplasticity in aged rats: a role for the neurotrophin brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Neurobiol Aging* (2013) 34:2768–76. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013. 06.014
- 27. Man L, Lv X, Du XD, Yin G, Zhu X, Zhang Y, et al. Cognitive impairments and low BDNF serum levels in first-episode drug-naive patients with

schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. (2018) 263:1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018. 02.034

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Atake, Nakamura, Ueda, Hori, Katsuki and Yoshimura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

